Bank Income Smoothing and Loan Loss Provisioning Practices in Africa

Peterson K. Ozili

A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Accounting and Finance

Essex Business School University of Essex

April, 2017

ABSTR	ACT	6
DEDIC	ATION	7
ACKNO	OWLEDGEMENT	8
DECLA	ARATION	9
Chapter	· 1	10
Introduc	ction	10
1.1.	Background of the Study	10
1.2.	Motivation and Importance of the Study	12
1.3.	Aim and Research Questions	15
1.4.	Findings of the Study	16
1.5.	Contribution of the Study	17
1.6.	Structure of the Thesis	19
Chapter	· 2	21
Banking	g in Africa, Financial Reporting and Loan Loss Provisioning in Africa	21
2.0.	Introduction	21
2.1.	Banking in Africa	21
2.2.	Accounting Disclosure Quality and Financial Reporting	24
2.3.	Loan Loss Provisioning Practices: Africa and International Basel Rules	26
2.3	3.1. Loan Loss Provisioning Practices	26
2.3	B.2. Some Provisioning Practices in Africa	27
2.3	B.3. Basel Rules and Bank Loan Loss Provisions	30
2.4.	Conclusion	33
Chapter	3	34
Positive	e Accounting Theory, Earnings Management and Institutions	34
3.0.	Introduction	34
3.1.	Positive Accounting Theory	34
3.2	2.1. Bonus Plan Hypothesis	36
3.2	2.2. Debt Covenant Hypothesis	37
3.2	2.3. Political Cost (or Size) Hypothesis	38
3.2	2.4. Political Cost versus Earnings Smoothing? – Critical Perspective	39
3.2.	Earnings Management	40
3.2	2.1. What is Earnings Management?	40

Table of Contents

3.2.2.	Types of Earnings Management	42
3.2.3.	Accounting Numbers Employed to Manage Earnings	44
3.2.4.	Detecting Earnings Management (EM) in EM Research	45
3.3. Inst	itutions	47
3.3.1.	Institutional Factors	47
3.3.2.	Capital Market Institutions	47
3.3.3.	Regulatory Institutions	49
3.3.4.	Political Economy	50
3.3.5.	Investor Protection	54
3.4. Ear	nings Smoothing: Conceptual Framework	56
3.4.1.	Earnings Smoothing: Motivations	56
3.4.2.	How Firms Smooth Reported Earnings: Method	57
3.4.3.	Effect of Earnings Smoothing	58
3.5. Sun	nmary and Conclusion	59
Chapter 4		60
Factors Influe	encing Earnings Smoothing: Evidence	60
4.0. Intr	oduction	60
4.1. Loa	n Loss Provisions: Empirical Literature	62
4.1.1.	LLP and Capital Management Hypothesis	63
4.1.2.	LLP and Signalling Hypothesis	64
4.1.3.	LLP and Procyclicality	65
4.1.4.	LLP and Earnings Smoothing	67
4.2. Mo	tivation for Earning Smoothing: Empirical Evidence	69
4.2.1.	Capital Market Incentives	69
4.2.2.	Regulation and Regulatory Scrutiny	70
4.2.3.	Corruption	71
4.2.4.	Competition	72
4.3. Cor	nstraints to Earnings Smoothing: Empirical Evidence	73
4.3.1.	Disclosure Regulation	73
4.3.2.	Audit Quality	74
4.3.3.	Investor Protection	74
4.3.4.	Dispersed vs Concentrated Ownership Structure	75
4.4. Reg	zional Studies: Evidence	75
4.4.1.	US studies	75

4.4.2.		European studies	76
4.4.3.		Asian and Australian Studies	78
4.4.4.		International/Cross-country Studies	79
4.4.5.		African Studies	80
4.5.	Gap	o in the Literature addressed in the thesis	81
4.6.	Fut	ure direction	83
4.7.	Sun	nmary and Conclusions	85
Chapter	5		86
Hypothe	esis, E	Data and Methodology	86
5.0.	Intr	oduction	86
5.1.	Hyp	pothesis Development	86
5.1	.1.	Financial Development via Foreign Bank Presence	86
5.1	.2.	Investor Protection	89
5.1	.3.	Political Economy Factors	91
5.1	.4.	Bank Ownership Concentration	94
5.1	.5.	Audit Quality and Accounting Disclosure (IFRS) Quality	97
5.1	.6.	Financial Structure: Competition, Concentration and Banking System Stability	100
5.2.	Dat	a and Sample	104
5.3.	Met	thodology	108
5.3	.1.	Baseline Model	108
5.3	.2.	Description of Main Theoretical Variables and Justification	110
5.3	.3.	Description of Control Variables and Justification	115
5.3	.4.	Test Procedure	123
5.4.	Sun	nmary	125
Chapter	6		126
Bank Ea	arning	s Smoothing in Africa: Bank-Level Evidence	126
6.0.	Intr	oduction	126
6.1.	Des	criptive Statistics	127
6.2.	Cor	relation Analysis	129
6.3.	Mai	in Results: Earnings Smoothing Incentives	131
6.3.1.		Earnings Smoothing Hypothesis	131
6.3.2.		Audit and Disclosure Quality Hypothesis	132
6.3	.3.	Ownership Concentration Hypothesis	135
6.4.	Cou	Intry-specific Analysis: Earnings Smoothing Hypothesis	137

6.5. Sensitivity Analysis	139
6.5.1. Transient Economic Cycle and Earnings Distribution	139
6.5.2. Forward-looking Bank Provisioning	141
6.5.3. Stress-testing Bank Capital Adequacy	142
6.5.4. Bank Leverage and Risk-taking	142
6.5.5. Funding Risk (or Bank's Sensitivity to Bank Runs)	143
6.5.6. Banking Crisis	144
6.5.7. Signalling	145
6.5.8. Further Robustness Checks: Sub-Sample Analysis	147
6.6. Summary and Conclusion	150
Chapter 7	152
Institutional Factors Influencing Earnings Smoothing	152
7.0. Introduction	152
7.1. Country-Level Variable: Descriptive Statistics	153
7.2. Investor Protection and Bank Earnings Smoothing	156
7.3. Political Economy and Bank Earnings Smoothing	159
7.4. Financial Development, Concentration, Competition and Stability	162
7.5. Sensitivity Analysis	164
7.5.1. Interaction: Investor Protection and Political Economy	164
7.5.2. Interaction: Foreign bank presence and Political Economy	166
7.5.3. Interaction: Foreign Bank Presence and Ownership Concentration	168
7.6. Robustness	169
7.6.1 Multicollinearity Checks	169
7.7. Conclusion	172
Chapter 8	174
Conclusion	174
8.0. Introduction	174
8.1. Summary: Research Objective and Findings	174
8.2. Implications and Recommendations	178
8.3. Contribution of the Study	179
8.4. Limitations	182
8.5. Future direction	183
Reference	186

ABSTRACT

The primary objective of the thesis is to investigate whether African banks use loans loss provisions estimates to smooth reported earnings, and to determine the factors that influence the extent of earnings smoothing among African banks. Earnings smoothing via loan loss provision has been examined in several regions, but the case of Africa remain unexplored in the literature. In the thesis, earnings smoothing is viewed as an earnings management practice while loan loss provisions estimate is considered to be the tool used by African banks to smooth reported earnings.

Using African bank data obtained from Bankscope database, I test the earnings smoothing hypothesis for 370 African banks during the 2002 to 2014 period using the specific-accrual approach. The specific-accrual approach estimates a specific discretionary accrual as a function of its non-discretionary determinants and other factors that influence the manipulation of the specific accrual. The model specification expresses discretionary loan loss provisions as a function of earnings before provisions and tax, its non-discretionary determinants and other factors that influence that influence the decision regarding the level of bank provisions for each period. The findings indicate that African banks manipulate loan loss provisions estimates to smooth reported earnings and this behaviour is influenced by bank differences, accounting disclosure differences and institutional differences across African countries.

The primary contribution to knowledge of the thesis is its extension of our understanding of the role of discretionary accruals in the bank financial reporting, focusing on African banks - a context that has not been extensively examined in the literature. Also, the thesis extends the bank earnings smoothing debate to the African context and the findings of this study are useful to bank regulators in Africa in their evaluation of whether bank loan loss provisions solely reflect credit risk considerations or whether bank loan loss provisions estimates reflect opportunistic considerations of African bank managers. Finally, the findings are useful to local accounting standard setters in the region in their evaluation of several accounting numbers that bank managers might use to manipulate reported earnings.

DEDICATION

This thesis is dedicated to my dad and family.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I would firstly like to thank my supervisors: Professor Arun Thankom, Professor (Emeritus) Michael Sherer without their direction, ideas and support this work would not have been possible. I would also like to thank conference discussants whose comments helped to improve the quality of this work. Particularly, I also appreciate the comments of anonymous journal reviewers whose comments also helped improve the results as well. All remaining errors are mine. Finally I would like to thank my family and friends. I wish I had time to do some working paper(s) and publish more papers with fellow PhD students so that I can remember them always but time constrained me. Thanks to all of you this has been one of the most rewarding and enjoyable periods of my life.

DECLARATION

I declare that the material contained in this thesis is my own work. All secondary sources have been appropriately cited. This thesis has not been submitted for a degree at another university.

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1. Background of the Study

Earnings (or income) smoothing is the process of reporting stable or smooth earnings over time. Earnings smoothing is a type of earnings management practice and is pervasive among non-financial firms¹. Earnings smoothing has both positive and negative connotations. On the positive side, earnings smoothing reduces information asymmetry between firm owners and managers (Tucker and Zarowin, 2006), improves bank stability by smoothing out abnormal fluctuations in bank reported earnings (Wall and Koch, 2000), and improves the risk perception of banks from the perspective of bank regulators/supervisors (El Sood, 2012). On the negative side, earnings smoothing reduces the informativeness of reported earnings (Leventis et al, 2011), increases bank opacity (Bhattacharya et al, 2003) and lowers the quality of reported earnings (Ahmed et al, 2013); therefore, the question whether banks smooth reported earnings is topical and has attracted much debate in the banking literature.

In the banking literature, earnings smoothing is either associated with bank earnings management practices or bank stability objectives (Bushman and Williams, 2012; El Sood, 2012; Curcio and Hasan, 2015; Balla and Rose, 2015; Agenor and Zilberman, 2015). The former view earnings smoothing as the opportunistic manipulation of reported earnings to meet some financial reporting objectives (Anandarajan et al, 2007; Leventis et al., 2011) while the latter view earnings smoothing as a stability tool where the stability of each individual bank collectively contribute to the stability of the banking system and such stability objective can be achieved when all individual banks collectively smooth their earnings (Wall and Koch, 2000; El Sood, 2012).

¹ For example, Ashari et al. (1994), Pincus and Rajgopal (2002), Adibah et al. (2005), Markarian et al. (2008), Grant et al. (2009), Atik (2009), Prencipe et al. (2011) and Bouwman (2014).

Bank managers have significant discretion in financial reporting despite excessive regulation in the banking industry (Ahmed et al, 2013), and bank managers can exploit their discretion in financial reporting in ways that allow them to alter specific (or several) accounting number(s) to manage reported earnings depending on their opportunity (Wahlen, 1994). Such discretion allows bank managers to use accounting numbers to influence financial reporting outcomes to smooth the level of reported earnings over time (Fonseca and Gonzalez, 2008). Bank managers can use several financial (or accounting) numbers to smooth reported earnings including gains from securities sales (Karaoglu, 2005), realised gains and losses on available-for-sales (Barth et al., 2016), loan loss provisions (Ahmed et al., 1999), etc. This thesis focuses only on loan loss provisions. Why?

Loan loss provisions estimate is a credit risk management tool used by banks to mitigate expected losses on bank loan portfolio. This thesis focus on bank loan loss provisions as the main earnings smoothing tool because (i) banks' large amount of loans on their balance sheet makes them vulnerable to loan defaults arising from deteriorating economic conditions which in turn require adequate bank provisioning (Laeven and Majnoni, 2003), (ii) compared to other accounting numbers, loan loss provision is a significant bank accrual and bank managers have significant discretion in the determination of loan loss provisions estimates and such discretion can be exploited to meet opportunistic financial reporting objectives (Whalen, 1994), and because (iii) the banking literature document some evidence to suggest that banks' incentive to manipulate loan loss provisions estimates to smooth reported earnings depends on their opportunity and/or the unique condition the bank face (Laeven and Majnoni, 2003; Kanagaretnam et al, 2004; Anandarajan et al, 2007; Fonseca and Gonzalez, 2008).

According to Wahlen (1994), managerial discretion in the determination of loan loss provisions estimates create incentives for bank managers to influence loan loss provisions estimates in ways that allow them to either faithfully predict the expected level of loan losses or to opportunistically smooth reported earnings to meet some reporting objectives whose outcomes depend on the magnitude of loan loss provisions estimates. This suggests that reported loan loss provisions estimate in bank financial statements may not be driven solely by credit risk management considerations (Greenawalt and Sinkey, 1988; Wahlen, 1994; Beatty et al., 1995). Moreover, the way banks might use loan loss provisions to smooth earnings should

vary from country to country and across regions due to cross-country differences in accounting, institutional differences and other regional differences. For instance, Leuz et al (2003) show that institutional differences across countries significantly influence the earnings management behaviour of firms. Leuz et al (2003) argue that cross-country differences in the enforcement of rules intended to protect investors and the rule of law will affect the extent of earnings management among firms.

Overall, the factors mentioned above are the commonly cited factors influencing the use of loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings and these factors are highly contextual to banks in a region. Given this background, there is scant knowledge about the earnings smoothing practices of banks in the African region, and it remains unclear whether African banks use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings and whether the extent of this behaviour is significantly influenced by institutional factors and regional characteristics in Africa that significantly differ from the characteristics in other regions.

1.2. Motivation and Importance of the Study

The African context presents an interesting setting to investigate the financial reporting practices of banks. The African continent² face a number of issues related to poverty, corruption, unemployment, etc., and these issues affect the level of financial development and the efficiency of the banking system which financial sector development depends on (Ashton, 2002). Additionally, although some African countries have abundant natural resources e.g. Angola, Algeria and Libya, the problem of corruption and environmental degradation by foreign companies still persist, and these problems are further worsened by the presence of weak political economy and legal institutions that should tackle corruption in these African countries (Asiedu, 2006; Kolstad and Soreide, 2009; Vicente, 2010; Bhattacharyya and Hodler, 2010) while other African countries such as Kenya, Ghana, South Africa, Mauritius and Tanzania have relatively better political economy and institutional systems that promote greater financial (and public) accountability at firm-level, state-level and federal government levels (Rossouw, 2005).

 $^{^2}$ The African continent consists of 48 countries and 6 island nations that are culturally and socio-economically diverse with significant natural resources. Of the 54 countries, 34 countries are less-developed from a global point of view while the remaining 19 countries fall further below the less-developed category.

Political economy differences, financial development differences and other institutional differences across African countries should significantly influence the financial reporting of African banks, hence, it is important to take into account these differences when undertaking accounting research that investigate banks in Africa because institutional, legal and political differences across African countries can create opportunities/incentives for African bank managers to distort the financial reporting process to meet their opportunistic financial reporting objectives. This is because political economy and institutional weaknesses in Africa can make regulators toothless in enforcing institutional rules and could reduce the extent of banks' compliance to institutional rules intended to protect investors.

Furthermore, Nobes and Parker (2008) argue that the institutions (mainly investor protection, legal institutions and local standard setters) that discourage opportunistic behaviour of managers may vary significantly in developed and non-developed countries, implying that the institutions that constrain bank behaviour across African countries should differ significantly from institutions that constrain bank earnings management behaviour across European countries or the US due to differences in the level of development, extent of enforcement and so on. Similarly, the quality of institutions established to constrain managerial behaviour will also differ across African countries. Because the African continent is often claimed to have weak institutions that constrain managerial behaviour and the enforcement level of these institutions is considered to be relatively low (see, Amidu and Kuipo, 2015; Outa et al, 2017), it is interesting to examine the influence of institutional factors on the earnings smoothing practices of banks across African countries. Further still, the growing need for African countries to establish institutions that promote better corporate governance which contributes to improved transparency of bank financial reporting, makes this study relevant and important.

Additionally, the question of whether African banks use loan loss provisions to smooth earnings is further motivated by four additional concerns. One, the growing need for African countries to establish effective firm ownership structures that constrain opportunistic managerial behaviour to improve the transparency of bank financial reporting also makes this study relevant and important. In the case of bank ownership, for instance, bank ownership in some African countries (e.g. Ethiopia, Congo, Togo, Libya and Mauritania) is characterised by substantial concentrated ownership: family ownership of banks by

wealthy and privileged families who may seek private benefits of control from bank managers. When this is the case, bank managers in several African countries may have some incentive to report fewer provisions (even when they face high credit risk) in order to report higher profits which allows them to influence reported earnings in ways that maximise managers' personal benefits as well as private control benefits to controlling shareholders. Hence, it is interesting to examine the influence of bank ownership concentration on bank earnings smoothing practices in Africa. To date, there is no cross-country African study in the literature that examine the influence of bank ownership concentration on bank earning a sample of banks in African countries. Therefore, subsequent evidence for the influence of ownership on bank earnings smoothing would improve our understanding of how ownership affects bank earnings management in Africa.

Two, the International Monetary Fund (IMF, 2014) recently pointed out some important concern about the under-provisioning practices of banks in some African countries such as Kenya, Uganda and Nigeria. Precisely, the IMF undertook a recent assessment of the resilience of the banking and financial system in Africa and raise concern that banks in some African countries keep too little loan loss provisions. The case of Kenya is interesting. The IMF 2014 report shows that Kenyan banks were well-capitalised and profitable but kept insufficient loan loss provisions to mitigate its growing non-performing loans. The IMF 2014 report also reveal that a significant portion of bank non-performing loans originated from the construction industry, and the Kenyan government had guaranteed bank loans to the construction industry, justifying the lower loan loss provisions that Kenya banks had allocated for loans to the construction sector. The IMF advised the Kenyan Central Bank that the under-provisioning practices of Kenyan banks risk exposing Kenyan banks to financial difficulties that could arise from unexpected loan defaults and/or adverse economic shocks.³ This case underlines the need to examine the influence of developmental factors on bank earnings smoothing practices via loan loss provisions. Thus, it is interesting to investigate whether developmental issues (e.g. financial development) influence the way African banks use financial numbers to distort their financial reporting outcomes.

³ https://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/scr/2014/cr14302.pdf

Three, the political economy in Africa can influence bank behaviour in several African countries. The activity of politicians and the political system can influence the performance of banks (Szeftel, 1998; Figueira et al., 2006). There are wide political economy differences in countries across Africa, and this makes the African context an interesting setting to investigate the influence of political economy on the earnings smoothing behaviour of African banks. The relatively weak political economy in African countries (compared to US and Europe) commonly associated with weak enforcement issues, increased corruption and 'capture' of the banking system by politicians, is a strong motivation for the study. Compared to US and European banks, African banks in weak political economy environments may provide banking services to meet the needs of diverse bank customers while providing high-level financial accountability to wealthy investors and politicians to meet the information needs of investors and politicians, and providing low-level financial accountability to the general public via non-transparent financial statement disclosures to other financial statement users. Therefore, it is interesting to investigate the impact of political economy on bank earnings smoothing practices in the African context.

Four, there is a scant literature that test the earnings smoothing hypothesis using cross-country African bank data. The need to gain some insight into the earnings smoothing practices of African banks is important because insights gained from such study can improve our understanding of the earnings management strategy prevalent in the African region with particular focus on banks. Thus, if we accept the proposition that earnings smoothing is a type of earnings management strategy (DeFond and Park, 1997; Kirschenheiter and Melumad, 2002), then the analyses in this thesis can provide additional insight to how African banks smooth reported earnings.

1.3. Aim and Research Questions

The aim of the thesis is to investigate whether African banks use loans loss provisions estimates to smooth reported earnings, and to determine the factors that influence the extent of earnings smoothing among African banks.

The key research questions addressed in the thesis are:

Do African banks use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings?

Does foreign bank presence and financial development differences influence the extent of bank earnings smoothing via loan loss provisions?

Does investor protection differences in Africa have a significant influence on bank earnings smoothing via loan loss provisions?

Does political economy differences in Africa have a significant influence on bank earnings smoothing via loan loss provisions?

Does ownership concentration affect the earnings smoothing behaviour of African banks?

Does audit quality and accounting disclosure significantly influence the earnings smoothing behaviour of African banks?

Does financial structure (i.e., banking sector concentration, competition and stability) significantly influence the extent of earnings smoothing among African banks?

1.4. Findings of the Study

Using the fixed effect and GMM estimation techniques, the main findings of the thesis indicates that African banks use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings and this has not been documented in the extant literature for a wide sample of banks across several African countries. Also, the countryspecific analyses of bank earnings smoothing behaviour show that there are cross-country variations in the use of loan loss provisions estimates to smooth reported earnings.

The findings also show that African banks use loan loss provisions to smooth bank earnings when they are more profitable during economic boom periods, and income smoothing is observed to be pronounced among (i) listed African banks when they are more profitable, (ii) among African banks that adopt local GAAP, (iii) among African banks with concentrated ownership, and (iv) bank earnings smoothing via loan loss provision is significantly and positively associated with forward-looking provisioning

discretion. On the other hand, earnings smoothing is significantly reduced among African banks with (i) dispersed ownership (ii) Big 4 auditor, and (iii) among African banks that adopt IFRS standards.

Additionally, the findings show that the use of loan loss provisions to smooth earnings is further reduced among banks in African countries that simultaneously have strong investor protection and political economy institutions, implying that better investor protection and strong political economy in Africa would work together to discourage earnings management behaviour that take the form of earnings smoothing among banks in African countries. Finally, bank earnings smoothing via loan loss provision is negatively associated with greater foreign bank presence, capital market development and banking concentration; and is positively associated with greater corruption control and greater political stability and absence of violence.

1.5. Contribution of the Study

The findings in the thesis contribute to the literature in the following ways. One, the analyses in the thesis contributes to prior studies that examine earnings management in the broader context as well as prior studies that examine bank earnings management (see Cohen et al, 2014; Barth et al, 2016; Norden and Stoian, 2014; Stubben, 2010; Shen and Huang, 2013). These studies show that managers have some incentive to manage reported earnings in other regions; however, these studies did not examine the case of African firms using a large sample. With the exception of Ozili (2015) and Amidu and Kuipo (2015), studies that investigate bank earnings management in Africa are scant. By investigating the context of African banks, the analyses in this thesis provides some insight to improve our understanding of bank earnings smoothing practices in developing countries - an emerging theme in the recent bank earnings smoothing by banks in developing economies is used as a tool to make banks appear stable when they are in fragile, fragmented and unstable banking environments.

Two, this study contributes to the literature that examines the influence of investor protection on managerial discretion to manage reported earnings. Studies such as Klapper et al (2004), Chih et al (2008)

and Leuz et al (2003), show that strong investor protection discourages earnings management among managers due to the presence of strong legal systems established to protect minority shareholders and investors. This thesis contributes to the above studies by taking into account the level of investor protection in Africa and its impact on earnings smoothing by African bank managers. By focussing on banks and controlling for investor protection levels across African countries, the analyses in this thesis can provide insights to understand the association between investor protection and earnings management in Africa, particularly, earnings management that take the form of earnings smoothing among African banks.

Three, the thesis contributes to the firm ownership literature that examines the impact of ownership concentration on managerial discretion in financial reporting. Klein (2002), Park and Shin (2004), La Porta et al. (1998) Jensen and Meckling (1976), Shleifer and Vishny (1986), Grossman and Hart (1988), Shleifer and Wolfenzon (2002), Aghion and Bolton (1992) and Bouvatier et al. (2014) show some consensus that the ownership structure of firms may impose additional monitoring on firm managers to constrain them from engaging in opportunistic financial reporting behaviour; however, how this would work out in practice will differ across countries and regions. Therefore, the analyses in this thesis contribute to this strand of literature by taking into account the influence of ownership structure on bank earnings smoothing. By controlling for ownership concentration in this thesis, some insight can be gained to improve our understanding about whether the level of firm ownership in Africa discourages or encourages earnings management practices among African banks

Four, the analysis in the thesis also contribute to the literature that investigates the impact of accounting disclosure regulation on earnings quality. The significant studies in this literature include Teoh and Wong (1993), Francis et al (1999), Huang and Li (2009), Beatty (1989), and Blackwell et al (1998). A major debate in the literature argues that the use of Big 4 auditors and the adoption of strong accounting disclosure rules can discourage the manipulation of reported earnings intended to achieve earnings management; however, the effect of accounting disclosure quality (via Big 4 auditors and IFRS adoption) on bank earnings income smoothing in Africa is not clear and has not been empirically tested using loan loss provisions. Therefore, the analyses in this thesis contribute to this debate to provide some insight on

how accounting quality affects the use of loan loss provisions to smooth earnings in Africa. Moreover, by distinguishing between banks that use IFRS and banks that do not use IFRS, the analyses in this thesis provides some insight on whether IFRS adoption improves bank earnings quality in the form of reduced earnings smoothing.

Five, the analyses in the thesis also contribute to the policy debate in the literature which argues that the current incurred-loss model of loan loss provisioning contributes to bank instability (see Bikker and Hu, 2002; Laeven and Majnoni, 2003; Bikker and Metzemakers, 2005; Bouvatier and Lepetit, 2008). The incurred-loss provisioning model is often criticised for its backward-looking characteristic and its potential to reinforce the current state of the economy particularly a recession. Bank supervisors in developed and developing countries continue to raise concern that the current incurred-loss provisioning model allow banks to delay provisioning until it is too late which makes bank provisioning procyclical with fluctuations in the economy. The analyses in this thesis can help verify whether the provisioning behaviour of banks in Africa also exhibit such procyclical characteristic.

Finally, this study can provide some insight to help bank supervisors/regulators in several African countries in their evaluation of whether loan loss provisions reflects credit risk considerations only or other considerations unrelated to credit risk, while also taking into account political economy factors in the country.

1.6. Structure of the Thesis

The remainder of the thesis is organised as follows. Chapter 2 presents an overview of banking in Africa, financial reporting and accounting quality in Africa. This chapter also discuss the loan loss provisioning practices in some African countries and the rationale for the inclusion of loan loss provisions in international bank capital regulation. Chapter 3 presents the theoretical and conceptual framework for earnings management. More specifically, Chapter 3 discusses positive accounting theory as an explanation for why firm managers manage reported earnings. The conceptual framework for earnings management and the role of institutional factors in encouraging or discouraging earnings management

behaviour among firms are also presented. Chapter 4 present a review of the empirical findings on earnings smoothing in the banking literature. The review identifies several advances in loan loss provisions research, factors influencing bank earnings smoothing behaviour, gaps in the literature and possible directions for future research. Chapter 5 develops the hypotheses, presents the data, sample selection criteria and the research methodology for the thesis. The research design is based on GMM and fixed effect regression models. Chapter 6 present the empirical results for bank-level factors that influence earnings smoothing behaviour among African banks while Chapter 7 present the empirical results for the influence of institutional and other cross-country factors on the earnings smoothing behaviour of African banks in the region. Chapter 8 summarise the findings of the thesis and provide some implication for standard-setting and bank supervision in the African region. Finally, the chapter highlights some limitation of the study and some suggestions for future research.

Chapter 2

Banking in Africa, Financial Reporting and Loan Loss Provisioning in Africa

2.0. Introduction

This chapter presents an overview of banking, financial reporting and accounting disclosure and loan loss provisioning practices in Africa. The chapter begins with a discussion of banking in Africa. The chapter then proceed to discuss financial reporting and accounting quality in Africa. The chapter also discuss the loan loss provisioning practices of banks in some African countries and the rationale for the inclusion of loan loss provisions in Basel capital regulation.

2.1. Banking in Africa

Compared to the 1980s where government-owned banks dominated the banking system of most African countries, today banking in Africa has undergone dramatic changes.⁴ Most African countries in recent times have deeper financial systems and relatively stable banking systems although the challenges of high bank concentration, limited competition, high costs, short maturities and limited financial inclusion still persist (Beck and Cull, 2013). Banking (or financial) systems in African countries exhibit significant

⁴ Prior to the 1980s reform, the financial system of many African countries was dominated by commercial banks that were largely owned by the government. During this period, government-owned banks offered greater banking services to government clients and offered fewer banking services to the informal and private sector of the economy (Beck and Cull, 2013). After the 1980s reform, some African countries witnessed mergers and consolidation activities intended to strengthen the financial system in several African countries. The bank merger and consolidation process also led to significant changes in bank ownership to permit ownership by wealthy families, institutional investors and wealthy individuals in several African countries. Prior to financial liberalisation, financial sector development in Africa was hindered by governments' influence on financial markets through selective credit controls and fixed interest rates (Beck and Cull, 2013). After the 1980s reform, the government in some African countries undertook several financial liberalisation initiatives to reduce government's control of the economic and financial system by permitting foreign bank entry. The opening of African economies to foreign bank entry led to reduced government influence on credit supply and interest rate controls; thus encouraging competition among banks in the domestic country (Beck and Cull, 2013). While this was the case in some African countries like South Africa, Nigeria, Mauritius and Egypt, this was not the case in other African countries.

variations that are worth noting. Beck and Cull (2013) did an extensive review of banking in Africa and made several observations which are highlighted below.

One, there are uneven levels of banking sector and capital market development across African countries. For instance, Beck et al (2011) show that South Africa, Nigeria and Mauritius have fairly developed banking systems and capital markets while other smaller and poorer African countries including Central African Republic, Seychelles and South Sudan have shallow banking systems that offer only the most rudimentary financial services to bank clients. Also, only few African countries have stock exchanges and only few of them are liquid, for example, South Africa, Mauritius, Kenya, Ghana, etc.

Two, most African countries have highly concentrated banking systems while few African countries have less concentrated banking systems e.g., South Africa and Mauritius. Beck and Cull (2013) show that some African countries have five banks that make up the whole banking system assets in the country, e.g. Cape Verde, Gambia, Lesotho, Swaziland and Togo, indicating that some African countries have highly concentrated banking systems, and higher banking sector concentration will reduce competition among banks in the banking sector.

Three, banking systems in African countries tend to be more prone to banking crisis due to excessive reliance on exports and foreign direct investments that depend heavily on bank financing and exchange rate fluctuation (Beck and Cull, 2013). A sudden increase in foreign exchange rate often leads to currency depreciation, funding risk and liquidity problems for African banking sectors that have significant exposure in foreign investments and exports, thus increasing the likelihood of banking crises.

Also, a loss of confidence in the banking system of an African country can increase the risk of a banking crisis in the region. Loss of confidence in the banking system can arise from distrust among banks, distrust among bankers and depositors, and distrust among investors and creditors, which could lead to a bank run or a run on the bank if depositors' lack of trust makes them feel the need to quickly withdraw their money from banks. A bank run (or run on a bank) is a situation where all depositors want to withdraw all their money at the same time and banks do not have enough liquidity to meet the demands of depositors at once (Diamond and Dybvig, 1983). Bank runs are common among banks in African

countries (Beck and Cull, 2013), as depositors rush to withdraw their money particularly when the takeover of a failing bank by a stronger bank is announced with public notice.

Four, financial system development in the region is largely uneven. While financial systems in Africa or sub-Saharan Africa are considered to be relatively less developed and less diversified compared to other regions of the world (World Bank, 1994), some African countries have well-developed financial systems compared to other African countries that have a less-developed financial system. Beck and Cull (2013) show that South Africa and Mauritius have higher levels of financial development in the African region although it remains shallow in comparison to the banking system of developed countries.

For instance, the World Bank statistics (median values) documented in Beck and Cull (2013) show that 'access to, and use of financial services' aggregate indicator is 15 bank accounts for every 100 adults in the African country and 42 bank accounts for every 100 adults for countries outside Africa. Also, in terms of 'access to finance', there are 3.1 branches per 100,000 adults in Africa while there are 9.6 branches per 100,000 adults outside Africa. In terms of bank efficiency and profitability, the World Bank statistic also show that banks in Africa are on average, less efficient, but more profitable and operate in less competitive environments. Return on assets (ROA) was 2.1 percent of total assets for banks in African country and 4.7 percent for banks in non-African countries. In terms of overhead cost, African financial system had 5.5 percent of total assets and was 3.4 percent for non-African financial system (Beck and Cull, 2013). The above statistics confirm that banking in Africa is shallow compared to banking in developed nations.

In addition to the above issues, there are other characteristics that make banking in Africa more difficult to assess and to evaluate compared to other developed countries of the world. One, Beck and Cull (2013) argue that the small size of many African economies do not allow banks to reap the benefits of scale economies, and this situation is worsen by the limited demand for savings, insurance, credit or payment services among large parts of the population in African countries, implying that parts of the rural population have fewer access to banking services compared to parts of the urban population in African countries. Two, Beck and Cull (2013) also stress that a significant number of economic agents in African

countries operate in the informal sector and do not have the necessary formal documentation required to facilitate financial transactions in the formal sector of many African economies. Consequently, this increases cost and risk for banks due to the exclusion of large portion of economic agents from the informal financial services market. Finally, Beck and Cull (2013) point out that there are significant governance problems that hinder the effectiveness of many private and public governance institutions throughout the African continent. Weak governance (both corporate governance or state governance) further undermines not only the market-based provision of banking services, but also undermine reform attempts and government interventions aimed at correcting or fixing market failures across African countries (Honohan and Beck, 2007; Beck et al., 2011; Beck and Cull, 2013). Taken together, these issues should influence the profitability and performance of African banks, and should also have some influence on the financial reporting behaviour of banks in African countries. While these issues make banking in Africa a challenging context to evaluate, it also creates some interesting gaps for further research into banking in Africa.

2.2. Accounting Disclosure Quality and Financial Reporting

There is the debate about whether Africa needs International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and this debate is centred on whether IFRS has higher disclosure quality than local GAAPs or national accounting standards in African countries (Outa, 2013; Sy and Tinker, 2013). In this section, I discuss accounting disclosure quality and present a concise overview of the state of IFRS adoption in Africa.

Accounting disclosure quality is the extent to which financial statement information reflects the true underlying economic reality of the firm (Chen et al., 2010, p.222). Financial statements have higher accounting quality when accounting information has increased value relevance, reliability and comparability (Soderstrom and Sun, 2007; Barth et al., 2008). This view is consistent with the objective of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) which is to improve the transparency and comparability of financial statements for the effective working of equity markets around the world (Pope

and McLeay, 2011). Recently, there have been significant accounting developments in some African countries although these developments are uneven across countries in Africa.

One major phase of accounting development in the region is the convergence and harmonisation of local standards to international accounting standards. Some African countries have adopted IFRS accounting standards e.g., Kenya, Nigeria, South Africa, Mauritius, Ghana, Libya, Malawi, Namibia and Sierra Leone while other African countries are in the process of doing so by first encouraging voluntary adoption for example Egypt. Other African countries, for example, Benin, Burkina Faso, Mali, Niger and Senegal prefer to retain the use of their local GAAPs and claim that their local GAAPs are 'based on' or 'similar to' converge IFRS⁵. Moreover, only few African countries continue to adopt the accounting standards (i.e., IAS) introduced to them by their British or French colonial masters.

Financial reporting in several African countries also face a number of problems which include weak incentive of preparers of financial statements, poor training and development for preparers of financial statement information, weak legal enforcement mechanisms, political factors, poor corporate governance structures and weak auditor incentives (Owolabi and Iyoha, 2012; Mutiso and Kamau, 2013). Another issue is the problem of label and serious adopters (Daske et al., 2013). For instance, some African countries may claim to adopt or converge to IFRS while the extent of IFRS adoption in such countries is rather low and sometimes enforcement of such standards is almost non-existent (hence, label adopters). Only few African countries, for example South Africa, Kenya, Mauritius adopt IFRS with evidence of strong enforcement.

African studies that examine the accounting quality of financial reports show mixed evidence for whether IFRS adoption improves the quality of accounting information in financial reports in the region. For instance, Outa (2011) examine whether the adoption of IFRS is associated with improved accounting quality among listed companies in Kenya and did not find evidence for improved earnings quality after IFRS adoption and concludes that weak compliance to IFRS rules is responsible for the observed decline in earnings quality after IFRS adoption. To complement Outa (2011), Mutiso and Kamau (2013) observe

⁵ http://www.iasplus.com/en/resources/ifrs-topics/use-of-ifrs

that management interference, lack of guidance on the interpretation of financial reports and frequent revisions of accounting standards contribute to the increased complexity of financial reporting in Kenya which also affects earnings quality and accounting disclosure quality among Kenyan firms. Ames (2013) finds that mandatory IFRS adoption did not improve accounting disclosure and earnings quality among listed firms in South Africa. Hessayri and Saihi (2015) did not find evidence for reduced earnings management or improved earnings quality after the switch to IFRS reporting standards among firms in United Arab Emirates, Morocco, South Africa and the Philippines during an eight-year period. Taken together, these studies suggest that low enforcement partly explains the weak accounting disclosure quality among African firms despite IFRS adoption. These issues also raise controversy about the suitability of applying IFRS to the African context, and the effectiveness of IFRS to improve accounting quality in the African region.

2.3. Loan Loss Provisioning Practices: Africa and International Basel Rules

2.3.1. Loan Loss Provisioning Practices

There is little publicly available information about the loan loss provisioning practices of banks in African countries. For most African countries, the traditional accounting for loan loss provisions used by African banks follows the 'accounting textbook' approach, a practice also adopted by banks in developed countries. The traditional accounting procedure involves creating a provision for estimated losses on bank loan portfolio. Periodically, provision for loan losses are increased or decreased in response to expected credit risk to bank loan portfolio (White et al., 2003). In reality, bank provisions tend to be higher during a recession because the probability of loan defaults are higher during such periods while bank provisions are lower during periods of economic prosperity because loan defaults are less likely to occur in such periods (Wall and Koch, 2000). The estimated level of provision for loan loss is then charged against bank interest income in the income statement as 'provisions for bad debt' or 'loan loss provisions' or 'impairment for credit risk'.

For African countries that adopt IFRS, the method used by banks to derive loan loss provisions estimate is the IAS 39 incurred loss provisioning model which require banks to set aside a provision for loan losses only when there is objective evidence that losses have been incurred or when losses are highly probable. For micro-prudential regulation, bank supervisors (or Central Banks) in several African countries want sufficient bank provisioning that is commensurate with the credit risk associated with bank loan portfolio in a timely manner to minimise loan losses particularly during bad economic periods. To achieve this, some bank supervisors in the region require banks to adopt BASEL's guidelines on bank loan loss provisions or require a compromise between the loan loss provisions estimate derived from IAS 39 and the loan loss provisions estimate derived from Basel rules.

2.3.2. Some Provisioning Practices in Africa

This section presents an overview of the loan loss provisioning practices of banks in some African countries where such information is publicly available.

NIGERIA. In 2011, the Central Bank of Nigeria require Nigerian banks to allocate loan loss provisions for expected losses, and loan loss provisions should be recognised in the profit and loss account based on IFRS incurred loss model. Also, the Central Bank also requires banks to ensure that non-distributable reserve is classified under Tier 1 as part of core capital. The Central Bank also require Nigerian banks to compare the provisions estimates from prudential guidelines with provisions estimates from IFRS requirements. If prudential provisions estimates are greater than IFRS provisions estimates, the difference is transferred from the general reserve account to a non-distributable regulatory reserve account. If prudential loan loss provision estimates are less than IFRS provisions estimates, the difference is transferred from the regulatory reserve account to the general reserve account to the extent of the non-distributable reserve previously recognized (CBN, 2010).

SOUTH AFRICA. The South Africa Reserve Bank (SARB) implemented Basel III capital framework in 2013 to ensure the soundness and capital adequacy of the South African banking system. Prior to Basel III adoption, the SARB introduced Basel II in 2004 and require major banks in South Africa to include eligible provisions to Tier II capital. Eligible provisions include specific provisions, partial write-offs, country risk provisions and general provisions.

In addition to prudential provisioning requirements, the adoption of IAS 39 incurred loss model is a significant step to ensure sufficient bank loan loss provisioning in African countries that adopt IFRS. However, the IAS 39 incurred loss model is criticised as backward-looking mainly because it delays provisions until it is too late (Laeven and Majnoni, 2003). For instance, the IAS 39 incurred loss provisioning model require banks to set aside provisions for bad debt only (i) when loan losses or defaults are incurred, or (ii) when there is objective evidence of loan impairment, or (iii) when loan losses are highly probable to occur (Gaston and Song, 2014), and this approach to bank provisioning delays bank provisions until it is too late because it does not anticipate loan loss or loan defaults early before it occurs (Gaston and Song, 2014). Regardless of these criticisms, bank supervisors in African countries impose additional loan loss provisioning (and loan loss reserve) requirements on banks to encourage the build-up of loan loss provisions as reserves during good economic periods in anticipation of bad economic periods.

The Central Bank of Nigeria, for instance, require Nigerian banks to continuously adjust bank provisions to reflect the changing asset quality of bank loan portfolio over time (CBN report, 2010).⁶ However, if banks must provide sufficient bank provisions, bank managers need to exercise discretion to decide how much loan loss provision to allocate for each period. Permitting managerial discretion in bank provisioning also raises concern that provisions estimates might be manipulated by bank managers so that the level of provisions is driven by opportunistic considerations rather than by credit risk considerations (Wall and Koch, 2000). For instance, a PWC (2010) report states that a significant reduction in bank loan loss provisions contributed to increased profitability of the biggest four banks in South Africa (PWC, 2010).⁷

KENYA. Focussing on bank loan loss provisions, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) undertook a consultative assessment of the resilience of the banking system of some African countries and made several observations. The case of Kenya is interesting. The IMF reported that Kenya banks were well-capitalised and profitable but had insufficient loan loss provisions to mitigate its growing non-performing

http://www.cenbank.org/OUT/2010/PUBLICATIONS/BSD/PRUDENTIAL%20GUIDELINES%2030%20JUNE%202010%20FINAL%20%20_3_.PDF

⁷ The big 4 banks are Absa, FirstRand, Nedbank and Standard Bank. PriceWatersCooper (PWC) report is available at: https://www.pwc.co.za/en/assets/pdf/major-banks-analysis-march-2011.pdf

loans. The IMF observed that a significant portion of bank non-performing loans originated from the construction industry and that the government had guaranteed bank loans to the construction industry, justifying the fewer provisions that were set aside for losses on loans to the construction industry. The case of Kenya demonstrates that bank provisioning decisions in several African countries is not solely driven by credit risk considerations but can be influenced by government guarantees and developmental factors.⁸

MAURITIUS. In 2014, bank regulators in Mauritius require external auditors to submit an opinion to each Mauritian bank on whether their loan loss provisions estimates are adequate.⁹ For inclusion in tier 2 capital, banks are not required to include loan loss provisions for known liabilities or real assets but rather are required to include loan loss provisions (or reserves) for future losses in the determination of Tier 2 capital.¹⁰

UGANDA. According to the 2005 statutory guidelines for bank provisioning in Uganda¹¹, bank supervisors ensure that Ugandan banks comply with capital adequacy requirements by apportioning loan loss provisions for possible impairments arising from bad and doubtful accounts. In Uganda, bank loan facilities are classified as: substandard loan, doubtful loan or loan loss, and are subject to specific provisions regardless of whether a subjective or objective criteria was used in determining the classification. For instance, specific provisions for substandard assets are at least 20% of the outstanding balance of the loan facility. Specific provisions of loan loss is maintained at 100% of the outstanding balance of the loan facility which is subsequently written off against accumulated provisions within ninety days of being identified as loss. In addition to specific provisions, banks are required to maintain a general loan loss provision of at least 1% of their total outstanding loan facilities net of specific provisions and interest in suspense.

⁸ http://www.businessdailyafrica.com/IMF-says-Kenyan-banks-exposed-to-bad-loans-danger/-/539552/2613532/-/apcc8h/-/index.html

⁹ https://www.bom.mu/sites/default/files/Guideline_BaselII.pdf

¹⁰ https://www.bom.mu/sites/default/files/Guideline_BaselII.pdf

¹¹ https://www.bou.or.ug/bou/bou-

downloads/acts/supervision_acts_regulations/FI_Regulations/FI_CreditClassificationRegulatns2005.pdf

NAMIBIA. In a guideline on bank provisioning issued in 2007,¹² bank regulators in Namibia require banks to compute loan loss provisions estimate using 'IAS 39 provisioning guidelines' and the 'Determination on Asset Classification, Provisioning and Suspension of Interest' (BID-2) guidelines. Specific impairments computed in terms of IAS 39 should not be less than the amount of specific provisions computed in terms of BID-2. If the former provisions amount is less than the latter provisions amount, additional specific provisioning should be raised to eliminate the shortfall. Also, total impairments, consisting of specific and portfolio impairments, computed in terms of IAS 39 should not be less than total regulatory provisioning (specific and general) computed in terms of BID-2. If the former impairments amount is less than the latter provisions amount, an additional general loan loss provisions, on a pre-tax basis equal to or exceeding the shortfall, should immediately be created through an appropriation of distributable reserves to eliminate the shortfall. If the IAS 39 specific impairment and/or portfolio impairment provisions is greater than the regulator's provisions amount calculated in terms of BID-2 and are considered to be material, the bank regulator encourages all banks to provide for the greater amount (p.1-2, Paraphrased).

Overall, the above analyses confirm that the actual level of loan loss provisions of African banks is determined by multiple factors other than credit risk factors alone, and these factors include managerial provisioning decisions, differences in regulatory guidelines on bank provisioning, differences in the accounting for bank loan loss provisions across countries in Africa, etc.; therefore, the peculiarity of each African banking system should be taken into account when investigating bank loan loss provisioning practices in Africa. Finally, given the commonalities in the loan loss provisioning practices for the African countries discussed above, we can reasonably expect that similar practices is prominent in other African countries. Apart from the 6 African countries examined above, information for bank loan loss provisioning solutelines for other African countries is not publicly available remotely.

2.3.3. Basel Rules and Bank Loan Loss Provisions

BASEL I. Basel I require banks to keep regulatory capital equal to at least 8% of risk-weighted assets and also require banks to include loan loss provision (or reserve) in the computation of regulatory capital of

 $^{^{12}\} https://www.bon.com.na/CMSTemplates/Bon/Files/bon.com.na/1d/1df704cc-a2e7-4764-bc10-6246f540e187.pdf$

banks. ^{13,14} More precisely, loan loss reserves (or provisions) accounts for 1.25% of risk-weighted assets in Tier 2 capital under Basel I.

Under Basel 1, loan loss provisions (or reserves) for US banks are about 1.25 per cent of risk-weighted assets and bank regulators in other countries can exercise their own discretion to exceed the 1.25 per cent rule to meet the perceived regulatory needs of the banking industry in each country. The inclusion of loan loss provisions (or reserves) in the computation of regulatory capital imply that bank managers with low regulatory capital can increase loan loss provisions estimates to compensate for low regulatory capital ratios which constitutes regulatory capital management (Ahmed et al., 1999). Basel 1 is criticised for its procyclical behaviour in response to business cycle developments (Jackson, 1999). During bad economic times, banks would avoid risky activities (and risky lending) which would make them keep low regulatory capital. Because their low regulatory capital during bad times might be unacceptable to regulators and could attract unintended regulatory scrutiny, banks would keep higher loan loss provisions (or reserves) when they have low regulatory capital to compensate for their low regulatory capital ratio. This was the procyclical effect of Basel 1 capital regulation. Moreover, Bikker and Metzemakers (2005) points out that during a recession, banks would significantly increase loan loss provisions estimates to compensate for their low regulatory capital level but the increased loan loss provisions would further decrease bank profits, depleting bank capital and reinforcing the existing recession, hence, the need for a revised bank capital standard.

BASEL II. Basel I was revised and became Basel II in 2001 and 2003, and was implemented by bank supervisors across several countries in 2007 (BCBS, 2004). According to BCBS (2004), Basel II is based

¹³ The 1988 Basel I Accord was the first attempt to establish international standards for bank capital adequacy. Since 1988, bank capital regulation has evolved as new Basel regulations modify and replace previous Basel capital regulations.

¹⁴ The Basel Committee for Banking Supervision (BCBS) report in 2004 require banks to set aside capital for three types of risk: credit risk, market risk and operational risk. Credit risk is the risk that counterparties to a loan or derivative transaction may default in fulfilling their obligations. Credit risk requires the highest regulatory capital because it is the biggest risk banks face due to their lending activities. Market risk is the risk arising from banks' trading operations. It is the risk that a sudden change in price would lead to a significant loss on the market value of its trading securities. Operational risk is the risk a bank faces arising from failed systems, people, internal processes and other external factors (BCBS, 2004). Bank capital has two components: Tier 1 capital and Tier 2 capital. Tier 1 capital consists of equity (goodwill is subtracted from equity) and non-cumulative perpetual preferred stock. Tier 2 capital includes instruments such as cumulative perpetual preferred stock and subordinated debt. Basel I accord requires at least 50% of regulatory capital (that is, 4% of risk-weighted assets) to be Tier 1 capital. Basel I also require 2% of risk weighted assets to be common equity (Hull, 2012).

on three pillars: minimum capital requirements, supervisory review and market discipline.¹⁵ Pillar 1 describes the methodology for calculating minimum capital requirements. Pillar I maintained minimum capital requirement at 8 percent of risk-weighted assets. Under Pillar 1, the determination of the minimum capital requirement for banks is based on three approach: the internal risk-based (IRB) approach, the standardised approach and the advanced measurement approach. The internal risk-based (IRB) approach requires banks to rely on their own risk assessment of borrowers' credit risk to determine their risk weights. Under the IRB approach, banks must ensure that expected losses are fully covered via loan loss provisions. When expected losses are greater than provisions, banks have to deduct the difference from capital on the basis of 50% deduction from Tier 1 capital and 50% from Tier 2 capital. If expected losses are less than provisions, banks should recognise the difference in Tier 2 capital up to a maximum of 0.6 percent of risk-weighted assets. The standardised approach requires the determination of risk weights based on external credit ratings. Under the standardised approach, banks should include loan loss reserves up to a maximum of 1.25% risk-weighted assets. The advanced measurement (AMA) approach require banks to choose their own methodology for assessing risk provided it is thoroughly comprehensive and systemic. Overall, Basel II Pillar 1 is designed to ensure that bank capital covers unexpected losses while loan loss provisions cover expected loan losses.¹⁶ Basel II was also criticised for being procyclical with fluctuations in the economy (e.g. Turner, 2000; Borio et al., 2001; Danielsson et al., 2001; Segaviano and Lowe, 2002).

BASEL III. Basel III capital accord proposes a new provisioning model - the 'expected through-thecycle loan loss provisioning system' to be introduced in June 2018. This provisioning system is similar to Basel II because it also anticipates loan losses before it materialises. However, the main criticism of Basel II's loan loss provisioning system was that it allows provisioning only at one point in time, say, at the

¹⁵Pillar 2 'supervisory review' involves the supervision of banks to ensure that bank capital is commensurate with the level of risk banks take. Basel II Pillar 3 'market discipline' aim to foster market transparency so that market participants and bank counterparties can better assess bank capital adequacy and bank risks, and Central bankers or bank regulators/supervisors have full responsibility to ensure that all banks disclose sufficient information about the way they allocate capital for the risks they take.

¹⁶ The distinction between loan losses covered by bank capital and loan losses covered by loan loss provisions is sometimes blurred because (i) bank capital is derived partly from loan loss provisions (or reserves), and also (ii) general provision is included in Basel's definition of bank capital (Hull, 2012). Therefore, regulatory capital requirements should include sufficient loan loss provisions due to the close relation between loan loss provisions and capital (Cavallo and Majnoni, 2002; Banque de France, 2001).

beginning of the reporting year or quarterly or semi-annually (Wezel et al., 2012). Basel III improves on Basel II by introducing a loan loss provisioning system that require banks and financial institutions to set aside specific provisions on newly-originated loans based on individual borrower characteristics that drives the performance of the loan (Wezel et al., 2012)¹⁷. This means that the level of loan loss provisions to be associated with a specific loan will be determined from the outset based on a set of bank-specific and borrower-specific criteria even though the loan impairment has not occurred yet, or is unlikely to occur in the near future (Wezel et al., 2012). Under Basel III, a bank manager will retain full discretion on the exact estimates of specific provisions and bank managers must ensure that the application of Basel III provisioning standards are driven by sound credit risk management considerations (Wezel et al., 2012). Some policy researchers argue that the expected through-the-cycle provisioning system is a purer method to anticipate loan losses and that it has the merits of being in line with Basel II principles (e.g. Blundell-Wignall and Atkinson, 2010; Wezel et al., 2012; Angelini et al., 2015).

2.4. Conclusion

This chapter presented an overview of banking in Africa, financial reporting and accounting disclosure quality in Africa. The chapter highlighted some issues associated with banking in Africa and as well as some obstacles to accounting developments in the region, particularly, enforcement issues and weak incentive to preparers of financial statement information. The chapter also discuss loan loss provisioning practices in some African counters and also provide a discussion on the role of bank provisions in international bank capital regulation. In the next chapter, I discuss the theoretical framework that explains why bank managers may manipulate specific accounting numbers to meet manage or smooth earnings and to meet other opportunistic financial reporting objectives.

¹⁷ One major distinction between the 'expected through-the-cycle provisioning system' and 'dynamic loan loss provisioning system' is that dynamic provisioning gradually builds a pool of general provisions (not specific provisions) to cover eventual losses while the expected through-the-cycle provisioning systems makes specific provisions on each loan made to individuals or corporations.

Chapter 3

Positive Accounting Theory, Earnings Management and Institutions

3.0. Introduction

This chapter discuss positive accounting theory as the main theoretical framework to explain why firm manage reported earnings. Positive accounting theory presents three hypotheses as alternative explanations for earnings management among firms. The chapter then proceed to define earnings management among firms. The chapter then proceed to detect earnings management among firms. The chapter then proceed to discuss some institutional factors that influence the earnings management behaviour of firms. Finally, a discussion of earnings smoothing and the theoretical motivations to smooth reported earnings, are presented. For the rest of the thesis, the term 'earnings smoothing' and 'income smoothing' are used interchangeably to mean the same thing.

3.1. Positive Accounting Theory

Why do managers engage in earnings management practices? Positive accounting theory argues that managers manage reported earnings because of explicit contracts given to them which are tied to accounting numbers. Positive accounting theory has its foundation in agency theory from the contracting literature. The starting point of agency theory is that managers are motivated by their own self-interest. According to Jensen and Meckling (1976), in the absence of monitoring, managers of firms will take certain actions that maximise their compensation even though these actions may hurt bondholders and equity holders. Also, the presence of compensation-based contract will motivate the manager to take actions that further his interest as well as the interest of firm owners if such action increases the likelihood of receiving the contractual compensation. Lambert (1984) show that, under certain assumptions, the compensation scheme offered to managers can motivate managers to manage reported earnings. He argues that: (i) the unobservability of managerial actions and (ii) the need to maximise the principal's utility and the agent's compensation jointly provide some incentive for managers to influence reported earnings, and the incentive is stronger if managed earnings jointly maximises shareholders' wealth and

increases the manager's likelihood of receiving the contractual compensation. Greenawalt and Sinkey (1988) criticise Lambert (1984)'s agency theory perspective because Lambert (1984) did not consider earnings management using accounting numbers; thus, Lambert's study was criticised for not having any implication for financial reporting among firms. Nonetheless, Lambert (1984) suggests that future research could extend his framework to accounting earnings management practices. Later on, Greenawalt and Sinkey (1988) extended Lambert's work to earnings management using accounting numbers.

Positive accounting theory (PAT) goes beyond agency theory to ask the question: what motivates managers to act in ways to maximise their self-benefit? What are the incentives? Why do managers influence or manipulate accounting numbers? What motivates managers to make certain accounting choices? Positive accounting theorists, pioneered by the work of Watts and Zimmerman (1978, 1986), focus on how accounting information generated by management depend on the choice of accounting methods used to generate accounting information.

According to Watts and Zimmerman (1986), the main premise of positive accounting theory is that the accounting information generated by a firm is not merely a result of a firm's actions or operational activities but rather depends on the choice of accounting methods used to generate that information which in turn depends on explicit contracts to firm managers. They argue that the explicit contracts given to firm managers motivate them to use specific accounting methods/techniques to manage reported earnings to meet financial reporting objectives that depend on the reported earnings number. Watts and Zimmerman (1986) therefore conclude that the accounting information generated by management in financial reports reflect several factors that were taken into consideration when generating financial reports such as how resources are allocated, management compensation, regulatory requirements, debt covenant restrictions, financing decisions, investment decisions and other considerations (White et al., 2003), implying that reported earnings in the financial report of firms reflect both accounting and non-accounting decisions of managers.

Positive accounting theory then proceeds to provide three competing explanations or hypotheses or regularities that explain why managers use several accounting procedures to influence the level of

reported earnings. These hypotheses or explanations include: the bonus plan hypothesis, debt violation hypothesis and the political cost hypothesis. The merits of these competing explanations have become the foundation for much research on earnings management to date. One notable reason for this is because the three hypotheses can be empirically tested with publicly available data of firms.

3.2.1. Bonus Plan Hypothesis

Positive accounting theory's bonus plan hypothesis states that, if the compensation or bonus to managers is attached to how well the firm perform at the end of each period, it is in the best interest of managers to use accounting methods, choices and accrual decisions that improves firm performance which in turn would improve the compensation to management (Watts and Zimmerman, 1986; 1990). More specifically, the hypothesis state that "ceteris paribus, managers of firms with bonus plans are more likely to choose accounting procedures that shift reported earnings from future periods to the current period" (Watts and Zimmerman 1986: p.208), implying that if reported earnings in financial statements are the benchmark for firm performance, the manager will have some incentive to use accounting procedures that will improve reported earnings in the current period which then increases the probability of receiving the promised management compensation that depend on the level of reported earnings (Watts and Zimmerman, 1986; 1990).

However, the relationship between management compensation and the size of reported earnings is not necessarily linear. Watts and Zimmerman (1990) identified some complexities in the relationship between the bonus plan and the size of reported earnings. They stress that the existence of a bonus plan, no matter how attractive, may not necessarily lead to increases in reported earnings. Rather, they argue that "...a bonus plan does not always give managers some incentive to increase earnings. If, in the absence of accounting changes, earnings are below the minimum level required for payment of a bonus, managers have some incentive to reduce earnings this year because no bonuses are likely to be paid. Taking such an 'earnings bath' increases expected bonuses and profits in future years... " (Watts and Zimmerman, 1990: p.139). In other words, if managers perceive that they are not likely to receive any bonus in the current period, they will engage in income-decreasing strategies (i.e., earnings bath) in the current year in
anticipation of increased earnings in subsequent years and increased likelihood of receiving the associated bonus in the next period.

The bonus plan hypothesis is considered to be the first well established hypothesis in the empirical earnings management literature. Examples of studies that find evidence to support the bonus plan hypothesis include Healy (1985), McNichols and Wilson (1988), Gaver et al. (1995), Holthausen et al. (1995), Guidry et al. (1999), Dechow et al. (1996) and Bergstresser et al. (2006). For instance, Bergstresser et al. (2006) observe that earnings management practices are more pronounced in firms where CEO's total compensation is closely tied to the value of stock and option holdings. Healy (1985) demonstrates how the incentive to manage reported earnings derives from the promise of some prespecified bonus or compensation plan to firm managers. Healy (1985) analyse three compensation scenarios: (i) no bonus if earnings fall below a specified lower bound, (ii) a fixed bonus if reported earnings are above a specified upper bound, and (iii) a bonus that depends on the level of reported earnings when reported earnings is within the specified lower and upper bound limits. Healy (1985) observes that managers engage in income-increasing strategies when earnings are predicted to fall below targets and that managers engage in income-decreasing strategies when earnings are unusually high. Overall, the evidence above suggests that the existence of bonus plans can induce managers to manage earnings to increase their compensation.

3.2.2. Debt Covenant Hypothesis

Creditors provide funds to firms to finance their activities and in exchange for their investments creditors want repayment of both principal and interest. Watts and Zimmerman (1978; 1986) argue that, to protect themselves, creditors and other lenders will impose restrictions on borrowers to minimise the likelihood of default on the principal or interest repayment. Therefore, the debt covenant hypothesis argues that the existence of debt covenants and/or the closeness of the firm to debt covenant violation will induce managers to use accounting procedures that minimise the likelihood of violating specified debt covenants. More specifically, the debt covenant hypothesis states that "ceteris paribus, the larger a firm's debt-equity ratio, the more likely the firm's manager is to select accounting procedures that shift reported earnings from future periods to the current period." (Watts and Zimmerman, 1986: p.216).

Some studies show that managers tend to make income-increasing accounting choices to avoid violating debt covenant agreements and make income-decreasing accounting choices if the debt is to be restructured or renegotiated (e.g. Sweeney, 1994; Jaggi and Lee, 2002). DeFond and Jiambalvo (1993) argue that even if default cannot be avoided by manipulating accounting information, managers are still likely to make income-increasing accounting choices hoping to improve their bargaining position in the event of debt renegotiation. DeAngelo et al (1994) show that financially-distressed firms have incentives to engage in discretionary write-offs to convince creditors of their willingness to deal with their financial difficulties. Bartov (1993) documents that managers sell fixed assets in order to avoid negative earnings growth and debt covenant violations.

The debt covenant hypothesis is another well-tested hypothesis in the financial accounting literature. Studies that test this hypothesis use debt to equity ratio as a proxy for the existence of debt covenants or as a proxy for the closeness to debt covenant violation; hence, the hypothesis is also known as the debt/equity hypothesis or leverage hypothesis and such studies include Ayres (1986), Daley and Vigeland (1983), Zmijewski and Hagerman (1981).

DeFond and Jiambalvo (1994) point out that one reason for using debt to equity ratio as a proxy for the existence of debt covenant is due to the difficulty to access firms' actual debt covenant information, and the high cost of accessing firms' actual debt covenant information even if such information is accessible. DeFond and Jiainbalvo (1994) and Sweeney (1994) find evidence to support the debt-covenant hypothesis but both studies did not use debt-equity ratio as a proxy for the existence and tightness of debt covenants rather both studies test the debt covenant hypothesis by examining a sample of firms that actually violated debt covenants. DeAngelo (1994) did not find evidence to support the debt-covenant hypothesis.

3.2.3. Political Cost (or Size) Hypothesis

Watts and Zimmerman (1986) use the size of a firm as a proxy for a firm's political cost. By political cost, they refer to the sensitivity of a firm to regulatory scrutiny or political scrutiny. White et al. (2003) stress that the way the general public, politicians and regulators view extremely high earnings of a firm differ from the way shareholders perceive high earnings, particularly, if there is a reason to believe that a firm or group of firms are taking advantage of the public by making obscene profits. Watts and

Zimmerman (1986) argue that, because extremely high earnings could attract political criticism and regulatory scrutiny and such scrutiny is costly to firms, firm managers have incentive to use accounting procedures that reduce high earnings in the current period. This is the argument of the political cost hypothesis.

With regard to large firms and small firms, Watts and Zimmerman (1986) also argue that managers of large firms will use accounting procedures that decrease the size of current earnings if earnings are too high in order to avoid scrutiny of profit by firm regulators compared to smaller firms. The larger the firm, the more likely the manager will select accounting procedures that decreases high earnings in the current period. This is the size hypothesis based on the political cost hypothesis.

Many studies use the size of the firm as a proxy for a firm's political cost to test for the sensitivity of firms to political/regulatory scrutiny. Such studies include Alchian and Kessel (1962), Zimmerman (1983), Jones (1991), Guenther (1994), Bowen et al. (1995), Hunt et al. (1996), Key (1997) and Han and Wang (1998).

3.2.4. Political Cost versus Earnings Smoothing? - Critical Perspective

Political cost hypothesis is similar to the earnings smoothing hypothesis because both hypotheses focus on decreasing high earnings in the current period. However, the only difference between the two hypotheses is that, for the earnings smoothing hypothesis, firm managers can decrease high earnings and increase low earnings to stabilise firm earnings over time. In other words, managers can decrease high earnings during good years possibly to save surplus earnings in anticipation of bad times, and increase low earnings during bad years to possibly avoid reporting a loss. On the other hand, the political cost hypothesis differ from the earnings smoothing hypothesis in the sense that the political cost hypothesis only focus on decreasing high earnings to avoid the scrutiny and political cost associated with reporting too high earnings.

Moreover, it is important to stress that the earnings smoothing hypothesis and the political cost hypothesis are not mutually exclusive. This is because firms could smooth earnings to avoid the associated political cost of reporting too high earnings; therefore, the political cost hypothesis can explain why firms smooth

earnings - although it is not the only explanation. On the other hand, earnings smoothing can explain the political cost argument. For instance, firms can smooth losses by increasing earnings upward when they expect losses to avoid sending a signal to firm regulators that the firm might fail if such signal could attract scrutiny of the firm's earnings by regulators and political commentators. In this case, the earnings smoothing hypothesis explains why firms seek to avoid regulatory or political scrutiny. Additionally, firms can use earnings (or earnings) smoothing as a method which achieves both objectives, that is, to reduce earnings in good years and increase earnings in bad years so that reported earnings never seem to be too high or too low to attract regulatory or political scrutiny.

3.2. Earnings Management

3.2.1. What is Earnings Management?

The term 'earnings management' encompasses a wide range of accounting procedures and techniques that managers employ to alter reported accounting numbers in order to meet some pre-defined earnings target. There are three definitions of earnings management that stands out in the theoretical accounting literature.

The first definition view earnings management as "the process of taking deliberate steps within the constraints of generally accepted accounting principles to bring about a desired level of reported earnings" (Davidson et al., 1987) cited in Schipper (1989: p.92). This definition suggests that the flexibility allowed within the constraints of generally accepted accounting principles allow managers to use accounting numbers to alter reported earnings; however, this definition ignores the fact that earnings management behaviour can exceed the constraints of generally accepted accounting principles. The second definition view earnings management as "a purposeful intervention in the external financial reporting process with the intent of obtaining some private gain (as opposed to say, merely facilitating the neutral operation of the process)" (Schipper, 1989: p.92). This definition has its foundation in agency theory and suggests that managers manage earnings to obtain private gains. The demerit of these two definitions is that they view earnings management as an opportunistic behaviour by firm managers to seek

private gains but do not take into account how the incentive to manage reported earnings may be influenced by external factors which managers do not have control over.

The third definition states that earnings management occurs "when managers use judgement in financial reporting and in structuring transactions to alter financial reports to either mislead some stakeholders about the underlying economic performance of the company or to influence contractual outcomes that depend on reporting accounting numbers" (Healy and Wahlen, 1999: p.368). In this thesis, I use Healy and Wahlen (1999)'s definition of earnings management to conceptualise bank earnings management for the following reasons.

One, Healy and Wahlen (1999)'s definition suggests that managers can exercise judgement in financial reporting in a number of ways, implying that flexibility in financial reporting is necessary to allow managers choose accounting methods that meet the expectations of firm owners and external stakeholders. Two, Healy and Wahlen (1999)'s definition provides a better explanation for earnings management among banks because bank earnings are significantly affected by external factors such as unpaid loans, non-performing loans and bad economic conditions and these factors affect the underlying economic performance of banks, requiring banks to manage reported earnings to mitigate such effects while meeting the expectations of stakeholders at the same time.

Some aspects of Healy and Wahlen (1999)'s definition have merits and demerits. One merit of Healy and Wahlen (1999)'s definition is that they suggest that managers can exercise judgement in financial reporting in a number of ways to allow managers choose accounting methods that meet the expectation of firm owners. Another merit is that Healy and Wahlen (1999)'s definition emphasise that managers manipulate earnings to influence contractual outcomes that depend on accounting numbers. This is consistent with the positive accounting theory's bonus plan hypothesis, implying that managers can manage reported earnings to increase the likelihood of receiving the bonus that depend on the reported earnings number (see. Watt and Zimmerman, 1986). The third merit of Healy and Wahlen's definition is that it explains earnings management in banks, which is the context of this thesis.

However, one demerit of Healy and Wahlen's definition is that they conclude that the purpose of earnings management is to mislead investors or stakeholders, and this is a weakness of their definition because they did not acknowledge that not all earnings manipulation (or management) is aimed at misleading stakeholders. On the contrary, earnings management may be used to communicate private information about firms' future earnings that would not be communicated if earnings were not managed. For instance, managers may manage earnings by smoothing reporting earnings to signal earnings stability, or to signal improved stock returns to investors.

3.2.2. Types of Earnings Management

Generally, the literature shows that firm managers manipulate reported earnings either through accrualbased earnings management strategies or real activity-based earnings management strategies or a combination of both (see. Healy, 1985; Guidry et al., 1999; Defond and Jiambalvo, 1994; Teoh et al., 1998; Kasznik, 1999; Gunny, 2005; Roychowdhury, 2006; Zang, 2011). Gunny (2005) further expands the accrual and real earnings management category to include a third category: accrual earnings management, real earnings management and fraudulent accounting. By fraudulent accounting, Gunny (2005) refers to earnings management that involves accounting choices that violate generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and is often accomplished by changing the choice of accounting methods used to represent the underlying activities of firms. In contrast to fraudulent accounting earnings management, accrual earnings management (AEM) and real activity-based earnings management (REM) techniques involves the use of accounting choices within the limits allowed by generally acceptable accounting practices (GAAP) in order to manipulate reported earnings.

Accrual-based earnings management (AEM) involves manipulating or influencing the size and timing of accruals to achieve some desired level of reported earnings (Gunny, 2005; Zang, 2011). Accruals are commonly defined as the difference between operating profit and operating cash flow while discretionary accruals are accruals that cannot be explained by a change in sales and the level of fixed assets (Hall et al., 2013). However, the components of accruals that get manipulated vary by firm context and in predictable ways for firms in some industries (Marquardt and Wiedman, 2004). In the banking industry, for instance, there is some degree of predictability in the way banks use certain accruals to influence

reported earnings particularly when such accruals have a direct impact on banks' reported earnings, e.g., loan loss provisions.

Real earnings management (REM), on the other hand, occurs when managers take actions that disguise as normal operational activities in order to manipulate the level of reported earnings (Roychowdhury, 2006; Cohen et al., 2008; Cohen and Zarowin, 2010). Unlike accrual earnings management, real earnings management is often accomplished by changing the firm's underlying operations (Gunny, 2005). For instance, Burgstahler and Dichev (1997) observe that US industrial firms use changes in cash flow from operations and changes in working capital to increase earnings to meet earnings target. Bartov (1993) shows that managers sell-off fixed assets to avoid negative earnings growth and to avoid debt covenant violations while Graham et al. (2005) interviewed chief financial officers (CFOs) and find that 80 per cent of CFOs would decrease R&D expenditure, advertising and maintenance expenditure in order to meet earnings target for the current period while 55 per cent of CFOs admit that they would postpone or delay new projects to meet target earnings. Roychowdhury (2006) shows that managers manipulate sales, reduce discretionary expenditure and inventory overproduction to decrease cost of goods sold in order to increase reported earnings to avoid reporting annual losses or missing analyst forecast. Gunny (2010) finds that firms that meet earnings benchmarks by engaging in real activities earnings manipulation have better operating performance in the subsequent three years than firms that do not engage in real activities manipulation to meet earnings target.

Moreover, firms may use a combination of accrual or real activities based earnings management strategies to manage reported earnings to: avoid reporting a loss or loss avoidance (Hayn, 1995; Burgstahler and Dichev, 1997; DeGeorge et al., 1999), engage in income-increasing earnings management (Rangan, 1998; Healy, 1985; Barth et al., 1999) and to smooth reported earnings over time (see. Kirschenheiter and Melumad, 2002; Bhattacharya et al., 2003; Lapointe-Antunes et al., 2006).

Finally, the literature provides some discussion on the trade-offs between using accrual and real earnings management strategies. However, an in-depth discussion of the trade-offs is beyond the scope of this thesis. Discussions of the trade-offs are presented in Healy and Wahlen (1999) and Zang (2011).

	Table 3.1. Earnings Management (EM) Strategies			
	Accrual EM	Real EM	Fraudulent EM	
Technique	Manipulate the size	Change the firm's	Change the choice of	
	and timing of accruals	underlying operations	accounting methods	
	to achieve some	to disguise as normal	used to represent the	
	desired level of	operational activities	underlying activities	
	reported earnings.	in order to manipulate	of firms in ways that	
		the level of reported	violate GAAP.	
		earnings.		
Within GAAP limits?	Yes	Yes	No	
Supporting Evidence	Ahmed et al (1999),	Bartov (1993),	Gunny (2005).	
	Marquardt and	Burgstahler and		
	Wiedman (2004)	Dichev (1997),		
	Gunny (2005), Zang	Graham et al (2005),		
	2011), Hall et al	Roychowdhury		
	(2013).	(2006), Cohen et al		
		(2008), Cohen and		
		Zarowin (2010).		
*GAAP = Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.				

3.2.3. Accounting Numbers Employed to Manage Earnings

Early studies focus on earnings management through the use of single accounting numbers and in contexts where earnings management is likely to occur (e.g. Healy, 1985; Jones, 1991; Dechow and Sloan, 1991). Subsequent studies examine earnings management through the use of multiple accounting numbers (Beatty et al., 1995; Hunt et al., 1996; Gaver and Paterson, 1999; Cohen et al., 2008; Cohen and Zarowin, 2010; Badertscher, 2011). Given the portfolio of earnings management strategies available to managers in industrial firms and in the financial services industry, the common accounting procedures and numbers used to manage earnings in firms include: changes to pension assumptions, inventory methods, depreciation method and estimates (Sweeney, 1994); available-for-sale securities (Barth et al., 2016); loan charge-offs (Beatty et al., 1995); provision for loan loss (Ahmed et al., 1999); gains from the timing of asset sales (Bartov, 1993; Hermann et al., 2003); pension costs (Thomas and Tung, 1992; Bergstresser and Phillipon, 2006); reduction in advertising and R&D expense (Baber et al., 1991; Dechow and Sloan, 1991; Perry and Grinaker, 1994; Bushee, 1998; Graham et al., 2005; Gunny, 2005; Cohen et al., 2010); use of sales discounts (Graham et al., 2005; Roychowdhury, 2006); inventory overproduction (Thomas and Zhang, 2002; Gunny, 2005; Roychowdhury, 2006); stock repurchase (Hribar et al., 2006); derivative hedging (Barton, 2001; Pincus and Rajgopal, 2002); and securitization (Dechow and Shakespeare, 2009; Dechow et al., 2010; Hunton et al., 2006; and Van Beest, 2009).

	Table 3.2. Portfolio of Earnings Management Techniques			
S/N	Accounting Numbers	Supporting Evidence		
1	Changes to pension assumptions,	Sweeney (1994).		
	inventory methods, depreciation method			
	and estimates.			
2	Available-for-sale securities	Barth et al (2016).		
3	Loan charge-offs	Beatty et al (1995).		
4	Provision for loan loss or loan loss	Ahmed et al (1999).		
	provisions			
5	Gains from the timing of asset sales	Bartov (1993), Hermann et al (2003).		
6	Pension costs	Thomas and Tung (1992), Bergstresser		
		and Phillipon (2006).		
7	Reduction in advertising and R&D	Baber et al (1991), Dechow and Sloan		
	expense	(1991), Perry and Grinaker (1994),		
		Bushee (1998), Graham et al (2005),		
		Gunny (2005), and Cohen et al (2010)		
8	Use of sales discounts	Graham et al (2005) and		
		Roychowdhury (2006)		
9	Inventory overproduction	Thomas and Zhang (2002), Gunny		
		(2005) and Roychowdhury (2006)		
10	Stock repurchase	Hribar et al (2006)		
11	Derivative hedging	Barton (2001), Pincus and Rajgopal		
		(2002)		
12	Securitisation	Dechow and Shakespeare (2009),		
		Dechow et al (2010), Hunton et al		
		(2006) and Van Beest (2009)		

3.2.4. Detecting Earnings Management (EM) in EM Research

There are three quantitative approaches to detect earnings management in the empirical earnings management literature.

The first approach involves the use of total accruals where total accrual is divided into its discretionary accrual and non-discretionary accrual components. Discretionary accruals reflect abnormal (or managed) accruals which are interpreted to indicate earnings manipulation or earnings management while non-discretionary accruals are the component of total accruals that is normal or unmanaged (Peasnell et al., 2000). Some studies, for instance, Jones (1991) use regression technique to separate discretionary accruals from total accruals to test for earnings manipulation. This method is extensively used in the literature.

The second technique is based on the distribution of earnings after earnings have been managed. This technique was introduced by Brughstahler and Dichev (1997) and is considered to be more appropriate when there is a reason to believe that managers are motivated to manage earnings in order to meet some predefined earnings benchmarks or thresholds. In their study, Burgstahler and Dichev (1997) investigate the distribution of earnings and find that managers prefer to report positive earnings rather than reporting losses or significant decrease in earnings.

The third approach is the specific accrual approach. This technique is commonly used to test for earnings management among firms in industries where a particular accrual is significant (Sun and Rath, 2010). McNichols (2000) points out that the use of this technique is based on knowledge from theory or practice about the discretionary and non-discretionary factors that influence the size and timing of specific accruals in an industry. This suggests that, in order to apply the specific accrual approach, the researcher has to be knowledgeable about specific accruals that are likely to be manipulated in the industry and the factors that influence the specific accruals. In the banking industry, for example, the most significant accrual in the banking industry is provision for loan losses or loan loss provision (LLP), and there is evidence in the banking literature that bank managers can use loan loss provisions estimates - an accrual, to manage reported earnings (McNichols and Wilson, 1988; Sun and Rath, 2010). I adopt the specific accrual approach to measure earnings management among banks in this thesis. However, the specific accrual approach has two disadvantages. One, the researcher cannot adopt the specific accrual approach without having specialised knowledge about the industry and knowledge about institutional factors that may influence the behaviour of the specific accrual (McNichols, 2000). Two, generalisations cannot be made from the findings derived from a specific accrual approach because the approach narrowly focus on one accrual rather than a combination of many accruals.

Finally, while no single approach is perfect because each approach has its own weakness; McNichols (2000) maintain that one fundamental issue in testing for earnings management is the difficulty to capture managerial discretion in reported earnings. Stolowy and Breton (2004) also note that this difficulty is more pronounced when distinguishing between normal and abnormal accruals.

3.3. Institutions

This section examine the influence of institutional factors on the earnings management behaviour of firms in order to identify how the presence of certain institutions encourage or limit managers' ability to distort the financial reporting process of firms they are affiliated to.

3.3.1. Institutional Factors

Institutional factors, simply put, are set of rules or principles that restrain the behaviour of firms (La Porta and Lopez-de-Silanes, 1998). Each country has a number of institutions that influence corporate behaviour or the behaviour of firms in the country, and these institutions include, but not limited to, legal institutions, capital market institutions, investor protection institutions, regulatory agencies, etc. Nobes and Parker (2008) posit that the effectiveness of these institutions and their ability to constrain firm behaviour vary across countries due to differences in legal systems, differences in the demand for accounting, differences in corporate governance structures, differences in capital market development, etc. They also stress that cross-country differences in the demand for accounting which includes differences in financial reporting goals, differences in accounting rules, differences in the extent of financial statement disclosures and differences in the key users of financial statements; taken together, will have some consequence on the financial reporting behaviour of firms.

From an agency theory perspective, Jensen and Meckling (1976) posit that the incentive for managers to pursue their self-interest is reduced by strong monitoring of firm management and that certain institutions can perform the monitoring role by effectively discouraging the manipulation of the financial accountability process of firms. Leuz et al. (2003) show that strong institutional factors are associated with lower earnings management among industrial firms while other studies show that institutional factors are responsible for the dissimilar earnings management practices among firms across countries (e.g., Ball et al., 2000; Ball et al., 2003; Bushman and Piotroski, 2006, etc.).

3.3.2. Capital Market Institutions

Capital markets can influence the way managers of publicly traded (or listed) firms report earnings either through the imposition of strict disclosure requirements for publicly traded firms or through the need for

managers to meet the expectations of capital market participants such as investor analysts' earnings forecast. Capital market institutions are established to ensure that firms disclose relevant and reliable information to aid investment decisions of investors and other capital market participants. Beatty et al. (2002) argue that, because publicly traded firms have more outsiders, their earnings announcements and other financial statement disclosures should have greater signalling effect to capital market participants compared to non-publicly traded (or unlisted) firms. Therefore, the additional disclosure requirements imposed on publicly traded firms (or listed) firms by capital market institutions or the SEC ensures that publicly traded firms provide transparent disclosures while discouraging earnings management in the financial reporting.

Although strict disclosure requirements for publicly traded (or listed) firms set out by capital market regulators should discourage the misrepresentation of financial and non-financial disclosures of listed firms, there is the argument that a firm's relation with the capital market create incentives for managers to manipulate reported earnings to signal private information to the market or to meet the expectations of some capital market participants including investor analysts and shareholders (Healy and Palepu, 1993), and this claim is supported by evidence in the capital market-based accounting literature.

For instance, Bartov (2002) shows that listed firms use discretionary accruals to manage reported earnings to meet the expectations of investor analysts while Roychowdhury (2006) documents that managers manipulate sales, reduce discretionary expenditures and engage in inventory overproduction to decrease cost of goods sold in order to increase earnings to avoid reporting annual losses or to avoid falling below analyst forecasts. Cohen et al. (2008) observe that firms use real activity-based earnings management techniques to meet investor analyst forecasts. Kasznik (1999) observes that, to avoid falling below investor analyst expectations, managers use abnormal or unexpected accruals to increase reported earnings while Moehrle (2002) finds that firms use restructuring accrual reversals to manage reported earnings to exceed analysts' earnings forecasts. Subramanyam (1996) suggests that firms manage reported earnings to communicate private information to investors while Neill et al. (1995) suggest that firms adopt accounting methods that can signal firm value to the capital market. Friedlan (1994) and Aharony et al. (1993) find that earnings are managed prior to or around initial public offerings. Teoh et al. (1998) and

Cohen and Zarowin (2010) find that earnings are managed before seasoned equity offerings. Erickson and Wang (1999), Bergstresser and Phillipon (2006) and Botsari and Meeks (2008) observe that firms manage earnings upward before share-for-share corporate acquisitions. Perry and Williams (1994) show that firms manage earnings downward prior to management buyouts to lower stock prices and thus increasing the price of the buyout. Taken together, the studies above show that a firm's relation with the capital market can create incentives for managers to manipulate reported earnings to meet the expectations of capital market participants. Finally, firms' relation with the capital market in the literature is commonly captured by distinguishing between publicly traded (or listed) firms and non-publicly traded (or unlisted) firms, with a focus on the financial reporting properties of publicly traded (or listed) firms.

3.3.3. Regulatory Institutions

Regulatory institutions impose constraints on managers' ability to opportunistically distort the financial accountability process of firms. Watts and Zimmerman (1986) posit that the presence of regulatory institutions that impose taxes, regulatory rate and frequent investigation create incentives for managers to influence their financial reporting characteristics in ways that meet the requirements of regulators, implying that the way firm managers might influence financial reports to manage reported earnings when they face strict regulation, monitoring and supervision will differ from the way they would manage reported earnings in the absence of such regulatory constraint.

Among banks, for example, Beatty et al. (1995) and Shrieves and Dahl (2003) show that greater restriction on bank activities reduce the opportunities for bank managers to use discretionary accruals to manage or smooth reported earnings. Fonseca and Gonzalez (2008) argue that if bank supervisors have greater powers to intervene in banks to discipline bank managers and to reduce the incentive to take excessive risks, the greater supervisory powers to bank supervisors will discourage bank managers from using discretionary accruals to manipulate reported earnings. Accordingly, regulatory constraint on firm managers by industry regulators should discourage the opportunistic manipulation of accruals to manage reported earnings.

3.3.4. Political Economy

Political economy factors can limit managers' ability to opportunistically distort the financial accountability process of firms. The political economy school of thought began with Karl Marx in the 19th century. Karl Marx was concerned about how class (and power) struggle influence economic development in a capitalist society that emphasise economic freedom in the presence of perfect competition (Marx et al, 1976). Concerned by class struggle, Karl Marx in Marx et al (1976) conclude that class struggle play a central role in understanding economic oppression of the poor by the rich (or bourgeois) in a capitalist society, and when class struggle is taken into account by the State, a transition from capitalism to communism is inevitable.

Building on Karl Marx's ideology, the concept of political economy was subsequently applied to macroeconomic policy making in the 20th century and was later applied to several academic discipline in the 21st century. For instance, Pagano and Volpin (2001) use the concept of political economy to explain policy interventions such as bailouts in financial markets during a financial crisis. With regard to financial development, Haber and Perotti (2007) applied the idea of political economy to highlight the impact of political economy on access to finance among firms and individuals, the size of capital markets and banking systems in an attempt to understand the impact of political economy on financial development. In the corporate governance discipline, Pagano and Volpin (2005) adopt the concept of political economy to explain how politics can weaken legal rules intended to minimise the exploitation of investors in firms. They argue that politics is the main reason why different countries grant different degrees of protection to investors because political decision makers respond to different incentives as well as incentives from firms they are affiliated to. In corporate control, Pagano and Volpin (2001) and Hellwig (2000) demonstrate that politics can affect the balance of power between firm insiders (managers and controlling shareholders) and outsiders (non-controlling shareholders) by designing the rules intended to protect minority shareholders as well as the rules that influence the contestability of corporate control. In financial regulation, Demirguc-Kunt and Detragiache (1998) show that respect for the rule of law, lower corruption levels and strong legal enforcement are crucial for the effective functioning of a financial system while Hellmann et al. (2000) stress that good political governance ensures that the financial

system is regulated and supervised so that savers do not lose their savings in the event of banking failure. Acemoglu et al. (2003) show that the existence of poor political institutions better explains macroeconomic instability across countries than actual macroeconomic policies themselves. Haber and Perotti (2007) also point out that if weak political institutions fail to restrain the opportunistic behaviour of bank managers and owners, they will increase the risk of financial/banking crises or worsen the consequences. Taken together, these views argue that the presence of, and quality/strength of political economy play a critical role in banking and financial stability.

There are two dimensions to political economy in finance. The first dimension relate political economy to the extent of government participation in financial firms (La Porta et al., 2002) while the second dimension relate political economy to empowering existing institutions with enforcement powers to monitor firms and to discipline rule-breaker firms (Kaufmann et al., 2011).

3.3.4.1. Political Economy via Government Participation

The first dimensions that relate political economy to government participation in firms argue that the government participate in firms for either developmental reasons or for self-serving reasons. In the former, the government could choose to work through, or to partner, with firms in order to meet crucial developmental needs in the economy (La Porta et al., 2002). Gerschenkron (1962) shows that when economic institutions in a country are not well developed, government ownership of firms is necessary to foster development. Also, Shleifer (1998) argues that government ownership of firms is necessary to deal with market failures and other market imperfections such as monopoly power or externalities; and the government may nationalise a failing or poorly performing firm for the benefit of society if the firm's role is crucial for economic development. La Porta et al. (2002) also point out that government ownership of firms may be aimed at developing the local economy and to stabilise the economic system. Following these arguments, and in the context of banks, a government may choose to have part or full ownership of banks to (i) show their interest to promote banking sector stability, (ii) to discourage opportunistic bank behaviour for the greater good of society and (iii) to ensure that banks channel financial resources to developmental projects that managers of private banks are unwilling to channel funds to, thus improving the efficient allocation of bank credit to sectors of the economy that need funding for capital projects. The

implication of this, according to Bushman and Piotroski (2006), is that if firms perceive that government participation is intended to improve the efficiency of inefficient or poorly-performing firms, managers of such firms would apply aggressive accounting techniques to make the firm appear healthier and profitable to discourage government participation or interference.

On the other hand, governments may participate in firms for self-serving or selfish reasons. For instance, North (1990) and Olson (1993) demonstrate that those in power mainly politicians and government officials, shape government policies to remain in power and to enrich themselves. La Porta et al. (2002) and Shleifer and Vishny (1994) further argue that these government officials and politicians may participate through firm ownership and/or control in order to provide employment, subsidies, resource reallocation and other benefits to government supporters, who in return will provide votes, contributions, and bribes to support the existing regime. Sapienza (2004) shows that Italian-state owned banks charge substantially lower interest rates relative to privately-owned banks, and lend more to areas where the government has a large client base,¹⁸ implying that politicians use banks as an instrument to fulfil their own political agenda. The implication of this view according to Bushman and Piotroski (2006) is that when firms perceive that politicians and government officials are seeking for evidence that a firm is profitable in order to expropriate the wealth of firm owners, managers will have incentives to report conservative profit levels to make the firm appear less profitable to discourage politicians from interfering with the firm.

The two arguments for government participation above also give rise to another question. The question of whether politicians, politically-connected individuals and government officials care about reported accounting numbers of firms. Do they care about reported accounting numbers? The answer to this question is not straightforward. Bushman and Piotroski (2006) suggest that politicians may be interested in accounting numbers because detailed information reflected in stock price is not freely available to

¹⁸Also, state-owned banks tend to perform poorly than banks without state ownership. For instance, Micco et al. (2007) show that state-owned banks operating in developing countries have lower profitability than private banks and the lower profitability is due to lower net interest margins and higher overhead costs of state-owned banks. Similarly, Cornett et al. (2009) show that state-owned banks are less profitable particularly for banks in countries with greater government involvement and political corruption in the banking system.

politicians but are freely available to investors and firm owners; consequently, politicians would rely on accounting numbers of firms in addition to other firm information when making expropriation or intervention decisions in firms.

3.3.4.2. Political Economy via Empowering Institutions

The second dimension of political economy focus on the creation of strong political economy that empower institutions to monitor and supervise firm behaviour and to discipline firms that engage in corporate reporting malpractices. Kaufmann et al. (2011) demonstrate that one important factor that explains differences across countries even when countries have similar legal systems is the political economy differences across countries, that is, the political system through which decisions about economic policies are made.

For the purpose of this thesis, the concept of political economy is used to describe how existing political economy in a country empower or weaken the ability of institutions to monitor and supervise firm behaviour and to discipline firms that engage in corporate reporting malpractices. In Africa, for instance, most African countries have similar but weak legal systems although the political economy system that shape banking regulation, financial development and economic policies differ significantly across African countries.

If establishing a strong political economy that empower institutions to discipline firms increase the risk of exposing corrupt politicians affiliated to such firms, corrupt politicians in power will oppose or delay any policy aimed at strengthening the disciplinary powers of such institutions while they remain in power (North (1990) and Olson (1993)), and this potentially explains why some countries continue to have weak political economy. The presence of weak political economy encourages corruption among firms (including banks) in the private and public sector due to low accountability levels which in turn encourage firms to opportunistically distort the financial reporting process.

With regard to banking supervision, I argue that if the presence of a strict supervisory authority reflect the presence of strong political economy in a country, then strong political economy will empower bank supervisors and regulators to effectively supervise, monitor and discipline banks that attempt to

opportunistically distort their financial reporting, implying that strong political economy should discourage the opportunistic distortion of bank financial reporting because the political system empowers bank supervisors to discipline banks that opportunistically alter their financial reporting disclosures. On the other hand, if the presence of a weak supervisory authority reflect the presence of weak political economy in a country, then weak political economy will weaken bank supervisors' ability to effectively supervise, monitor and discipline banks that attempt to opportunistically distort their financial reporting, implying that weak political economy will encourage the opportunistic distortion of bank financial reporting because the political system do not empower bank supervisors to discipline banks that opportunistically alter their financial reporting banks that

Further still, from a critical dimension, one could argue that the effectiveness of a strong political economy depends on interest groups that lobby the political process. Pagano and Volpin (2001) show that political intervention in financial markets occur when pressure groups and the career concerns of politicians combine to produce specific political interventions in financial markets such as nationalizations, privatizations, bailouts, etc. Following Pagano and Volpin (2001) argument, if banks with strong interest groups lobby the political process to ensure that the political economy and its institutions do not significantly limit banks' discretion to behave opportunistically in financial reporting practices of banks. On the other hand, if minority shareholders' interest groups and depositor protection interest groups lobby the political process to ensure that the political economy and its institutions significantly constrain bank opportunistic behaviour in financial reporting, then the political process to ensure that the political economy and its institutions significantly constrain bank opportunistic behaviour in financial reporting, then the political economy and its institutions significantly discourage opportunistic financial reporting the country will significantly discourage opportunistic financial reporting.

3.3.5. Investor Protection

Investor protection is defined as the power to expropriate minority shareholders and creditors within the constraints imposed by law (La Porta et al., 2002). Shleifer and Vishny (1997) and La Porta et al. (2000) identify investor protection as a key institutional factor affecting corporate policy decisions. The presence of institutions that protect the rights of minority shareholders should discourage the distortion of the financial reporting process and financial accountability system of firms. Ball (2001) suggests that the

presence of institutions that protect stockholders should act as an effective deterrent against earnings management among firms in countries with strong investor protection compared to firms with low investor protection. Leuz et al. (2003) point out that strong investor protection constrain the earnings management behaviour of firm managers because the presence of institutions or rules that protect investors' rights reduce the ability of firm insiders to acquire private control benefits, and mitigate the incentive to manipulate accounting earnings because there is little or nothing to conceal from outsiders. The implication of Leuz et al. (2003)'s argument is that managers in environments with strong investor protection levels are more likely to provide more transparent reported earnings to avoid the risk of litigation arising from concealing important information to outsiders.

Several studies build on the above argument and show that strong investor protection improves the quality of financial reporting disclosures by discouraging earnings manipulation. Leuz et al. (2003) use 'protection of minority shareholder' and 'strength of legal enforcement' as proxies for investor protection obtained from La Porta et al. (1998), and show that earnings management is more pervasive for commercial and industrial firms in countries where legal protection of minority shareholders and legal enforcement are weak relative to firms in countries with strong investor protection. Tendeloo and Vabstraelen (2008) show that firms with Big 4 auditor and in strong investor protection environments exhibit lower levels of earnings management compared to firm with non-Big 4 auditor in weak investor protection environments. In banks, Shen and Chih (2005) observe that strong protection of the rights of minority shareholders discourage bank earnings management. Fonseca and Gonzalez (2008) use three proxies from La Porta et al. (1998) to represent investor protection: rights of minority shareholders, creditor rights and legal enforcement, and show that bank earnings smoothing behaviour, a type of earnings management behaviour, decreases with strong investor protection levels.

Overall, the evidence to support the theoretical argument that strong investor protection should discourage earnings management depend on the investor protection proxy used, which possibly explains why a combination of investor protection proxies are used among empirical studies. However, the use of several investor protection proxies depends on the availability of data for the proxies used. Finally, other

studies that view investor protection as an important institutional factor that deter earnings management among firms include Del Guercio and Hawkins (1999), La Porta et al. (2002), Nabar and Boonlert-U-Thai (2007), DeFond et al. (2007), Chih et al. (2008) and Francis and Wang (2008).

3.4. Earnings Smoothing: Conceptual Framework

Earnings smoothing is a type of earnings management practice aimed at making reported earnings appear stable over a period of time. Beidleman (1973) views earnings smoothing as "managers' attempt to use their discretion in financial reporting to intentionally dampen the fluctuation of firms' earnings" (p.653). Fudenberg and Tirole (1995) view earnings smoothing as the manipulation of the time profile of earnings to make reported earnings less variable so that reported earnings is never too high or too low. Greenawalt and Sinkey (1988) suggest that earnings smoothing is the practice of decreasing high earnings in good years and increasing low earnings in bad years in order to report stable earnings. From the definitions above, the process of making reported earnings 'never too high or too low' distinguishes earnings smoothing from income-increasing earnings management techniques. So, why do firms smooth reported earnings?

3.4.1. Earnings Smoothing: Motivations

Early studies provide some explanations for earnings smoothing among firms. For instance, Fudenberg and Tirole (1995) use a model of earnings management and demonstrate that, in the presence of managerial compensation scheme, managers have incentive to smooth reported earnings during bad times to lengthen their job tenure, and smooth reported earnings during good times to save earnings for future times or to save for the rainy day. Lambert (1984) use optimal contracting theory and show that managers have greater incentive to smooth earnings when reported earnings are expected to be high because investors prefer stable earnings rather than earnings surprises. Gordon (1964) points out that as long as managers have discretion over accounting choices, they will smooth reported earnings as well as the rate of growth in earnings. Gordon (1964) argues that firm managers can smooth reported earnings to maximise their own earnings under the assumption that shareholders prefer earnings stability more than

higher average earnings with high variability. Healy (1985) suggests that managers smooth reported earnings to meet earnings targets when they have bonus plans.

Dye (1988) suggests two reasons for earnings smoothing. Dye (1988) argues that managers will smooth earnings when they face external pressure to increase expected cash flow to investors or will smooth reported earnings when managers are unable to communicate all relevant information to the principal; hence, manipulated or smoothed earnings provides a vehicle for managers to hide information from firm owners. Kirschenheiter and Melumad (2002) use a theoretical equilibrium model to show that firms prefer to smooth earnings when they anticipate good news, and the extent of their earnings smoothing behaviour will depend on the current level of cash flow of the firm. Also, Arya et al. (1998) argue that managers may smooth reported earnings to protect their job, and DeFond and Park (1997) provide empirical evidence to support Arya et al (1998)'s claim. DeFond and Park (1997) show that managers that have concerns about their job security will borrow earnings from the future for use in the current period when current earnings are low, and conversely, save current earnings for future use when current earnings are good. Vander Bauwhede (1998) shows that managers can smooth reported earnings to: avoid shareholder interference, avoid tax, improve the terms of trade and to pursue a fixed dividend pay-out ratio. Trueman and Titman (1988) suggest that managers can smooth reported earnings to convince potential debtholders that earnings volatility is low, implying low risk. Koch (1981) undertook an experiment and observe that earnings smoothing is greater (i) when smoothing is achieved through the use of artificial (accounting or accruals) variables compared to when it is achieved using real (transactional) variables and when (ii) ownership is not dispersed. However, they observe that less earnings smoothing occurs when the cost of smoothing is high.

3.4.2. How Firms Smooth Reported Earnings: Method

White et al. (2003) identify two types of earnings smoothing practice: inter-temporal earnings smoothing and classificatory earnings smoothing. According to White et al. (2003), inter-temporal earnings smoothing involves influencing the timing of expenditures such as research and development (R&D) expenditures, repairs and maintenance expense, asset disposals, loan loss provisions estimates; so that

reported earnings is never too high or too low. This type of earnings smoothing can also be achieved by choosing accounting methods/procedures that allocate expenditure or expenses over time.

Classificatory earnings smoothing, on the other hand, involves "choosing to classify an item as either earnings from continuing operations or extraordinary earnings" (White et al., 2003: p.60). For instance, managers may report lump-sum losses when earnings are expected to be high in order to smooth earnings. Fudenberg and Tirole (1995: p.76) argue that earnings smoothing can be achieved by two methods. The first method involves exploiting the flexibility allowed in generally accepted accounting principles to alter reported earnings without changing the underlying cash flow. This view suggests that firms may delay or accelerate the timing of expenses or revenues to a later period or accelerate future cost to the current period. The second method by which a manager may smooth earnings is to change operations to smooth the underlying cash flow (See. Fudenberg and Tirole, 1995: p.76). Fudenberg and Tirole (1995) points out that the former method of earnings smoothing do not have real economic consequence for firms because it does not require the use of additional resources to achieve earnings smoothing while the latter method has real economic consequence on the firm because it require the use of additional accounting resources.

3.4.3. Effect of Earnings Smoothing

With respect to the effect of earnings smoothing on firms, Demski (1998) shows that, in the absence of an incentive, efficient contracting partially communicate information about future earnings and managers use information about future earnings to decide whether they should smooth current earnings or not. Sankar and Subramanyam (2001) demonstrate that managers smooth earnings to smooth consumption as a way to communicate private information about future earnings. Tucker and Zarowin (2005) point out that, while earnings smoothing may improve earnings informativeness if managerial discretion to smooth earnings is aimed at communicating managers' assessment of future earnings, earnings smoothing can make earnings noisier if managers intentionally distort reported earnings just for the sake of it (Tucker and Zarowin, 2005).

3.5. Summary and Conclusion

This chapter discussed positive accounting theory as the main theoretical explanation for earnings management in firms although it is not the only explanation. Positive accounting theory conclude that the presence of explicit contracts (that is, bonus plan, debt covenant and political cost) motivate managers to influence reported earnings to meet explicit contracts that depend on reported accounting numbers. While positive accounting theory is not the only theory that explains the financial reporting choice of managers, I use positive accounting theory as a more appropriate theoretical lens to explain the earnings management behaviour of managers because it explains earnings smoothing behaviour among firms which can also be extended to the case of banks.

The main message of this chapter is that the earnings management among firms is influenced by explicit contracts given to managers, the choice of accounting numbers used to manipulate earnings, the firm context, industry context, and institutional factors that work together to influence the extent of earnings management among firms. Moreover, certain institutional factors such as strong investor protection, capital market institutions, regulatory institutions and political economy can deter managers from engaging in earnings management and earnings smoothing practices in firms. The next chapter reviews the empirical literature on earnings smoothing.

Chapter 4

Factors Influencing Earnings Smoothing: Evidence

4.0. Introduction

Firms manage reported earnings and this practice is well documented in the broad earnings management literature. Earnings smoothing is a type of earnings management practice and prior studies document evidence that non-bank companies smooth reported earnings under specific conditions. For instance, Ashari et al. (1994) examine 153 listed companies in Singapore to identify factors associated with earnings smoothing. They find that listed companies smooth earnings when they are in risky industries and such earnings smoothing behaviour make them relatively less profitable. Grant et al. (2009) investigate whether CEOs engage in risky activities to increase the likelihood of receiving executive stock option. They argue that earnings smoothing provides a means by which a manager may reduce the unintended consequences of risk-taking without reducing its intended consequences. After examining 7,000 firm-year observations, they find that CEO risk-taking incentives are positively related to earnings smoothing behaviour particularly for firms whose risks and risk-taking behaviour are high. They conclude that CEOs smooth reported earnings to mask the underlying risks they take in an attempt to increase the likelihood of receiving the executive stock option. Prencipe et al. (2011) investigate whether earnings smoothing behaviour differ among family-controlled companies and non-family controlled families. They find that earnings smoothing is not pronounced among family-controlled companies relative to nonfamily-controlled companies. Their finding supports the view of agency theory and stewardship theory, and implies that the owner-manager agency problem is more pronounced in non-family-controlled companies and is less pronounced in family-controlled companies because family-controlled companies tend to choose managers that will support the interest of the owners of family-owned companies. Bouwman (2014) investigates how CEO optimism affects earnings smoothing and earnings surprises and find that optimistic managers smooth reported earnings more than rational managers.

The techniques used to smooth reported earnings may be divided into 'real' and 'accrual' earnings smoothing techniques. With regard to 'real' earnings smoothing techniques, Pincus and Rajgopal (2002) observe that managers in oil and gas firms use hedging in derivatives to smooth reported earnings because hedging the derivatives helps to lower the volatility of cash flows which in turn increases overall earnings. Markarian et al. (2008) find that Italian companies capitalise research and development (R&D) costs to smooth reported earnings while Adibah et al. (2005) find that firms manipulate the reporting of extraordinary items to smooth reported earnings. With regard to 'accrual' earnings smoothing techniques, Atik (2009) documents that Turkish firms use discretionary accruals to smooth earnings.

Banks are different from industrial (or non-bank) firms and the tools available to bank managers to manipulate earnings would differ significantly from those available to managers of non-bank companies. There are two common techniques identified in the empirical literature that banks might use to manage earnings: realised (and unrealised) gains and losses on the sale of securities and loan loss provisions estimates. With respect to realised security gains or losses, studies such as Beatty et al. (1995) and Beatty et al. (2002) demonstrate that banks use their discretion to sell an investment security, delay the recognition of losses on security sales and/or accelerate gains on security sales in order to increase bank earnings, because it is unlikely that auditors, regulators or shareholders will have an issue with a manager's decision to sell an investment security that subsequently leads to increase or decrease in earnings. This makes realised security gains and losses the second most important way that bank managers may manage earnings or smooth earnings after loan loss provisions. Prior to SFAS 157, Beatty et al. (2002) observe that publicly traded US banks use realised securities gains and losses and loan loss provisions to eliminate small decreases in earnings. In 2007, the US introduced SFAS 157 to increase the scrutiny of banks' reported earnings in order to discourage bank earnings management that take the form of overstating gains and understating losses on the sale of bank securities. Barth et al. (2016) investigate whether US banks use realised gains or loss from available-for-sale securities to manage earnings and regulatory capital. They find that US banks use realised gains and losses on available-for-sale securities to smooth earnings and regulatory capital. They also find that US banks with negative earnings take a bigbath when their unrealised gains are insufficient to offset negative earnings. Compared to the US, the

reporting of realised gains and losses on securities portfolio is not well-developed, highly regulated or scrutinised in developing countries, e.g. Africa. African countries do not have a well-developed derivatives and securities market that could create strong incentives for African banks to use realised securities gain and loss to influence the level of reported earnings.

The second technique employed by banks to smooth reported earnings is loan loss provisions estimates or provisions for bad debt. Banks have a loan portfolio that require adequate loan loss provisioning, and there is the argument that loan loss provision estimates may be used by bank managers to meet other financial reporting objectives rather than its intended credit risk management purpose. One of such financial reporting objective is the need to smooth reported earnings. Therefore, in this chapter, I focus the literature review on studies that examine earnings smoothing and loan loss provisions.

The remainder of this chapter review the loan loss provisions empirical literature. More specifically, the chapter review the literature that investigate the use of loan loss provisions to smooth bank earnings while noting that loan loss provision estimate is a significant discretionary accrual for banks. The discussions aim to highlight factors that influence bank earning smoothing practices in the extant empirical literature in order to identify some gaps in the literature.

4.1. Loan Loss Provisions: Empirical Literature

Research into loan loss provisions so far has focused on banks and credit institutions and still remains a fruitful and interesting area of banking research for three reasons. One, because bank loan loss provision is the most significant discretionary accrual at the disposal of bank managers; two, because of the direct impact of loan loss provision estimates on bank interest margin and overall earnings and; three, because of the availability of bank-year data on loan loss provisions estimates. While loan loss provisioning research might be criticised for being complicated by: (i) the process that determines the loan loss provisioning estimates (i.e., the assumptions, methodology and other unobservable managerial choices taken into consideration); and the (ii) differences in the accounting for loan loss provisions across countries; however, the empirical literature continue to exploit these variations to deepen our

understanding of various manifestations of managerial discretion in the way banks report loan loss provisions estimates in financial statements.

Broadly, there are four strands of literature in loan loss provisions research. The first strand of literature relate to studies that test the capital management hypothesis commonly referred to as the capital management literature. The second strand of literature relates to studies that test the signalling hypothesis commonly referred to as the signalling literature. The third strand of literature relate to studies that test test the earnings smoothing hypothesis commonly referred to as the sudies that test for procyclical behaviour of bank provisions commonly referred to as the procyclicality literature or the cyclical hypothesis.

Hereafter, the term 'loan loss provisions' and 'LLP' are used interchangeably for the rest of this chapter.

4.1.1. LLP and Capital Management Hypothesis

The first strand of literature examine whether banks use loan loss provision estimates to manage the level of bank capital or regulatory capital. With regard to regulatory capital management, the literature argue that, because bank regulators require banks to keep minimum regulatory capital for the risk they take, bank managers may have incentive to influence the level of loan loss provisions estimates in a way that allow them to meet minimum regulatory capital requirements if loan loss provisions is included in the computation of minimum regulatory capital ratios (Moyer, 1990; Ahmed et al., 1999). When this is the case, the capital management hypothesis state that the inclusion of (general) provisions in the computation of regulatory capital ratios will motivate bank managers to manipulate loan loss provisions estimates in order to influence the level of regulatory capital above the minimum limit (Scholes et al., 1990; Ahmed et al., 1999). Bank managers' awareness of the costs associated with violating minimum regulatory capital requirements is argued to create an incentive for bank managers to use their discretion to lower loan loss provisions estimates to increase the bank's regulatory capital ratio above the minimum limit (Ahmed et al., 1999). This is the capital management hypothesis.

Kilic et al. (2012) and Bonin and Kosak (2013) suggest an alternative view to the capital management hypothesis. In the absence of minimum regulatory capital ratios, Kilic et al. (2012) and Bonin and Kosak

(2013) argue that banks view loan loss provision as a form of bank capital. They argue that, when bank equity capital is low banks will overstate loan loss provisions to compensate for their low capital level and will understate loan loss provisions when they have sufficient equity capital, reflecting banks' use of loan loss provisions for capital management purposes.

Empirical studies that test the capital management hypothesis examine the statistical relationship between discretionary loan loss provisions and Tier 1 capital before loan loss provisions or equity capital (e.g. Kim and Kross, 1988; Collins et al., 1995; Ahmed et al., 1999; Lobo and Yang, 2001). A negative (and significant) relationship between discretionary loan loss provisions and Tier 1 capital (before provisions) is considered as evidence to support the capital management hypothesis. Notably, the work of Ahmed et al. (1999) is core to this strand of literature. Ahmed et al. (1999) examine 113 US banks during the 1986 to1995 period and find that banks use loan loss provisions to manage minimum regulatory capital levels. Recent studies including Anandarajan et al. (2007), Leventis et al. (2011) and Curcio and Hasan (2015) also find similar evidence. In contrast, Collins et al. (1995) use two-stage regression (from a first-stage least square regression model) and find a positive relation between provisions and minimum regulatory capital. Their finding did not support the capital management hypothesis. While there are mixed conclusions in the literature to support the capital management hypothesis, most empirical studies that investigate bank earnings smoothing practices commonly control for capital management incentives by incorporating Tier 1 capital ratio or total equity to total asset ratio into the model (e.g. Kilic et al., 2012; Bonin and Kosak, 2013). I follow a similar approach in the empirical analysis in this thesis.

4.1.2. LLP and Signalling Hypothesis

The second strand of literature examine whether banks use loan loss provision estimates to signal private information to firm outsiders about the quality of bank loan portfolio (e.g. Beaver et al., 1989; Griffin and Wallach, 1991; Wahlen, 1994; Liu and Ryan, 1995; Beaver and Engel, 1996; Ahmed et al., 1999; Kanagaretnam et al., 2005). Abnormal loan loss provisions estimate is often considered to signal some information about bank non-performing loans or to signal information about a firm's future earnings prospect. Studies that test the signalling hypothesis examine the statistical relationship between discretionary loan loss provisions and one-year ahead earnings. Conclusions to support the signalling

hypothesis derives from the positive (and significant) relationship between discretionary loan loss provisions and one-year ahead (future) earnings after controlling for non-discretionary loan loss provisions determinants and other external influences.

For instance, Kanagaretnam et al. (2003) find that managers of undervalued banks use loan loss provisions to increase the level of earnings to signal banks' future earnings prospects. Eng and Nabar (2007) investigate loan loss provisions for three Asian countries: Hong Kong, Malaysia and Singapore during the 1993 to 2000 period. They find that abnormal (or unexpected) loan loss provisions are positively related to bank stock returns and future cash flows indicating that Asian bank managers increase loan loss provisions to signal favourable cash flow prospects. Also, they find that bank investors bid stock prices up when unexpected loan loss provisions are positive. Wahlen (1994) find similar results for US banks. In contrast, Ahmed et al. (1999) did not find evidence to support the signalling hypothesis. Kanagaretnam et al. (2005) examine the determinants of signalling among banks and document evidence that banks use loan loss provisions to signal future earnings prospects of banks. They conclude that the propensity to signal private information about firms' future prospects vary across banks because banks face different conditions and have different incentives for doing so. Beaver and Engel (1996), Liu et al. (1997) and Kanagaretnam et al. (2005) also show some consensus that the motivation to use loan loss provisions to signal firm future prospects depend on: the degree of information asymmetry, differences in managerial incentive to signal and the extent to which investors interpret high loan loss provisions as a signal for improved loan quality or as a signal in anticipation of large non-performing loans.

4.1.3. LLP and Procyclicality

The third strand of literature is the literature that investigates the behaviour of bank loan loss provisions in relation to fluctuations in the economic cycle or business cycle. The literature argue that bank provisioning behaviour is procyclical because it reinforce the current state of the economy (Bikker and Hu, 2002; Laeven and Majnoni, 2003; Bikker and Metzemakers, 2005; Bouvatier and Lepetit, 2008). By procyclical, they mean that when banks enter a recessionary period, the rational response of bank managers is to decrease lending and increase loan loss provisions. Increase in bank provisioning during the recessionary period will further reduce bank net interest margin and decrease bank overall profit and

worsen the state of banks during the recession. If the recession is sustained, bank capital can be completely wiped out. This is the argument for the procyclical behaviour of bank provisions. To support this argument, Borio et al. (2001) find a strong negative relationship between bank provisioning and the business cycle for 10 OECD countries while Beatty and Liao (2009) observe that banks delay the timing of loan loss provisions until recessionary periods set in, reinforcing the current state of the economy.

Studies that test the procyclicality argument examine the statistical relationship between discretionary loan loss provisions and real gross domestic product growth rate - a proxy for economic cycle fluctuation. Also, conclusions to support the procyclicality hypothesis derives from the negative (and significant) relationship between discretionary loan loss provisions and real gross domestic product growth rate after controlling for non-discretionary loan loss provisioning determinants and other external influences. Empirical evidence to support the view that loan loss provisioning is procyclical with changing economic conditions are well documented in the literature (e.g. Greenawalt and Sinkey, 1988; Arpa et al., 2001; Borio et al., 2001; Biker and Hu, 2002; Pain, 2003; Beatty and Liao, 2009; Floro, 2010; Packer and Zhu, 2012, etc.). Most empirical studies that investigate bank earnings smoothing practices commonly control for the procyclical behaviour of bank loan loss provisions by incorporating real gross domestic product growth rate into the model. Accordingly, I include real gross domestic product growth rate into the model to detect whether loan loss provisioning is procyclical among African banks.

The growing evidence that bank provisioning behaviour is procyclical with fluctuating economic conditions particularly in Europe and US continue to motivate policy researchers to advocate the need for a counter-cyclical or dynamic loan loss provisioning system. A dynamic loan loss provisioning system is a loan loss provisioning system where banks report higher loan loss provisions during good economic times and report fewer loan loss provisions estimates during economic downturns so that the surplus loan loss provisions accumulated during good economic times are used to mitigate bank losses during economic downturns (Saurina, 2009). Following this view, bank regulators in Spain compelled Spanish banks to adopt a dynamic loan loss provisioning system in year 2000 (Saurina, 2009). Since the adoption of a dynamic loan loss provisioning in Spain, Spanish banks have become the laboratory for academic and policy researchers to test the effectiveness of a dynamic provisioning model as a solution to eliminate

or reduce loan loss provisions' procyclical behaviour. So far, studies emerging from Spanish banks show that, after adopting a dynamic provisioning system, bank provisioning is driven more by credit risk considerations rather than by earning smoothing and capital management considerations (see. De Lis et al., 2001; Perez et al., 2008; Saurina, 2009; Fillat and Montoriol-Garriga, 2010; Jiménez et al., 2012, for more on this).

Nonetheless, there are three criticism against a dynamic loan loss provisioning. One, dynamic loan loss provisioning research so far is biased towards a single country analysis - Spain. Two, the ability of a dynamic loan loss provisioning system to generate sufficient provision buffers in anticipation of stressed periods depends on the severity and the time lag of the existing crisis or recession (Fillat and Montoriol-Garriga, 2010), therefore, a dynamic provisioning system is unlikely to be sustainable when there is a prolonged recession. Three, there are concerns that dynamic loan loss provisioning is only workable if the transition from a recession into an economic boom, and vice versa, is easy for policy makers to detect (Bikker and Metzemakers, 2005); in practice, it is difficult to detect this transition because 'business cycle developments are hard to foresee, given their erratic duration and amplitude' (Bikker and Metzemakers, 2005: 144).

4.1.4. LLP and Earnings Smoothing

The fourth strand of literature is the earnings smoothing literature which argue that banks use loan loss provisions to smooth banks' reported earnings over time (Greenawalt and Sinkey, 1988). This argument is commonly referred to as the earnings smoothing hypothesis. The earnings smoothing hypothesis predicts that banks will use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings to make reported earnings appear stable over time (Greenawalt and Sinkey, 1988), or to meet some defined opportunistic financial reporting objectives (Wahlen, 1994).

The earnings smoothing literature began three decades ago. Early studies such as Barnea et al (1975) and Ronen and Sadan (1981) view earnings smoothing as a signalling device. Later, Greenawalt and Sinkey (1988) and Ma (1988) test the earnings smoothing hypothesis for US banks. Greenawalt and Sinkey (1988) demonstrate that when bank earnings are high, it makes sense to regulators for banks to set aside some of those earnings as provisions in anticipation of loan losses during bad years - the notion of saving for a rainy day. They argue that when earnings are low, banks will keep fewer loan loss provisions in the current period and draw up from the loan loss provisions or reserve accumulated in the previous period to cover for actual loan losses in the current period. They test the earnings smoothing hypothesis for a sample of 106 large bank holding companies for the period 1976 to 1984. They model loan loss provisions as the dependent variable with bank earnings, regional and national economic activity as the independent variable and find that the use of loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings was more aggressive among regional banks relative to money-centred banks.

A decade later, the argument that too high earnings attracts political and regulatory scrutiny while too low earnings could encourage shareholders to divest from the firm or bank, was argued to be a motivation for earnings smoothing among bank managers (Moyer, 1990; Wahlen, 1994). Several studies also test the earnings smoothing hypothesis during the Basel 1989 capital accord period. Basel 1989 capital accord is the international standard for bank capital regulation. For example, Hasan and Hunter (1994) examine 334 thrift societies and document evidence that thrift societies use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings. Wetmore and Brick (1994) examine 82 US banks over the 1986 to 1990 period and did not find evidence to support the earnings smoothing hypothesis. Bhat (1996) examine 148 banks from 1981 to 1991 and find that poorly-capitalised banks smooth earnings to a greater extent relative to financiallyhealthy banks. Later, the post-1989 Basel regulation eliminated loan loss provisions from the computation of regulatory capital ratio. After the elimination of loan loss provisions, emerging studies investigate bank earnings smoothing in the pre-and post-Basel 1989 period. For example, Lobo and Yang (2001) examine 705 US banks from 1978 to 1997, and find evidence that bank use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings. In contrast, Ahmed et al. (1999) investigate earnings smoothing practices in 113 U.S bank holding companies from 1986 to 1995, but did not find evidence for earnings smoothing among US banks. Similarly, Kim and Kross (1998) did not find evidence for earnings smoothing in the post-Basel 1989 period but find evidence for capital management. Anandarajan et al. (2007) investigate banks in Australia and divide the bank sample into pre-Basel period (1991-1995) and post-Basel period (1996-2001) and document evidence for aggressive earnings smoothing in the post-Basel period among publicly traded banks. Overall, evidence to support the earnings smoothing hypothesis is mixed in the literature.

Generally, studies that investigate the earnings smoothing hypothesis examine the statistical relationship between discretionary provisions and pre-provision and pre-tax earnings (e.g. Ahmed et al., 1999; Laeven and Majnoni, 2003; Hasan and Wall, 2004; Kanagaretnam et al., 2004; Bikker and Metzemakers, 2005; Liu and Ryan, 2006; Anandarajan et al., 2007; Perez et al., 2008; Fonseca and Gonzalez, 2008; Leventis et al., 2011; El Sood, 2012; Curcio and Hasan, 2015; Skala, 2015), and most of these studies show a positive association between discretionary loan loss provisions and pre-provision and pre-tax earnings. Therefore, conclusions to support the earnings smoothing hypothesis derives from the positive (and significant) relationship between discretionary loan loss provisions and pre-tax and pre-provision earnings after controlling for non-discretionary provisioning and other country-specific differences. Recent empirical studies focus on country-specific contexts, cross-country contexts and the influence of institutional factors on bank earnings smoothing practices as shown in section 4.3 and 4.4.

4.2. Motivation for Earning Smoothing: Empirical Evidence

4.2.1. Capital Market Incentives

Some studies show that listed (or publicly traded) banks have incentive to use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings possibly to minimise fluctuation in stock prices (Anandarajan et al., 2007; Leventis et al., 2011). Anandarajan et al. (2007) demonstrate that if smoothed earnings can reduce earnings variability, then lower earnings variability would translate to lower stock price fluctuation and reduce the volatility of stock return. This view assumes that investors view stable stock prices as a good signal for high stock return. If this view holds true then bank managers will have incentive to smooth reported earnings to improve stock return in the short term. Anandarajan et al. (2007) investigate bank earnings smoothing practices among Australian banks during the 1991 to 2001 period and find that listed Australian banks. Similarly, Leventis et al. (2011) investigate bank earnings smoothing practices among 91 listed European banks from 18 countries during the 1999 to 2008 period. They observe that European banks use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings smoothing behaviour of listed European banks is significantly reduced after mandatory IFRS adoption.

One criticism of using listed and unlisted bank comparison to test for capital market incentive is that the use of stock returns data of listed banks is more appropriate to capture capital market incentives rather than using bank earnings data for listed and unlisted banks.¹⁹ However, the usual justification for using bank earnings data as opposed to stock returns data is that, although it is easy to obtain the daily stock return or stock price data of firms, it is practically impossible to obtain data for daily earnings or daily loan loss provisions for the purpose of empirical modelling.

4.2.2. Regulation and Regulatory Scrutiny

Regulation can create incentives for regulated firms to smooth reported earnings when the cost associated with regulatory scrutiny is perceived to be higher for firms that report excessive profits (Burgstahler and Dichev, 1997, cited in Shen and Chih, 2005). Similarly, banks will smooth reported earnings when they expect high earnings to avoid the cost associated with excessive scrutiny of bank profit by bank regulators/supervisors. Moreover, if there are additional benefits to be derived from deliberately smoothing reported earnings other than the need to avoid excessive scrutiny of bank earnings, bank managers are likely to do so to take advantage of such benefits. For instance, Kilic et al. (2012) investigate the impact of SFAS 133 on the reporting behaviour of US commercial banks. SFAS 133 is the FASB's accounting for derivative instruments and hedging activities. They argue that the strict recognition and classification requirements of SFAS 133 reduced US banks' ability to smooth earnings through the use of derivatives; therefore, banks that were affected by SFAS 133 could rely more on loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings rather than relying on derivatives. To test this argument, they examine 119 US banks and divide their sample into pre-SFAS 133 period (1999-2000) and post-SFAS 133 period (2001-2002). Their explanation for the choice of the narrow sample period was to capture the changes occurring around the enactment of SFAS 133 and to avoid possible contamination from other events. Consistent with their argument, Kilic et al. (2012) find evidence that US banks use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings when disclosure regulation made it difficult to use derivatives to smooth bank earnings. They conclude that the use of loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings implies declining informativeness of reported loan loss provisions estimates. Ashraf and Hassan (2014)

¹⁹ This viewpoint was received from conference discussants at the British Accounting and Finance Association (BAFA), Sussex, 2015.

investigate whether changes in accounting standards and prudential regulatory regime affects the use of loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings in a cross-country context. They examine 7343 banks from 118 countries during the 1999 to 2010 period. They find that banks use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings but the earnings smoothing behaviour of banks did not change significantly after the change in accounting regime. Furthermore, they observe that banks under rule-based accounting standard regime exhibit higher levels of earnings smoothing compared to banks under a principles-based accounting regime. Taken together, these studies suggest that regulation can create incentives for bank to use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings.

4.2.3. Corruption

Barth et al. (2009) relate corruption in a country to banks in the country. They stress that, although banks are important to any society because they are an important source of external finance to business firms and governments and help to reduce poverty and income inequality, the ability of banks to fulfil this role to society is limited because banks are susceptible to corruption. Barth et al. (2009) point out that the general lack of adequate laws, objective courts, prudential regulations, and other appropriate institutions to sufficiently contain corruption is a cause for the increase in corruption in developing countries. Bhattacharya et al. (2003) argue that another important consequence of corruption largely ignored in the economic and accounting literature is the impact of corruption on accounting quality as well as the impact of corruption on bank reporting behaviour. They stress that one obvious manifestation of low accounting quality is high levels of earnings opacity. They posit that accounting quality in a given country can be measured by three dimensions of earnings opacity: loss avoidance, earnings smoothing and earnings aggressiveness. They associate increased earnings smoothing with higher earnings opacity and posit that higher earnings smoothing lower the transparency of reported earnings, thereby increasing earnings opacity. Bhattacharya et al. (2003) find that earnings are opaque because a) bank managers have an incentive to manipulate earnings, b) accounting standards are too loose and, c) the enforcement of standards is very lax. Interestingly, Riahi-Belkaoui (2003) builds upon Bhattacharya et al. (2003)'s argument. Riahi-Belkaoui (2003) examines the impact of corruption on earnings opacity among 'firms' not 'banks'. The study argues that earnings management or earnings opacity is conditional on the level of

corruption prevailing in a particular country. Following the view that earnings opacity is a measure of accounting quality, the main premise of the study is that lack of corruption will decrease earnings opacity, improving accounting quality. Riahi-Belkaoui (2003) find a significant negative relationship between the level of corruption and the level of earnings opacity after controlling for economic development, human development, economic freedom and size of government. To date, the impact of corruption on bank earnings smoothing via loan loss provisions behaviour has not been explored in the banking literature. Going forward, one way to think about the impact of corruption on bank earnings smoothing is that the existence of high level corruption also communicates the existence of weak accountability systems that bank managers can exploit and take advantage of, to opportunistically manipulate reported earnings. Accordingly, bank managers in corrupt environments can smooth earnings to hide the true economic reality of bank earnings to mislead bank owners or financial statement users. Loan loss provisions estimate is one possible tool that bank managers might use to make reported earnings appear stable over time while perpetuating fraud.

4.2.4. Competition

Market competition is considered to be an effective instrument for solving agency problems and improving corporate governance among firms (Fama, 1980). Marciukaityte and Park (2009) points out that earnings management in competitive environments may help firms prosper in a short-run but reduce firms' ability to compete in the long-run. Francis et al. (2004) observe that earnings smoothing help firms to reduce the cost of capital by reducing information asymmetry between managers and investors and increase the firm's ability to compete while Marciukaityte and Park (2009) find that industrial firms report higher earnings smoothing ratios and that the informativeness of stock price is higher for firms in more competitive markets and conclude that while firms in more competitive industries are less likely to engage in earnings management measured as the absolute value of discretionary accruals, firms are more likely to engage in earnings smoothing to improve earnings informativeness.

From a different context, Dou et al. (2014) examine the relationship between bank competition and bank provisioning behaviour and argue that credit competition may influence the level of discretionary loan loss provisions. They argue that banks that have low loan underwriting quality in a given credit market
and face the threat of new entry into the market may increase their underwriting quality to leave fewer profitable lending opportunities for potential entrants. Dou et al. (2014) exploited the variation in interstate branching deregulation across contiguous counties from 1994 to 2005 in the US to investigate how increased threat of entry affects resident banks' reported loan loss provisions. They find that resident banks in the counties record lower loan loss provisions than banks resident in other states. To date, it remains unknown or unclear whether differences in cross-country banking competition significantly influence bank earnings smoothing via loan loss provisions.

4.3. Constraints to Earnings Smoothing: Empirical Evidence

4.3.1. Disclosure Regulation

There is evidence that strict accounting disclosure regulation reduce bank managers' opportunities to manipulate loan loss provisions estimates to smooth reported earnings. For instance, Leventis et al. (2011) investigate the impact of IFRS on bank managers' incentive to use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings among listed European commercial banks. They note that some listed EU commercial banks adopted IFRS earlier than other banks and posit that early-adopter banks may have different incentive and motivation for adopting IFRS compared to late-adopter banks. After examining 91 banks, Leventis et al. (2011) find that early and late adopter banks use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings but this behaviour is reduced after the implementation of IFRS in Europe. They conclude that the implementation of IFRS improves the informativeness of loan loss provisions estimates. Similarly, Ashraf and Hassan (2014) find evidence for reduced earnings smoothing among banks that adopt a principlesbased accounting disclosure standards. Balla and Rose (2015) examine whether accounting constraints introduced by the US SEC in 1998 limit the ability of US banks to use loan loss provisions to manage reported earnings. They find evidence that shortly after the SEC action, the relationship between loan loss provisions and earnings weakened for publicly-held banks but not for privately-held banks. They therefore conclude that the accounting constraints introduced by the US SEC reduced earnings management among publicly-held banks. Abdul Adzis et al. (2016) investigate the impact of IAS 39 on the use of loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings among banks in Hong Kong during the 2000

to2009 period. They find that earnings smoothing is reduced after adoption and compliance with IAS 39. They conclude that IAS 39 improved the quality of financial information disclosures in Hong Kong. Overall, evidence from these studies show that strict disclosure regulation can discourage the use of loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings. Notwithstanding, the influence of disclosure regulation on bank earnings smoothing behaviour may depend on the extent of enforcement of disclosure rules particularly in countries where enforcement levels are generally low.

4.3.2. Audit Quality

DeAngelo (1981) argue that the presence of Big 4 auditor in firms reflects superior audit quality, and their presence should discourage opportunistic earnings manipulation.²⁰ There is evidence in the literature that firm monitoring by external auditors, i.e., Big 4 auditors, can discourage the use of loan loss provisions to manipulate earnings. Kanagaretnam et al. (2010) applied DeAngelo's idea to the context of banks. Kanagaretnam et al. (2010) investigate the impact of auditor type and auditor industry specialisation on bank earnings management. They examine banks from 29 countries and find that both auditor type and auditor-industry specialization moderates bank managers' incentive to use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings in order to beat a benchmark.

4.3.3. Investor Protection

Leuz et al. (2003) argue and document evidence that the presence of institutions or rules that protect investors' rights reduce the ability of firm insiders to acquire private control benefits and mitigate the incentive to manipulate accounting earnings because there is little or nothing to conceal from outsiders. Fonseca and Gonzalez (2008) examine cross-country determinants of bank earnings smoothing via loan loss provisions after controlling for investor protection differences. They find that the use of bank loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings decreases with stronger investor protection. Similarly, Shen and Chih (2005) find that strong protection of the rights of minority shareholder discourages earnings

²⁰ Several studies complement DeAngelo's argument by pointing out that Big 4 auditors have higher independence (e.g. Huang and Li, 2009), higher expertise and are more willing to devote extra resources to specialised staff training and peer reviews relative to non-big 5 auditors (e.g. Dopuch and Simunic, 1982; Craswell et al., 1995). Also, the reputation of Big 4 auditors is considered to reflect superior audit quality and should discourage opportunistic financial reporting practices (Beatty, 1989).

management among banks while the quality of legal enforcement did not discourage bank earnings management.

4.3.4. Dispersed vs Concentrated Ownership Structure

Fan and Wong (2002) investigate the relationship between earnings informativeness and ownership structure for 977 companies in seven East Asian economies and find that concentrated ownership is associated with low earnings informativeness. They conclude that controlling owners prevent the leakage of proprietary information about the firms' rent-seeking activities to outsiders. Leuz et al. (2003) find that industrial firms with a more disperse ownership structure engage in less earnings management. Gebhardt and Novotny-Farkas (2011) investigate the implication of mandatory IFRS adoption on the accounting quality of banks in 12 EU countries, and find that earnings smoothing is more pronounced among listed European banks that are widely held. Another study, Bouvatier et al. (2014) examines the impact of ownership concentration on bank earnings smoothing practices. Bouvatier et al. (2014) investigate whether the way a bank might use loan loss provisions to smooth earnings is influenced by bank ownership concentration and the regulatory environment. They find that European commercial banks with concentrated ownership use discretionary loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings but this behaviour is less pronounced among banks with disperse ownership. Also, they observe that earnings smoothing is less pronounced among banks in European countries with stronger banking supervision. Overall, empirical studies on the impact of ownership concentration on bank earnings smoothing practices are scant in the literature and Bouvatier et al (2014) confirms this.

4.4. Regional Studies: Evidence

4.4.1. US studies

For instance, El Sood (2012) investigates the incentive to use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings during the 2007 to 2009 financial crisis period. The study examine 878 US banks over the 2001 to 2009 period and find that US banks accelerate loan loss provisions to smooth earnings when (1) they hit the regulatory minimum target, (2) are in non-recessionary periods, and (3) are more profitable. For

the pre and post crisis period, El Sood (2012) find that US banks use loan loss provisions more extensively during the 2008 financial crisis period to smooth reported earnings upward. Balbao et al. (2013) argue that the incentive for US banks to smooth reported earnings and the practical way of doing so partly depends on the size of pre-provision earnings. To support their argument, they examine 15,268 US banks during 1996 to 2011 period and find that bank managers use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings when earnings are positive and substantial. They did not find evidence to support the earnings smoothing hypothesis for the entire earnings distribution. However, when they modified their static model to a dynamic model specification, they find that loan loss provisions appear to have some non-linear relation with earnings. Their result did not support the earnings smoothing hypothesis for the full sample, hence, they conclude that the relationship between accruals (provisions) and earnings may be influenced by non-linear patterns. The implication drawn from the non-linearity in Balbao et al. (2013)'s study are three-fold. One, the specific accounting number used to smooth earnings is a function of the magnitude (size) of earnings. Two, loan loss provisions may be used to smooth reported earnings when earnings are positive and large. Three, the neglected nonlinear patterns in provisioning research can affect the results from standard analyses, which may explain some of the contradictory findings observed among prior studies. Other US studies include: Kilic et al. (2012), Balla and Rose (2015), etc. To sum up, the findings from US studies suggest that the propensity for banks to use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings depends on (i) the size of earning or the earnings distribution, (ii) the state of economy particularly during recessions or crisis periods, and also depends on (iii) accounting disclosure rules intended to discourage the manipulation of bank accruals.

4.4.2. European studies

Some European studies show some evidence to support the earnings smoothing hypothesis among European banks and financial institutions (e.g., Leventis et al., 2011; Bouvatier et al., 2014; Curcio and Hasan, 2015; Skala, 2015). Leventis et al. (2011) investigate earnings smoothing among European banks that adopt IFRS standards and find evidence that both early and late-adopters of IFRS both use loan loss provisions to smooth their earnings. Curcio and Hasan (2015) investigate the relationship between loan loss provisions and bank earnings management among credit institutions in the Euro and non-Euro Area

during the 1996 to 2006 period. They find evidence that non-Euro Area credit institutions use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings and did not find similar evidence for earnings smoothing among Euro Area credit institutions. Skala (2015) investigates the context of Central European banks. After building upon Greenawalt and Sinkey (1988)'s idea of saving for the rainy day, Skala (2015) finds that Central European banks use loan loss provisions to smooth earnings when they have high earnings possibly to save for the rainy day. Bouvatier et al. (2014) find that European commercial banks with concentrated ownership use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings. Bonin and Kosak (2013) investigate the procyclical behaviour of loan loss provisions among banks in 11 emerging European countries and find evidence that banks in the emerging European region use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings. Country-specific European studies such as Norden and Stoian (2013) examine how bank earnings management relate to bank risk management. They examine Dutch (German) banks using quarterly data of 85 banks from 1998 to 2012. They find that (i) Dutch banks use loan loss provisions to lower earnings volatility. They also find that Dutch banks increase loan loss provisions when earnings are high and lower loan loss provisions when they have low regulatory capital ratios. Also, Caporale et al. (2015) examine the context of Italian banks. They examine 400 Italian banks for the period 2001 to 2012. They did not find evidence to support the earnings smoothing hypothesis. They observe that loan loss provisioning by Italian banks is driven by its non-discretionary components especially during the recession of 2008-2012 relative to its discretionary component. In the case of Spain, Perez et al. (2008) was motivated to investigate whether dynamic (or statistical) provisioning system adopted in Spain had an impact on the earnings smoothing and capital management behaviour of Spanish banks. They find that Spanish banks use loan loss provisions to smooth earnings but not to manage capital during the period of analysis. Similarly, Anandarajan et al. (2003) examine the behaviour of loan loss provisions among Spanish banks after the implementation of capital adequacy regulations in the Spanish banking industry in 1992. They find that Spanish commercial banks use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings but not to manage regulatory capital. They explain that the findings was due to the fact that the capital adequacy regulation of 1992 removed any capital constraint that discouraged earnings smoothing. Taken together, these studies suggest that the use of loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings is widespread among European banks. To sum up, the findings from European studies suggest

that the propensity for European banks to use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings is influenced by (i) procyclical macroeconomic conditions except for Spain, (ii) mandatory IFRS adoption, and (iii) bank regulation and supervision in the region. Nonetheless, findings to support the earnings smoothing hypothesis among European banks are mixed in the literature.

4.4.3. Asian and Australian Studies

Other studies examine banks in Australia and Asia. For instance, Anandarajan et al. (2007) examine whether Australian banks use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings, manage regulatory capital or to signal private information. They find that evidence for aggressive earnings smoothing in the post-Basel period among publicly traded banks. Parker and Zhu (2012) examine the loan loss provisioning practices of Asian banks while controlling for earnings smoothing incentives. They examine 240 banks from 12 countries: Australia, China, Hong Kong, India, Indonesia, Japan, Korea, Malaysia, New Zealand, the Philippines, Singapore and Thailand during the 2000 to 2009 period. Their sample period of analysis was intended to capture the effect of the Asian debt crisis. They find evidence for earnings smoothing as well as evidence for countercyclical loan loss provisioning among Asian countries particularly in India. Wu et al. (2015) examine the impact of foreign investor ownership on bank earnings smoothing. They claim that in 2004 the Chinese government required local banks to invite foreign financial institutions to become shareholders in the local banks. They referred to these foreign financial institutions as the 'foreign strategic investors (FSIs)'. They investigate whether Chinese banks with zero, one or two foreign strategic investor have more or less incentive to use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings. They examine 102 banks in China during the 2006 to 2011 period and find evidence that banks with more foreign strategic investors use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings. Curcio et al. (2014) test the earnings smoothing hypothesis and capital management hypothesis in China during the financial crisis. They find evidence that Chinese banks use discretionary loan loss provisions to smooth bank earnings but not to manage capital levels. They also observe that listed Chinese banks exhibit less earnings smoothing behaviour compared unlisted banks. Bryce et al. (2015) test the earnings smoothing hypothesis, capital management hypothesis and the cyclical hypothesis using data for banks in Vietnam and did not find evidence for earnings smoothing among Vietnamese banks. Acar and Ipci (2015)

investigate the role of loan loss provisions in capital and earnings management in the Turkish banking sector during the 2005 to 2011 period. They examine 28 commercial banks and find evidence for earnings smoothing but this behaviour is reduced during the global financial crisis (2007-2009 period). They also find that loan loss provisions is used to signal private information about Turkish banks' future prospects. Abdul Adzis et al. (2016) find that banks in Hong Kong use loan loss provisions to smooth earnings but this behaviour is reduced after the adoption of IAS 39. Taken together, these studies show that the use of loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings is widespread among Asian banks depending on the conditions that banks face. However, there are mixed evidence to support the earnings smoothing hypothesis.

4.4.4. International/Cross-country Studies

Cavallo and Majnoni (2002), concerned about the pro-cyclical effect of loan loss provisions on bank capital regulation, investigate whether banks provision for bad loans in good times while controlling for banks' incentive to use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings. They examine 1176 commercial banks divided into 804 banks from G10 countries and 372 from non-G10 over the 1988 to 1999 period. After controlling for different country-specific macroeconomic and institutional factors, they find evidence for earnings smoothing among G10 banks but not for non-G10 banks. Fonseca and Gonzalez (2008) examine an international bank sample from 41 countries including Brazil, Chile, Denmark, Egypt, Italy, Kenya, Korea, Peru, Philippines, Portugal, Spain, Sweden, USA and Venezuela, Colombia, Greece, Malaysia, Pakistan, Thailand, United Kingdom. They find evidence for bank earnings smoothing via loan loss provisions after controlling for unobservable bank effects and for the endogeneity of explanatory variables. Also, Kar (2015) undertook a cross-country analysis and investigate the use of loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings among 1294 microfinance institutions (MFIs) from 103 countries during the 1996 to 2013 period. The study finds that microfinance institutions use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings. The study also observes that the loan loss provisioning behaviour of microfinance institutions is procyclical with business cycle fluctuations. Bushman and William (2012) investigate the case of forward-looking loan loss provisioning among banks across 27 countries. They find that banks exploit their forward-looking provisioning discretion in order to use loan loss provisions

to smooth bank earnings. To sum up, the findings from the above cross-country studies suggest that the propensity for banks to use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings is influenced by cross-country differences such as macroeconomic differences and banking supervision differences across countries among other factors.

4.4.5. African Studies

Country-specific studies on earnings smoothing via loan loss provisions in Africa are scant in the bank earnings smoothing literature and there is yet no regional analysis of banks in Africa. Single country studies in Africa, for instance, Ahmed et al. (2014) examine the case of earnings management rather than earnings smoothing. Ahmed et al. (2014) examine earnings management through the use of loan loss provision among deposit money banks in Nigeria. They examine 8 banks during the 2006 to 2011 period and find that banks use loan loss provisions to manage earnings and conclude that banks in Nigeria use loan loss provisions to manage earnings. Ali (2015) documents similar evidence. Yahaya et al. (2015) investigate the effect of IFRS adoption on the earnings management behaviour of listed banks in Nigeria. They focus their study on how the change in the recognition and measurement of banks' loan loss provision affects bank earnings management behaviour. They examine 15 listed banks pre-IFRS (2004 to 2008) and post-IFRS (2009 to 2013) and did not find evidence for earnings management via loan loss provisions. They conclude that IFRS significantly reduce the ability of listed banks to engage in earnings management via loan loss provisions. Taken together, these studies do not test the earnings smoothing hypothesis with the exception of Ozili (2015). Ozili (2015) investigates 11 listed banks in Nigeria during the 2004 to 2013 period and find evidence of earnings smoothing during the voluntary adoption of IFRS. To sum up, the findings from the above country-specific African studies suggest that Nigerian banks use loan loss provisions to smooth (or to manage) reported earnings.

4.1. Summary of Regional Literature Review of Earnings Smoothing via Loan Loss Provisions							
Region	Study	Earnings	Do banks	Motivators	Constraints		
		smoothing	smooth				
		tool?	earnings?				
US	El Sood (2012)	LLPs	Yes	When (i) banks meet/exceed	None		
				minimum regulatory capital			
				requirements (11) are in non-			
				profitable and (iv) during the			
				2008 financial crisis period			
	Kilic et al. (2012)	LIPs	Ves	When SFAS 133 disclosure	None		
	Kine et al. (2012)	LLIS	105	regulation discouraged the use of	rtone		
				derivatives to smooth earnings			
	Balbao et al. (2013)	LLPs	Yes	When US banks are more	None		
				profitable			
	Balla and Rose	LLPs	Yes	None	Accounting		
	(2015)				disclosure		
					regulation		
					imposed by US		
					SEC in 1998		
Europe	Leventis et al.	LLPs	Yes	Early and late adopters prior to	Mandatory		
	(2011)			mandatory adoption	IFRS adoption		
					2004		
	Curcio and Hasan	LLPs	Yes	Euro-Area credit institutions use	(i) Higher		
	(2015)		105	LLPs to smooth earnings than	creditors right		
	()			non-Euro Area credit institutions	protection (ii)		
					Euro area credit		
					institutions did		
					not smooth		
					earnings during		
					crisis period		
	Skala (2015)	LLPs	Yes	When Central European banks are	None		
	D ()	LLD	N/	more profitable	D' 1		
	Bouvatier et al.	LLPS	res	Concentrated bank ownership	Dispersed		
	(2014)				ownership,		
					subervisory		
					regime and high		
					audit quality		
Australia	Anandarajan et al.	LLPs	Yes	Post-Basel 1 period	None		
- 100000000	(2007)			= mor i period			
Asia	Packer and Zhu	LLPs	Yes	During the 1997 Asian sovereign	None		
	(2012)			debt crisis			
Africa	No study yet	None	None	None	None		

4.5. Gap in the Literature addressed in the thesis

To date, there is no regional African study that examines how the use of bank loan loss provision to smooth reported earnings is influenced by political economy, financial development, capital market development, audit quality, disclosure regulation, investor protection and financial structure differences

across African countries. The absence of such regional study makes it difficult to make any generalisation about whether (and how) banks in Africa use of loan loss provisions to smooth their reported earnings and the factors that influence this behaviour.

Therefore, there is the need for a regional African study as well as country-specific studies for each African country to shed light into how bank managers in Africa use discretionary loan loss provisions to smooth bank earnings compared to banks in developed countries, and how this behaviour differ across African countries. In this thesis, I shed some light into the bank earnings smoothing via loan loss provisions practices of banks in Africa by undertaking a regional analysis while narrowly investigating bank earnings smoothing behaviour for each African country in a country-specific analysis. This is the gap I intend to fill. To fill this gap, I follow prior US, European, Australian and Asian regional studies that investigate bank loan loss provisioning practices after controlling for cross-country differences and then make generalisations about the loan loss provisioning practices of banks in the region examined. I follow a similar approach in this thesis.

The question I address in this thesis is whether African banks use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings. An African context to the study of bank earnings smoothing practices is important because African banks face different financial reporting incentives due to regional differences, unique banking system characteristics, different country-specific economic systems, institutional and political economy differences. Accordingly, I expand the research objective of the thesis to investigate whether ownership concentration, investor protection levels, extent of financial development, political economy and other factors influence the way African banks might the use of loan loss provisions to smooth bank reported earnings.

The growing need for African countries to establish strong institutions that protect investor's rights, establish effective corporate governance mechanisms, ensure greater accountability and improved accounting disclosure rules to ensure transparent bank financial reporting disclosures highlight the significance of the study in this thesis as well as its contribution to the bank earnings smoothing empirical literature that has not examine the African context to date. The need to understand how the presence of these institutions affects bank earnings management behaviour in Africa is important. Also, the analysis

in this thesis allow us to empirically test the vague claim that African countries have weak investor protection, corporate governance and legal institutions simply because they are a developing region compared to US and European region.

4.6. Future direction

One obvious direction for future research is the need to investigate the use of loan loss provisions to smooth bank earnings in the African context.

Two, it is unknown or unclear whether African banks that adopt IFRS, IAS or local GAAP exhibit greater or reduced earnings smoothing via loan loss provisions. Future studies can provide some insight on the impact of accounting disclosure quality on bank earnings smoothing behaviour in the African region. Listed banks in some African countries are required to adopt IFRS while unlisted banks do not have to mandatorily adopt IFRS. In other African countries, IFRS is not permitted as firms are required to use local GAAP. Given this understanding, the earnings smoothing literature do not provide insights on whether the propensity for African banks to use loan loss provisions to smooth bank earnings is stronger or weaker among banks that adopt IFRS compared to banks that adopt local GAAP. If we assume that IFRS has higher disclosure quality compared to local GAAP, then it is interesting to investigate whether African banks that adopt IFRS standards exhibit reduced earnings smoothing via loan loss provisions which in turn should improve earnings quality and the informativeness of the loan loss provisions estimates of banks in Africa.

Three, much is not known about the impact of investor protection on firm financial reporting in Africa. Strong investor protection is claimed to discourage opportunistic behaviour of firm managers (Leuz et al., 2003). Future research could investigate whether investor protection has an impact on the extent to which African banks use loan loss provisions to smooth earnings to see if Leuz et al. (2003)'s argument holds true for African banks as well.

Four, the impact of ownership structure on African banks' earnings smoothing behaviour has not been explored. The ownership structure of African banks exhibit characteristics that significantly differ from the ownership structure of US and European firms.

Five, another interesting analysis is to investigate how dispersed ownership control or concentrated ownership impacts the financial reporting of banks in Africa. The need to investigate whether certain ownership characteristics constrain or encourage African banks to distort financial reporting disclosures, is also imperative.

Six, future research could also investigate whether the level of financial development and political economy in the African region have some direct or indirect impact on African banks' incentive to smooth reported earnings.

Seven, it is also interesting to investigate the impact of religiosity on bank earnings smoothing practices. Some countries in Africa are highly religious, moderately religious and less religious, and very little knowledge is known about how religiosity affects the financial reporting characteristics of banks in Africa, hence, it is interesting to investigate whether African banks in strongly-religious, moderatelyreligious and less-religious environments exhibit more or less earnings smoothing behaviour, and future research can provide some insights on this. Future study can also investigate the impact of corruption on bank earnings smoothing practices which offers another direction for future research.

Eight, Basel capital regulation continues to provide opportunities for future LLP research. Basel (Basel II and III) has, in recent times, made several changes to bank capital regulation which also affects banks' provisioning behaviour and these changes will probably take years for its full effect to be felt. The impact of Basel I on bank provisioning decisions has been investigated for banks in developed countries (Ahmed et al, 1999; Anandarajan et al, 2007) while the impact of Basel II and III on bank provisioning behaviour has not been explored in the literature which offers another direction for future research. Future research can also extend such study to African countries that adopt Basel capital rules. This is another fruitful direction for future research.

Nine, with regard to the debate to adopt a dynamic loan loss provisioning system, future research is needed to demonstrate how existing or new supervisory models would guide bank regulators/supervisors in implementing a dynamic loan loss provisioning system. Future research could clarify how supervision will guide the dynamic loan loss provisioning process and not interfere with the accounting and audit role. However, it is worth noting that the willingness of bank regulators to supervise the details of bank loan loss provisioning decisions may also depend on (i) whether regulators/supervisors believe they should supervise accounting practices; (ii) the extent to which regulators/supervisors believe auditors should perform the supervisory role; and (iii) whether an independent supervisory body should be created to perform this role even if it further complicates the already complex accounting, fiscal and prudential regulatory network.

4.7. Summary and Conclusions

To summarise, this chapter reviewed the empirical literature on loan loss provisions and bank earnings smoothing and conclude that the use of loan loss provisions to smooth bank reported earnings smoothing behaviour is encouraged by capital market incentives, the need to avoid scrutiny of bank earnings by regulators/supervisors, corruption and competition while bank earnings smoothing behaviour is discouraged by strong investor protection, audit quality, religiosity, banking supervision, accounting disclosure rules and ownership structure. Moreover, the findings from the literature review indicate that the extent to which these factors influence bank earnings smoothing behaviour also depend on country-specific differences and regional differences where the bank operates in. Some gaps in the literature, therefore, this thesis examine earnings smoothing via loan loss provisions among African banks. This chapter also suggests some possible direction for future research on bank earnings smoothing. The next chapter develops the hypotheses, presents the sample data and methodology.

Chapter 5

Hypothesis, Data and Methodology

5.0. Introduction

This chapter develops the hypotheses from prior literature and presents the data and research method employed to investigate whether African banks use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings and the factors that influence this behaviour. The description of all variables, the justification for each variable included and the test procedure are also provided.

5.1. Hypothesis Development

5.1.1. Financial Development via Foreign Bank Presence

The banking literature to date has not examined the influence of financial development²¹ and financial liberalisation²² on the earnings smoothing behaviour of banks.

According to positive accounting theory, Watts and Zimmerman (1986) show that the accounting information generated by management in financial reports reflect several factors that were taken into consideration when generating financial reports such as choice of accounting methods, how resources are allocated, management compensation, regulatory requirements, debt covenant restrictions, financing decisions, investment decisions and other considerations. This implies that reported earnings in the financial report of firms reflect both 'accounting' and 'non-accounting' decisions of managers (Watts and Zimmermann, 1986). Foreign bank presence is a 'non-accounting' decision which managers can take into account in generating reported accounting numbers because large foreign bank presence in the country can lower the profit margin for all banks due to fierce competition; managers concerned about the lower

²¹ By financial development, I mean access to finance, the amount of transaction services provided by the financial system and the ability of the financial system to channel funds through banks from depositors to investors for investment purposes (Hasan and Marton, 2003).

²² By financial liberalization, I refer to the contribution of foreign bank presence to financial system development and economic growth.

profit margins can use accounting methods (e.g. income smoothing) to generate expected profit levels, that would increase managers' likelihood of receiving promised compensation. This suggest that large foreign bank presence which potentially lower the profit margins for all firms is itself an explanation for why firms choose certain accounting methods, and supports the positive accounting theory argument that reported earnings in the financial report of firms reflect both 'accounting' and 'non-accounting' decisions of managers that influence them to choose certain accounting methods.

In the finance and growth literature, Bencivenga and Smith (1991) and Levine (1997) show that banks play a key role in financial sector development by providing funds to support the development of existing financial infrastructures in the country they operate in. The role of banks in financial development include savings mobilisation, risk management, gathering information about investment opportunities, monitoring borrowers and facilitate the exchange of goods and services; thus, the role of banks in financial development cannot be overemphasized (Levine, 1997).

Bank financial reporting behaviour can be influenced by issues related to financial development in a country. Rajan and Zingales (2003) show that some interest groups in the banking and financial services industry have incentive to oppose greater 'access to finance' and to oppose greater foreign bank entry that could lead to greater competition in the financial sector because greater 'access to finance' and greater competition would lower their market share and profit margins. They argue that when the economy is open to international capital inflow and open to the entry of foreign financial institutions, these powerful interest groups would have no choice but to change their behaviour in ways that promote greater financial development or financial sector development. They further argue that the entry of foreign firms will compel domestic banks to improve their accounting disclosure standards and contract enforcements which in turn would improve financial reporting transparency, increase competition among banks, reduce barriers to entry in financial markets, improve access to finance which in turn would improve the level of financial development in the country or region.

With regard to foreign bank presence, Hermes and Lensink (2004) suggest that foreign banks may introduce new financial services and stimulate domestic banks to develop new services to improve the

efficiency of financial intermediation in the domestic financial system. Also, they argue that foreign bank presence may stimulate domestic banks to reduce costs, increase efficiency, and increase the availability and diversity of financial services through competition. Claessens et al. (2001) investigate banks from 80 countries during the 1988 to1995 period, and show that increased foreign bank presence is associated with reduced profitability, reduced non-interest income and reduced expenses for domestic banks, implying that foreign bank presence improves the functioning of the banking sector of a country through increased market competition and improved efficiency of domestic banks.

In Africa, there are substantial numbers of foreign banks allowed to operate in some African countries to provide services that improve the extent of financial intermediation, thereby leading to greater financial development. However, financial system development in the region is still largely uneven due to restrictions on foreign bank entry. Foreign bank presence in Africa can help improve financial development levels by increasing competition between domestic and foreign banks which can compel all banks to either report competitive earnings which encourage earnings smoothing or to improve their accounting disclosure quality which discourages earnings smoothing; and this view is consistent with positive accounting theory which argues that the accounting information generated by management in financial reports reflect several factors that were taken into consideration when generating financial reports such as how resources are allocated, management compensation, regulatory requirements, debt covenant restrictions, financing decisions, investment decisions and other considerations such as competition arising from foreign bank entry.

Considering these issues as well as the views of Claessens et al. (2001) and Lensink and Hermes (2004), I argue that greater foreign bank presence - an indicator of financial development²³, would lead to greater competition among African banks which can motivate African banks to report competitive earnings, and competitive earnings can be achieved by smoothing earnings upward. When this is the case, African banks in more financially-developed environments are more likely to have lower profit margins, and will face greater pressure to report competitive earnings by smoothing earnings upwards to appear profitable

²³ Cho (1990) and Lensink and Hermes (2004) suggest that higher levels of financial development via greater foreign bank presence should lead to greater competition which in turn would lower interest margins and profit for all banks.

over time due to fierce competition from rival banks. Therefore, I predict a positive association between foreign bank presence and bank earnings smoothing via loan loss provisions. On the other hand, following the argument of Rajan and Zingales (2003), greater financial development via greater foreign bank presence may lead to reduced earnings manipulation if greater foreign bank presence compels banks to improve their accounting disclosure standards, thus, discouraging earnings manipulation that may take the form of earnings smoothing. When this is the case, African banks in more financially-developed economies should have less incentive to smooth reported earnings. Therefore, I predict a negative association between foreign bank presence and bank earnings smoothing via loan loss provisions.

H1: Bank earnings smoothing via significantly influenced by foreign bank presence.

5.1.2. Investor Protection

Positive accounting theory show that the accounting information generated by management in financial reports reflect several factors that were taken into consideration when generating financial reports such as how resources are allocated, management compensation, regulatory requirements, debt covenant restrictions, financing decisions, investment decisions and other considerations - when determining the choice of accounting methods to adopt, which implies that reported earnings in the financial report of firms reflect both 'accounting' and 'non-accounting' decisions of managers (Watts and Zimmermann, 1986). Another non-accounting decision that managers have to take into account is investor protection as a regulatory requirement for businesses owned by shareholders. Investor protection is a regulatory requirement and firms have to comply with regulatory requirements; most importantly, they have to comply with rules designed to protect investors and minority shareholders from exploitation by firm managers. Therefore, managers will have incentives to take into account the level of investor protection in their financial reporting process and can choose accounting methods that helps them achieve their financial reporting objectives. The strength of investor protection can increase or limit managers' choice of accounting methods in influencing financial reports, and supports the positive accounting theory argument that the choice of accounting method used to generate reported earnings reflects several considerations including non-accounting considerations that were taken into account by managers.

In the theoretical literature, Shleifer and Vishny (1997) and La Porta et al (2000) identify investor protection as a key institutional factor affecting corporate policy decisions. Leuz et al. (2003) point out that investor protection is an important institutional factor that constrains earnings management behaviour because the presence of institutions or rules that protect investors' rights can reduce the ability of firm insiders to acquire private control benefits, and mitigates the incentive to manipulate accounting earnings because there is little or nothing to conceal from outsiders.

In the context of banks, Shen and Chih (2005) investigate whether investor protection discourage bank earnings management behaviour, and observe that strong protection of minority shareholder rights discourage earnings management among banks while the quality of legal enforcement did not discourage bank earnings management. Fonseca and Gonzalez (2008) follow the argument of Leuz et al. (2003) and applied the same reasoning to investigate bank earnings smoothing practices in their cross-country analysis and argue that investor protection should discourage the use of loan loss provisions to smooth bank earnings. They use three proxies from La Porta et al. (1998) to capture investor protection: rights of minority shareholders, creditor rights and legal enforcement. They find that earnings smoothing via loan loss provisions decreases with strong investor protection levels. With regard to the strength of legal enforcement in a country, a proxy for investor protection, Demirguc-Kunt and Detragiache (2002) theoretically demonstrate that a sound legal system with strong enforcement of rules should reduce the adverse effect of deposit insurance on bank risk-taking behaviour which in turn should diminish the incentive of banks to smooth earnings. Shen and Chih (2005) did not find evidence to support Demirguc-Kunt and Detragiache (2002)'s argument while Fonseca and Gonzalez (2008) find evidence to support their argument. To develop the hypothesis, I follow the reasoning of Leuz et al. (2003), Shen and Chih (2005) and Fonseca and Gonzalez (2008), and hypothesise that strong investor protection should discourage the use of loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings by African banks.

In Africa, and with the exception of Kenya, South Africa and Mauritius, most African countries have little or no protection for minority shareholders from managers who seek to exploit investors to maximise their bonus or compensation. The lack of strong legal institutions suggests that African managers may not be legally disciplined for manipulating earnings for their own benefits at the expense of minority shareholders, implying weak protection for investors in Africa; therefore, earnings management should be more pronounced among firms (and banks) that operate in African countries that have weak investor protection. Comparatively, this suggests that the investor protection characteristics in Africa are similar to those of other developing regions, and this expectation for investor protection supports the theoretical literature (see, Nobes and Parker, 2008) which demonstrates that the effectiveness of investor protection institutions and their ability to constrain firm behaviour would vary across countries due to differences in legal systems and differences in corporate governance structures. Therefore, I predict a negative association between investor protection and bank earnings smoothing via loan loss provisions.

Hypothesis 2: Bank earnings smoothing is inversely associated with investor protection.

The analysis in this thesis is different from Fonseca and Gonzalez (2008) in two ways. One, Fonseca and Gonzalez (2008) did not include a large sample of African banks in their cross-country analysis, hence, the impact of investor protection on earnings smoothing by African banks is not clear. Two, in contrast to Fonseca and Gonzalez (2008), I use investor protection proxies that are available for African countries in the sample. The investor protection proxies used by Fonseca and Gonzalez (2008) are not available for most African countries.

5.1.3. Political Economy Factors

Positive accounting theory posits that the accounting information generated by management in financial reports reflects several accounting and non-accounting decisions that were taken into consideration by managers when generating financial reports such as regulatory requirements and other considerations. Political economy is another non-accounting decision/factor that firm managers can take into account in generating reporting earnings (Watts and Zimmermann, 1986). Positive accounting theory's political cost hypothesis predict that firms can use accounting methods that lower the political cost associated with reporting abnormal earnings which are sensitive to scrutiny by regulators or political commentators; nonetheless, the magnitude of the political costs associated with reporting abnormal losses or profits by firms also depends on the strength of political economy institutions which can empower regulators with the appropriate enforcement powers to monitor firms (Watts and Zimmermann, 1986). Thus, political

economy is another explanation for why managers choose specific accounting methods in financial reporting.

The political economy literature suggest a relationship between politics and firm corporate control but do not provide insight on the impact of political economy on the earnings smoothing practices of firms. For instance, Pagano and Volpin (2001) and Hellwig (2000) demonstrate that politics can affect the balance of power between firm insiders (managers and controlling shareholders) and outsiders (non-controlling shareholders) by designing the rules intended to protect minority shareholders as well as rules that influence the contestability of corporate control. Kaufmann et al. (2011) argue that political economy differences across countries can significantly explain differences across countries even when countries have similar legal systems. By political economy, they mean the political system in which decisions about economic policies are made²⁴. To date, the literature has not examined the influence of political economy on bank earnings smoothing via loan loss provisions. For the purpose of this thesis, the concept of political economy is used to describe how the existing political economy of a country empower or weaken the ability of institutions to monitor and supervise firm behaviour and to discipline firms that engage in corporate reporting malpractices. In Africa, for instance, most African countries have similar (but weak) legal systems but the political economy system differ significantly across African countries.

North (1990) and Olson (1993) argue that if establishing strong political economy risk exposing the misappropriation of funds from firms by corrupt politicians and public officials, corrupt politicians and public officials will oppose or delay policies intended to strengthen the country's political economy while they remain in power. This view possibly explains why many countries have weak institutions and a weak political economy system, particularly, in developing countries. In the case of banks, Haber and Perotti (2007) argue that if the weak political economy fails to empower bank regulatory institutions with the necessary disciplinary powers to restrain bank managers from engaging in opportunistic behaviour, then bank managers will have incentive to act in ways that increase the likelihood of banking/financial crises

²⁴ The same political system that make economic policies also make policies that influence banking regulation, financial development and other policies in many countries.

or worsen the consequences of an existing crisis, implying a positive association between strong political economy and banking system stability (i.e. fewer banking crises).

Some studies relate weak political economy to higher corruption levels. Barth et al. (2009) relate higher corruption levels to weak political economy in the sense that corruption thrives in economies that have weak political economy. Bhattacharya et al (2002)²⁵ show that bank financial reporting is opaque when banks are in highly corrupt countries. They point out that the opacity of the reported earnings of banks commonly manifest through increased earnings smoothing, implying a positive association between higher corruption (or weak political economy) and bank earnings smoothing. Following the argument of Bhattacharya et al. (2002), I argue that weak political economy would increase the scope of corruption in the private and public sector, and reduce the level of accountability in firms' financial reporting which in turn would create opportunities for firms, including banks, to engage in opportunistic financial reporting practices that may take the form of earnings smoothing.

In Africa, most African countries have weak political economy, which affects the ability of bank supervisors to discipline rule-breaking banks particularly if such banks are affiliated with high-ranking government officials. Weak political economy can make regulators toothless in enforcing rules that improves accounting quality. Moreover, if establishing strong political economy that empower regulators to discipline banks increases the risk of exposing corrupt politicians affiliated to such banks, corrupt politicians in power will oppose or delay any policy aimed at increasing the disciplinary powers of bank regulators while they remain in power in Africa. This explains why political economy can influence the level of accountability in banks which in turn may encourage banks to distort their financial reporting process. More specifically, banks in weak political economy environments such as Africa may have greater incentive to smooth reported earnings if the political economy/political system do not actively empower bank supervisors/regulators with the appropriate enforcement and disciplinary powers to discipline banks that opportunistically distort the financial reporting process. When this is the case, bank

²⁵ Bhattacharya et al (2002) argue that corruption in banks is manifested through the opacity of bank financial reporting due to loose accounting standards and lax enforcement of accounting standards, and that bank opacity can be manifested either through increased loss avoidance, increased earnings smoothing and/or increased earnings aggressiveness.

earnings smoothing would be more pronounced in weak political economy environments, and vice versa. Therefore, I predict an inverse association between political economy and bank earnings smoothing via loan loss provisions.

Hypothesis 3: Bank earnings smoothing via loan loss provision is inversely associated with political economy.

Six variables are employed as proxies to capture political economy differences across African countries in this thesis: control of corruption (COC) index; voice and accountability (VA) index; government effectiveness (GT) index; regulatory quality (RQ) index; political instability and absence of voice (PS) index; and safety and rule of law (RS) index. The first five variables are obtained from Kaufman's World Governance Indicators while the last variable is obtained from the MO Ibrahim Foundation Database. Higher values of each variable indicate stronger political economy²⁶. By testing this hypothesis, the analysis contributes to the existing literature that examines the role of politics on bank behaviour (e.g. Sapienza, 2004; Micco et al., 2007; Cornett et al., 2009). I add to this literature by investigating whether the way African banks use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings is influenced by political economy differences in the African region.

5.1.4. Bank Ownership Concentration

The literature that examine the relationship between corporate governance and earnings management mostly focus on firms in developed countries with relatively little focus on banks²⁷ and there is yet no evidence for African banks to date.

Positive accounting theory has implication for the ownership structure of firms due to the agency conflict between managers and firms. Managers can choose accounting methods that allow them to hide the misappropriation of funds from owners or shareholders to improve their personal utility. Klein (2002) and Park and Shin (2004) show that the agency problems between firm owners and management can be

²⁶ It is important to note that these variables do not measure the lobbying of various economic interest groups, minority shareholder interest groups and other pressure groups that work together to shape political decisions and political economy institutions in each country.

²⁷ Bouvatier et al. (2014) confirm that the empirical literature analysing the relationship between the level of ownership concentration and earnings management among firms is scant.

reduced through internal corporate governance mechanisms; however, La Porta et al. (1998) argue that when large shareholders are involved in firm decision making as is commonly the case in Europe and Asia; the conflict of interest becomes centred on controlling owners versus minority shareholders rather than manager versus shareholders.

There are two main theoretical arguments on the influence of ownership structure on managerial opportunistic behaviour. Jensen and Meckling (1976) and Shleifer and Vishny (1986) argue that controlling shareholders impose greater monitoring on firm management and use their influence to compel managers to make decisions that increase overall shareholder value and thereby benefit all shareholders. This view suggests that concentrated firm ownership can align the interests of controlling shareholders with those of non-controlling shareholders to discourage opportunistic behaviour of managers; however, Grossman and Hart (1988) and Shleifer and Wolfenzon (2002) show that this is not case if there are private benefits of control. In fact, Harris and Raviv (1988) and Aghion and Bolton (1992) demonstrate that some shareholders enjoy the feeling or value attached to being in control and these feeling/values/benefits are not shared by minority shareholders. Jensen and Meckling (1976) further stress that when controlling shareholders can extract corporate resources for private benefits to increase their personal utility, then non-controlling shareholders would be affected through a reduction in firm value arising from private extraction of corporate benefits by controlling shareholders.

Furthermore, Bouvatier et al. (2014) suggest that controlling shareholders can capture the production of accounting information of firms in an attempt to conceal private benefits appropriated to them by encouraging managers to smooth or manage earnings to hide losses that could attract the attention of non-controlling shareholders and stakeholders. They further suggest that large investors with large shareholding can elect their representative(s) to the board of directors who will appoint managers that will act in the interest of these controlling shareholders; however, they point out that the decision to manipulate earnings would also depend on the trade-off between the shared benefits of control and private benefits to controlling shareholders. Taken together, these theoretical arguments show that the extent to which dispersed or concentrated ownership can limit opportunistic behaviour of managers depend on the trade-off between shared and private benefits of control.

Empirical studies such as Leuz et al. (2003) find that industrial firms with a dispersed ownership structure engage in lower earnings management while Fan and Wong (2002) investigate the case of listed nonfinancial firms in East Asian non-financial firms and find that high ownership concentration and large separation of ownership and control are associated with lower levels of earnings informativeness. Bouvatier et al. (2014) investigate European commercial banks and find that banks with concentrated ownership use loan loss provisions to smooth earnings while European banks with dispersed ownership structure do not use loan loss provisions to smooth earnings. On the other hand, Gebhardt and Novotny-Farkas (2011) find that earnings smoothing is more pronounced among listed European banks that are widely held. So far empirical findings are mixed with few studies on the topic.

In Africa, bank ownership in some African countries (e.g. Ethiopia, Congo, Togo, Libya and Mauritania, etc.) is characterised by substantial concentrated ownership: family ownership of banks by wealthy and privileged families who may seek private benefits of control from bank managers. Bank managers in these African countries may have some incentive to report fewer provisions (even when they face high credit risk) in order to report higher profits which allows them to influence reported earnings in ways that maximise their personal benefits as well as private control benefits to controlling shareholders. Given this characteristic in Africa as well as the argument of Fan and Wong (2002), Leuz et al (2003) and Bouvatier et al. (2014), I expect that earnings smoothing would be more pronounced in banks with concentrated ownership and less pronounced in banks with dispersed ownership. This is expectation is consistent with agency theory which argue that, in the presence of strong monitoring via dispersed ownership, managers are less likely to take actions that maximise their compensation at the expense of shareholders (see, Jensen and Meckling, 1976; Shleifer and Vishny, 1986).

Hypothesis 4: Earnings smoothing via loan loss provision is reduced among African banks with dispersed ownership, and is more pronounced among African banks with concentrated ownership.

Bouvatier et al. (2014) examine three levels of ownership concentration: dispersed ownership (i.e. majority shareholders with less than 50 direct equity holding), moderate ownership concentration (i.e. two shareholders holding controlling stake) and strong ownership concentration (i.e. majority shareholder

with at least 70% direct equity holdings). In contrast to Bouvatier et al (2014), I examine 6 levels of ownership concentration among African banks: dispersed ownership (i.e. majority shareholders with less than 40% direct equity); moderately-weak ownership concentration (i.e. one majority shareholder with at least 50% but less than 70% direct equity holdings); moderately-strong ownership concentration (i.e. two shareholders have at least 70% direct equity holding); strong ownership concentration (i.e. one majority shareholder with at least 70% direct equity holdings), weak government ownership (i.e. state shareholder with at shareholder with less than 40% direct equity holdings); and strong government ownership²⁸ (i.e. state shareholder with more than 50% direct equity holdings).

5.1.5. Audit Quality and Accounting Disclosure (IFRS) Quality

Audit and accounting disclosure quality in Africa is improving although some challenges still persist. For instance, some African countries have adopted IFRS accounting standards e.g., Kenya, Nigeria, South Africa, Mauritius, Ghana, Libya, Malawi, Namibia and Sierra Leone while other African countries are in the process of doing so by first encouraging voluntary adoption for example Egypt. Other African countries, for example, Benin, Burkina Faso, Mali, Niger and Senegal prefer to retain the use of their local GAAPs and claim that their local GAAPs are 'based on' or 'similar to' converge IFRS . Moreover, only few African countries continue to adopt the accounting standards (i.e., IAS) introduced to them by their British or French colonial masters. Moreover, financial reporting in several African countries also face a number of problems which include management interference, lack of guidance on the interpretation of financial reports, frequent revisions of accounting standards, weak incentive of preparers of financial

²⁸ There are two views on the purpose of government ownership of banks: the developmental view and the political view (La Porta et al., 2002). La Porta et al. (2002) demonstrate that the developmental role of government ownership of banks is to show the government's interest to discourage opportunistic bank behaviour and to ensure that banks channel financial resources to developmental projects that bank managers of private banks are unwilling to channel funds to. The political view of government ownership of banks, on the other hand, stress that politicians use banks as an instrument to fulfil their own political agenda. In support of the political view, Sapienza (2004) show that Italian state-owned banks charge substantially lower interest rates relative to privately-run banks, and lend more to areas where the government have a large client base. Micco et al. (2007) examine the relationship between bank ownership and bank performance, and test whether politics play any role in this relationship. They find that state-owned banks operating in developing countries have lower profitability than private banks. Cornett et al. (2009) investigate how government ownership and involvement in a country's banking system influence the performance of banks. They find that state-owned banks are less profitable particularly when they are in countries with greater government involvement and political corruption in the banking system.

statements, poor training and development for preparers of financial statement information, weak legal enforcement mechanisms, political factors, poor corporate governance structures and weak auditor incentives (Owolabi and Iyoha, 2012; Mutiso and Kamau, 2013). Another issue is the problem of label and serious adopters (Daske et al., 2013) where some African countries appear to adopt or converge to IFRS while the extent of IFRS adoption in these countries is rather low and sometimes enforcement of IFRS standard is almost non-existent (hence, label adopters). Only few African countries, for example South Africa, Kenya, Mauritius adopt IFRS with evidence of strong enforcement. These issues can lower the accounting quality of firms (and banks) in African countries. Moreover, the theoretical literature (see, Nobes and Parker, 2008) also posit that accounting quality depends on cross-country differences in the demand for accounting which includes differences in financial reporting goals, differences in accounting rules, differences in the extent of financial statement disclosures and differences in the key users of financial statements. These factors differ across each African country and can influence the financial reporting behaviour of firms (and banks) in African countries.

Positive accounting theory has implication for audit/accounting quality because the effective use of accounting in contracting requires monitoring which can be performed by standard setting bodies and/or the external professional auditor. Moreover, regulation can affect the nature of audit because it can expand the audit or it can reduce the audit, which in turn can affect auditing's contracting role and reduce its effectiveness as a monitoring device to discourage the distortion of reported earnings that lowers accounting and audit quality (Watts and Zimmermann, 1986)

In the literature, accounting disclosure quality is commonly associated with IFRS adoption and the presence of Big 4 auditor (e.g. Teoh and Wong, 1993; Francis et al., 1999, Huang and Li, 2009). With respect to accounting disclosure quality, IFRS adoption is often claimed to have higher disclosure quality compared to domestic accounting standards or local GAAP (Ahmed et al., 2013). Leventis et al. (2011) investigate the impact of mandatory IFRS adoption on bank managers' incentive to smooth earnings and manage capital via loan loss provisions. They find that early and late IFRS adopter banks use loan loss provisions to smooth earnings. However, they also observe that bank earnings smoothing behaviour is reduced after mandatory IFRS adoption. In contrast, Ahmed et al (2013) find that firms that adopt IFRS

firms use accruals to smooth reported earnings. Ozili (2015) finds that IFRS adoption did not reduce the incentive to smooth earnings among listed banks in Nigeria. Following the evidence of Kanagaretnam et al. (2010) and Leventis et al. (2011), I expect IFRS adoption to improve accounting disclosure quality for African banks. Accordingly, I hypothesise:

Hypothesis 5a²⁹: a negative relationship between earnings smoothing via loan loss provisions and disclosure quality (i.e. IFRS adoption).

With respect to audit quality, for instance, Beatty (1989) and Blackwell et al (1998) stress that a firm would choose the services of a Big 4 auditor than non-Big 4 auditor if they believe that the reputation of Big 4 auditor reflects superior audit quality which in turn improves the quality of accounting information in financial reports. DeAngelo (1981) and Huang and Li (2009) suggest that Big 5 auditor are able to detect material misstatements in financial statements and are more willing to report what they find compared to non-Big 5 auditor because Big 5 auditors have greater independence, higher expertise and are more willing to devote extra resources to specialised staff training and peer reviews compared to nonbig 5 auditors (see, Craswell et al., 1995; Teoh and Wong, 1993; Francis et al., 1999; for more on this); while Autore et al. (2009) stress that the choice of external auditor is important for firms in industries that have higher information uncertainty. Kanagaretnam et al. (2010) applied Autore et al. (2009)'s idea to the context of banks and argue that the type of auditor is important for banks because information uncertainty is relatively higher in the banking industry. Kanagaretnam et al. (2010) examine two aspects of auditor reputation: auditor type and auditor industry specialization, to investigate the influence of auditor reputation on bank earnings management. They investigate banks from 29 countries and find that both auditor type and auditor industry specialization moderates the extent of bank earnings management behaviour to beat a benchmark. Bouvatier et al. (2014) also find that earnings smoothing among European commercial banks is reduced in European countries with higher external audit quality. Following the above arguments, I predict a negative association between audit quality and earnings smoothing via loan loss provisions by African banks.

²⁹ However, this hypothesised relationship may not hold true if weak enforcement of IFRS affects the effectiveness of IFRS standards to discourage earnings manipulation among banks in African countries.

Hypothesis 5b³⁰: Bank earnings smoothing via loan loss provision is inversely associated with audit quality (measured as Big 4 auditor presence).

5.1.6. Financial Structure: Competition, Concentration and Banking System Stability In positive accounting theory, financial structure is a potential non-accounting factor that managers of financial firms can take into account for financial reporting. Financial structure can affect the profitability and performance of financial firms, and such managers would have incentives to choose accounting methods that allow them to report competitive profits or to minimise losses. In the theory of firms, Fama (1980) argues that market competition is an effective tool to solve the agency problem between managers and firm owners, and competition improves the corporate governance of firms. Francis et al. (2004) observe that earnings smoothing increases firm's ability to compete, and help firms to reduce the cost of capital by reducing information asymmetry between managers and owners. Marciukaityte and Park (2009) examine the relationship between market competition and earnings management. They find that industrial firms in more competitive industries are less likely to engage in earnings management but are more likely to engage in earnings smoothing to improve earnings informativeness.

In Africa, most African countries have highly concentrated banking systems while few African countries have less concentrated banking systems e.g., South Africa and Mauritius. For instance, some African countries have five banks that make up the whole banking system assets in the country, e.g. Cape Verde, Gambia, Lesotho, Swaziland and Togo, indicating that some African countries have highly concentrated banking systems, and higher banking sector concentration will reduce competition among banks in the banking sector, which could lower the incentive to report competitive earnings by smoothing income. Also, banking systems in African countries tend to be more prone to banking crisis due to excessive reliance on exports and foreign direct investments that depend heavily on bank financing and exchange rate fluctuation (Beck and Cull, 2013). Such fluctuations could lead banking crises which can make bank accounting numbers become volatile. To minimise excessive fluctuations, bank managers will take

³⁰ Also, if Big 4 auditors lower their monitoring and quality standards to allow them penetrate the market for audit services in Africa, then the presence of Big 4 auditor in African banks may not reduce the extent of earnings smoothing, contrary to theoretical expectations.

actions to reduce abnormal fluctuations in reported earnings and one strategy that African banks can employ to reduce such fluctuations in reported earnings is income smoothing.

Given these commonalities in Africa, and following the argument of Marciukaityte and Park (2009), I predict a positive association between bank earnings smoothing and bank competition because African banks in competitive environments may face greater pressure to remain profitable and can use loan loss provisions estimates to smooth earnings to appear profitable when they are in competitive environments.

Hypothesis 6a: Bank earnings smoothing via loan loss provision is positively associated with bank competition.

Also, as discussed in Chapter 2, the banking industry in most African countries is highly concentrated. Claessens and Laeven (2004) show that greater banking concentration discourages competition. Greater bank concentration in several African countries should reduce competition among banks and should reduce the incentive to use loan loss provisions to report smooth (or competitive) earnings. Therefore, I predict that earnings smoothing is less pronounced among banks in African countries that have concentrated banking sectors.

Hypothesis 6b: Bank earnings smoothing via loan loss provision is negatively associated with bank concentration.

With respect to bank stability, one way to view the relationship between banking system stability and earnings smoothing is to consider the insolvency risk of the banking sector (Boyd and Runkle, 1993; Beck et al., 2013). When the banking system has low risk of insolvency, the likelihood of panic among market participants, depositors and bank creditors will be low. Low insolvency risk indicates that the banking (and financial) system is stable because there is no cause for panic among financial market participants, and vice versa. Banks in such environments will have weak incentive to smooth earnings because there is no threat in the banking system that would make bank earnings volatile or unstable. On the other hand, when the banking system has high insolvency risk, there will be panic among financial market participants (including banks) and earnings would be relatively volatile and unstable, thus, creating strong incentive for banks to smooth earnings to reduce earnings fluctuation during volatile and

unstable periods. Following this reasoning, earnings smoothing should be more pronounced among banks in unstable banking environments (i.e. environments with high risk of insolvency), and less pronounced among banks in stable banking environments. Thus, an inverse association between earnings smoothing and banking system stability is expected.

Hypothesis 6c: Bank earnings smoothing is negatively associated with banking system stability.

The Z-score is a common proxy to measure banking system stability in the banking literature (e.g. Boyd and Runkle, 1993; Beck et al., 2013). The Z score indicates the number of standard deviations that a bank's return on asset has to drop below its expected value before equity is depleted (Laeven and Levine, 2009). A higher z-score indicates lower insolvency risk, implying higher banking system stability (Boyd and Runkle, 1993).

5.1. Summary of Hypotheses and Findings						
	Hypothesis					
		Relationship				
Hypothesis: 1	Foreign bank presence (and financial development) is associated with	Positive or Negative				
	bank earnings smoothing via loan loss provisions					
Hypothesis: 2	Iypothesis: 2 Strong investor protection is inversely associated with earnings					
	smoothing via loan loss provisions					
Hypothesis: 3	Strong political economy is inversely associated with earnings	Negative				
	smoothing via loan loss provisions					
Hypothesis: 4a	Higher disperse ownership is inversely associated with earnings	Negative				
	smoothing via loan loss provisions					
Hypothesis: 4b	Higher concentrated ownership is positively associated with earnings	Positive				
	smoothing via loan loss provisions					
Hypothesis: 5a	Higher audit quality is inversely associated with earnings smoothing via	Negative				
	loan loss provisions					
Hypothesis: 5b	Strict disclosure quality is inversely associated with earnings smoothing	Negative				
	via loan loss provisions					
Hypothesis: 6a	Banking sector competitiveness is positively associated with earnings	Positive				
	smoothing via loan loss provisions.					
Hypothesis: 6b	Banking sector concentration is inversely associated with earnings	Negative				
	smoothing via loan loss provisions.					
Hypothesis: 6c	Banking sector stability is negatively associated with earnings	Negative				
	smoothing via loan loss provisions.					

5.2. Data and Sample

The sample includes banks from African countries.³¹ Data was obtained from Bankscope database mainly balance sheet and income statement information for African banks (in US dollars) from Bankscope database.³² The sample period covers the 2002 to 2014 period. The sample period is sufficient to cover at least a full economic cycle in order to capture economic downturns (i.e., recessionary periods) and economic booms in each African country.

To control for macroeconomic conditions across African countries, I obtain data for real gross domestic product growth rate from World Economic Forum archived in World Bank database. To control for institutional characteristics across African countries, I obtain investor protection data from 'doing business project' indicators in the World Bank database. Political economy data was obtained from World Governance Indicators and the Mo Ibrahim foundation also archived in World Bank database.

Bankscope provides data for 54 African countries. Of these, twenty-three (23) countries were excluded due to unavailable data for institutional characteristics for each African country. These countries include: Swaziland, Lesotho, Sudan, South Sudan, Mali, Libya, Ivory Coast, Mauritania, Congo, Gambia, Benin, Burkina Faso, Sierra Leone, Zimbabwe, Burundi, Cape Verde, Chad, Comoros, Djibouti, Eritrea, Madagascar, Seychelles, and Sao Tome and Principe. This leaves us with 31 countries. Also, 10 African countries that had fewer than five (5) banks in Bankscope database were also excluded from the sample. This ensures that each African country included in the final sample has substantial number of banks for the analysis.

The resulting sample is made up of 21 African countries for which institutional, macroeconomic and other cross-country information are available. The countries include: South Africa, Ghana, Egypt, Tunisia,

³¹ One reason for the paucity of cross-country research for African banks is partly due (i) non-availability or nonaccessibility of bank-year data for crucial variables; (ii) the short history of reporting crucial variables; and (iii) when such data is reported, it is reported for some years and not reported for other years. Given this constraint, I restrict the sample to African banks with available data in Bankscope database and to African countries with available institutional data.

³² Up until 2016, Bankscope database is considered to have the widest coverage of bank data for banking organizations around the world and is more reliable and widely used by banking studies in the literature. Although collecting bank data from Bankscope database does not fully eliminate the problem of non-availability of data, it minimises this problem. In 2017, Bankscope database was discontinued and was acquired by Fitch connect, a US data management company.

Morocco, Kenya, Uganda, Zambia, Tanzania, Ethiopia, Togo, Angola, Cameroun, Algeria, Mauritius, Namibia, Botswana, Senegal, Nigeria, Malawi and Mozambique. Table 5.2 present the summary of the selection of African countries.

5.2. Selection of African Countries								
S/N	Total African Countries	First-Level Exclusion	Second-Level Exclusion	Final Sample				
1	South Africa			South Africa				
2	Ghana			Ghana				
3	Egypt			Egypt				
4	Tunisia			Tunisia				
5	Morocco			Morocco				
6	Kenya			Kenya				
7	Uganda			Uganda				
8	Zambia			Zambia				
9	Tanzania			Tanzania				
10	Ethiopia			Ethiopia				
11	Togo			Togo				
12	Angola			Angola				
13	Cameroun			Cameroun				
14	Algeria			Algeria				
15	Mauritius			Mauritius				
16	Namibia			Namibia				
17	Botswana			Botswana				
18	Senegal			Senegal				
19	Nigeria			Nigeria				
20	Malawi			Malawi				
21	Mozambique			Mozambique				
22	Swaziland		Swaziland					
23	Lesotho		Lesotho					
24	Sudan		Sudan					
25	South Sudan		South Sudan					
26	Mali		Mali					
27	Libya		Libya					
28	Ivory Coast		Ivory Coast					
29	Mauritania		Mauritania					
30	Congo		Congo					
31	Gambia		Gambia					
32	Benin	Benin						
33	Burkina Faso	Burkina Faso						
34	Sierra Leone	Sierra Leone						

35	Zimbabwe	Zimbabwe		
36	Burundi	Burundi		
37	Cape Verde	Cape Verde		
38	Chad	Chad		
39	Comoros	Comoros		
40	Djibouti	Djibouti		
41	Eritrea	Eritrea		
42	Madagascar	Madagascar		
43	Sao Tome and Principe	Sao Tome and Principe		
44	Seychelles	Seychelles		
45	Rwanda	Rwanda		
46	Niger	Niger		
47	Liberia	Liberia		
48	Guinea-Bissau	Guinea-Bissau		
49	Guinea	Guinea		
50	Gabon	Gabon		
51	Equatorial Guinea	Equatorial Guinea		
52	Djibouti	Djibouti		
53	Burundi	Burundi		
54	Central African Republic	Central African Republic		
	Total African Countries	First-Level Exclusion	Second-Level Exclusion	Final Sample
Total Bank	53			
Number of Excluded Countries		(10)		
Number of Excluded Countries			(23)	
Final Country Sample				21

To be included in the bank sample, the African bank must meet two criteria. First, the African bank must have time series annual data for loan loss provisions (the main dependent variable) in Bankscope database. Banks that did not have any reported data for loan loss provisions in Bankscope were excluded from the sample. Second, the bank should have at least four years consecutive data for crucial variables, particularly, loan loss provisions in order to control for quality of bank financial reporting. Hence, African banks with fewer than four years consecutive data for crucial variables were excluded. The resulting sample after this process yields 370 African banks.

To clean up the data, I first trim the data by eliminating outliers at the 1% and 99% percentile around the full sample mean for variables in order to eliminate/reduce measurement bias due to outliers. Two, I did

not eliminate 2008-2009 observations to control for the global financial crisis because there is no reason to believe that 2007-2008 global financial crisis had a significant impact on the balance sheet of all African banks at the time. Three, where appropriate, I take the natural logarithm of variables whose distribution appear to be significantly skewed such as bank size (SIZE) and bank concentration (BCON) variables.

Finally, some African banks in the sample have unique characteristics. By unique characteristics, I mean that some African banks are listed and unlisted while some African banks have Big 4 and non-Big 4 auditors. Also, some African banks have varying levels of ownership structure ranging from dispersed ownership, strong ownership concentration and government ownership. Table 5.3 presents a summary of bank characteristics.

Table 5.3. Sample Distribution											
Country	# No of banks	Listed banks	Unlisted banks	Big-4 auditor banks	Non-Big 4 auditor banks	Banks with disperse Ownership (<40%) (DISP)	Banks with two controlling shareholder (≥70%) (CN2)	Banks with a majority shareholder (50-69%) (CN1)	Banks with a majority shareholder (≥70%) (CN3)	Banks with govt. owner (≥50%) (GS)	Banks with govt. owner (<40%) (GW)
South Africa	30	10	20	27	3	7	0	4	13	0	1
Ghana	21	8	13	19	2	4	0	4	8	0	1
Egypt	21	11	10	15	6	8	1	1	12	2	2
Tunisia	27	12	15	3	23	12	0	10	4	0	4
Morocco	15	7	8	9	6	4	0	4	2	1	0
Kenya	31	10	21	25	4	7	0	6	6	0	3
Uganda	20	3	17	16	4	2	0	1	12	1	0
Zambia	17	3	14	17	0	2	0	0	8	0	1
Tanzania	28	3	25	21	7	7	0	5	6	0	1
Ethiopia	11	0	11	0	11	0	0	0	1	0	0
Togo	10	1	9	1	9	1	0	2	3	0	0
Angola	17	0	17	13	4	5	1	5	6	1	1
Cameroun	11	1	10	6	5	1	0	2	1	0	1
Algeria	17	0	17	0	16	2	2	4	8	1	0
Mauritius	14	1	13	9	5	4	1	0	7	0	0
Namibia	10	2	8	9	1	1	0	3	4	0	0
Botswana	14	3	11	14	0	1	0	3	6	1	0
Senegal	11	1	10	3	8	3	1	3	3	0	0
Nigeria	21	9	12	20	1	11	0	2	4	0	0
Malawi	10	3	7	8	2	1	1	2	2	0	0
Mozambique	14	0	14	14	0	2	3	3	6	0	0
Total	370	88	282	249	^b 121	85	10	64	127	7	15
*Of the 282 unlisted banks, 3 banks were delisted. ^b Non-Big-4 category exclude 4 banks that do not have auditor information, resulting in 117 (121-4) banks											

5.3. Methodology

5.3.1. Baseline Model

The approach used in the bank earnings smoothing literature to test the earnings smoothing hypothesis or to detect the presence of smoothed earnings among banks is the 'specific accrual' approach (McNichols, 2000). The 'specific accrual' approach divides total loan loss provisions into two components: discretionary loan loss provisions and non-discretionary loan loss provisions, and express a specific discretionary accrual (in this case, loan loss provisions) as a function of its non-discretionary determinants and other factors that influence decisions regarding the specific accrual (Greenawalt and Sinkey, 1988; Wahlen, 1994), implying that discretionary loan loss provision is expressed as a function of its non-discretionary determinants, earnings and other factors (Kanagaretnam et al., 2004; Liu and Ryan, 2006; Anandarajan et al., 2007; Curcio and Hasan, 2015; Kilic et al., 2012). Discretionary loan loss provision is the portion of total loan loss provisions that is subject to manipulation by management. The earnings variable is included in the model to account for bank provisioning that depend on earnings considerations.

The baseline model employed in this thesis is similar to the model employed in previous studies (e.g. Kanagaretnam et al., 2004; Liu and Ryan, 2006; Curcio and Hasan, 2015; Bushman and William, 2012; Kilic et al., 2012); and is expressed as:

Discretionary Provisions = f (Non-discretionary provisions, Earnings, Macroeconomic factors, Institutional factors and other control variables).

<u>Model Specification</u>: Equation 1 below estimates the propensity to use loan loss provision to smooth earnings after controlling for differences in nonperforming loans, loan growth, loan to asset ratio, capital management incentive, bank size and macroeconomic fluctuation. The model includes the main theoretical determinants of bank provisions commonly used in the bank earnings smoothing literature while EBTP is the earnings smoothing variable of interest.
The model specification of the model is stated as:

$$\begin{split} LLPi, j, t &= \beta 0 + \beta 1 EBTPi, j, t + \beta 2NPLi, j, t + \beta 3LOANi, j, t + \beta 4LOTAi, j, t + \beta 5CAPi, j, t \\ &+ \beta 6SIZEi, j, t + \beta 7\Delta GDPj, t + \beta nBANK dummies + \beta nYEAR dummies \\ &+ \beta nCOUNTRY dummies + \varepsilon i, t. Equation (1) \end{split}$$

Equation 1 is modified in Equation 2 to allow for dynamic adjustment to bank loan loss provisions similar to Fonseca and Gonzalez (2008) and Bouvatier et al. (2014). Dynamic adjustment to loan loss provisions capture bank provisioning that extends beyond a one-year period. This adjustment is done by incorporating the lagged dependent variable as an explanatory variable into the main model as shown below:

$$LLPi, j, t = \beta 1 LLPi, j, t - 1 + \beta 2 EBTPi, j, t + \beta 3 NPLi, j, t + \beta 4 LOANi, j, t + \beta 5 LOTAi, j, t + \beta 6 CAPi, j, t + \beta 7 SIZEi, j, t + \beta 8 \Delta GDPj, t + \beta nBANK dummies + \beta nYEAR dummies + \beta nCOUNTRY dummies + \varepsilon, t. Equation (2)$$

Where

'i' = bank

't' = year

j' = country

'n' = number of coefficients

LLP = total loan loss provisions scaled by beginning total assets.

EBTP = earnings before profit and tax scaled by beginning total assets.

NPL = non-performing/impaired loans scaled by beginning total assets.

LOAN = loan growth or change in gross loan outstanding

CAP = total equity scaled by beginning total assets.

LOTA = total loan scaled by beginning total assets.

SIZE = natural logarithm of total asset.

 Δ GDP = real gross domestic product growth rate

BANKdummies = bank level dummies to be interacted with EBTP variable

COUNTRY dummies = country level dummies to be interacted with EBTP variable.

5.3.2. Description of Main Theoretical Variables and Justification

5.3.2.1. Loan Loss Provisions (LLP)

LLP is the dependent variable (Leventis et al., 2011; Bushman and Williams, 2012; Curcio and Hasan, 2015), which is deflated by beginning total assets (i.e., LLPit/TAi,t-1) following the approach of Kilic et al. (2012) and Bushman and William (2012) to take into account known values of bank characteristic. Data for loan loss provisions is obtained from Bankscope database.

5.3.2.2. Earnings before tax and loan loss provisions (EBTP)

The earnings variable (EBTP) is the ratio of earnings before tax and loan loss provisions divided by beginning total assets. The earnings before tax and loan loss provisions variable is mechanically derived by adding-back loan loss provisions to the profit before tax number. The literature commonly focuses on the relation between LLP and EBTP to detect whether banks use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings. A positive (and significant) relationship between LLP and EBTP is commonly taken as evidence to indicate smoothed earnings (see. Kanagaretnam et al., 2004; Liu and Ryan, 2006; Curcio and Hasan, 2015; Kilic et al., 2012; Bushman and William, 2012), and imply that banks lower loan loss provisions to increase low earnings and increase loan loss provisions to decrease high earnings in the current period.

I perform additional sensitivity test based on the earnings distribution of African banks to detect whether African banks use loan loss provisions to smooth specific earnings pattern rather than the entire earnings distribution. In other words, I test whether African banks use loan loss provisions to smooth earnings when they are more profitable. El Sood (2012) observe that US banks use loan loss provisions to smooth earnings when banks are more profitable, that is, when they have high earnings. I extend El Sood (2012) by introducing two proxies to capture 'higher profitability', i.e., non-negative earnings and above-themedian earnings. I introduce POS dummy variable that take the value of one if EBTP ratio is positive and zero otherwise, and HIGH dummy variable that take the value of one if EBTP ratio is above-the-median EBTP and zero otherwise. The latter is consistent with El Sood (2012). POS and HIGH dummies are then interacted with EBTP to detect whether African banks use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings when they are more profitable. Finally, data for bank earnings is also obtained from Bankscope database.

5.3.2.3. Non-Performing Loan (NPL)

Non-performing loan (NPL) is the ratio of impaired loans to beginning total asset (Bushman and William, 2012). NPL captures specific loan loss provisions that banks set aside for loan losses that are highly probable to occur or that are 90-days past due. Beaver and Engel (1996) and Ahmed et al. (1999) posit that non-performing loans is an ex-post measure of the quality of bank loan portfolio because banks will generally increase loan loss provision when they expect higher loan default, implying a positive relation between loan loss provisions and non-performing loans. Beaver and Engel (1996) and Curcio and Hasan (2015) also predict and find a positive relation for the NPL coefficient. Other studies use change in NPL to control for the quality of bank loan portfolio (e.g. Ahmed et al., 1999; Bushman and William, 2012). A closer look at the NPL data for African banks in the data shows that the time series data for NPLs has some missing values. The missing values reduce the number of NPL observations for the analysis. An attempt to take the change in NPL values would further reduce the observations and reduce the degree of freedom in the econometric analysis. For this reason, I did not incorporate change in NPL variable as an explanatory variable in the model in the analysis. Finally, data for non-performing loan is obtained from Bankscope database.

5.3.2.4. Loan growth (LOAN)

The relationship between loan loss provisions and loan growth (or change in gross loan outstanding) is often used to capture loan loss provisioning decisions that depend on contemporaneous credit risk arising from increased bank lending. Increase in bank lending may give rise to credit risk arising from changing economic conditions that affects the credit quality of bank loans which would require higher provisioning (Laeven and Majnoni, 2003). To support this view, Laeven and Majnoni (2003) find a positive relationship between loan loss provisions and loan growth. Lobo and Yang (2001), on the other hand, suggest that a negative relation between loan loss provision and loan growth may be expected because improved quality of incremental loans would require fewer loan loss provisions. Also, Cavallo and Majnoni (2002) and Bikker and Hu (2002) suggest that, during periods of economic prosperity commonly associated with increased bank lending (i.e., loan growth), banks may underestimate credit risk by keeping fewer loan loss provisions due to aggressive lending practices and lax loan screening standards, implying a negative association between provisions and bank lending. Given these mixed arguments, I do not have a definite prediction for the LOAN variable for the case of African banks. Data for loan growth is obtained from Bankscope database.

5.3.2.5. Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAP)

CAP ratio is the ratio of total equity to beginning total asset. The CAP variable is included to control for capital management incentives to manipulate provisions estimate. Bonin and Kosak (2013) and Kilic et al. (2012) argue that bank managers can increase loan loss provisions when they have low capital levels to compensate for their weak capital levels, and reduce loan loss provisions when they have higher capital levels. The link between loan loss provisions and bank capital is expected to be stronger if banks view loan loss provisions as a form of capital to compensate for weak bank capitalization. Hence, a negative relation between LLP and CAP is predicted.

Additionally, I test whether earnings smoothing behaviour is pronounced when African banks are undercapitalised or well-capitalised. To do this, I use a simple criterion and introduce UC dummy variable that take the value of one if CAP ratio is less than 25% and zero otherwise, and WC dummy variable that take the value of one if CAP ratio at least 50% and zero otherwise. Other studies use regulatory capital to riskweighted asset ratio rather than equity to asset ratio, to capture capital management or regulatory capital management. While regulatory capital to risk-weight assets ratio is considered to be a better measure to capture capital management incentives (e.g. Ahmed et al., 1999; Leventis et al., 2011), many African banks in the sample do not report time series data for regulatory capital ratio because some African countries in the sample do not adopt Basel capital regulation or do not follow Basel rules strictly. For African banks that report data on regulatory capital ratio, data for this ratio is not reported for some years, and when reported it yields a relatively small number of observations which drastically reduce the degree of freedom for the econometric analysis. Rather, I use equity to asset ratio because it offers a better coverage of African banks and yield almost twice as many observations as the regulatory capital ratio. Bonin and Kosak (2013) also use the ratio of total equity to total asset variable. Data for equity to total asset ratio and regulatory capital to risk-weight asset are obtained from Bankscope database.

5.3.2.6. Bank Size (SIZE)

Prior studies commonly control for bank size to take into account bank loan loss provisioning that depend on the size of the bank (e.g. Anandarajan et al., 2003, 2007; Kilic et al., 2012). Anandarajan et al. (2003) suggest that large banks may keep higher loan loss provisions when they have higher levels of business activities and would ensure that the level of loan loss provision is commensurate with their level of activities. The natural logarithm of bank total asset is commonly used to control for provisioning that depends on bank size. Consistently, I take the natural logarithm of total assets. Data for total asset is obtained from Bankscope database.

5.3.2.7. Loan to asset ratio (LOTA)

The literature demonstrate that bank loan to asset ratio reflects the default risk of bank loan portfolio (e.g. Bouvatier and Lepetit, 2008; El Sood, 2012; Bouvatier et al., 2014). For instance, Bouvatier and Lepetit (2008) suggest that banks with high loan to asset ratio would have high default risk and will keep higher loan loss provisions to compensate for the increase in default risk on the loan portfolio, implying a positive relationship between LLP and LOTA. For instance, Bouvatier and Lepetit (2008) report a

positive relation between loan loss provisions and loan to asset ratio while Bikker and Metzemakers (2005) report a positive relationship for banks in OECD countries but the relation is not significant for European banks. Consistently, I expect a positive relation between loan loss provisions and bank loan to asset ratio for African banks.

5.3.2.8. Growth in real gross domestic product (Δ GDP)

Growth in real gross domestic product captures macroeconomic fluctuation. The literature demonstrate that banks keep higher loan loss provisions during economic downturns or recession and keep fewer loan loss provisions during periods of economic prosperity (e.g. Cavallo and Majnoni, 2002; Laeaven and Majnoni, 2003; Bikker and Metzemakers, 2005). Consistently, I control for bank provisioning that depend on fluctuation in the economic cycle.

I perform additional sensitivity test to detect whether African banks use loan loss provisions to smooth earnings when they are going through a recession or when they are going through periods of economic boom or prosperity. Beatty and Liao (2009) and El Sood (2012) observe that US banks delay provisions during recessionary periods in order to smooth earnings upward during recessionary periods while Liu and Ryan (2006) find that US banks smooth earnings to lower too high earnings during economic boom periods. I extend these studies by incorporating two dummy variables: REC and BOOM. REC dummy variable take the value of one if Δ GDP is negative and zero otherwise, reflecting economic downturns or recessionary periods; and BOOM dummy variable take the value of one if Δ GDP is above-the-median Δ GDP for the full sample and zero otherwise, reflecting periods of economic prosperity. The interaction of REC with EBTP detect whether African banks use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings when they are in recessionary periods while the interaction of BOOM with EBTP detect whether African banks use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings during economic boom periods. Finally, data on real gross domestic product growth rate is obtained from World Economic Forum archived in World Bank database.

5.3.2.9. Lagged Loan Loss Provisions (LLPt-1)

Lagged loan loss provision is beginning loan loss provisions (or loan loss provisions in the previous period). The lagged provisions variable captures the dynamic behaviour of bank provisioning. Laeven and Majnoni (2003) argue that banks adjust loan loss provisions to account for non-performing loans that take more than one year to be fully realised. Several studies including Laeven and Majnoni (2003), Fonseca and Gonzalez (2008), Bikker and Metzemakers (2005), Bonin and Kosak (2013) and Bouvatier et al. (2014) also use this adjustment to control for dynamic bank provisioning. Laeven and Majnoni (2003), Bikker and Metzemakers (2005), Fonseca and Gonzalez (2008) and Bonin and Kosak (2013) use one-year and two-year lag of the dependent variable (LLP) and find that the dynamic adjustment of loan loss provisions is concentrated only in the one-year lag (i.e. the first year), therefore, I use the one-year lag of the dependent variable in the analysis for the thesis. A positive sign on the coefficient of the lagged loan loss provisions variable would indicate that higher loan loss provisions in the previous period is accompanied by higher loan loss provisions variable would indicate that higher loan loss provisions in the previous period. I do not have a definite prediction for the coefficient sign of the lagged LLP variable for African banks.

5.3.3. Description of Control Variables and Justification

5.3.3.1. Ownership Concentration Variables

I test whether different degrees of ownership control have an impact on the use of loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings by African banks. A look at the ownership structure of banks in African countries in the dataset show varying degree or level of ownership control. I follow six approaches to classify African banks by the degree of concentration in their ownership structure. This approach extends the approach used by Bouvatier et al. (2014). First, I use a simple criterion reflecting whether the African bank has a disperse ownership structure, that is, where no single shareholder has direct equity holding up to 40%. Put differently, an African bank has dispersed ownership if the largest direct equity held by a majority shareholder is less than 40%. The dummy variable 'DISP' take the value of one if there is no

majority shareholder that holds at least 40% direct equity holding, representing African banks with a more disperse ownership structure.

The second level of bank ownership control is whether one majority shareholder has above 50% but below 70% direct equity holdings. The dummy variable 'CN1' take the value of one if there is such shareholder, representing banks with moderately-weak ownership control.

The third level of bank ownership is whether two majority shareholders jointly have at least 70% direct equity holding, that is, whether the sum of their separate direct equity holdings equals 70% to 100% direct equity holdings (such that the direct equity holding of either of the two shareholders must be at least 35% for each shareholder). The implication of this criterion, for example, is that it excludes the case where one shareholder has 65% equity holding and the other shareholder has 10% equity shareholding. This allows us to minimise the bias of double-counting for the previous category of bank ownership. The dummy variable 'CN2' take the value of one if there are two majority shareholders that jointly have at least 70% direct equity holdings, representing African banks with moderately-strong ownership control.

The fourth level of ownership control is whether a majority shareholder has at least 70% direct equity holdings (i.e. 70% to 100%). 'CN3' dummy variable take the value of one if there is such shareholder and zero otherwise, representing banks with concentrated ownership.

The fifth level of ownership control is whether or not a government/public authority holds more than 50% direct equity holdings in an African bank. The dummy variable 'GS' is introduced that take the value of one if there is such government/state shareholder, representing banks with strong government control.

The sixth level of ownership control is whether or not a government/public authority holds less than 40% direct equity holdings in an African bank. The dummy variable 'GW' is introduced that take the value of one if there is such government/state shareholder and zero otherwise, representing banks with weak government control. The extended model is given as:

5.3.3.2. Financial Development and Foreign Bank Presence

To test whether the way African banks use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings is influenced by the level of financial development in the region, I use four variables commonly used to capture financial development in the finance and growth literature. The first variable is the ratio financial system deposits to gross domestic product (FINGDP) which is a measure of financial sector development. Financial system deposits to GDP ratio is defined as all checking, savings and time deposits in banks and other financial institutions in a country, and is commonly used as an indicator of deposit resources available to the financial sector for its lending activities to promote financial development, reflecting financial sector development (Beck et al, 2000; 2007; 2009). The second variable is the stock market capitalisation to GDP ratio (the SG variable), reflecting the level of capital market development (Claessens et al., 2001) while the last two variables are measures of 'foreign bank presence' in a country: that is, the ratio of foreign banks to total banks in the host country, which is captured by the 'FG1' variable (Beck et al., 2000; Hermes and Lensink, 2004); and the 'number of foreign bank assets to total banking assets in the host country', which is captured by the 'FG2' variable. Claessens et al. (2000) and Lensink and Hermes (2004) also use these ratios in their study. The expanded model is given as:

$$\begin{split} LLPi, j,t &= \beta 0 + \beta 1EBTPi, j,t + \beta 2NPLi, j,t + \beta 3LOANi, j,t + \beta 4CAPi, j,t + \beta 5SIZEi, j,t \\ &+ \beta 6\Delta GDPj, t + \beta 7LOTAi, j,t + \beta 8FG1j, t + \beta 9FG1j, t * EBTPi, j,t \\ &+ \beta 10FG2j, t + \beta 11FG2j, t * EBTPi, j,t + \beta 12FINGDPj, t + \beta 13FINGDPj, t \\ &* EBTPi, j,t + \beta 14SGj, t + \beta 15SGj, t * EBTPi, j, i + \varepsilon i, t \dots \dots Equation 4 \end{split}$$

5.3.3.3. Investor Protection Variables

I employ four measures of investor protection: 'strength of investor protection index' (INVPRO), 'extent of director liability index' (EDL), 'ease of shareholder suits index' (INVSUIT) and 'rule of law index' (LEGAL). The first three investor protection proxies are developed based on the methodology of Djankov, La Porta and others (see. Djankov et al., 2008) and is obtained from Doing Business Project indicator archived in the World Bank Database while the fourth proxy is developed based on the methodology of Kaufmann et al. (2011) and is obtained from World Governance Indicators database. The 'strength of investor protection index' (INVPRO) measures the extent of minority shareholder protection against the misuse of corporate assets by company directors for personal gain. The 'ease of shareholder suit' index (INVSUIT) measures the extent to which minority shareholders have the right to inspect transaction documents of the firm and to recover their legal expenses from the company in the face of illegal dealings. The 'extent of director liability index' (EDL) measures director's liability for self-dealing and captures the extent to which directors are held liable for the actions of the firm. The INVPRO, INVSUIT and EDL indices range from 0 to 10 with higher values indicating greater investor protection. Rule of law (LEGAL) measures the extent to which agents (employees, citizens, managers, etc.) have confidence in and abide by the rules of society, and in particular the quality of contract enforcement, property rights, the police, and the courts, as well as the likelihood of crime and violence (Kaufman et al., 2011). Higher values of this index indicates higher rule of law or higher quality of the legal system.

All investor protection variables are interacted with EBTP to capture the influence of investor protection on bank earnings smoothing via loan loss provisions. The main rationale for using these three investor protection variables is because time-series data for these proxies are available for all African countries in the sample. I did not use some investor protection proxies employed by Leuz et al. (2003) and Fonseca and Gonzalez (2008) because country-level data for those investor protection proxies are mostly unavailable for some African countries in the sample, and when available, it covers a very short period. However, the investor protection proxies I use for this study have been used by prior studies. For instance, Demirguc-Kunt and Detragiache (2002), Fonseca and Gonzalez (2008), Leuz et al. (2003) and Shen and Chih (2005) use 'rights of minority shareholders right protection' and 'legal enforcement' and show that earnings management decreases with strong investor protection levels. The extended model is given as:

$$\begin{split} LLPi, j,t &= \beta 0 + \beta 1EBTPi, j,t + \beta 2NPLi, j,t + \beta 3LOANi, j,t + \beta 4CAPi, j,t + \beta 5SIZEi, j,t \\ &+ \beta 6\Delta GDPj + \beta 7LOTAi, j,t + \beta 8INVPROj,t + \beta 9INVPROj,t * EBTPi, j,t \\ &+ \beta 10INVSUITj,t + \beta 11INVSUITj,t * EBTPi, j,t + \beta 12EDLj,t + \beta 13EDLj,t \\ &* EBTPi, j,t + \beta 14LEGALj,t + \beta 15LEGALj,t * EBTPi, j,t + \varepsilon i, t. Equation 5 \end{split}$$

5.3.3.4. Political Economy Variables

I use several political economy variables from Kaufmann's World Governance Indicators, to capture the influence of political economy on bank earnings smoothing behaviour. The variables include: voice and accountability index (VA), control of corruption index (COC), political stability and absence of violence/terrorism index (PS), government effectiveness index (GT), regulatory quality index (RQ) and the safety and rule of law index (RS). VA reflects perceptions of the extent to which a country's citizens are able to participate in selecting their government, as well as freedom of expression, freedom of association, and a free media. PS reflects perceptions of the likelihood of political instability and/or politically-motivated violence, including terrorism. GT reflects perceptions of the quality of public services, the quality of the civil service and the degree of its independence from political pressures, the quality of policy formulation and implementation, and the credibility of the government's commitment to such policies. RQ reflects perceptions of the ability of the government to formulate and implement sound policies and regulations that permit and promote private sector development. COC reflects perceptions of the extent to which public power is exercised for private gain, including both petty and grand forms of corruption, as well as "capture" of the state by elites and private interests. RS reflects perceptions of the extent to which agents have confidence in and abide by the rules of society, and in particular the quality of contract enforcement, property rights, the police, and the courts, as well as the likelihood of crime and violence.

I take the natural logarithm of RS variable as a normalisation for the skewness in the time series distribution of the RS variable. All country-level political economy variables are obtained from Kauffman (2011)'s World Governance Indicators EXCEPT the rule and safety variable obtained from the MO Ibrahim Foundation. All political economy proxies range from -2.5 to +2.5 (except RS) with higher values indicating stronger political economy. These political economy proxies have been widely used in

the political economy literature including Treisman (2000), Jong-Sung and Khagram (2005), Bird et al. (2008), Dreher and Schneider (2010) and Mathur and Singh (2013). I interact each political economy proxy with the EBTP variable to test for bank earnings smoothing incremental to political economy factors. The extended model is given as:

$$\begin{split} LLPi, j,t &= \beta 0 + + \beta 1EBTPi, j,t + \beta 2NPLi, j,t + \beta 3LOANi, j,t + \beta 4CAPi, j,t + \beta 5SIZEi, j,t \\ &+ \beta 6\Delta GDPj, t + \beta 7LOTAi, j,t + \beta 8VAj, t + \beta 9VAj, t * EBTPi, j,t + \beta 10COCj, t \\ &+ \beta 11COCj, t * EBTPi, j,t + \beta 12RSj, t + \beta 13RSj, t * EBTPi, j,t + \beta 14PSj, t \\ &+ \beta 15PSj, t * EBTPi, j,t + \beta 16GTj, t + \beta 17GTj, t * EBTPi, j,t + \beta 18RQj, t \\ &+ \beta 19RQj, t * EBTPi, j,t + \varepsilon i, t. Equation 6 \end{split}$$

5.3.3.5. Accounting Disclosure and Audit Quality

A look at the accounting standards adopted by banks in African countries show that some banks adopt IFRS; some banks adopt IAS while other banks adopt their local GAAP. Bankscope database provides information about IFRS, IAS and local GAAP adoption for African banks. Based on these accounting disclosure differences, I test for three levels of accounting disclosure quality by introducing three dummy variables that capture African banks that adopt any of the three accounting standards: local GAAP, IAS and IFRS. DISC1 equal one if the African bank adopt local GAAP of its country, and zero otherwise. DISC2 equal one if the African bank adopt IAS standards and zero otherwise. IAS is the early accounting standards used by African countries during the British colonisation of some African countries and some African countries retained the IAS standards after the end of the British colony in those African countries; hence, the DISC2 dummy variable capture whether an African bank adopt IFRS standards and zero otherwise. EBTP variable is then interacted with DISC1, DISC2 and DISC3 to detect the impact of these accounting disclosure standards on banks' provisions-based earnings smoothing behaviour.³³ Moreover, because the earnings quality (or earnings management) literature document mixed conclusions on the impact of IFRS

³³ Please note that these dummy variables do not capture banks' actual compliance with each of the accounting standards. While data for African banks' adoption of specific accounting standard is available (in Bankscope), data on whether African banks strictly comply with specific standards is not publicly available; hence, I exercise caution in the interpretation of the results that these constructs measure.

adoption on the earnings quality of African firms as previously discussed in Section 5.1.5, therefore I do not have a definite prediction for the interaction variables. The extended model is given as:

$$\begin{split} LLPi, j,t &= \beta 0 + 1EBTPi, j,t + \beta 2NPLi, j,t + \beta 3LOANi, j,t + \beta 4CAPi, j,t + \beta 5SIZEi, j,t + \\ \beta 6\Delta GDPj,t + \beta 7LOTAi, j,t + \beta 8DISC1i + \beta 9DISC1i * EBTPi, j,t + \beta 10DISC2i + \\ \beta 11DISC2i * EBTPi, j,t + \beta 12DISC3i + \beta 13DISC3i * EBTPi, j,t + \varepsilon i,t ... Equation 7 \end{split}$$

With regard to firm monitoring, listed firms are considered to be more visible to capital market participants, and consequently, their financial reporting will be subject to greater scrutiny by shareholders, potential investor, regulators and other capital market participants (Healy and Palepu, 2001). Also, some studies argue that the monitoring of firms by external auditors (i.e. Big 4) can provide additional monitoring and scrutiny of the financial accounting and reporting practices of firms, including banks. Therefore, I test whether listed banks and banks with Big 4 auditor engage in earnings smoothing behaviour to a greater extent compared to unlisted banks and banks with non-Big 4 auditor. To do this, I introduce two additional dummy variables: BIG4 and LISTED. BIG4 is a dummy variable that take the value of one if the African bank is audited by a Big 4 audit firm and take the value of zero if the African bank is audited by a non-Big 4 audit firm. The Big 4 auditor firms in the analysis refer to four audit firms: KPMG, Ernst and Young, PriceWaterhouseCoopers and Deliotte, only. Auditors that are not included in the four audit firms listed above are considered as non-Big 4 auditors. LISTED dummy take the value of one if the African bank is listed on a recognised stock exchange and take the value of zero if the African bank is not listed on a recognised stock exchange. Bankscope database provides information about whether a bank is listed or unlisted, and whether an African bank has a Big 4 or non-Big 4 auditor. Anandarajan et al. (2007), Fonseca and Gonzalez (2008) and Kanagaretnam et al. (2010) adopt similar technique for Australian banks, European and US banks, respectively. EBTP variable is then interacted with BIG4 and LISTED dummy variables to detect whether earnings smoothing is significantly associated with listed African banks and African banks with Big-4 auditors. The extended model is given as:

$$\begin{split} LLPi, j, t &= \beta 0 + \beta 1EBTPi, j, t + \beta 2NPLi, j, t + \beta 3LOANi, j, t + \beta 4CAPi, j, t + \beta 5SIZEi, j, t \\ &+ \beta 6 \Delta GDPj, t + \beta 7LOTAi, j, t + \beta 8LISTEDi + \beta 9LISTEDi * EBTPi, j, t \\ &+ \beta 10BIG4i + \beta 11BIG4i * EBTPi, j, t + \beta 12DISC3i + \beta 13LISTEDi * DISC3i \\ &* EBTPi, j, t + \varepsilon i, t \dots \dots Equation 8 \end{split}$$

5.3.3.6. Financial Structure: Banking Competition, Concentration and Stability

Lerner index (LERNER) is employed to measure cross-country banking competitiveness. Bank concentration (BCON) index measures cross-country bank concentration. I take the natural logarithm of bank concentration proxy because the distribution for banking concentration data is skewed. Z-score (SB) index measures cross-country banking system stability. Prior studies use Z-score proxy (e.g. Boyd and Runkle, 1993; Laeven and Levine, 2009; Beck et al., 2013). The Z score indicates the number of standard deviations that a bank's return on asset has to drop below its expected value before equity is depleted (Laeven and Levine, 2009). EBTP is then interacted with BCON, LERNER and SB. World Bank database provide information about cross-country financial system variables.

$$\begin{split} LLPi, J, t &= \beta 0 + \beta 1 EBTPi, J, t + \beta 2NPLi, J, t + \beta 3LOANi, J, t + \beta 4CAPi, J, t + \beta 5SIZEi, J, t \\ &+ \beta 6 \Delta GDPj, t + \beta 7LOTAi, J, t + \beta BCONj, t + \beta 9BCONj, t * EBTPi, J, t \\ &+ \beta 10 LERNERj, t + \beta 11 LERNERj, t * EBTPi, J, t + \beta 12SBj, t + \beta 13SBj, t \\ &* EBTPi, J, t + \varepsilon i, t \dots \dots \dots Equation 9 \end{split}$$

5.3.3.7. Error term

The error term is included to account for unexplained variation in the model. Variable description is presented in Table 5.2. Finally, the presence of multiple control variables requires the use of separate regressions rather than the use of a single regression with sandwiched variables.

	5.4 Definition of Main Variables	
Variable	Description	Source
LLP	Ratio of loan loss provisions to beginning total assets.	Bankscope database
NPL	Ratio of non-performing loans to beginning total assets.	Bankscope database
CAP	Ratio of total equity to beginning total assets.	Bankscope database
EBTP	Ratio of earnings before provisions and taxes to beginning total assets.	Bankscope database
SIZE	Natural logarithm of total assets.	Bankscope database
LOAN	Loan growth is change in gross loan outstanding.	Bankscope database
LOTA	Ratio of total loans to beginning total assets.	Bankscope database
ΔGDP	Growth in real gross domestic product	World Economic Forum
VA	Voice and accountability index measures perceptions of the extent to which a country's citizens are able to	Worldwide Governance
	participate in selecting their government, as well as freedom of expression, freedom of association, and a free	Indicators
	media. Higher values indicate strong voice and accountability attribute.	
COC	Control of corruption index measures perceptions of the extent to which public power is exercised for private	Worldwide Governance
	gain, corruption, and capture of the state by elites and private interests'. Higher values indicate strong	Indicators
DUDDO	corruption control.	
INVPRO	Strength of investor protection index measure the strength of infinity shareholder protection against the minutes of corrected sectors for percent energy of the infinite strength of the local strength of the local strength of the strengt	World Pank Diankov
	indicating stronger minority shareholders protection	La Porta et al (2008)
INVSUIT	Ease of shareholder suit index measures the extent to which minority shareholders have the right to inspect	Doing Business Project
nobell	transaction documents of the firm and to recover their legal expenses from the company in the face of illegal	World Bank, Diankov.
	dealings. The index ranges from 0 to 10 with higher values indicating stronger minority shareholders	La Porta et al (2008)
	protection.	
EDL	Extent of director liability index measure liability for self-dealing, and ranges from 0 to 10 with higher values	Doing Business Project,
	indicating greater liability of directors.	World Bank. Djankov,
		La Porta et al (2008)
LEGAL	Rule of Law (LEGAL) capture perceptions of the extent to which agents (employees, citizens, managers, etc.)	Worldwide Governance
	have confidence in and abide by the rules of society, and in particular the quality of contract enforcement,	Indicators, Kaufmann et
	property rights, the ponce, and the courts, as wen as the inkenhood of crime and violence. Figher values	ai (2011)
RO	Regulatory quality and reflects perceptions of the ability of the government to formulate and implement	Worldwide Governance
κų	sound policies and regulations that permit and promote private sector development. Higher values indicate	Indicators, Kaufmann et
	strong regulatory quality.	al (2011)
GT	Government effectiveness, and reflects perceptions of the quality of public services, the quality of the civil	Worldwide Governance
	service and the degree of its independence from political pressures, the quality of policy formulation and	Indicators, Kaufmann et
	implementation, and the credibility of the government's commitment to such policies. Higher values indicate	al (2011)
	strong government effectiveness.	
PS	Political stability and absence of violence/terrorism index, and measures perceptions of the likelihood of	Worldwide Governance
	political instability and/or politically-motivated violence, including terrorism. Higher values indicate greater	Indicators, Kaufmann et
DC	political stability and absence of violence/terrorism.	al (2011)
KS	Safety and rule of Law index measures perceptions of the extent to which agents have confidence in and abide	archived in World head
	the courts as well as the likelihood of crime and violence RS is the natural logarithm of the 'safety and rule	database
	of law index' Higher values indicate greater safety and rule of law	uniouse
SG	Stock market capitalisation to gross domestic ratio, reflecting capital market development.	World bank database
SB	Z-score. Higher z-score values indicate greater banking system stability.	World bank database
BCON	Banking concentration.	World bank database
LERNER	Lerner index measures banking competition. Higher values indicate greater banking competitiveness.	World bank database
FINGDP	Financial system deposit to GDP ratio measures financial development. Higher values reflect greater financial	World bank database
	development	
SG	Stock market capitalization to GDP (%) measures capital market development.	World bank database
FG1	Ratio of foreign banks to total banks, representing foreign bank presence.	World bank database
FG2	Ratio of foreign bank assets to total banking assets, representing foreign bank presence.	World bank database

5.3.4. Test Procedure

The main estimation techniques employed to estimate the model are the fixed effect ordinary least square (OLS) regression estimation and the Arellano and Bond (1991) GMM first difference estimator. The OLS estimation includes country, bank and year fixed effects (Petersen, 2009). This approach is also consistent with prior studies such as Bushman and William (2012), Lobo and Yang (2001), Anandarajan et al. (2007) and Leventis et al. (2011). The fixed effect regression estimation controls for unobservable bank-specific and period differences that varies across banks in each period year, and also avoids over-stating the t-statistics - a common problem associated with pooled OLS estimation. Another rationale for using the

fixed effect OLS estimator is the need to compare the OLS findings of this thesis with the OLS findings of prior studies (e.g. Bushman and William, 2012; Kilic et al., 2012; El Sood, 2012). However, in some analysis in this thesis, bank fixed effect in the OLS estimator is dropped to more appropriately capture the impact of bank characteristics that do not vary over time in the model, particularly, for bank dummy variables that take the value of '1' and '0'. One demerit of panel OLS square estimation is that it ignores the autoregressive process of bank loan loss provisions, implying that it ignores the dynamic nature of bank loan loss provisioning. This means that the panel ordinary least square estimation do not take into account the fact that current provisions estimate may be significantly influenced by previous provisions estimate. To adjust for this, I also employ dynamic panel estimation – the GMM method.

The dynamic panel estimation employed is the Arellano and Bond (1991) Generalized-Method-of-Moments (GMM) fist-difference estimator. The GMM first difference estimator based on Arellano and Bond (1991) addresses three relevant econometric issues. One, the presence of unobserved bank-specific effects, which is eliminated by taking first-differences of all variables; two, the autoregressive process in the data regarding the behaviour of loan loss provisions (i.e., the need to use a lagged dependent variable(s) as an explanatory variable to capture the dynamic nature of bank provisions); and three, the likely endogeneity of the explanatory variables with the error term. Among recent empirical studies, Laeven and Majnoni (2003), Perez et al. (2008), Fonseca and Gonzalez (2008) and Bonin and Kosak (2013) use this estimator. In the GMM estimation, I use instrumental variables corresponding to the lagged endogenous variable, up to two-year lag. The Sargan test for the validity of GMM instruments (or the exogeneity of GMM instruments) is reported. The AR(1) and AR(2) test for the presence of first-order and second-order serial correlation in the first-difference residuals, are also reported. Although, I expect evidence for first-order serial correlation in the differentiated residuals due to the first-difference in the model, I do not expect evidence for second-order correlation in models. Finally, to interpret the regression results, most studies in the bank earnings smoothing literature draw inference from the statistical significance of the coefficients derived from the t-test statistics, rather than the R^2 or adjusted R^2 in the model. In coefficient significance testing, an accounting number is significant if its estimated regression

coefficient is significantly different from zero as indicated by the t-value and its associated probability values (Jones, 1991). Hence, I interpret the results using the coefficient significance test.

5.4. Summary

To summarise, this chapter developed the hypotheses to identify the determinants of bank earnings smoothing via loan loss provisions in Africa. The chapter presents a comprehensive analysis of the sample selection process which yields 21 African countries while the final bank sample for the study consists of 370 African banks that report data for loan loss provisions during the 2002 to 2014 period. A significant portion of the chapter describes, explain and justify the dependent variables, explanatory variables and control variables. Finally, the research methodology is presented including the model specification and the test procedure to estimate the model. The next chapter presents and interpret the results.

Chapter 6

Bank Earnings Smoothing in Africa: Bank-Level Evidence

6.0. Introduction

This empirical chapter investigates whether African banks use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings. The chapter test for earnings smoothing behaviour at bank level. The chapter begins by outlining the descriptive statistics and correlation analysis. The descriptive analysis presents a comprehensive analysis of the pooled sample and country-specific analysis. Pearson correlation analysis is reported with the p-values of the correlation coefficients and also checks for the presence of multicollinearity, i.e., highly correlated explanatory variables. The chapter then present the regression results for the pooled African bank sample as well as the results for country-specific analysis.

The main estimation technique adopted in this chapter is a combination of fixed effect regression estimation and the GMM first difference estimation. For the GMM estimator, the GMM instruments are only applied to the lagged dependent variable while other explanatory variables are considered as strictly exogenous. The analyses in this chapter do not include institutional variables because this chapter only focus on bank-level incentives and economic incentives that influence the earnings smoothing behaviour of African banks. However, real gross domestic product growth rate, a macroeconomic variable, is the only country-level variable included in the analyses in this chapter. The inclusion of real gross domestic product growth rate variable allows us to test for economic incentive to influence loan loss provision estimates. Additionally, some explanatory variables, e.g., commission and fee income to total asset ratio and net charge-off ratio were dropped from the analysis to ensure that the explanatory variables are not highly correlated. The correlation statistics reported in Table 6.2 confirm that multicollinearity is not an issue in the analysis. Finally, the coefficient of each interaction term measures the influence of each banklevel variable on bank earnings smoothing behaviour. The extensive number of bank-level dummy variables and the incorporation of interaction terms in the model is the main rationale for doing separate regression analysis rather than a single regression analysis with sandwiched variables.

6.1. Descriptive Statistics

Table 6.1 reports the summary of the descriptive statistics of the main theoretical variables. The sample is an unbalanced panel and has between 2113 and 4810 bank-year observations during 2002 to 2014 due to missing values for some variables and the effect of taking the lagged values of the dependent variable. NPL variable also has substantial missing values for many African banks in Banksope database which further reduces the total number of observations. For the full sample, loan loss provisions (LLPs) on average are 1.1% of total assets. LLPs are higher for banks in South Africa, Mozambique, Botswana, Angola and Ghana, and are lower for banks in Cameroun, Mauritius, Togo and Ethiopia. Non-performing loans (NPLs) on average are 5.6% of gross loan for the full bank sample while banks in Tunisia and Ethiopia report double-digit NPLs of 12.8% and 10.3%, respectively. The high NPLs for Ethiopian and Tunisian banks suggest that banks in North Africa (e.g. Ethiopia and Tunisia) have declining credit quality over the period examined. Comparatively, NPLs are single-digits and are much lower for banks in Nigeria and Angola. Loan growth (LOAN) is about 19.2% on average for the full bank sample but exhibit substantial differences across African countries. For instance, LOAN is much lower in Morocco (10.4%), Tunisia (11.9%) and Egypt (11.6%) while LOAN is relatively higher for banks in Ghana and Angola at 34.20% and 32.5%, respectively. On average, capital adequacy ratio (CAP) is 18.01% for the full sample, and is higher for banks in Mozambique, Malawi and Botswana, and lower for banks in Cameroun and Senegal. With respect to bank size, SIZE on average is 13.19 and is higher for banks in Nigeria and Morocco, and lower for banks in Malawi and Mozambique. This indicates that there are significant differences in the size of banks across African countries in the sample. EBTP on average is 3.7% and is lower for banks in Senegal, Tunisia, Mauritius and Mozambique, and is higher for banks in Nigeria and Tanzania. These differences suggest that there are cross-country differences in bank profitability in the African region. Loan to asset ratio (LOTA), on average, is 64.0%, and is lower for banks in Cameroun and Egypt, and higher for banks in Tunisia and Namibia, indicating cross-country variation in bank loan to asset composition in the African region. Economic cycle fluctuation (Δ GDP) is on average 5.5% and is much lower for banks in South Africa and Togo, implying that the economy of South Africa and Togo

experienced a relatively lower economic growth over the sample period while Δ GDP is higher for Ethiopia, Angola and Nigeria implying that the economy of Ethiopia, Angola and Nigeria experienced significant average economic growth over the sample period. Overall, the results from the descriptive statistics suggest that the bank-level characteristics vary across banks in African countries.

Table 6.1. Summary of Descriptive statistics											
Table 6.1 reports the descriptive statistics for 370 sample banks from 21 countries over the 2002 to 2014 period. LLP is loan loss provision. NPL = non-performing loans. EBTP = earnings before taxes and provisions. LOAN = change in gross loan outstanding. CAP = capital adequacy ratio measured as total equity divided by total assets. LOTA = loan to asset ratio. Δ GDP = gross domestic product growth rate. SIZE = natural logarithm of bank total asset.											
Sill Induital logarit	LLP	EBTP	NPL	LOTA	LOAN	CAP	SIZE	ΔGDP	#		
Country	Means	Means	Means	Means	Means	Means	Means	Means	No of banks		
South Africa	0.022	0.056	0.055	0.707	0.172	0.215	14.70	0.032	30		
Ghana	0.014	0.054	0.057	0.583	0.342	0.174	12.87	0.068	21		
Egypt	0.008	0.027	0.057	0.127	0.116	0.127	14.84	0.041	21		
Tunisia	0.012	0.025	0.128	0.844	0.119	0.178	12.94	0.036	27		
Morocco	0.008	0.029	0.047	0.728	0.104	0.128	15.54	0.044	15		
Kenya	0.013	0.044	0.079	0.714	0.213	0.212	12.50	0.047	31		
Uganda	0.012	0.047	0.034	0.609	0.237	0.199	11.89	0.067	20		
Zambia	0.011	0.031	0.048	0.502	0.289	0.213	11.83	0.072	17		
Tanzania	0.009	0.164	0.037	0.636	0.279	0.164	11.83	0.068	28		
Ethiopia	0.006	0.048	0.103	0.589	0.253	0.143	13.08	0.092	11		
Togo	0.006	0.030	0.088	0.729	0.210	0.176	12.27	0.033	10		
Angola	0.018	0.041	0.028	0.436	0.325	0.180	13.82	0.101	17		
Cameroun	0.003	0.029	0.052	0.098	0.145	0.098	12.76	0.037	11		
Algeria	0.009	0.036	0.029	0.568	0.197	0.210	14.23	0.037	17		
Mauritius	0.005	0.025	0.033	0.630	0.124	0.128	13.72	0.038	14		
Namibia	0.007	0.040	0.021	0.835	0.153	0.202	13.77	0.053	10		
Botswana	0.014	0.045	0.082	0.678	0.205	0.273	12.78	0.051	14		
Senegal	0.008	0.025	0.056	0.727	0.162	0.115	12.70	0.038	11		
Nigeria	0.007	0.161	0.022	0.452	0.216	0.161	15.20	0.083	21		
Malawi	0.010	0.829	0.037	0.501	0.246	0.226	11.18	0.052	10		
Mozambique	0.015	0.016	0.033	0.573	0.282	0.242	11.49	0.073	14		
Total				1				1	370		
Full sample				1				1			
Mean	0.011	0.037	0.056	0.640	0.200	0.181	13.19	0.055			
Median	0.006	0.032	0.031	0.619	0.164	0.138	13.05	0.052			
Standard deviation	0.026	0.045	0.086	0.262	0.237	0.159	1.92	0.037			
Maximum	0.464	0.409	0.875	1.659	0.992	3.688	19.12	0.337			
Minimum	-0.605	-0.045	0.002	0.005	-0.816	-0.490	2.22	-0.077			
observation	3161	3110	2113	3226	3152	3233	3657	4810			
Note: The statistics may be expressed in percentages for expositional convenience											

6.2. Correlation Analysis

Table 6.2 reports the Pearson correlation coefficients and the associated p-values. LLPs are positive and significantly correlated with EBTP (0.323***), and indicate that bank loan loss provisions are positively associated with reported earnings for African banks. LLPs are negative and significantly correlated with SIZE (-0.082), and suggest that loan loss provisions decreases as the size of African banks increases. LLPs are positive but insignificantly correlated with Δ GDP (0.004). The weak correlation between LLP and Δ GDP suggests that bank loan loss provisioning among African banks is not correlated with fluctuations in the economy. NPL, LOAN and LOTA are positive and significantly correlated with LLPs, indicating that bank loan loss provisions are strongly correlated with credit risk on the loan portfolio of African banks, implying that increase in loan loss provision is correlated with increase in the credit risk of bank loan portfolio. CAP is positively correlated with LLPs and indicates that loan loss provisions increases for African banks. Overall, the correlation among the explanatory variables is sufficiently low and suggests that multicollinearity is not an issue in the analyses.

	LLP	EBTP	NPL	LOTA	LOAN	CAP	SIZE	ΔGDP
LLP	1.000							
EBTP	0.323***	1.000						
	0.000							
NPL	0.242***	0.0126	1.000					
	0.000	0.578						
LOTA	0 157***	0.140***	0.280***	1.000				
LOTA	0.137	0.140	0.289	1.000				
LOAN	0.066***	0.185***	-0.063***	0.190***	1.000			
	0.004	0.000	0.006	0.000				
CAP	0.161***	0.300***	0.148***	0.229***	0.126***	1.000		
	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000			
SIZE	-0.082***	0.001	-0.165***	-0.115***	-0.183***	-0.320***	1.000	
~	0.000	0.949	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000		
ACDR	0.004	0 100***	0.020	0.000***	0 204***	0.006	0 197***	1 000
20DP	0.004	0.100****	-0.029	-0.090****	0.000	0.000	-0.16/444	1.000
	0.877	0.000	0.187	0.000	0.000	0.789	0.000	

Table 6.2. Correlation Matrix of Full Sample

6.3. Main Results: Earnings Smoothing Incentives

6.3.1. Earnings Smoothing Hypothesis

The result is reported in Table 6.3. The EBTP coefficient is positive and significant at the 1% level in Column 1 and 2, and indicates that African banks use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings. This finding implies that African banks on average use lower loan loss provisions estimates to increase low earnings and increase loan loss provisions to reduce high earnings possibly to report stable or smooth earnings over time. The finding also supports the earnings smoothing hypothesis and is consistent with prior findings for banks in developed countries, e.g., Lobo and Yang (2001), Laeven and Majnoni (2003), Bikker and Metzemakers (2005) and Fonseca and Gonzalez (2008).

The findings also support the argument of positive accounting theory which argues that managers would make certain accounting choices that allow them report earnings that are tied to explicit contracts given to managers. The findings suggest that income smoothing is a possible accounting choice that African bank managers can adopt to report earnings in order to increase their likelihood of receiving bonuses or rewards that depend on reported earnings or other reported accounting numbers. The implication of the finding for prudential banking supervision in African countries is that reported loan loss provisions estimates are significantly influenced by earnings considerations rather than solely by credit risk considerations.

For the control variables, NPL coefficient is positively significant, and confirms that African banks increase loan loss provisions when they expect higher problem loans, and this is consistent with Beaver and Engel (1996) who argue that banks often set aside specific provisions for actual loan losses.

LOAN coefficient is negatively significant indicating that African banks with higher loan growth keep fewer loan loss provisions. This finding supports the view of Cavallo and Majnoni (2002), Laeven and Majnoni (2003) and Bikker and Hu (2002) who suggest that, during periods of economic prosperity often associated with increased bank lending, banks are likely to underestimate credit risk by keeping fewer loan loss provisions during periods of increased bank lending due to aggressive lending and lax loan screening standards. LOTA coefficient is positively significant in Column 1, indicating that African banks increase loan loss provision estimates when default risk on the loan portfolio increases.

CAP coefficient is negatively significant, indicating that African banks keep higher loan loss provisions to compensate for their low capital levels and vice versa. This finding is consistent with the findings of Bonin and Kosak (2013).

SIZE coefficient is negatively significant in Columns 1 and 2, and indicates that larger African banks generally report fewer loan loss provisions, and is inconsistent with the argument of Anandarajan et al. (2003).

 Δ GDP coefficient is statistically insignificant in Columns 1 and 2, and implies that bank provisioning is not procyclical with economic cycle fluctuations, and this finding is inconsistent with the procyclicality debate which argues that banks will significantly lower loan loss provisions during economic boom periods and increase loan loss provisions during recessionary periods (see. Laeven and Majnoni, 2003; Bikker and Metzemakers, 2005).

Finally, the lagged LLP coefficient is negatively significant, and implies that African banks report fewer loan loss provisions in the current period when they reported higher loan loss provisions in the previous period.

6.3.2. Audit and Disclosure Quality Hypothesis

The result is reported in Table 6.3. DISC1*EBTP coefficient is positively significant, implying that the use of loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings is pronounced among African banks that adopt their local GAAP. DISC1 coefficient is negatively significant, implying that African banks that adopt local GAAP report fewer loan loss provisions.

DISC2*EBTP coefficient is negatively significant, implying that the use of loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings is reduced among African banks that adopt IAS reporting standards. DISC2 coefficient is insignificant.

DISC3*EBTP coefficient is negatively significant, implying that the use of loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings is reduced among African banks that adopt IFRS standards, and this finding supports the view of Leventis et al. (2011) who find that IFRS adoption discourages the use of loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings among European banks. DISC3 coefficient is positively significant, implying that African banks that adopt IFRS report higher loan loss provisions. The implication of the finding for accounting standard-setting in Africa is that IFRS adoption can improve the informativeness of loan loss provisions and discourages earnings management that take the form of earnings smoothing among African banks.

Also, the BIG4*EBTP coefficient is negatively significant, indicating that the use of loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings is reduced among African banks that have a Big 4 auditor. This suggests that the presence of Big 4 auditor discourages the use of loan loss provisions to manipulate reported earnings particularly earnings manipulation that take the form of earnings smoothing among African banks.

The LISTED*EBTP coefficient is positively significant, indicating that listed African banks use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings to a greater extent than non-listed African banks, and this finding supports the argument of Anandarajan et al. (2007) who argue that listed banks have incentives to smooth reported earnings to minimise stock price volatility if smoothed earnings helps to reduce earnings variability which translates to lower variability in stock price and stock return.

In Column 8 of Table 6.3, the interaction variables for accounting disclosure quality are re-run together in a single model³⁴. The DISC1*EBTP coefficient is positively significant, and confirms that African banks that adopt local GAAP use LLPs to smooth reported earnings. However, the DISC3*EBTP and BIG4*EBTP coefficients are not positively significant, and suggest that income smoothing via loan loss provisions is not pronounced among African banks that adopt IFRS and among banks that have a Big-4 auditor, which suggests that IFRS standards is of higher accounting quality than local GAAP

³⁴ DISC2*EBTP interaction is dropped due to perfect collinearity in column 8 of Table 6.3. Similarly, the binary dummies (DISC1, DISC2, DISC3, BIG4, LISTED are excluded from the model due to perfect collinearity.

Table 6.3. Main Regression: Income Smoothing Hypothesis									
		Earnings S	Smoothing		Audit	and Accountin	g Disclosure	Quality	-
	Exp. Sign	OLS $(1)^{a}$	$GMM(2)^{a}$	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)
с		0.053***		0.008^{**}	0.009**	0.005	-0.005	0.0001	0.017
EBTP	+	0.182***	0.518***	0.128***	0.158***	0.197***	0.436***	0.157***	0.079
LLPt-1	+/-	(4.05)	-0.137***	(11.08)	(13.82)	(8.46)	(11.67)	(10.27)	(1.27)
NPL	+	0.116***	(-3.54) 0.386***	0.066***	0.061***	0.065***	0.057***	0.055***	0.082***
LOAN		(14.88)	(12.32)	(13.96)	(12.95)	(13.75)	(10.33)	(9.89)	(13.06)
LOAN	+/-	(-2.28)	(-1.82)	-0.0007 (-0.39)	(0.07)	-0.0008 (-0.43)	(0.26)	(0.61)	(-3.10)
LOTA	+	0.011***	-0.038***	0.004^{**}	0.003*	0.004^{**}	0.006***	0.004**	0.0001^{**}
CAP	-	-0.057***	-0.184***	0.0006	0.001	0.0009	-0.0005	0.0003	-0.019***
SIZE	+	(-8.82)	-0.037***	-0.0005**	(0.44)	-0.001***	(0.14)	-0.00004	-0.001
1 CDD		(-2.88)	(-5.34)	(-2.16)	(-3.03)	(-3.07)	(-2.50)	(-0.16)	(-1.02)
ΔGDP	-	0.014 (0.96)	-0.050 (-1.35)	-0.029** (-2.15)	-0.011 (-0.84)	-0.02/** (-2.01)	-0.027* (-1.67)	-0.009 (-0.62)	-0.012 (-1.02)
DISC1				-0.009***					
DISC1*EBTP				0.154***					0.156**
DISC2				(4.95)	0.00001				(2.57)
DISC2					(0.002)				
DISC2*EBTP					-0.087** (-2.20)				
DISC3						0.007***			
DISC3*EBTP						-0.059**			-0.056
BIG4						(-2.34)	0.014***		(-1.14)
BIG4*EBTP							-		0.021
							0.284*** (-7.32)		(0.45)
LISTED								-0.009*** (-5.85)	
LISTED*EBTP								0.145***	0.065**
Adjusted R ²		60.32		21.35	20.45	21.41	19.16	18.44	65.53
F-statistic		10.02		26.98	25.61	27.07	23.88	22.86	12.03
Durbin Watson		1.89	11 99	0.72	0.72	0.73	0.86	0.87	1.81
P-value (Sarian)			0.556						
Instrument rank			65						
AR(1)			0.002						
AR(2)			0.092						
Observations		1954	1398	1915	1915	1915	1932	1935	1881
T-Statistics are rep	orted in p	arentheses. ***	, **, * indicate	significance a	t the 0.01, 0.0	5, and 0.10 lev	el, respective	ly. ^a OLS regr	ession
include country, ba	ink and ye	ar fixed effect.	OLS standard	error is cluster	ed by year and	d is consistent	with Bushma	n and William	n (2012).
"GMM regression :	is based of	n Arellano and	Bond (1991) Ii	irst-difference	GMM estimat	or and include	s first-differen	nce and period	1 fixed effect.
model The GMM	The GMM panel estimator controls for potential endogeneity by using instruments based on lagged values of the explanatory variables in the								
model. The Givin's standard errors are not clustered. Column 5 to 8 is estimated using ULS with period fixed effect, bank fixed effect is not included because bank fixed effect dummies are perfectly collinear with the bank level binery variables. LLD = lean less previous to									
beginning total ass	included because balls fixed effect dummies are perfectly commear with the bank-level binary variables. $LLP = 10an$ loss provisions to beginning total asset ratio FRTP – Farnings before profit and tay to beginning total								
asset ratio. LLPt-1	= one-yea	r lagged loan l	oss provisions	to beginning to	otal asset ratio	. CAP = total e	quity to begin	nning total ass	et ratio.
LOTA = total loan	to beginn	ing total asset r	atio. LOAN =	loan growth ra	te. $\Delta GDP = re$	eal gross dome	stic product g	rowth rate. SI	ZE = natural
logarithm of total a	usset. DIS	C1 = dummy va	riable that take	e the value 1 if	the bank ado	pt local GAAP	and zero othe	erwise. DISC2	2 = dummy
variable that take the	he value 1	if the bank ado	pt IAS standar	rds and zero of	herwise. DISC	C3 = dummy va	ariable that ta	ke the value 1	if the bank
adopt IFRS standar	rds and ze	ro otherwise. L	ISTED = dumi	my variable that	at take the val	ue 1 if the Afri	can bank is li	sted on a reco	gnised stock
exchange and zero	otherwise	BIG4 = dumn	ny variable that	t take the value	e 1 if the Afric	can bank is aud	lited by a Big	4 auditor and	zero
otherwise.									

6.3.3. Ownership Concentration Hypothesis

The result is reported in Table 6.4. DISP*EBTP coefficient is negatively significant, implying that earnings smoothing via loan loss provisions is reduced among African banks that have a disperse ownership structure, and this finding is consistent with the findings of Bouvatier et al. (2014) who find that European banks with dispersed ownership have reduced earnings smoothing via provisions.

The CN1*EBTP coefficient is also negatively significant, indicating that earnings smoothing via loan loss provision is reduced among African banks where a majority shareholder holds between 50% to 69% direct equity, representing moderate ownership concentration. The CN2*EBTP coefficient is insignificant.

CN3*EBTP coefficient is positively significant at the 1% level, indicating that earnings smoothing via loan loss provision is pronounced among African banks where a majority shareholder holds at least 70% direct equity, representing banks with concentrated ownership. This finding suggest that controlling shareholders can possibly capture the production of accounting information of African banks in an attempt to conceal private benefits appropriated to them, by encouraging managers to smooth or manage earnings to hide losses that could attract the attention of non-controlling shareholders and stakeholders (Bouvatier et al, 2014). GW*EBTP and GS*EBTP coefficients are insignificant.

In Column 7 of Table 6.4, the interaction variables for bank ownership are re-run together in a full model³⁵, and CN3*EBTP coefficient remains positively significant, and confirms that African banks with concentrated ownership use LLPs to smooth reported earnings. However, the CN1*EBTP, CN2*EBTP and DISP*EBTP coefficients are not positively significant, which suggests that income smoothing via loan loss provisions is not pronounced among African banks with a more dispersed ownership structure and with government ownership.

The findings support the argument of positive accounting theory and agency theory which argues that monitoring by dispersed shareholders can affect managers' ability to influence financial reporting outcomes (see, Jensen and Meckling, 1976; Shleifer and Vishny, 1986; Grossman and Hart, 1988; Shleifer and Wolfenzon, 2002; Harris and Raviv, 1988; Aghion and Bolton, 1992). Overall, the findings

³⁵ DISC2*EBTP interaction is dropped due to perfect collinearity in column 8 of Table 6.3. Similarly, the binary dummies (DISP, CN1, CN2, CN3, GW and GS) are excluded from the model due to perfect collinearity.

suggest that income smoothing is associated with African banks that have concentrated ownership. The implication of the findings for prudential banking supervision in African countries is that regulators should encourage banks to have a more dispersed ownership structure that helps to reduce managers' ability to opportunistically influence financial reporting outcomes in ways that hurt minority shareholders.

Table 6.4. Ownership Concentration and Interaction Effect											
Variables	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)				
LLPt-1	0.004	0.051**	0.003	0.097***	-0.133***	-0.138***	0.097				
	(0.14)	(2.05)	(0.10)	(2.90)	(-3.32)	(-3.75)	(1.19)				
EBTP	0.115***	0.126***	0.088**	-0.356***	0.536***	0.447***	-0.952				
	(2.69)	(3.48)	(2.52)	(-4.69)	(7.22)	(6.95)	(-1.56)				
NPL	0.081***	0.091***	0.085***	0.029	0.385***	0.412***	0.063**				
	(4.32)	(4.85)	(4.67)	(1.55)	(11.98)	(13.74)	(2.40)				
LOAN	-0.022***	-0.019***	-0.021***	-0.022***	-0.012*	-0.0004	-0.023***				
	(-6.52)	(-4.99)	(-6.20)	(-5.27)	(-1.71)	(-0.06)	(-4.72)				
LOTA	0.006	0.0002	0.004	0.013**	-0.036***	-0.048***	0.001**				
	(1.23)	(0.02)	(0.89)	(2.15)	(-2.76)	(-4.47)	(2.25)				
CAP	-0.076***	-0.083***	-0.080***	-0.083***	-0.186***	-0.192***	-0.016				
	(-6.25)	(-6.99)	(-6.92)	(-6.53)	(-8.02)	(-7.83)	(-0.64)				
SIZE	-0.011***	-0.009**	-0.009**	-0.009**	-0.039***	-0.027***	-0.009*				
	(-2.94)	(-2.26)	(-2.47)	(-2.04)	(-5.43)	(-4.10)	(-1.65)				
ΔGDP	-0.195***	-0.181***	-0.190***	-0.183***	-0.054	-0.107***	-0.105**				
	(-6.29)	(-5.54)	(-5.99)	(-5.37)	(-1.35)	(-2.94)	(-2.11)				
DISP*EBTP	-0.175*						0.949				
	(-1.69)						(1.63)				
CN1*EBTP		-0.473***					0.416				
		(-3.49)					(0.85)				
CN2*EBTP			-0.159				0.058				
			(-1.03)				(0.20)				
CN3*EBTP				0.598***			1.238**				
				(6.05)			(2.11)				
GW*EBTP					-0.183		0.042				
					(-0.46)		(0.11)				
GS*EBTP						-16.249	0.284				
						(-1.00)	(0.91)				
J-Statistic	48.57	38.61	46.07	41.01	45.03	41.82	33.69				
P(J-Statistic)	0.369	0.772	0.469	0.681	0.513	0.648	0.784				
AR(1)	0.001	0.0003	0.001	0.0001	0.002	0.001	-				
AR(2)	0.889	0.969	0.928	0.366	0.121	0.071	0.966				
Observations	1091	1094	1094	1094	1398	1398	1096				
T-Statistics are r	T-Statistics are reported in parentheses. ***. **. * indicate significance at the 0.01, 0.05, and 0.10 level, respectively, GMM										

T-Statistics are reported in parentheses. ***, **, * indicate significance at the 0.01, 0.05, and 0.10 level, respectively. GMM regression is based on Arellano and Bond (1991) first-difference GMM estimator and includes first-difference and period fixed effect. The GMM panel estimator controls for potential endogeneity by using instruments based on lagged values of the explanatory variables in the model. GMM standard errors are not clustered. All bank-level variables remain as previously defined. DISP = dummy variable that equal one if no majority shareholder that holds at least 50% direct equity and zero otherwise, representing African banks with a more dispersed ownership structure. CN1 = dummy variable equal one if a majority shareholder that holds 50% but below 70% and zero otherwise, representing banks with moderately-weak ownership control. CN2 = dummy variable that equal one if there are two majority shareholders that jointly hold at least 70% direct equity holdings and zero otherwise, representing African banks with moderately-strong ownership control. CN3 = dummy variable that equal one if one majority shareholder holds at least 70% direct equity and zero otherwise, representing banks with concentrated ownership. GS = dummy variable that equal one if there is a government/state shareholder holds at least 50% direct equity and zero otherwise, representing banks with concentrated ownership. GS = dummy variable that equal one if there is a government/state shareholder holds at least 50% direct equity and zero otherwise, representing banks with weak government ownership control.

6.4. Country-specific Analysis: Earnings Smoothing Hypothesis

Next, I test the earnings smoothing hypothesis for each African country to take into account other unobservable national characteristics that might influence the use of loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings. The result is reported in Table 6.5.

The EBTP coefficient for each country is the variable of interest. The result in Table 6.5 confirms that there are significant variations in the earnings smoothing behaviour across African countries. As can be observed, EBTP coefficient reports a positive sign for banks in 14 African countries (i.e., South Africa, Ghana, Egypt, Morocco, Kenya, Ethiopia, Togo, Angola, Cameroun, Algeria, Mauritius, Namibia, Botswana and Nigeria), and is significant for banks in 7 African countries (i.e., South Africa, Egypt, Morocco, Ethiopia, Angola, Algeria and Botswana). On the other hand, the EBTP coefficient reports a negative sign for banks in 7 African countries (i.e., Tunisia, Uganda, Zambia, Tanzania, Senegal, Malawi and Mozambique), and is significant for banks in Uganda only.

Overall, the observed differences in earnings smoothing across African countries have two implications. First, it highlights the importance of country-specific analysis to better understand the incentives that motivate banks to use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings in each African country. Second, the observed country-specific differences in earnings smoothing behaviour points out the estimation bias of using pooled regional bank data to test for earnings smoothing. The bias is such that (i) it ignores national aspects that affect bank earnings smoothing practices, and (ii) it can over-emphasise bank financial reporting patterns that are similar across countries.

Table 6.5. Country specific Pooled regression											
Table 6.5 reports the country-specific regressions for 21 countries. Regression is estimated using pooled OLS regression and include White's robust standard error correction. LLP = loan loss provisions to beginning total asset. NPL = non-performing loan to beginning total asset ratio. EBTP = Earnings before profit and tax to beginning total asset ratio. LLPt-1 = one-year lagged loan loss provisions to beginning total asset ratio. CAP = total equity to beginning total asset ratio. LOTA = total loan to beginning total asset ratio. LOAN = loan growth rate. Δ GDP = real gross domestic product growth rate. SIZE = natural logarithm of total asset. Adj R ² = adjusted R-source.											
it square, and e – e	c	EBTP	NPL	LOTA	LOAN	CAP	SIZE	ΔGDP	Adj R ²		
South Africa	-0.005	0.397***	0.201***	0.009	0.007	-0.046*** (-2.63)	-0.0001	-0.132*** (-2 71)	78.79		
Ghana	0.059	0.052	0.175*** (4.99)	0.016** (2.39)	-0.008*	-0.016	-0.005	-0.029	30.81		
Egypt	-0.004	0.203*	0.051*** (3.45)	0.013*** (3.59)	-0.002	-0.04***	-0.00001	0.026	32.95		
Tunisia	0.0009	-0.227	0.118** (2.05)	-0.009	-0.022*	0.132	0.0007	-0.056	28.00		
Morocco	0.071*** (3.87)	0.418*** (5.44)	0.005 (0.09)	-0.019 (-0.17)	-0.013*** (-2.67)	-0.061** (-2.03)	-0.003*** (-3.71)	-0.025 (-1.12)	51.26		
Kenya	0.024* (1.78)	0.142 (1.56)	0.095*** (6.33)	0.008** (1.97)	-0.011 (-1.30)	-0.017* (-1.71)	-0.002** (-2.05)	-0.057 (-1.61)	36.58		
Uganda	0.029 (1.51)	-0.097** (-2.30)	0.117** (2.36)	0.017* (1.78)	-0.005 (-0.96)	-0.015 (-0.83)	-0.001 (-0.96)	-0.126** (-2.47)	25.83		
Zambia	-0.003 (-0.13)	-0.019 (-0.26)	0.029 (0.76)	0.022*** (2.98)	-0.003 (-0.74)	-0.029 (-1.28)	0.001 (-0.75)	0.304*** (4.58)	14.99		
Tanzania	0.005 (0.39)	-0.011 (-0.31)	0.204*** (6.37)	-0.0005 (-0.11)	-0.006 (-1.20)	0.020 (1.09)	-0.0002 (-0.27)	-0.009 (-0.16)	38.27		
Ethiopia	-0.030** (-2.31)	0.149** (2.03)	0.009 (1.40)	0.033*** (12.55)	-0.012*** (-3.54)	-0.011 (-0.33)	0.001* (1.83)	-0.039 (-1.22)	57.07		
Togo	-0.199* (-1.89)	1.419 (1.60)	-0.033 (-0.30)	0.157 (1.12)	-0.025 (-0.35)	-0.246 (-1.07)	0.005 (1.45)	0.490 (1.13)	47.38		
Angola	-0.014 (-0.72)	0.386*** (5.12)	0.082** (1.97)	0.203** (2.09)	-0.008 (-1.26)	-0.016 (-0.52)	0.0004 (0.29)	-0.055** (-2.29)	68.68		
Cameroun	0.027 (0.45)	0.308 (1.24)	0.098 (1.27)	-0.032 (-0.95)	-0.006 (-0.56)	0.172** (1.94)	-0.003 (-0.69)	0.199 (1.63)	64.88		
Algeria	-0.008 (-0.13)	0.103*** (3.09)	0.209*** (2.92)	-0.003 (-0.36)	0.008 (1.20)	-0.018 (-0.52)	-0.0001 (-0.02)	0.313*** (2.64)	58.55		
Mauritius	0.003 (0.32)	0.038 (0.74)	0.040*** (2.65)	0.0005 (0.15)	0.002 (0.83)	0.002 (0.22)	-0.0003 (-0.64)	0.049 (1.31)	17.91		
Namibia	0.025* (1.91)	0.035 (1.22)	0.008 (0.75)	0.002 (0.97)	-0.006* (-1.65)	0.014*** (4.07)	-0.002** (-2.01)	0.020*** (2.99)	63.53		
Botswana	-0.017 (-0.91)	0.291*** (2.76)	-0.015*** (-4.97)	0.010 (1.31)	0.007 (0.59)	0.039*** (3.90)	0.0002 (0.17)	-0.006 (-0.40)	57.26		
Senegal	-0.022 (-0.75)	-0.001 (-0.02)	0.034 (0.95)	0.015 (1.37)	-0.008 (-0.89)	-0.151*** (-3.18)	0.002 (1.21)	0.099 (1.08)	15.29		
Nigeria	0.009 (0.34)	0.033 (0.33)	0.252 (1.38)	0.028*** (2.97)	-0.005 (-1.28)	-0.038 (-0.78)	-0.0005 (-0.29)	-0.088 (-0.71)	19.03		
Malawi	0.0009 (0.02)	-0.227 (-1.17)	0.118** (2.05)	-0.009 (-0.36)	-0.022* (-1.66)	0.132 (1.55)	0.0007 (0.14)	-0.056 (-0.32)	28.00		
Mozambique	0.067** (2.56)	-0.022 (-0.58)	0.162*** (2.65)	0.006 (1.04)	-0.004 (-0.70)	-0.0007 (-0.04)	-0.004*** (-3.42)	-0.117 (-0.76)	47.64		
Pooled Regression OLS with Standard errors clustered by year.											

6.5. Sensitivity Analysis

6.5.1. Transient Economic Cycle and Earnings Distribution

As discussed previously in section 5.3.2.2, I test whether the incentive to use loan loss provisions to smooth bank earnings is pronounced when African banks are more profitable. The result is reported in Table 6.6.

POS*EBTP coefficient is negatively significant, indicating that African banks do not use loan loss provisions to smooth earnings when they are profitable, i.e., when they have positive (non-negative) earnings in the current period. The HIGH*EBTP coefficient is also positively significant, indicating that loan loss provisions is not used to smooth reported earnings when African banks are more profitable, i.e., when they have above-the-median earnings. Taken together, the findings suggest that African banks do not use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings when they are more profitable in the current period.

Next, I test whether the propensity to use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings depend on the state of the economy. The REC*EBTP coefficient is not significant while the BOOM*EBTP coefficient is positively significant, indicating that African banks use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings during economic boom periods.

Furthermore, from hindsight, we understand that banks are generally considered to be more profitable during economic boom periods. Accordingly, I test whether the propensity to use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings simultaneously depend on the state of the economy and on the size of bank earnings. Table 6.6.1 reports the regression results. The POS*BOOM*EBTP and HIGH*BOOM*EBTP coefficients are positively significant, indicating that African banks use loan loss provisions to smooth reporting earnings when they are more profitable during economic boom period. Liu and Ryan (2006) also find similar result for US banks. In Column 7 of Table 6.6, all the interaction variables are run together in a single model, and the POS*BOOM*EBTP coefficient is positively significant and further confirms that African banks use loan loss provisions to smooth reporting earnings when they are provisions to smooth reporting earnings when they are provisions to smooth reporting earning provision also find similar result for US banks. In Column 7 of Table 6.6, all the interaction variables are run together in a single model, and the POS*BOOM*EBTP coefficient is positively significant and further confirms that African banks use loan loss provisions to smooth reporting earnings when they are provisions to smooth reporting earnings when they are provisions to smooth reporting earnings when they are

Table 6.6. Transient Economic Cycles and Earnings Distribution (Full Sample)												
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)					
LLPt-1	-0.143***	-0.278***	-0.165***	-0.235***	-0.217***	-0.232***	-0.027					
	(-3.37)	(-5.26)	(-5.20)	(-7.21)	(-4.73)	(-5.10)	(-0.58)					
EBTP	0.525***	0.059	1.646***	1.081***	0.284***	0.253**	2.964***					
	(6.61)	(0.54)	(9.05)	(6.70)	(2.70)	(2.39)	(6.77)					
NPL	0.388***	0.451***	0.329***	0.324***	0.413***	0.396***	0.203***					
	(10.18)	(11.08)	(12.09)	(9.73)	(10.21)	(10.41)	(5.81)					
LOAN	-0.014*	-0.019**	-0.014***	-0.018***	-0.014*	-0.018**	-0.019*					
	(-1.85)	(-2.53)	(-2.76)	(-2.69)	(-1.77)	(-2.23)	(-1.79)					
LOTA	-0.039***	-0.036**	0.010	-0.001	-0.049***	-0.048***	-0.0003					
	(-2.92)	(-2.16)	(1.07)	(-0.11)	(-2.93)	(-2.85)	(-1.21)					
CAP	-0.166***	-0.254***	-0.152***	-0.157***	-0.238***	-0.234***	-0.182***					
	(-6.56)	(-8.78)	(-10.59)	(-7.63)	(-6.54)	(-6.46)	(-5.46)					
SIZE	-0.039***	-0.039***	-0.039***	-0.038***	-0.036***	-0.034***	-0.031***					
	(-3.59)	(-4.00)	(-6.23)	(-6.26)	(-3.69)	(-3.31)	(-3.51)					
ΔGDP	-0.076	-0.034	-0.040	-0.049	-0.040	-0.072	0.053					
	(-1.26)	(-0.56)	(-1.09)	(-1.19)	(-0.64)	(-1.07)	(0.64)					
REC	-0.004						0.014					
	(-0.34)						(0.78)					
BOOM		-0.051***			-0.046***	-0.032***	-0.024***					
		(-7.38)			(-5.53)	(-4.81)	(-3.19)					
POS			-0.029***		-0.007		-0.029**					
			(-3.11)		(-0.67)		(-2.39)					
HIGH				0.040***		0.002	0.014**					
				(6.54)		(0.34)	(2.36)					
REC*EBTP	-0.079						-0.006					
	(-0.65)						(-0.07)					
BOOM*EBTP		0.655***					-2.313***					
		(6.29)					(-4.27)					
POS*EBTP			-1.433***				2.328***					
			(-6.90)				(-4.51)					
HIGH*EBTP				-1.052***			0.014**					
				(-5.51)			(2.36)					
POS*BOOM*EBTP					0.548***		2.151***					
					(4.51)		(3.35)					
HIGH*BOOM*EBTP						0.442***	0.384					
						(4.26)	(1.27)					
J-statistic	45.16	35.14	43.94	41.82	9.18	35.77	31.54					
P(J-Stat)	0.465	0.854	0.517	0.607	0.845	0.807	0.722					
AR(1)	0.002	0.000	0.003	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000					
AR(2)	0.086	0.008	0.997	0.375	0.001	0.011	0.204					
Observations	1398	1398	1398	1398	1398	1398	1403					
T-Statistics are reported	in parentheses.	***. **. * indic	T-Statistics are reported in parentheses *** ** indicate significance at the 0.01 0.05 and 0.10 level respectively. GMM									

T-Statistics are reported in parentheses. ***, **, *indicate significance at the 0.01, 0.05, and 0.10 level, respectively. GMM regression is based on Arellano and Bond (1991) first-difference GMM estimator and includes first-difference and period fixed effect. The GMM panel estimator controls for potential endogeneity by using instruments based on lagged values of the explanatory variables in the model. GMM standard errors are not clustered. POS = dummy variable that take the value 1 if EBTP is positive and zero otherwise. HIGH = dummy variable that take the value 1 if EBTP is above-the-median EBTP and zero otherwise, reflecting high earnings. REC = dummy variable that take the value 1 if Δ GDP is negative and zero otherwise, reflecting recessionary periods or economic downturns. BOOM = dummy variable that take the value 1 if Δ GDP is above-the-median Δ GDP and zero otherwise, reflecting reflecting economic booms or periods of economic prosperity. Bank level variables remain as previously defined.

6.5.2. Forward-looking Bank Provisioning

Some bank supervisors and accounting standard setters in several countries raise concern that the IAS 39 incurred loss provisioning model is backward looking because it delays provisioning until it too late, and have encouraged banks to consider a forward-looking provisioning approach (FSF, 2009). In several African countries, bank supervisors, for instance, the Central Bank of Nigeria raise this concern, and urge banks to be forward-looking in their loan loss provisioning practices to encourage early provisioning and the timely recognition of loan losses. A forward-looking provisioning approach in principle would allow banks to set aside sufficient loan loss provisions before loan losses materialise; however, there are two problems associated with any forward-looking provisioning system.

One, there is no defined way for banks to follow to adopt a forward-looking provisioning system, and two, managers will retain full discretion in forward-looking provisioning and such forward-looking discretion can be exploited to manipulate reported earnings opportunistically (Bushman and Williams, 2012); therefore, in this section, I test whether African banks can exploit their forward-looking discretion in an attempt to use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings. To do this, I adopt a modified version of the model of Bushman and William (2012) and take the lagged values (or beginning values) of all bank-level variables except the earnings smoothing variable (EBTP) and the loan loss provisions (LLP) variable. According to Bushman and William (2012), taking the beginning (or lagged) values of the explanatory variables ensures that reported loan loss provisions are solely driven by the level of earnings without reference to information about the loan portfolio and other bank characteristics. The modified model is given below and is estimated using with the GMM regression:

$$GMM: LLPi, j, t = LLPi, j, t - 1 + NPLi, j, t - 1 + EBTPi, j, t + CAPi, j, t - 1 + SIZEi, j, t - 1 + LOANi, j, t - 1 + LOTAi, j, t - 1 + \Delta GDPj, t + ei, t \dots \dots Equation 10$$

The relationship between LLP and EBTP is the focal relationship of interest, and the result is reported in Table 6.7. The EBTP coefficient is positively significant, indicating that African banks use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings under a forward-looking provisioning system. This implies that African banks can use loan loss provisions to smooth earnings when current information about bank loan portfolio and other characteristics are ignored. This finding is consistent with the findings of Bushman and William (2012), and implies that African bank managers can exploit forward-looking discretion in bank provisioning to manipulate reported earnings.

6.5.3. Stress-testing Bank Capital Adequacy

Next, I test whether the propensity to use loan loss provisions to smooth earnings depend on the level of banks' capital adequacy ratio. UC*EBTP and WC*EBTP coefficients are the variables of interest. The result is reported in Table 6.7.

UC*EBTP coefficient is negatively significant, indicating that African banks do not use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings when they are undercapitalised. This suggests that loan loss provisions estimates are possibly used for capital management purposes to compensate for their low capital levels rather than for earnings smoothing purposes when African banks are undercapitalised.

WC*EBTP coefficient is positively significant, indicating that African banks use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings when they are well-capitalised. This implies that loan loss provisions estimates are used for earnings smoothing purposes rather than for capital management purposes when African banks are well-capitalised.

6.5.4. Bank Leverage and Risk-taking

Further, I test whether the incentive to use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings depends on bank leverage in the balance sheet of African banks. Bouvatier et al. (2014) suggest that the decision to use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings increases bank opacity and should be undesirable to stakeholders including debtholders. Also, Shleifer and Vishny (1997) argue that debtholders can exert considerable power to monitor firms, and such monitoring should discourage opportunistic earnings management practices among firms. Since African banks also have high leverage like US and European banks, one would expect incremental changes in bank leverage to influence the reporting choices of African bank managers. In fact, the presence of sophisticated bank debtholders should deter and discourage bank managers from opportunistic behaviour that take the form of earnings management or earnings smoothing. However, there is also the argument that the presence of bailout packages to banks

may also reduce the incentive for debtholders to monitor banks which in turn would reduce monitoring of bank management thus increasing the opportunities for banks to take more risks and to distort their financial reporting process (e.g. Brunnermier et al., 2009).

Building on these arguments, I test these arguments for African banks by using 'beginning debt to asset ratio' to capture monitoring by debt-holders.³⁶ The interaction between the lagged debt to asset ratio and EBTP variables capture the extent to which earnings smoothing via LLP is driven by known values of bank leverage. Also, I use 'change in debt to asset ratio' to capture bank's sensitivity to leverage. To derive the debt to asset ratio, I take one minus the equity to total asset ratio of bank i at time t. To measure change in debt to asset ratio (Δ DA), I use this formulation: [(DA₁-DA₀)/DA₀] where DA = debt to total asset ratio at time t for bank i. I interact the two variables (DAt-1 and Δ DA) with EBTP to detect whether earnings smoothing via loan loss provision is sensitive to bank leverage and changes in bank leverage respectively. The result is reported in Table 6.7.

The ΔDA^*EBTP coefficient is not significant, indicating that the use of loan loss provisions to smooth earnings is not sensitive to a change in bank leverage for African banks. The DAt-1*EBTP coefficient is negatively significant, indicating that the use of loan loss provisions to smooth earnings is reduced when African banks are highly leveraged, implying that post-debt considerations (e.g. greater monitoring by debtholders) can influence the incentive for African banks to use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings

6.5.5. Funding Risk (or Bank's Sensitivity to Bank Runs)

Also, African banks may witness liquidity problems due to the shallow depth and breadth of financial markets and instruments in the region, and such liquidity problems may give rise to funding risk. Funding risk is the inability of banks to settle their obligations with immediacy (Drehmann, 2010).

Funding risk also convey the idea that a bank may not be able to meet deposit withdrawals immediately. When this is the case, African banks that have liquidity problems due to high funding risk may report smoother earnings to mask their funding problems (or risks) until they are able to find alternative

³⁶ To do this, I use beginning (or lagged) debt-to-asset ratio (to avoid correlation with the equity-to-asset ratio variable).

funding/liquidity to meet sudden withdrawals needs of depositors. The incentive to smooth bank earnings to hide or mask banks' funding risk will be stronger if African banks fear that the general public's awareness of their liquidity problems may initiate a run on the bank by depositors.

Following this reasoning, I test whether the incentive to use loan loss provisions to smooth earnings is influenced by bank funding (or liquidity) risk. Prior studies (e.g. Cerrato et al, 2012) use bank 'liquid assets to customer deposits and short term funding ratio' (LD) to capture bank funding (or liquidity risk). The higher the LD ratio, the more liquid the bank is and the less vulnerable it is to a run on the bank. I adopt a modified construct by taking the change in the value of this ratio (Δ LD) and interact it with EBTP to detect whether propensity to use loan loss provisions to smooth earnings is associated with changes in bank funding (or liquidity) risk. The result is reported in Table 6.7.

The Δ LD*EBTP coefficient is positively significant, indicating that the use of loan loss provisions to smooth earnings is significantly associated with changes in bank funding risk and imply that African banks use loan loss provisions to smooth earnings when there are significant changes in bank funding risk possibly to hide their funding problems (or risks) from financial reports.

6.5.6. Banking Crisis

Beck and Cull (2013) suggest that the African region is prone to frequent banking crises. I check whether the use of loan loss provisions to smooth reported earning is significantly associated with banking crises in the African region. El Sood (2012) show that US banks lower loan loss provisions to increase earnings during the 2007 to 2009 global financial crisis. To capture banking crisis, I use a dummy variable 'CRISIS' that take the value of one for periods where an African country witness a major banking crisis and zero otherwise. World Bank database provide information about countries that witness a major banking crisis. I consider this approach to be more appropriate to test the effect of banking crisis on bank earnings smoothing behaviour rather than using the usual pre-and post-financial crisis period classification since many African banks were not affected by the 2007-2008 financial crisis and were not systematically connected to the global financial system at that time. The result is reported in Table 6.7.
The CRISIS*EBTP coefficient is insignificant, indicating that earnings smoothing via loan loss provisions among African banks is not pronounced during banking crisis periods across African countries.

6.5.7. Signalling

Furthermore, I check whether African banks use loan loss provisions estimates to signal information about firms' earnings prospects. Prior literature suggests that loan loss provisions may be used to signal private information to firm outsiders about the firm's future earnings prospects. Liu and Ryan (1995) and Beaver and Engel (1996) argue that banks or financial institutions can use loan loss provisions to signal firm's future prospects or intentions to clients and potential investors while Kanagaretnam et al. (2003) observe that managers of undervalued banks use loan loss provisions to signal banks' future earnings prospects. Kanagaretnam et al. (2005) find similar evidence while Ahmed et al. (1999) did not find evidence to support the signalling hypothesis. Taken together, these studies suggest that the incentive to use loan loss provisions to signal loan quality or firm future prospects depends on: the degree of information asymmetry, differences in managerial incentive to signal (see Kanagaretnam et al., 2005), and the extent to which investors interpret high provisions as a signal for loan quality or as a signal in anticipation of large non-performing loans (see Beaver and Engel, 1996; Liu et al., 1997). The result is reported in Table 6.7. SIGNAL coefficient is negatively significant, indicating that African banks do not appear to use loan loss provisions estimates to signal information about banks' future earnings prospects.

Table 6.7. Bank-Level Extended and Additional Analysis									
Variables	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	
LLPt-1	0.592***	-0.095**	-0.374***	-0.307***	-0.087***	-0.155***	-0.243***	-0.160***	
	(7.79)	(-2.23)	(-9.80)	(-6.89)	(-2.91)	(-3.53)	(-7.20)	(-3.66)	
EBTP	0.094**	0.563***	0.775***	0.278***	0.539***	0.721***	0.310***		
	(2.27)	(7.57)	(4.59)	(4.87)	(7.23)	(8.01)	(4.42)	1	
NPL		0.313***	0.424***	0439***	0.338***	0.403***	0.442***	0.407***	
		(9.13)	(18.26)	(13.87)	(8.89)	(12.63)	(14.09)	(11.14)	
NPLt-1	-0.228***							1	
	(-4.71)								
LOAN		-0.017**	-0.005	-0.013*	0.006	-0.011*	-0.009*	-0.007	
LOAN: 1	0.022***	(-2.28)	(-0.99)	(-1.87)	(0.92)	(-1./6)	(-1./1)	(-0.97)	
LUANI-I	(5.09)							1	
LOTA	(-5.77)	-0.001	0.015	-0.017	-0.027**	-0.013	-0.016	-0.019	
LOIM		(-0.11)	(1.48)	(-1.20)	(-2.28)	(-0.95)	(-1.18)	(-1.58)	
LOTAt-1	-0.002								
	(-0.27)							1	
CAP		-0.208***	-0.115***	-0.169***	-0.129***	-0.211***	-0.279***	-0.159***	
		(-6.94)	(-4.49)	(-8.56)	(-5.64)	(-8.60)	(-10.68)	(-6.81)	
CAPt-1	0.039*							I	
	(1.75)								
SIZE		-0.038****	-0.009**	-0.044***	-0.033***	-0.031***	-0.037***	-0.048***	
	0.012*	(-4.01)	(-2.49)	(-5.80)	(-3.51)	(-4.16)	(-2.89)	(-0.49)	
SIZEt-1	-0.013*							1	
AGDP	(-1.00)	-0.051	-0 119***	-0.077*	-0.060	-0.053	-0 149***	-0.092**	
AODI		(-0.98)	(-3.71)	(-1.87)	(-1.06)	(-1.52)	(-2, 89)	(-2,11)	
ΔDA		-0.0002	(3.71)	(1.07)	(1.00)	(1.02)	(2.0))	(2.11)	
		(-0.25)						1	
∆DA*EBTP		0.009							
		(0.81)						1	
DAt-1			-0.059**					1	
			(-2.11)						
DAt-1*EBTP			-0.827***					1	
ALD			(-3.99)	0.002**					
ΔLD				-0.002^{**}				1	
AI D*FRTP				0.036***					
ALD LDII				(2.94)				1	
CRISIS					0.004*				
					(1.64)			1	
CRISIS*EBTP					0.007				
					(1.53)				
UC						0.017**		1	
						(2.29)			
UC*EBTP						-0.416***		1	
WC						(-3.91)	0.002		
we							0.003	1	
WC*EBTP		-					0.533***		
NO LDII							(4.76)	1	
SIGNAL								-0.205***	
								(-5.74)	
J-statistic	50.19	46.82	33.89	42.24	33.15	40.81	38.21	45.99	
P(I-statistic)	0.348	0 398	0.887	0 589	0.834	0.649	0.753	0.514	
i (J-sutistic)	0.340	0.370	0.007	0.509	0.054	0.049	0.755	0.514	
AR(1)	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.003	0.005	0.000	0.001	0.009	
AR(2)	0.953	0.299	0.259	0.108	0.404	0.315	0.022	0.085	
Observations	1490	1341	1163	1357	950	1398	1398	1384	
GMM regression is	based on Arellan	o and Bond (1991) first-difference	GMM estimator a	nd includes first-d	ifference and peri	od fixed effect. Th	ie GMM panel	
actimator controls f	or notantial andos	anaity by using in	atmimante bacad	m loogad walwaa d	f the evelopeters	moniphia in the n	odol GMM stand	and annone and	

GMM regression is based on Arellano and Bond (1991) first-difference GMM estimator and includes first-difference and period fixed effect. The GMM panel estimator controls for potential endogeneity by using instruments based on lagged values of the explanatory variables in the model. GMM standard errors are not clustered. $\Delta DA =$ change in debt to asset ratio, and measure the incentive to smooth earnings incremental to sensitivity to bank leverage. DAt-1 = lagged debt to asset ratio. $\Delta LD =$ change in liquid Assets to customer deposit and short term funding ratio. ΔLD = change in liquid Assets to customer deposit and short term funding ratio. ΔLD *EBTP = measure the incentive to smooth earnings incremental to sensitivity of bank short term funding, measured as $[(LD_2 - LD_1)/LD_1]$. T-Statistics are reported in parentheses. ***, **, * indicate significance at the 0.01, 0.05, and 0.10 level, respectively. CRISIS = dummy variable that equal one for periods of major banking crisis in the African country and zero otherwise. WC = dummy variable that equal one if CAP ratio is at least 50%, representing periods when African banks are well-capitalised. UC = dummy variable that equal one if CAP ratio is less than 25%, representing periods when African banks are under-capitalised. SIGNAL = one-year ahead EBTP. Other bank level variables remain as previously defined.

6.5.8. Further Robustness Checks: Sub-Sample Analysis

Finally, the full sample is divided into bank sub-samples to detect the extent of earnings smoothing via loan loss provisions in each bank category. The results are reported in Table 6.8, 6.9 and 6.10 and EBTP is the variable of interest. Table 6.8 confirms that listed African banks use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings to a greater extent than non-listed African banks. Also, the results in Table 6.8 confirm that African banks with Big 4 auditor use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings less aggressively compared to African banks with non-Big 4 auditors. Moreover, the results show that African banks with dispersed ownership use loan loss provisions to smooth earnings less aggressively compared to African banks with concentrated ownership.

Table: 6.8. Subsample Regression: Ownership Concentration and Earnings Smoothing (GMM)											
	Disperse	Moderate	Strong	Listed Banks	Non-listed	Big 4	Non-Big 4				
	Ownership	Concentration	Concentration		Banks	Auditor	Auditor				
	(DISP)	(CONTROL1)	(CONTROL3)			Banks	Banks				
	Column 1	Column 2	Column 3	Column 4	Column 5	Column 6	Column 7				
LLPt-1	0.089***	0.086***	0.210***	0.126***	-0.147***	0.156***	-0.434***				
	(4.91)	(8.95)	(6.58)	(13.02)	(-4.69)	(8.72)	(-14.94)				
EBTP	0.378***	0.007	0.376***	0.500***	0.651***	0.385***	0.906***				
	(13.36)	(0.65)	(15.03)	(27.38)	(12.39)	(12.09)	(38.89)				
NPL	0.114***	0.077***	0.012	0.041***	0.341***	0.009	0.216***				
	(26.77)	(9.96)	(0.75)	(20.96)	(13.09)	(1.09)	(49.54)				
LOAN	-0.009***	-0.004**	-0.025***	0.003**	-0.019**	-0.022***	-0.019***				
	(-6.16)	(-2.07)	(-18.43)	(6.18)	(-2.40)	(-7.65)	(-11.54)				
LOTA	0.004	-0.019***	0.088^{***}	-0.003	0.0001	0.022***	-0.030***				
	(1.26)	(-6.68)	(40.05)	(-1.27)	(0.01)	(7.65)	(-10.46)				
CAP	-0.071***	-0.092***	-0.347***	-0.100***	-0.227***	-0.066***	-0.163***				
	(-10.77)	(-19.67)	(-22.15)	(-16.47)	(-8.30)	(-9.78)	(-17.81)				
SIZE	-0.005**	0.008***	-0.015***	-0.002**	-0.042***	-0.009***	-0.006**				
	(-2.36)	(3.36)	(-12.38)	(-2.24)	(-5.48)	(-6.03)	(-2.33)				
ΔGDP	-0.010	-0.028***	-0.159***	-0.077***	-0.065**	-0.035**	0.027***				
	(-0.68)	(-3.02)	(-12.38)	(-6.95)	(-2.03)	(-1.96)	(3.05)				
J-Statistic	22.30	25.91	37.96	34.20	54.71	58.12	45.86				
P(J-Statistic)	0.843	0.679	0.471	0.646	0.205	0.128	0.277				
AR(1)	0.999	0.091	0.026	0.894	0.001	0.001	0.028				
AR(2)	0.998	0.246	0.463	0.908	0.172	0.264	0.115				
Observation	481	287	472	413	985	995	403				
GMM regression	n is based on Are	ellano and Bond (1	991) first-differen	ce GMM estimate	or and includes first	-difference and p	period fixed				

effect. GMM standard errors are clustered by year. Column 1 = is the regression for the sub-sample of African banks with dispersed ownership, that is, no majority shareholder holds at least 50% direct equity. Column 2 = is the regression for the sub-sample of African banks with moderate concentration, that is, one majority shareholder with at least 50% but less than 70% of direct equity. Column 3 = is the regression for the sub-sample of African banks with concentrated ownership, that is, one majority shareholder have at least 70% equity (i.e. 70% to 100%). Column 4 = regression for listed African banks. Column 5 = regressions for non-listed African banks. Column 6 = regressions for African banks with Big 4 auditor. Column 7 = regressions for African banks with non-Big 4 auditor. Also, I perform additional tests to determine whether African banks in each bank category smooth earnings when they are more profitable. The result is reported in Table 6.9 and HIGH*EBTP coefficient is the focal variable of interest.

The HIGH*EBTP coefficient is positively significant in Column 1 and 2 indicating that African banks with dispersed ownership use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings when they are more profitable while HIGH*EBTP coefficient is negatively significant in Column 3 indicating that African banks with concentrated ownership do not use loan loss provisions to smooth earnings when they are more profitable. Column 4 and 5 show that listed African banks and African banks with Big 4 auditor does not use loan loss provisions to smooth earnings when they are more profitable.

Tables 6.0. Subsemple Decreasion: Earlings Smoothing Incommental To Substantial Earlings (CMM)											
Table: 6.9.	Subsample Regre	ssion: Earnings Sn	noothing Increment	al To Substantial Ea	rnings (GMM)						
	Disperse	Moderate	Strong	Listed Banks	Big-4 Auditor						
	Ownership	Concentration	Concentration		bank						
	(DISP)	(CONTROL1)	(CONTROL3)								
	Column 1	Column 2	Column 3	Column 4	Column 5						
LLPt-1	0.043***	0.155***	0.166***	0.123***	0.108***						
	(2.67)	(7.49)	(4.57)	(5.61)	(4.88)						
EBTP	-0.046	-0.830***	1.014***	0.556***	0.595***						
	(-1.53)	(-8.06)	(12.67)	(19.89)	(9.75)						
NPL	0.135***	0.016	0.004	0.055***	0.022*						
	(21.72)	(1.15)	(0.19)	(10.44)	(1.89)						
LOAN	-0.007***	0.0002	-0.032***	0.008^{***}	-0.019***						
	(-4.96)	(0.10)	(-13.37)	(5.66)	(-6.44)						
LOTA	-0.021***	-0.013***	0.099***	-0.005*	0.028***						
	(-11.04)	(-3.25)	(24.12)	(-1.75)	(5.37)						
CAP	-0.105***	-0.089***	-0.262***	-0.105***	-0.066***						
	(-16.41)	(-16.27)	(-16.16)	(-12.82)	(-8.72)						
SIZE	0.0007	0.004	-0.021***	-0.003**	-0.009***						
	(0.47)	(1.15)	(-11.65)	(-2.49)	(-4.59)						
ΔGDP	-0.044**	-0.058***	-0.207***	-0.108***	-0.017						
	(-2.51)	(-6.06)	(-11.87)	(-10.01)	(-1.06)						
HIGH	-0.015***	-0.013***	0.033***	0.018***	0.004*						
	(-9.54)	(-9.95)	(7.76)	(9.34)	(1.82)						
HIGH*EBTP	0.682***	1.025***	-1.066***	-0.129***	-0.345***						
	(17.43)	(9.93)	(-9.04)	(-4.81)	(-4.36)						
J-Statistic	24.87	28.69	39.37	40.83	51.11						
P(J-statistic)	0.63	0.428	0.364	0.266	0.246						
AR(1)	0.919	0.125	0.050	0.893	0.002						
AR(2)	0.968	0.461	0.094	0.945	0.267						
Observation	Observation 344 287 472 413 995										
GMM regression	is based on Arella	no and Bond (199	1) first-difference C	MM estimator and i	ncludes first-						
difference and per	iod fixed effect. (HAM standard erro	ors are clustered by	vear.							

I perform additional sensitivity tests to detect whether each bank category smooth earnings when they are more profitable and during economic boom periods. The result is reported in Table 6.10. The focal variable of interest is the BOOM*HIGH*EBTP coefficient. The BOOM*HIGH*EBTP coefficient in all columns confirm that each bank subsample use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings when they are more profitable during economic boom periods. This confirms the earlier result that African banks use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings when they are more profitable during economic boom period.

Table: 6.10. Subsample	Table: 6.10. Subsample Regression: Earnings Smoothing Incremental To Substantial Earnings During Economic Booms												
	Disperse	Moderate	Strong	Listed Banks	Big-4 Auditor bank								
	Ownership	Concentration	Concentration		-								
	(DISP)	(CN1)	(CN3)										
	Column 1	Column 2	Column 4	Column 5	Column 6								
LLPt-1	0.113***	0.091***	0.202***	0.113***	0.149***								
	(4.56)	(7.17)	(5.85)	(5.38)	(4.05)								
EBTP	0.299***	-0.023	0.269***	0.427***	0.297***								
	(8.08)	(-0.79)	(7.49)	(21.37)	(6.00)								
NPL	0.133***	0.066***	-0.003	0.060***	0.034*								
	(16.65)	(7.29)	(-0.13)	(11.29)	(1.68)								
LOAN	-0.006***	-0.003	-0.023***	0.009***	-0.020***								
	(-3.03)	(-0.94)	(-10.23)	(7.03)	(-4.73)								
LOTA	0.002	-0.018***	0.079***	-0.008**	0.023***								
	(0.82)	(-4.37)	(13.27)	(-2.09)	(2.99)								
CAP	-0.087***	-0.085***	-0.287***	-0.118***	-0.091***								
	(-7.57)	(-8.33)	(-12.32)	(-12.45)	(-7.26)								
SIZE	-0.003	0.008***	-0.014***	-0.002	-0.014***								
	(-1.20)	(3.54)	(-12.50)	(-1.42)	(-4.17)								
ΔGDP	-0.091***	-0.076***	-0.038	-0.128***	-0.017								
	(-3.63)	(-4.24)	(-1.38)	(-11.11)	(-0.51)								
BOOM	0.003**	-0.001	-0.013***	-0.001*	-0.019***								
	(2.20)	(-1.13)	(-6.79)	(-1.73)	(-6.79)								
HIGH	0.003	-0.004**	-0.001	0.014***	-0.009***								
	(0.93)	(-2.55)	(-0.99)	(5.25)	(-3.32)								
BOOM*HIGH*EBTP	0.058***	0.081***	0.089***	0.051***	0.191***								
	(2.76)	(3.37)	(3.64)	(5.55)	(5.68)								
J-Statistic	29.21	29.44	38.79	39.35	54.42								
P(J-statistic)	0.351	0.339	0.345	0.281	0.135								
AR(1)	0.044	0.098	0.009	0.985	0.0002								
AR(2)	0.156	0.184	0.352	0.978	0.916								
Observation	Observation 344 287 472 413 995												
GMM regression is based	GMM regression is based on Arellano and Bond (1991) first-difference GMM estimator and includes first-difference and												
period fixed effect. GMN	I standard errors are	e clustered by year.											

6.6. Summary and Conclusion

This chapter presents the findings for bank-level and economic incentives to smooth reported earnings via loan loss provisions.

The findings in this chapter show that African banks use loan loss provisions to smooth bank earnings, however, this practice differ across African countries. Two, earnings smoothing is observed to be pronounced among (i) listed African banks than non-listed banks; (ii) among African banks that adopt local GAAP; (iii) among African banks with concentrated ownership. Also, the findings indicate that African banks use loan loss provisions to smooth bank earnings when they are more profitable during economic booms. Additionally, bank earnings smoothing is pronounced when African banks exercise forward-looking provisioning discretion and during changes in bank funding risk.

On the other hand, earnings smoothing is significantly reduced among African banks (i) with dispersed ownership; (ii) Big 4 auditors and (iii) among African banks that adopt IFRS standards. Moreover, African banks with dispersed ownership use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings when they are profitable during economic booms while African banks with concentrated ownership do not use to loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings when they are profitable during economic boom. All the results are summarised in Table 6.11.

The next chapter presents the second empirical analysis that focus on several country-level, institutional and development factors influencing earnings smoothing via loan loss provisions.

	6.11. Summary of the Bank-level Results											
	Main Hypothesis	Sample	Effect	on Earnings Smoothing	g							
		Analysis	Significant decrease	Significant increase	No Effect							
	Income Smoothing	Full Sample	-	Yes	-							
1.	Disclosure Regulation	Full Sample	IFRS adoption	Local GAAP	IAS adoption							
	Audit Quality & Capital			adoption	_							
	Market	Full Sample &	Banks with Big 4	Listed African	-							
		Sub-sample	auditor	banks								
2.	Bank Ownership	Full Sample &	Disperse	Concentrated	Moderate							
	Concentration	Sub-sample	Ownership	Ownership	Ownership							
3.	Sensitivity Analysis											
3(i)	Transient Economic	Full Sample	-	Economic boom	Economic							
	Analysis			periods	downturns.							
3(ii)	Transient Earnings	Full Sample	When banks are	-	-							
	Analysis		more profitable									
3(iii)	Forward-looking	Full Sample	-	During forward-	-							
	provisioning			looking								
				provisioning								
3(iv)	Stress-testing Capital	Full Sample	When banks are	When banks are	-							
	Adequacy		undercapitalised	undercapitalised								
3(v)	Bank Leverage	Full Sample	Monitoring by	-	Changes in							
			debtholders		bank							
					leverage							
3(vi)	Funding Risk	Full Sample	-	When banks have	-							
				higher funding risk								
3(vii)	Signalling		Earnings smoothing	-	-							
			not for signalling									
			purpose									
3(viii)	Banking crises	Full Sample	-	-	During							
					periods of							
					major							
					banking							
					crises							

Chapter 7

Institutional Factors Influencing Earnings Smoothing

7.0. Introduction

This chapter investigates the cross-country determinants of bank earnings smoothing in Africa to determine the institutional and country factors that influence the extent of bank earnings smoothing via loan loss provisions for the selected African countries. The diverse and uneven institutional, social-economic, developmental, legal and political economy differences across African countries makes it important to consider these issues when investigating bank financial reporting practices in Africa. The influence of institutional factors on the earnings smoothing practices of African banks remain unknown in the empirical literature therefore the analyses in this chapter aim to contribute to the scant empirical literature on bank earnings management in Africa.

This chapter begins by outlining the descriptive statistics for the institutional variables and other relevant country-level variables and presents the correlation analysis that check for the presence of highly-correlated variables (that is, multicollinearity among the country-level variables). The chapter then presents the regression results for the country-specific the cross-country analyses. The analyses in this chapter employ GMM first difference regression and the justification for using GMM is already provided in Chapter 5.

For the GMM first difference estimation, the GMM instruments are only applied to the lagged dependent variable while the other explanatory variables are considered as strictly exogenous. The GMM estimation also includes first-difference and year fixed effects, and the standard errors are not clustered.

Finally, the coefficients of each interaction term measure the influence of the country-level variable on bank earnings smoothing behaviour. The extensive number of country variables and the incorporation of interaction terms is the main rationale for using separate regression models rather than a single regression model with sandwiched variables.

7.1. Country-Level Variable: Descriptive Statistics

Table 7.1a reports the summary of the mean for each country-level variable. For instance, the voice and accountability (VA) variable, on average, is higher in South Africa, Mauritius and Ghana and is much lower in Tunisia and Algeria. This indicates that South Africa and Mauritius have stronger institutions that promote freedom of speech, freedom of expression and a free media. Control of corruption index (COC) on average is higher for Botswana and Mauritius and is lower for Angola, Cameroun and Nigeria. This implies that Botswana, Mauritius and South Africa have strong institutions that improve the fight against corruption compared to Angola, Nigeria and Cameroun. Also, protection of minority shareholders rights (INVPRO) is higher in South Africa, Mauritius and Ghana and is lower in Senegal and Togo. The 'extent of director liability' (EDL) is higher for South Africa and Mauritius and much lower for Cameroun, Senegal and Togo. The 'quality of the legal system' index (LEGAL) is higher for Botswana and Mauritius have stronger rule of law or legal enforcement systems compared to Cameroun and Angola. Overall, the statistics show substantial institutional variation across African countries. The correlation of the country variables is reported 7.1b.

Table 7.1A. Cross Country Means (Descriptive statistics)																	
Table 1 reports shareholder sui of violence/terr control of corru domestic count capitalization t	Table 1 reports the means for each African country in the sample over the 2002 and 2014 period. INVPRO = strength of investor protection index. INVSUIT = ease of shareholder suit index. EDL = extent of director liability index. LEGAL = rule of law index. VA = voice and accountability index (estimate). PS = political stability and absence of violence/terrorism index (estimate). GT = government effectiveness (estimate). RQ = regulatory quality index (estimate). RS = safety and rule of law index (estimate). COC = control of corruption (estimate). FINGDP = financial system deposits to GDP ratio representing financial sector development. FG1 = ratio of foreign banks to total banks in the domestic country. FG2 = foreign bank assets to total bank sastest ratio. BCON = bank concentration. SB = z-score index. LERNER = banking competition. SG = stock market development.																
- cuprum anon t	INVP RO	ED L	INVS UIT	LEGA L	VA	CO C	GT	RQ	RS	PS	FG 1	FG 2	FING DP	SG	SB	LERN ER	BC ON
South Africa	8	8	8	0.09	0.61	0.1 9	0.5 0	0.5 2	71.8 5	- 0.0 7	21.4	25. 6	57.12	183. 8	22. 09	0.18	98. 95
Ghana	6	5	6	-0.06	0.35	- 0.1 1	- 0.0 8	- 0.0 7	72.5 8	0.0	53.3	63. 5	19.31	12.4 5	10. 13	0.38	79. 43
Egypt	5.2	3	5	-0.09	1.07	- 0.5 6	- 0.4 8	- 0.4 2	60.9 0	- 0.9 4	41.5	21	70.68	49.3 3	30. 70	0.18	64. 17
Tunisia	4.7	7	6	0.09	0.84	- 0.0 1	0.3 0	- 0.0 9	62.8 5	0.1 4	47.3	27. 1	49.52	13.8 1	5.1 5	0.31	80. 22
Morocco	3.5	2	2.3	-0.15	- 0.71	- 0.2 9	- 0.1 3	- 0.1 6	62.7 1	- 0.4 4	37.3	18. 6	76.44	55.9 0	19. 19	0.24	93. 05
Kenya	5	2	10	-0.95	0.28	0.9 6	0.5 5	0.2 2	51.4 7	1.2 5	28.2	38. 6	35.42	27.8 1	10. 41	0.33	57. 25
Uganda	4	5	5	-0.48	0.56	- 0.8 9	- 0.4 9	- 0.1 6	54.7 0	- 1.1	77.4	87. 7	16.08	10.3 2	15. 51	0.32	66. 22
Zambia	5.3	6	7	-0.50	0.26	- 0.5	- 0.7 2	- 0.5 2	64.4 7	0.3 0	80.3	89. 2	15.44	10.8	11. 60	0.22	70. 66
Tanzania	4.9	4	8	-0.40	0.24	- 0.6 1	- 0.5 1	- 0.4 3	61.4 6	0.3	62	61. 4	21.59	4.57	11. 17	0.34	60. 63
Ethiopia	4.3	4	5	-0.75	1.23	- 0.6 5	0.5 8	- 1.0 1	46.1 4	- 1.5 2	0	0	32.28	-	14. 22	0.52	72. 49
Togo	3.7	1	4	-0.93	1.12	- 0.9 5	1.4 3	- 0.8 5	52.6 0	- 0.3 6	20	49. 6	26.27	-	4.4 6	0.22	97. 48
Angola	5.7	6	6	-1.38	- 1.17	- 1.3 1	- 1.1 7	- 1.1 2	38.1 0	0.6	48.1	51. 6	19.59	-	15. 49	0.44	77. 06
Cameroun	4.3	1	6	-1.13	1.06	- 1.0 5	0.8	0.8 3	48.1 0	0.5	66.8	75. 6	14.91	-	15. 51	0.32	61. 81
Algeria	5.3	6	4	-0.68	- 0.97	- 0.5 6	- 0.5 5	- 0.8 6	51.1 7	- 1.2 8	55.8	8.4	41.12	-	14. 95	0.53	76. 77
Mauritius	7.7	8	9	0.94	0.85	0.4 9	0.7 7	0.7 2	86.4 9	0.8 7	66.2	61	86.26	47.6 4	19. 51	0.45	67. 30
Namibia	5.3	5	6	0.17	0.38	0.2 4	0.1 3	0.1 4	63.5 3	0.7 6	43	55. 6	43.05	7.14	9.3 3	-	100
Botswana	5.4	5.8	3	0.62	0.52	0.9 4	0.5 3	0.6 0	87.3 7	0.9 9	59.2	86. 8	36.15	31.5 5	20. 27	0.22	82. 85
Senegal	3	1	2	-0.21	0.03	- 0.2 9	0.3 4	0.2 4	61.7 3	0.2 1	76.3	81. 2	26.02	-	39. 01	0.31	67. 13
Nigeria	5.7	7	5	-1.28	0.75	- 1.1 3	1.0 3	- 0.8 8	43.2 6	- 1.9 2	16.2	8.7 5	18.45	17.5 4	0.8 8	0.19	60. 81
Malawi	5.3	7	5	-0.20	0.31	- 0.6 0	0.6 1	- 0.5 6	64.3 5	0.0 1	87.3	32. 3	14.53	17.4 8	9.8 3	0.26	96. 69
Mozambiqu e	5.7	3.5	8.5	-0.61	0.13	0.5	0.5	0.4	64.7 9	0.1 9	30	98. 1	27.41	-	1.8 9	0.24	91. 01

	BCON	CRISIS	COC	ΔDA	EDL	FINDEF	FG2	FG1	∆GDP	GT	INVPRO	DINVSUIT	LERNER	PS	RQ	LEGAL	RS	SG	VA	SB
BCON	1.000																			
CRISIS	-0.979	1.000																		
	0.000																			
COC	-0.032	0.088	1.000																	
	0.311	0.005																		
	0.000	0.004	0.051	1.000																
ΔDA	0.762	0.908	0.103																	
EDL	0.752	-0.723	0.263	-0.045	1.000															
	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.143																
FINDEP	-0.128	0.164	0.343	0.012	-0.067	1.000														
	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.680	0.030															
FG2	0.393	-0.449	0.097	-0.024	0.307	-0.459	1.000													
	0.000	0.000	0.002	0.439	0.000	0.000														
FG1	0.089	-0.212	-0.241	0.016	-0.105	-0.315	0.761	1.000												
	0.004	0.000	0.000	0.612	0.000	0.000	0.000													
AGDP	-0.069	0.004	-0 229	-0.021	-0 224	-0.401	0.258	0 322	1.000											
2001	0.025	0.894	0.000	0.508	0.000	0.000	0.238	0.000												
GT	0.157	-0.104	0.850	-0.054	0.406	0.470	-0.058	-0.302	-0.315	1.000										
	0.000	0.001	0.000	0.083	0.000	0.000	0.059	0.000	0.000											
	0.050	0.005	0.100	0.015	0.007	0.010	0.055	0.005	0.100	0.010	1 000									
INVPRO	0.859	-0.837	0.188	-0.017	0.907	0.012	0.357	-0.035	-0.138	0.318	1.000									
	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.567	0.000	0.095	0.000	0.240	0.000	0.000										
INVSUIT	-0.977	0.996	0.101	0.001	-0.699	0.163	-0.442	-0.207	0.016	-0.084	-0.813	1.000								
	0.000	0.000	0.001	0.963	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.588	0.006	0.000									
LERNER	-0.977	0.995	0.096	0.003	-0.719	0.165	-0.437	-0.197	0.016	-0.088	-0.838	0.990	1.000							
	0.000	0.000	0.002	0.932	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.604	0.004	0.000	0.000								
PS	-0.975	0.993	0.122	-0.000	-0.711	0.163	-0.434	-0.197	0.011	-0.074	-0.827	0.996	0.983	1.000						
	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.992	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.702	0.016	0.000	0.000	0.000							
RQ	-0.977	0.997	0.116	0.002	-0.710	0.182	-0.445	-0.221	-0.012	-0.074	-0.826	0.992	0.995	0.988	1.000					
	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.947	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.676	0.017	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000						
LEGAL	0 077	0 003	0.122	0.001	0.710	0.185	0.445	0.200	0.021	0.066	0.828	0.002	0.084	0 005	0.004	1 000				
LEGAL	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.965	0.0000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.491	0.032	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000					
RS	0.978	-0.993	0.005	-0.008	0.748	-0.130	0.480	0.209	-0.006	0.176	0.862	-0.989	-0.986	-0.985	-0.988	-0.986	1.000			
	0.000	0.000	0.867	0.796	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.836	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000				
SG	0.067	-0.045	-0.093	0.000	-0.047	-0.125	0.244	0.244	0.066	-0.139	0.037	-0.037	-0.046	-0.041	-0.050	-0.052	0.040	1.000		
	0.030	0.140	0.002	0.994	0.130	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.032	0.000	0.233	0.233	0.130	0.181	0.104	0.094	0.192			
VA	-0.183	0.252	0.635	-0.049	0.212	0.080	0.202	-0.194	-0.024	0.373	0.176	0.278	0.246	0.271	0.270	0.264	-0.172	0.011	1.000	
	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.114	0.000	0.009	0.000	0.000	0.426	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.705		
SB	0.348	-0.344	0.015	0.064	0.104	0.353	0.028	-0.033	0.0309	0.056	0.345	-0.345	-0.344	-0.347	-0.335	-0.340	0.367	-0.146	0.007	1.000

7.2. Investor Protection and Bank Earnings Smoothing

To determine the influence of investor protection on the earnings smoothing behaviour of African banks, the variables of interest are the INVPRO*EBTP, EDL*EBTP, INVSUIT*EBTP and LEGAL*EBTP interaction variables. The result is reported in Table 7.2.

INVPRO*EBTP coefficient is negatively significant at the 1% level, indicating that earnings smoothing via loan loss provision is reduced among banks in African countries with strong protection of minority shareholders rights. This result is consistent with the findings of Leuz et al. (2003) and Fonseca and Gonzalez (2008), and implies that banks in African countries that have strong institutions that protect minority shareholders rights have reduced incentive to use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings in order to avoid the risk of litigation associated with unlawful distortion of the financial reporting process to deceive investors.

EDL*EBTP coefficient is negatively significant at the 1% level, and indicates that earnings smoothing via loan loss provisions decreases among banks in African countries with greater director liability. This implies that the use of loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings is significantly reduced in environments where African bank executives are held liable for corporate actions.

LEGAL*EBTP coefficient is positively significant, and indicates that earnings smoothing via loan loss provision is positively associated with greater rule of law. This implies that earnings smoothing via loan loss provision is pronounced among banks in African countries that have strong enforcement of rule of law. This finding is consistent with Shen and Chih (2005) who also find a positive but insignificant coefficient sign for the LEGAL variable in their study. Moreover, Demirguc-Kunt and Detragiache (2002) suggest that strong legal enforcement should reduce the adverse effects of deposit insurance on bank risktaking behaviour which in turn would diminish bank's incentive to smooth earnings. Surprisingly, the finding in the analysis does not support this claim in the context of African banks. INVSUIT*EBTP coefficient is not significant.

Moreover, the protection of minority shareholders rights (INVPRO), ease of shareholder suit (INVSUIT) and the extent of director liability (EDL) should depend on the legal system (LEGAL) because the legal system in the each African country can work together to formulate laws that protect investors from managers' manipulation of financial reporting outcomes against the interests of investors, thus implying some complimentary effect. Hence, I test for this complementary effect when the LEGAL variable is interacted with each investor protection variable which is then interacted with EBTP variable.

The result in Table 7.1 show that LEGAL*INVPRO*EBTP and LEGAL*EDL*EBTP coefficients are negatively significant for African banks, except for the LEGAL*INVSUIT*EBTP coefficient. The significant signs for the LEGAL*INVPRO*EBTP and LEGAL*EDL*EBTP coefficients confirm the expected complementarity, and imply that stronger investor protection and high-quality legal enforcement systems in African countries jointly work together to discourage bank earnings smoothing via loan loss provisions.

In Column 8 of Table 7.2, all the interaction variables are run together in a single model, and the INVTPRO*LEGAL*EBTP coefficient is negatively significant and indicate that strong investor protection and legal systems work together to reduce the extent of income smoothing via LLP among African banks.

Overall, the results indicate that strong investor protection and strong legal institutions can discourage and/or reduce the incentive for African banks to use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings. The findings support the argument in the theoretical literature (e.g., Leuz et al. (2003)) which argue that investor protection can constrain earnings management behaviour because the presence of institutions that protect investors' rights can reduce the ability of firm insiders to acquire private control benefits and mitigate the incentive to manipulate accounting earnings because there is little or nothing to conceal from outsiders. Furthermore, the findings that strong investor protection and legal systems reduces the extent of income smoothing among banks also support the argument of Nobes and Parker (2008) who argue that

institutional enforcement quality can affect accounting quality in financial reporting. Therefore, the implication for my findings is that strong investor protection can improve the quality of accounting numbers reported in bank financial statements in Africa.

Table 7.2, Investor Protection and Bank Earnings Smoothing (Dynamic Panel Estimation)										
Variables	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8		
LLPt-1	-0.036	-0.016	-0.133***	0.0001	-0.011	0.003	-0.009	-0.062		
	(-1.06)	(-0.48)	(-3.45)	(0.002)	(-0.33)	(0.09)	(-0.31)	(-0.75)		
EBTP	0.589***	0.609***	0.454***	0.193***	0.201***	0.234***	0.212***	-0.217		
	(8.64)	(9.18)	(6.23)	(2.74)	(3.19)	(4.28)	(3.51)	(-0.21)		
NPL	0.075***	0.066***	0.357***	0.203***	0.062***	0.064***	0.199***	0.379***		
	(5.06)	(4.99)	(10.36)	(5.46)	(3.33)	(3.93)	(4.66)	(3.91)		
LOAN	-0.028***	-0.025***	-0.011	-0.005	-0.024***	-0.021***	-0.008	0.022		
	(-8.28)	(-6.78)	(-1.30)	(-0.40)	(-6.09)	(-5.13)	(-0.66)	(1.08)		
LOTA	0.004	0.007	-0.041***	0.037***	0.003	0.003	-0.036**	-0.001		
	(0.87)	(1.34)	(-2.98)	(-3.52)	(0.54)	(0.41)	(-2.55)	(-1.07)		
CAP	-0.079***	-0.088***	-0.161***	-0.046*	-0.086***	-0.087***	-0.054**	-0.057**		
	(-5.21)	(-5.79)	(-6.44)	(-1.93)	(-5.85)	(-6.34)	(-2.03)	(-1.96)		
SIZE	-0.009**	-0.010***	-0.026***	0.0007	-0.008*	-0.011***	-0.0005	-0.031		
	(-2.37)	(-2.62)	(-3.33)	(0.08)	(-1.72)	(-2.69)	(-0.06)	(-1.42)		
ΔGDP	-0.073*	-0.112**	-0.041	-0.173***	-0.166**	-0.198***	-0.156**	-0.264**		
	(-1.73)	(-2.27)	(-0.95)	(-2.76)	(-2.44)	(-2.99)	(-2.23)	(-2.04)		
INVPRO	0.003				0.003			-0.033		
DU/DDO*EDTD	(0.37)				(0.45)			(-0.78)		
INVPRO*EBTP	-0.059***							-0.276		
EDI	(-4.65)	0.0004				0.002		(-1.47)		
EDL		(0.08)				(0.37)		(0.51)		
FDL*FBTP		-0.057***				(0.57)		0.322		
		(-4 77)						(1.33)		
LEGAL		(-0.0002		-0.003	-0.004*	0.0009	-0.008		
-			(-0.10)		(-1.44)	(-1.95)	(0.27)	(-1.22)		
LEGAL*EBTP			0.024***		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	, í	, , , ,	-0.117		
			(3.62)					(-0.53)		
INVSUIT				0.002			0.002*	-0.004		
				(1.49)			(1.77)	(-0.81)		
INVSUIT*EBTP				0.004				0.002		
				(1.07)				(-0.03)		
INVPRO*LEGAL*EBTP					-0.024***			-0.245**		
					(-6.23)			(-2.11)		
EDL*LEGAL*EBTP						-0.029***		0.180		
						(-6.32)	0.0002	(1.53)		
INVSUIT*LEGAL*EBTP							0.0003			
Sorian (Latatistia)	20.70	20.01	40.52	14.62	20.29	20.60	(1.01)	10.56		
Sarjan (J-statistic)	29.19	29.01	40.32	14.05	30.38	29.09	14.00	10.50		
P-value	0.794	0.823	0.662	0.949	0.732	0.762	0.945	0.878		
AR(1)	0.887	0.762	0.049	0.001	0.958	0.569	0.004	0.057		
AR(2)	0.958	0.992	0.137	0.612	0.993	0.966	0.539	0.468		
Observations	1057	1057	1398	1011	1057	1057	1011	1016		
GMM regression based on Ar	ellano and Bond	(1991) first diffe	erence estimator v	with standard error	rs are not clustere	d. Regression incl	udes first differ	ence and		
period effects. GMM instrum	ents are only appl	lied to the lagge	d dependent varia	ble. Period fixed e	effects are not trar	sformed in the G	MM estimation	. AR (1) and		
AR (2) test for the presence o	f first-order and s	second-order ser	ial correlation in t	he first-difference	e residuals, respec	tively. $LLPt-1 = 1$	agged depender	nt variable. All		

back-level variables remain as previously defined. INVPRO = strength of investor protection index for each African country. ELCL = extent of director liability index for each African country. INVSUIT = ease of shareholder suits index for each African country. LEGAL = extent of, and enforcement of, the rule of law. T-Statistics are reported in parentheses. ***, **, * indicate significance at the 1%, 5%, and 10% level, respectively.

7.3. Political Economy and Bank Earnings Smoothing

To detect the influence of political economy on bank earnings smoothing, the variables of interest are the VA*EBTP, COC*EBTP, RS*EBTP, PS*EBTP, RQ*EBTP and GT*EBTP interaction variables. The result is reported in Table 7.3.

VA*EBTP coefficient is insignificant indicating that bank earnings smoothing via loan loss provision is not significantly associated with voice and accounting levels across African countries. COC*EBTP coefficient is positively significant, indicating that bank earnings smoothing is significantly associated with corruption control, implying that the use of loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings is pronounced among banks in African countries with greater corruption control. RS*EBTP coefficient is insignificant indicating that bank earnings smoothing is not significantly associated with safety and rule of law. PS*EBTP coefficient is positively significant, indicating that bank earnings smoothing via loan loss provision is significantly associated with political stability and absence of violence and terrorism levels in the African region. RQ*EBTP coefficient is insignificant; indicating that bank earnings smoothing is not significantly associated with regulatory quality. GT coefficient is insignificant, indicating that bank earnings smoothing is not significantly associated with government effectiveness.

Of the six political economy variables, only COC*EBTP and PS*EBTP coefficients are significant and imply that the use of loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings is more pronounced among banks in African countries with greater corruption control and greater political stability and absence of violence. In Column 7, all the interaction variables are re-run together. The PS*EBTP and COC*EBTP coefficients are positively significant in Column 7 and confirm that bank income smoothing via loan loss provisions in Africa is positively associated with greater political stability and corruption control. However,

VA*EBTP, RS*EBTP and GT*EBTP coefficients are negatively significant, and suggests that bank income smoothing via loan loss provisions in Africa is negatively associated with greater voice and accountability, legal protection and government effectiveness.

The implication of the findings is that political economy differences in African countries have some impact on bank earnings management behaviour that takes the form of earnings smoothing through the

use of loan loss provisions, depending on the political economy factor examined.³⁷ The findings support the argument in the theoretical literature (e.g., Leuz et al. (2003)) which argue that institutional factors (in this case, political economy institutions) can constrain earnings management behaviour because the presence of institutions that protect the legal right of investors can reduce the ability of firm insiders to acquire private control benefits and mitigate the incentive to manipulate accounting earnings because there is little or nothing to conceal from outsiders.

Furthermore, the findings that political economy factors such as greater accountability, government effectiveness and legal protection can reduce the extent of bank income smoothing via loan loss provisions suggests that any deliberate action taken by regulators to establish stronger political economy institutions in Africa can improve the accounting quality among African banks. This also supports the theoretical argument of Nobes and Parker (2008) who argue that institutional enforcement quality can affect accounting quality in financial reporting. Therefore, the implication for my findings is that strong political economy can improve the quality of accounting numbers reported in bank financial statements in Africa

³⁷ In a non-African study, Fonseca and Gonzalez (2008) study also use these political economy variables in their cross-country study and did not find any significant association between provisions-based earnings smoothing and political economy characteristics of each country; hence, they excluded the analysis from their final study published in the Journal of Banking and Finance.

Table 7.3. Impact of Political Economy on Earning Smoothing Incentives (Dynamic Estimation)									
Variables	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)		
LLPt-1	-0.189***	-0.130***	-0.073***	-0.066*	-0.127***	-0.138***	-0.061		
	(-4.71)	(-3.32)	(-3.18)	(-1.92)	(-3.32)	(-3.72)	(-1.37)		
EBTP	0.519***	0.558***	0.603***	0.422***	0.437***	0.544***	1.986		
	(7.84)	(5.86)	(3.36)	(5.21)	(6.11)	(6.09)	(0.54)		
NPL	0.273***	0.418***	0.392***	0.369***	0.366***	0.404***	0.469***		
	(8.12)	(11.63)	(11.36)	(11.47)	(11.03)	(11.82)	(10.92)		
LOAN	-0.009	0.009	0.013***	-0.001	-0.007	-0.011	0.014**		
	(-1.18)	(1.57)	(3.21)	(-0.17)	(-1.01)	(-1.51)	(1.94)		
LOTA	-0.016	-0.031**	-0.018***	-0.027***	-0.047***	-0.032**	-0.001**		
	(-1.12)	(-2.51)	(-2.68)	(-2.86)	(-3.54)	(-2.39)	(-2.10)		
CAP	-0.163***	-0.186***	-0.092***	-0.121***	-0.160***	-0.207***	-0.079***		
	(-5.93)	(-7.79)	(-4.11)	(-5.43)	(-6.33)	(-8.37)	(-2.86)		
SIZE	-0.021**	-0.036***	-0.019***	-0.023***	-0.024***	-0.044***	-0.014		
	(-2.50)	(-5.16)	(-2.97)	(-3.19)	(-3.18)	(-6.02)	(-1.19)		
ΔGDP	-0.109***	-0.086**	-0.104***	-0.064**	-0.052	-0.059	-0.073		
	(-2.82)	(-2.02)	(-3.35)	(-2.41)	(-1.56)	(-1.41)	(-0.90)		
VA	-0.044**						0.069***		
VA*EDTD	(-2.47)						(3.21)		
VA*EBTP	-0.104						-0./99***		
600	(-0.86)	0.021					(-3.65)		
COC		-0.021					-0.039**		
COC*EPTD	-	(-1.41)					(-2.10)		
COC EDII		(2.82)					(4.94)		
RS		(2.82)	0.041				-0.184**		
KB			(1.04)				(-2.52)		
RS*FBTP			-0.022				0.407		
			(-0.48)				(-0.47)		
RO			(0110)	-0.001			0.006		
				(-0.78)			(0.95)		
RQ*EBTP				0.007			-0.101		
				(1.40)			(-1.07)		
PS					-0.0002		0.011		
					(-0.09)		(1.41)		
PS*EBTP					0.021***		0.129*		
					(3.36)		(1.74)		
GT						0.030	0.048**		
						(1.57)	(2.23)		
GT*EBTP						0.034	0.558***		
~ · · · · ·			1.0.00			(0.23)	(-2.76)		
Sarjan (J- statistic)	43.22	37.59	43.00	38.18	39.61	43.63	29.38		
P-value	0.548	0.776	0.514	0.754	0.699	0.530	0.599		
$\Delta \mathbf{R}(1)$	0.129	0.032	0.114	0.004	0.048	0.002	0.113		
AR(2)	0.164	0.107	0 393	0.192	0.181	0.076	0.745		
observations	1398	1344	917	1383	1398	1398	895		
GMM regression	based on Arella	no and Bond (199	1) first difference es	timator with standar	d errors are not clus	tered. Regression inc	cludes first		
difference and per GMM estimation. respectively. LLP Bank level variab	riod effects. GM AR (1) and AR t-1 = lagged deples remain as pr	IM instruments are 2 (2) test for the pr pendent variable. (eviously defined.	e only applied to the esence of first-order Other bank-level var VA = voice and acc	lagged dependent va and second-order sa iables remain as pre- ountability, and refle	ariable. Period fixed erial correlation in th viously defined. T-S ects perceptions of th	effects are not trans as first-difference res- tatistics are reported as extent to which a c	formed in the siduals, in parentheses. country's citizens		

difference and period effects. GMM instruments are only applied to the lagged dependent variable. Period fixed effects are not transformed in the GMM estimation. AR (1) and AR (2) test for the presence of first-order and second-order serial correlation in the first-difference residuals, respectively. LLPt-1 = lagged dependent variable. Other bank-level variables remain as previously defined. T-Statistics are reported in parentheses. Bank level variables remain as previously defined. T-Statistics are reported in parentheses. Bank level variables remain as previously defined. VA = voice and accountability, and reflects perceptions of the extent to which a country's citizens are able to participate in selecting their government, as well as freedom of expression, freedom of association, and a free media. PS = political stability and absence of violence/terrorism index, and measures perceptions of the likelihood of political instability and/or politically-motivated violence, including terrorism. GT = government effectiveness, and reflects perceptions of the quality of public services, the quality of the government's commitment to such policies. RQ = regulatory quality, and reflects perceptions of the ability of the government to formulate and implement sound policies and regulations that permit and promote private sector development. RS = Safety and Rule of Law index, and measures perceptions of the extent to which agents have confidence in and abide by the rules of society, and in particular the quality of contract enforcement, property rights, the police, and the courts, as well as the likelihood of crime and violence. RS is the natural logarithm of the 'safety and rule of law index'. COC = Control of corruption, as well as "capture" of the state by elites and private interests. All countries variables are obtained from Kauffman (2011)'s World governance indicators EXCEPT the rule and safety variable obtained from the MO Ibrahim foundation. T-Statistics are reported in parentheses. ***, ***, * indicate significanc

7.4. Financial Development, Concentration, Competition and Stability

To determine the influence of financial development on the earnings smoothing behaviour of African banks, the variables of interest are the FG1*EBTP, FG2*EBTP, FINGDP*EBTP and SG*EBTP interaction variables. The result is reported in Table 7.4.

The FINGDP*EBTP coefficient is insignificant; indicating that bank earnings smoothing is not significantly associated with the level of financial sector development. This finding is inconsistent with Fonseca and Gonzalez (2008) who find that bank earnings smoothing increases in environments with greater financial development. FG1*EBTP coefficient is negatively significant at the 1% level, indicating that the use of loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings is reduced among banks in African countries with greater foreign bank presence. This finding support the argument of Rajan and Zingales (2003), and implies that greater foreign bank presence in African countries put pressure on all banks (in the country) to improve their accounting disclosures which in turn can discourage earnings smoothing. Rajan and Zingales (2003) show that the presence of foreign firms in developing countries may compel domestic firms to perform better and to improve their accounting disclosure quality and contract enforcement. FG2*EBTP coefficient is insignificant.

With regard to capital market development, the SG*EBTP coefficient is negatively significant at the 1% level, indicating that bank earnings smoothing is inversely associated with capital market development, implying that bank earnings smoothing via loan loss provision is reduced in African countries with well-developed capital markets. The LERNER*EBTP coefficient is positively significant and indicates that bank earnings smoothing is significantly associated with cross-country banking competition, implying that the use of loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings is more pronounced among banks in competitive banking markets in Africa. The BCON*EBTP coefficient is negatively significant, and implies that the use of loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings is reduced when banks are in concentrated banking markets in Africa. The SB*EBTP coefficient is insignificant; indicating that bank earnings smoothing is not significantly associated with cross-country banking system stability.

Finally, in Column 8, the interaction variables are re-run together. The BCON*EBTP and FG1*EBTP coefficients are negatively significant in Column 8 and further confirm that bank income smoothing via loan loss provisions in Africa is negatively associated with greater banking concentration and foreign bank presence. The implication of the findings is that banking concentration and foreign bank presence in African countries have some impact on bank earnings management behaviour that takes the form of earnings smoothing through the use of loan loss provisions. The findings support the theoretical arguments of Rajan and Zingales (2003) and Claessens and Laeven (2004).

Table 7.4. Financial Sector Development, Stability and Competition (Dynamic Estimation)										
Variables	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)		
LLPt-1	-0.115***	-0.379***	-0.139***	0.026	-0.046	0.088**	-0.029	0.034		
	(-2.91)	(-9.23)	(-2.93)	(1.58)	(-1.10)	(2.09)	(-1.27)	(0.45)		
EBTP	0.378**	0.402***	0.552***	0.969***	1.162***	0.433***	0.218***	5.499**		
	(2.49)	(8.05)	(3.91)	(3.98)	(5.46)	(3.57)	(8.91)	(2.10)		
NPL	0 354***	0 345***	0 361***	0.219***	0 372***	0 127***	0.080***	0.288***		
1112	(12.28)	(12.36)	(9.31)	(9.43)	(12.16)	(4.18)	(5.56)	(5.95)		
LOAN	-0.009	-0.005	-0.011	0.009**	0.0005	-0.018***	-0.019***	0.0003		
	(-1.28)	(-0.82)	(-1.40)	(2.49)	(0.08)	(-3.21)	(-8.84)	(0.04)		
LOTA	-0.029**	-0.014	-0.023	-0.024***	-0.020	-0.005***	0.006	-0.0004**		
	(-2.51)	(-1.08)	(-1.62)	(-4.45)	(-1.54)	(-0.43)	(1.46)	(-2.06)		
CAP	-0.192***	-0.182***	-0.188***	-0.034***	-0.193***	-0.064***	-0.088***	-0.018		
	(-8.40)	(-10.02)	(-7.77)	(-2.71)	(-8.02)	(-4.61)	(-9.01)	(-0.61)		
SIZE	-0.030***	-0.034***	-0.042***	-0.004	-0.004***	-0.005	-0.012***	0.009		
	(-4.29)	(-4.44)	(-5.29)	(-1.17)	(-4.84)	(-0.96)	(-3.70)	(1.19)		
ΔGDP	-0.062*	-0.153***	-0.050	-0.135***	-0.121*	-0.052*	-0.084**	-0.201*		
	(-1.67)	(-3.58)	(-0.93)	(-4.49)	(-1.91)	(-1.75)	(-2.52)	(-1.75)		
FINGDP	-0.0003							-0.0008		
	(-0.99)							(-0.87)		
FINGDP*EBTP	0.006							0.006		
	(1.58)							(1.49)		
LERNER		-0.009***						0.024		
		(-3.49)						(1.50)		
LERNER*EBTP		0.045***						-0.306		
(T)		(2.87)	0.000#					(-1.46)		
SB			-0.002*					0.001**		
(D*CDTD			(-1./2)					(2.37)		
SB*EB1P			-0.004					-0.038***		
PCON			(-0.37)	0.000				(-2.74)		
BCON				(0.78)				(1.24)		
BCON*ERTP				0.176***				1.060*		
DCOIV EDIT				(-3.00)				(-1.88)		
FG1				(3.00)	-0.0007**			0.0004		
101					(-2.04)			(0.78)		
FG1*EBTP					-0.011***			-0.038***		
					(-2.94)			(-6.43)		
FG2					. ,	0.0001		-0.001***		
						(0.48)		(-4.02)		
FG2*EBTP						-0.001		0.023***		
						(-0.69)		(4.88)		
SG							-0.00001***	-0.0001		
							(5.08)	(-0.26)		
SG*EBTP							-0.00001***	0.0001		
							(-4.27)	(0.16)		
Sarjan (J-	42.74	40.23	43.28	40.36	48.69	31.38	41.22	18.23		
statistic)										
P-value	0.568	0.674	0.545	0.668	0.056	0.688	0.41	0.51		
AR(1)	0.000	0.032	0.042	0.015	0.448	0.000	0.002	0.071		
AR(2)	0.041	0.107	0.112	0.232	0.18	0.735	0.097	0.823		
observation	1348	1212	1344	1278	1357	1233	895	627		
GMM regression ba	GMM regression based on Arellano and Bond (1991) first difference estimator. GMM standard errors are not clustered. Regression includes first difference and period									
effects. GMM instr	effects. GMM instruments are only applied to the lagged dependent variable. Period fixed effects are not transformed in the GMM estimation. AR (1) and AR (2) test									
for the presence of	first-order and s	econd-order serial	l correlation in the	e first-difference re	esiduals, respectivel	y. LLPt-1 = lagged d	ependent variable. C	Other variables		
remain as previousl	y defined. FIN_	GDP = measure t	he level of financi	al sector develops	nent. FG1 = ratio of	foreign banks to tota	al banks in the dome	stic country. FG2		
= foreign bank asse	ts to total bank a	assets ratio. BCO	N = natural logarit	hm of bank conce	ntration. $SB = z-sco$	ore index that measur	e banking stability w	vith higher values		
indicating greater b	anking stability	(that is lower inso	olvency risk) and v	vice versa. CRISIS	$\mathbf{s} = \text{country-level du}$	mmy variable that ta	ke the value one for	countries have		
had a major banking	g crisis, and zero	o otherwise. LER	NER = measure cr	oss-country bank	ing competition. Hig	gher values indicate	greater banking com	petitiveness. SG =		
stock market capita	lisation to gross	domestic ratio, re	flecting capital m	arket developmen	t. 1-statistics are rej	ported in parentheses	. ***, **, * indicate	significance at the		

7.5. Sensitivity Analysis

7.5.1. Interaction: Investor Protection and Political Economy

Pagano and Volpin (2005) argue that the political process of a country can play a significant role in the formulation of laws that protect investors in the country because politicians and other interest groups contribute to the decision-making process that leads to the formulation of laws and creation of institutions intended to protect the right of minority shareholders across countries. This argument suggests some complementarity between investor protection and political economy. Accordingly, to test for this complementarity, I interact the investor protection proxies with the political economy variables to take into account the complementary effect of the political process and investor protection on bank earnings smoothing via loan loss provisions for African banks. The result is reported in Table 7.5.

The coefficient signs for all the two-way interaction terms are negatively significant, and confirm that stronger (or higher) investor protection and political economy work together to discourage the use of loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings among banks in African countries.

Table 7.5. Interaction Analysis: Investor Protection and Political Economy												
Variables	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8				
LLPt-1	-0.023	-0.051	-0.015	-0.045	-0.012	-0.043	-0.002	-0.041				
	(-0.57)	(-1.43)	(-0.54)	(-1.13)	(-0.30)	(-1.23)	(-0.09)	(-1.03)				
EBTP	0.358***	0.322***	0.262***	0.359***	0.369***	0.323***	-0.267***	0.380***				
	(7.69)	(7.23)	(4.66)	(7.06)	(7.53)	(6.67)	(-4.95)	(6.71)				
NPL	-0.009	0.058***	0.140***	0.062***	-0.006	0.057***	0.139***	0.059***				
	(-0.39)	(2.84)	(5.70)	(2.97)	(-0.23)	(2.73)	(5.55)	(2.58)				
LOAN	-0.028***	-0.024***	-0.013***	-0.023***	-0.028***	-0.026***	-0.012***	-0.025***				
LOTA	(-4.20)	(-4.91)	(-3.45)	(-3.94)	(-4.01)	(-5.21)	(-2.88)	(-3.86)				
LOTA	(1.82)	0.008	-0.028***	-0.0009	-0.028*	0.009	-0.028***	-0.001				
CAP	-0.058***	-0.085***	-0.045**	-0.086***	-0.067***	-0.088***	-0.045**	-0.089***				
Chi	(-3.15)	(-4.73)	(-2.21)	(-4.82)	(-3.50)	(-5.05)	(-2.12)	(-5.27)				
SIZE	-0.013**	-0.012*	0.006	-0.013*	-0.012*	-0.008	0.005	-0.008				
	(-2.01)	(-1.79)	(0.89)	(-1.75)	(-1.82)	(-1.13)	(0.64)	(-1.02)				
ΔGDP	-0.091***	-0.114**	-0.068	-0.084	-0.097***	-0.103*	-0.064	-0.086				
	(-2.70)	(-2.21)	(-1.31)	(-1.56)	(-2.64)	(-1.93)	(-1.19)	(-1.50)				
INVPRO	-0.019**	-0.012	-0.005	-0.008								
	(-2.15)	(-1.37)	(-0.82)	(-0.87)								
EDL					-0.011*	-0.008	-0.001	-0.006				
X7 A	0.001***				(-1.65)	(-1.34)	(-0.30)	(-0.93)				
VA	-0.081***				-0.069***							
COC	(-5.57)	0.003			(-+.+))	0.002						
coc		(0.22)				(0.14)						
RQ			-0.002*				-0.002*					
			(-1.66)				(-1.89)					
GT				0.046**				0.048**				
				(2.35)				(2.42)				
INVPRO*VA*EBTP	-0.051**											
NUDDO*COC*EDTD	(-2.11)	0.021**										
INVPRO*COC*EBTP		-0.021**										
INVPRO*RO*FBTP		(=2.41)	-0.010***									
			(-4.56)									
INVPRO*GT*EBTP				-0.049***								
				(-3.02)								
EDL*VA*EBTP					-0.047**							
					(-2.15)							
EDL*COC*EBTP						-0.016**						
EDI *DO*EDTD						(-2.24)	0.014***					
EDL*RQ*EB1P							-0.014***					
FDL*GT*FBTP							(-+.37)	-0.048***				
								(-3.12)				
Sarjan (J-statistic)	42.93	30.09	21.37	27.56	42.06	30.01	22.32	26.09				
		0.515		0.040								
P-value	0.199	0.745	0.941	0.843	0.225	0.748	0.920	0.887				
AR(1)	0.039	0.000	0.000	0.001	0.053	0.000	0.001	0.001				
AR(2)	0.200	0.872	0.819	0.154	0.573	0.724	0.977	0.138				
observations	1057	10.57	1042	1057	1057	1057	1042	1057				
GMM regression based on Are	liano and Bond (1	991) first differen	ce estimator with	standard errors cl	ustered by bank and toot for the merid	nd year. Regression	on includes first d	apprication and apprication and apprication and apprication and approximation and approximately appr				
correlation in the first difference	its are only applie	ctively I Dt 1 -	lagged dependent	variable All box	test for the prese	emain as praviou	and second-order	serial extent of				
voice and accountability for ea	ch African countr	v. $PS = extent of r$	maged dependent olitical stability a	nd absence of vio	lence/terrorism fo	r each African co	untry. $GT = exten$	t of				
government effectiveness for e	ach African count	ry. $RQ = regulato$	ry quality for each	African country.	RS = safety and r	ule of law for eac	h African country	, measured as				
	C 1 1 C1	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·										

the natural logarithm of the 'safety and rule of law index'. COC = extent of corruption control. INVPRO = strength of investor protection index for each African country. EDL = extent of director liability index for each African country. INVSUIT = ease of shareholder suits index for each African country. LEGAL = extent of, and enforcement of, the rule of law. T-Statistics are reported in parentheses. ***, **, indicate significance at the 0.01, 0.05, and 0.10 level, respectively.

7.5.2. Interaction: Foreign bank presence and Political Economy

Further, Acemoglu et al. (2003) show that the political process (and politicians) in developing countries (e.g. Mexico) can have some influence on financial development especially when the political environment encourages rent-seeking practices that allow politicians to unethically appropriate funds and channel funds from banks to areas that serve the greater interest of politicians, which negatively affects financial development in the country. Banks in such environment have incentives to distort the financial reporting process by smoothing reported earnings to hide their rent-seeking behaviour and their misappropriation of funds from scrutiny by regulators. When this is the case, banks in such environments may smooth reported earnings to appear stable over time while misappropriating funds; thus, I test whether earnings smoothing via loan loss provision among African banks is significantly associated with the level of financial development and political economy. The result is reported in Table 7.6.

The FG1*COC*EBTP, FG1*RQ*EBTP, FG1*GT*EBTP, FG2*COC*EBTP and FG2*GT*EBTP

coefficients are all positively significant, and imply that earnings smoothing via loan loss provision is pronounced among banks in African countries that jointly have greater foreign bank presence, greater regulatory quality and greater government effectiveness. The FINGDP*COC*EBTP coefficient is also positively significant, implying that earnings smoothing via loan loss provision is pronounced among banks in African countries that jointly have greater financial sector development and greater corruption control.

Table 7.6. Interaction: Foreign Bank Presence and Political Economy (Dynamic Estimation)											
Variables	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9		
LLPt-1	-0.109***	-0.082**	-0.129***	-0.131***	-0.086**	-0.140***	0.024	0.034	0.074		
	(-2.63)	(-2.44)	(-3.40)	(-2.99)	(-2.51)	(-3.31)	(0.61)	(0.25)	(1.40)		
EBTP	0.608***	0.483***	0.568**	0.594***	0.393***	0.661***	0.381***	0.303***	0.498***		
	(8.99)	(5.82)	(7.14)	(5.99)	(5.07)	(7.37)	(6.59)	(3.75)	(6.18)		
NPL	0.407***	0.362***	0.371***	0.388***	0.351***	0.364***	0.168***	0.179***	0.144***		
	(11.88)	(10.97)	(10.74)	(10.54)	(12.07)	(9.29)	(5.29)	(6.69)	(3.65)		
LOAN	-0.001	0.0007	0.003	0.025***	0.008	0.016***	-0.008**	-0.014**	0.0001		
LOTA	(-0.17)	0.031***	(0.38)	0.008	(1.34)	(2.84)	(-2.11)	(-2.27)	0.007		
LUIA	(-2.01)	(-3.43)	(-2.46)	-0.008	(-3.31)	(-0.94)	(1.37)	(-1.86)	(0.81)		
CAP	-0.203***	-0.130***	-0.198***	-0.172**	-0.132***	-0.186***	-0.041**	-0.073***	-0.046*		
	(-7.84)	(-5.98)	(-7.24)	(-7.47)	(-6.30)	(-7.57)	(-1.97)	(-3.31)	(-1.85)		
SIZE	-0.031***	-0.023***	-0.046***	-0.037***	-0.023***	-0.045***	0.0005	-0.007	-0.002		
	(-4.25)	(-2.94)	(-6.90)	(-5.26)	(-3.00)	(-6.59)	(0.11)	(-1.07)	(-0.32)		
ΔGDP	-0.069*	-0.083***	-0.111**	-0.111*	-0.155**	-0.158**	-0.037	-0.085***	0.002		
	(-1.71)	(-3.19)	(-2.36)	(-1.66)	(-2.50)	(-2.35)	(-1.02)	(-3.18)	(0.03)		
FINGDP	-0.001***	0.0001	0.0007**								
EC1	(-2.80)	(0.26)	(1.97)	0.0006	0.0004	0.008					
FOI				-0.0000	-0.0004	(-0.42)					
FG2				(1.17)	(1.00)	(0.42)	-0.00001	0.0002	0.0001		
							(-0.04)	(1.39)	(0.69)		
COC	-0.007			-0.031**			-0.028**				
	(-0.49)			(-2.40)			(-2.42)				
RQ		-0.001			-0.002**			-0.002			
GT		(-1.03)	0.05244		(-2.30)	0.000		(-0.90)	0.000++++		
GT			0.053**			-0.009			-0.089***		
FINCDP*COC*EBTP	0.010**		(2.30)			(-0.36)			(-3.80)		
TINODI COC EDIT	(2.49)										
FINGDP*RQ*EBTP	(=,)	0.0001									
		(1.12)									
FINGDP*GT*EBTP			-0.004								
			(-1.04)								
FG1*COC*EBTP				0.008**							
EC1*DO*EDTD				(2.54)	0.0002**						
FOI*KQ*EDIP					(2.17)						
FG1*GT*EBTP					(2.17)	0.010***					
						(3.42)					
FG2*COC*EBTP							0.009***				
							(9.53)				
FG2*RQ*EBTP								0.00002			
						-		(0.01)	0.000.000		
FG2*G1*EB1P									0.009***		
Sarian	36.86	38.39	44.58	37 32	38.61	36.15	25.69	33.86	24.36		
(J-statistic)	50.00	30.37	00.77	51.52	50.01	50.15	23.09	55.00	24.30		
P-value	0.769	0.709	0.447	0.752	0.701	0.794	0.875	0.474	0.911		
AR (1)	0.002	0.092	0.020	0.018	0.179	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.008		
AR(2)	0.042	0.012	0.923	0.123	0.418	0.000	0.138	0.988	0.217		
Observations	1294	1333	1348	1303	1342	1357	1179	1218	1233		
GMM regression based on	Arellano and B	ond (1991) first	t difference esti	mator and GMM	standard errors ar	e not clustered. Re	egression includes	s first difference	e and period		
effects. GMM instruments	are only applied	to the lagged of	lependent varia	ble. AR(1) and A	R(2) test for the p	presence of first-or	der and second-or	rder serial corre	lation in the		
first-difference residuals, r	espectively. Bar	nk-level variable	es remain as pre	eviously defined.	T-Statistics are re	ported in parenthe	eses. ***, **, * in	dicate significat	nce at the		
0.01 0.05 and 0.10 level	respectively FC	i I = ratio of for	eign banks to to	tal banks in the d	Iomestic country	H(i) = foreign have	uk assets to total h	ank assets ratio	VA -		

0.01, 0.05, and 0.10 level, respectively. FG1 = ratio of foreign banks to total banks in the domestic country. FG2 = foreign bank assets to total bank assets ratio. VA = extent of voice and accountability for each African country. PS = extent of political stability and absence of violence/terrorism for each African country. GT = extent of government effectiveness for each African country. RQ = regulatory quality for each African country. RS = safety and rule of law for each African country, measured as the natural logarithm of the 'safety and rule of law index'. COC = extent of corruption control.

7.5.3. Interaction: Foreign Bank Presence and Ownership Concentration

Finally, following Rajan and Zingales (2003) and Bouvatier et al. (2014), some complementarity between disperse ownership and greater foreign bank presence is expected in the sense that managers of widelyheld banks can be further constrained from manipulating reported earnings when they are in environments with greater foreign bank presence. Therefore, I test whether earnings smoothing is pronounced or reduced among widely-held banks in African countries with greater foreign bank presence. The result is reported in Table 7.7.

The FG1*DISP*EBTP and FG1*CN1*EBTP coefficients are negatively significant and confirm the earlier result, implying that greater foreign bank presence and disperse bank ownership work together to put additional monitoring on African bank managers to discourage the use of loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings in financial reports. The FG1*CN3*EBTP coefficient is positively significant and confirms the earlier result, implying that earnings smoothing via loan loss provision is pronounced among banks with concentrated ownership in African countries with greater foreign bank presence.

Table 7.7. Foreign Bank Presence and Ownership Concentration: Interaction Result.										
Variables	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)
LLPt-1	0.004	0.051**	0.003	0.097***	-0.133***	-0.138***	0.052*	0.078***	0.034	0.089**
	(0.14)	(2.05)	(0.10)	(2.90)	(-3.32)	(-3.75)	(1.67)	(2.98)	(1.43)	(2.17)
EBTP	0.115***	0.126***	0.088**	-0.356***	0.536***	0.447***	0.142***	0.128***	0.104***	-0.428***
	(2.69)	(3.48)	(2.52)	(-4.69)	(7.22)	(6.95)	(3.98)	(3.17)	(3.05)	(-6.12)
NPL	0.081***	0.091***	0.085***	0.029	0.385***	0.412***	0.052***	0.051***	0.065***	-0.0003
	(4.32)	(4.85)	(4.67)	(1.55)	(11.98)	(13.74)	(3.36)	(3.26)	(4.06)	(-0.02)
LOAN	-0.022***	-0.019***	-0.021***	-0.022***	-0.012*	-0.0004	-0.023***	-0.019***	-0.022***	-0.019***
	(-6.52)	(-4.99)	(-6.20)	(-5.27)	(-1.71)	(-0.06)	(-6.77)	(-5.21)	(-6.98)	(-3.70)
LOTA	0.006	0.0002	0.004	0.013**	-0.036***	-0.048***	0.012**	0.015**	0.008	0.016**
	(1.23)	(0.02)	(0.89)	(2.15)	(-2.76)	(-4.47)	(2.15)	(2.14)	(1.42)	(2.21)
CAP	-0.076***	-0.083***	-0.080***	-0.083***	-0.186***	-0.192***	-0.075***	-0.076***	-0.072***	-0.059***
	(-6.25)	(-6.99)	(-6.92)	(-6.53)	(-8.02)	(-7.83)	(-7.11)	(-6.61)	(-6.84)	(-3.32)
SIZE	-0.011***	-0.009**	-0.009**	-0.009**	-0.039**	-0.027***	-0.008***	-0.008***	0.006**	-0.011***
	(-2.94)	(-2.26)	(-2.47)	(-2.04)	(-5.43)	(-4.10)	(-2.61)	(-2.76)	(-2.24)	(-3.47)
ΔGDP	-0.195***	-0.181***	-0.190***	-0.183***	-0.054	-0.107***	-0.146***	-0.154***	-0.145***	-0.179***
	(-6.29)	(-5.54)	(-5.99)	(-5.37)	(-1.35)	(-2.94)	(-5.58)	(-5.66)	(-5.89)	(-4.15)
DISP*EBTP	-0.175*									
	(-1.69)									
CN1*EBTP		-0.473***								
		(-3.49)								
CN2*EBTP			-0.159							
			(-1.03)							
CN3*EBTP				0.598***						
				(6.05)						
GW*EBTP					-0.183					
					(-0.46)					
GS*EBTP						-16.249				
						(-1.00)				
FG1*DISP*EBTP							-0.005***			
							(-3.31)			
FG1*CN1*EBTP								-0.009***		
								(-3.55)		
FG1*CN2*EBTP									-0.003	
									(-1.33)	

FG1*CN3*EBTP										0.015***
										(6.25)
J-Statistic	48.57	38.61	46.07	41.01	45.03	41.82	48.70	43.72	46.45	42.24
Prob(J-Statistic)	0.369	0.772	0.469	0.681	0.513	0.648	0.365	0.568	0.454	0.630
AR(1)	0.001	0.0003	0.001	0.0001	0.002	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001
AR(2)	0.889	0.969	0.928	0.366	0.121	0.071	0.534	0.848	0.718	0.287
Observations	1091	1094	1094	1094	1398	1398	1080	1083	1083	1083
T-Statistics are reported in parentheses. ***, **, * indicate significance at the 0.01, 0.05, and 0.10 level, respectively. GMM regression is based on Arellano and Bond										
(1991) first-difference GMM estimator and includes first-difference and period fixed effect. The GMM panel estimator controls for potential endogeneity by using										
instruments based on lagged values of the explanatory variables in the model. GMM standard errors are not clustered. All bank-level variables remain as previously										
defined. DISP = dummy variable that equal one if no majority shareholder that holds at least 50% direct equity and zero otherwise, representing African banks with a										
more dispersed ownership structure. CN1 = dummy variable equal one if a majority shareholder that holds 50% but below 70% and zero otherwise, representing										
banks with moderately-weak ownership control. CN2 = dummy variable that equal one if there are two majority shareholders that jointly hold at least 70% direct										
equity holdings and zero otherwise, representing African banks with moderately-strong ownership control. CN3 = dummy variable that equal one if one majority										
shareholder holds at least 70% direct equity and zero otherwise, representing banks with concentrated ownership. GS = dummy variable that equal one if there is a										
government/state shareholder holds at least 50% direct equity and zero otherwise, representing banks with strong government ownership control. GW = dummy										
variable that equal one if there is a government/state shareholder holds less than 40 direct equity and zero otherwise, representing banks with weak government										
ownership control. I	ownership control. FG1 = ratio of foreign banks to total banks in the domestic country.									

7.6. Robustness

7.6.1 Multicollinearity Checks

To check for multicollinearity, I use the mean-centring approach to test for multicollinearity. The meancentring approach involves deducting the mean of the series from each observation in the series such that the sums of the mean-centred observations are zero. Using the mean-centred variables, I rerun the main regression results to detect whether the results are consistent. The results in Table 7.7 and Table 7.8 confirm the initial results and imply that multicollinearity is not an issue in the analysis. The results confirm that earnings smoothing is significantly reduced by (i) strong investor protection and institutional quality (ii) greater foreign bank presence; and is pronounced among listed African banks and among African banks that adopt local GAAP.

Table 7.8. Fixed Effect Regression (Multicollinearity Checks via mean-centring)								
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)
c	0.022	0.022	0.025	0.027*	0.033*	0.034*	0.016	-0.011
EBTPmc	0.079	0.089***	0.098***	0.254***	0.391***	-0.032	0.273***	0.252***
	(1.27)	(5.98)	(6.74)	(9.66)	(9.62)	(-0.38)	(11.46)	(3.44)
NPL	0.082*** (13.06)	0.089*** (14.49)	0.087*** (14.09)	0.089*** (14.48)	0.119*** (16.51)	0.082*** (11.93)	0.149*** (14.34)	0.085*** (10.06)
LOAN	-0.004***	-0.004***	-0.004***	-0.005***	-0.002	-0.005***	0.003	-0.004**
LOTA	0.0001**	0.0001*	0.0007**	0.0001**	0.0004	0.0001	-0.0001	0.0001*
CAP	(2.21)	(1.93)	(2.02)	(2.09) -0.024***	(0.91) -0.044***	(1.26)	(-1.05) -0.056***	(1.84)
	(-3.80)	(-4.55)	(-4.62)	(-4.54)	(-7.19)	(-4.19)	(-6.31)	(-3.37)
SIZE	-0.001 (-1.02)	-0.001 (-0.98)	-0.001 (-1.17)	-0.002 (-1.34)	-0.003** (-2.35)	-0.002 (-1.45)	(0.00)	(0.89)
ΔGDP	-0.012	-0.011	-0.006	-0.015	0.005	-0.014	-0.037**	-0.011
DISC1*FBTPmc	0.156**	0.156***	(-0.48)	(-1.20)	(0.33)	(-1.02)	(=2.10)	(=0.92)
	(2.57)	(4.43)						
DISC2*EBTP			0.169*** (3.76)					
DISC3*EBTPmc	-0.056			-0.186*** (-6.29)				
BIG4*EBTPmc	0.021			(0.25)	-0.256***			
LISTED*EBTPmc	(0.45) 0.065**				(-5.95)			
DISP*EBTPmc	(2.21)					0 244***		
						(2.90)		
CN1EBTPmc						0.097 (1.15)		
CN2*EBTPmc						-0.183**		
CN3*EBTPmc						0.095		
VAmc*EBTPmc						(1.12)	-0.278***	
COCmc*EBTPmc							0.451***	
RSmc*EBTPmc							0.035	
ROmc*EBTPmc							(0.16) 0.008	
DSmo*EBTDmo							(0.75)	
rsine Eb Irine							(-0.29)	
GTmc*EBTPmc							-0.501*** (-6.06)	
FG1mc*EBTPmc							-0.007***	
INVPROmc*EBTPmc							(-0.30)	0.105**
LEGALmc*EBTPmc								(2.52)
								(2.19)
EDLmc*EBTPmc								-0.091** (-2.27)
INVSUITmc*EBTPmc								0.001 (0.14)
INVPROmc*LEGALmc*EBTPmc								0.035**
EDLmc*LEGALmc*EBTPmc								-0.027
INVSUITmc*LEGALmc*EBTPmc								0.0003
Adjust 1 D2	65.50	65.00	64 71	65.50	62.00	67.05	79.24	(0.08)
Aujusted K Observations	1891	1022	04./1	1022	1020	07.05	1124	13.42
T-Statistics are reported in parantheses. **	1001 * ** * indicat	e significance	1722 at the 0.01 0.0	1722	1737	V Regression	include country	y bank and
resonances are reported in parentieses,,, indicate significance at us 0.01, 0.00, and 0.10 level, respectively. Regression include country, bank and very vear fixed effect. All variables remain as previously defined excert EBTP. EBTPmc = mean-centred EBTP where EBTP = EBTP are include significant at the								
beginning total asset ratio. All institutional and country-level variables are all mean-centred								

Table 7.9. GMM	1 Regression (Multicollinear	ity Checks via mean-centring)	
	(1)	(2)	(3)
LLPt-1	0.092	-0.061	-0.035
	(1.28)	(-1.36)	(-0.61)
EBTPmc	-0.101*	1.989**	-1.019
	(-1.68)	(2.42)	(-1.24)
NPL	0.068**	0.393***	0.357***
	(2.47)	(10.17)	(4.89)
LOAN	-0.022***	0.016	0.019
	(-4.88)	(1.73)	(1.28)
LOTA	0.0005**	-0.0004*	-0.0008
	(2.16)	(-1.80)	(-1.47)
CAP	-0.018	-0.109***	-0.041
0.11	(-0.76)	(-3.85)	(-1.53)
SIZE	-0.009*	-0.011	-0.018
SIEE	(-1.66)	(-1.22)	(-1.15)
AGDP	-0.104**	-0 174**	-0 252**
2001	(-2.32)	(-2, 39)	(-2.55)
DISP*FRTPmc	1.015*	(-2.37)	(-2.55)
DISI EBTI IIC	(1.73)		
CN1EDTDma	0.462	-	
CNIEDIPIIC	0.403		
CN/2*EDTD	(0.89)		
CN2*EB1Pmc	(0.17)		
CN12*ED TD	(0.17)		
CN3*EB IPmc	1.28/**		
	(2.22)	0.651++	
VAmc*EB1Pmc		-0.651**	
COC *EDED		(-2.54)	
COCmc*EB1Pmc		1.254***	
		(3.79)	
RSmc*EB1Pmc		-1.410**	
		(-1.83)	
RQmc*EBTPmc		-0.097**	
		(-1.95)	
PSmc*EBTPmc		0.012	
		(0.20)	
GTmc*EBTPmc		-0.614**	
		(-2.49)	
FG1mc*EBTPmc		-0.372*	
		(-1.74)	
INVPROmc*EBTPmc			-0.639*
			(-1.88)
LEGALmc*EBTPmc			-0.403
			(-1.22)
EDLmc*EBTPmc			0.606**
			(2.09)
INVSUITmc*EBTPmc			-0.018
			(-0.53)
INVPROmc*LEGALmc*EBTPmc			-0.232*
			(-1.66)
EDLmc*LEGALmc*EBTPmc			0.196*
			(1.94)
INVSUITmc*LEGALmc*EBTPmc			0.002
			(0.49)
J-Statistic	34.29	42.19	17.97
Observations	1096	862	1016
Ct_t_t *** ***	* indicate significance at the	0.01.0.05 and 0.10 level respe	ctively Pegression inclu

country, bank and year fixed effect. All variables remain as previously defined except EBTP. EBTPm = mean-centred EBTP where EBTP = Earnings before profit and tax to beginning total asset ratio. All institutional and country-level variables are all mean-centred

7.7. Conclusion

This chapter presented the analyses for the influence of institutional and country-level factors on bank earnings smoothing among African banks. Here is a summary of the main findings of this chapter.

One, the findings show that strong investor protection (i.e. protection of minority shareholders rights and greater director liability) discourage earnings smoothing via loan loss provisions among banks in African countries. Also, earnings smoothing is further reduced among banks in African countries with strong investor protection and political economy institutions. Bank earnings smoothing via loan loss provision is also inversely associated with foreign bank presence, capital market development and bank concentration.

On the other hand, earnings smoothing via loan loss provision is positively associated with political economy factors, particularly, greater corruption control and greater political stability and absence of violence. Also, the interaction results show that earnings smoothing via loan loss provision is positively associated with banks in African countries with greater foreign bank presence, greater regulatory quality and greater government effectiveness and banking competition. Finally, the correlation analysis of the country-level variables (see Appendix) show that the results are not biased due to highly correlated country-level variables. The results are summarised in Table 7.10. The next chapter provides the conclusion of the thesis.

7.10. Summary of Cross-Country and Institutional Factors Influencing Earnings Smoothing							
	Main Hypothesis		Effect on Earnings Smoothing				
		Significant decrease	Significant increase	No Effect			
1.	Investor Protection	 (i) Minority shareholders right protection, (ii) director liability (iii) Rule of law + director liability, (iv) Rule of law + minority shareholders right protection 	Rule of Law	Ease of shareholder suit.			
2.	Political Economy		(i) Corruption control, (ii) political stability and absence of violence and terrorism	(i) Government effectiveness, (ii) regulatory quality, (iii) voice and accountability, (iv) safety of rule of law.			
3(i)	Financial sector development & foreign bank presence	Foreign bank presence		Financial sector development			
3(ii)	Capital market development	Stock market development					
3(iii)	Banking sector competition		Higher banking sector competitiveness				
3(iv)	Banking sector concentration	Higher banking sector concentration.					
3(v)	Banking system stability			Banking system stability			
	Sensitivity Analysis						
4(i)	Interaction (1) & (2)	Political economy and minority shareholder right protection					
4(ii)	Interaction (2) & (3)		(i) Financial sector development & corruption control (ii) Foreign bank presence + regulatory quality (iii) Foreign bank presence + government effectiveness	-			
4(iii)	Interaction: Foreign bank presence + ownership concentration	Foreign bank presence + dispersed ownership	Foreign bank presence + concentration ownership	-			

Chapter 8

Conclusion

8.0. Introduction

The final chapter begin by providing a summary of the research objective, empirical findings, conclusions and some implications of the study. Finally, the limitations of the study and direction for future research are presented.

8.1. Summary: Research Objective and Findings

The research question I address in the thesis is whether African banks use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings and whether this behaviour is influenced by institutional factors and other cross-country differences in Africa. The empirical model adopted in the study express discretionary loan loss provisions as a function of its non-discretionary determinants and other variables that influence the level of discretionary loan loss provisions. Fixed effect regression and GMM estimation techniques were used to estimate the model. The significant and main findings of the thesis are summarised below:

The findings indicate that African banks use loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings and this has not been documented in the extant literature for a wide sample of banks across several African countries. The implication of the finding is that the practice of influencing the level of loan loss provision estimates in order to smooth bank reported earnings is wide-spread across several regions of the world including Africa. Similar findings have been documented for other regions of the world, for example, in Australia (see. Anandarajan et al, 2007), US (see. El Sood, 2012), Europe (see. Leventis et al, 2011) and Asia (see. Parker and Zhu, 2012). Also, the country-specific analysis of bank earnings smoothing behaviour show that there are cross-country variation in the use of loan loss provisions estimates to smooth reported earnings.

The findings also show that African banks use loan loss provisions to smooth bank earnings when they are more profitable during economic boom periods. After controlling for bank-level differences among African banks, the findings show that the use of loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings by African banks is pronounced among (i) listed African banks when they are more profitable, (ii) among African banks that adopt local GAAP, and (iii) among African banks with concentrated ownership. Also, bank earnings smoothing via loan loss provision is also significantly and positively associated with forward-looking provisioning discretion.

On the other hand, earnings smoothing is significantly reduced among African banks with (i) dispersed ownership (ii) Big 4 auditor, and (iii) among African banks that adopt IFRS standards. Moreover, African banks with dispersed ownership appear to use to loan loss provisions to smooth earnings when they are profitable during economic booms while African banks with concentrated ownership do not use to loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings when they are profitable during economic boom periods.

After controlling for institutional differences across African countries, the findings indicate that strong investor protection discourage the use of loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings among African banks, implying that establishing better investor protection institutions across African countries would discourage the use of loan loss provisions to engage in opportunistic earnings management behaviour that take the form of earnings smoothing, and thus, improve the overall quality of reported earnings of banks in the region.

Additionally, the findings show that the use of loan loss provisions to smooth earnings is further reduced among banks in African countries that simultaneously have strong investor protection and political economy institutions, implying that better investor protection and strong political economy in Africa would work together to discourage earnings management behaviour that take the form of earnings smoothing among banks in African countries.

Furthermore, bank earnings smoothing via loan loss provision is negatively associated with greater foreign bank presence, capital market development and banking concentration; and is positively associated with greater corruption control and greater political stability and absence of violence. Finally,

bank earnings smoothing via loan loss provision is observed to be more pronounced among banks in African countries that simultaneously have greater foreign bank presence, greater government effectiveness and greater regulatory quality. The summary of the results in relation to each tested hypothesis is presented in Table 8.1.

8.1. Summary of Hypotheses						
	Hypothesis	Expected	Actual			
		Relationship	Finding			
In Chapter 6						
Hypothesis: 1a	Higher audit quality is inversely associated with earnings	Negative	Negative			
	smoothing via loan loss provisions					
Hypothesis: 1b	Strict disclosure regulation is inversely associated with	Negative	Negative			
	earnings smoothing via loan loss provisions					
Hypothesis: 2	Earnings smoothing via loan loss provision is reduced	Negative or	Negative or			
	among African banks with dispersed ownership, and is	Positive	Positive			
	more pronounced among African banks with					
	concentrated ownership.					
In Chapter 7						
Hypothesis: 3	Strong investor protection is inversely associated with	Negative	Negative			
	earnings smoothing via loan loss provisions					
Hypothesis: 4	Strong political economy is inversely associated with	Negative	Positive			
	earnings smoothing via loan loss provisions					
Hypothesis: 5	Foreign bank presence (and financial development) is	Positive or	Negative			
	associated with bank earnings smoothing via loan loss	Negative				
	provisions					
Hypothesis: 6a	Banking sector competitiveness is positively associated	Positive	Positive			
	with earnings smoothing via loan loss provisions.					
Hypothesis: 6b	Banking sector concentration is inversely associated with	Negative	Negative			
	earnings smoothing via loan loss provisions.					
Hypothesis: 6c	Banking sector stability is negatively associated with	Negative	No Effect			
	earnings smoothing via loan loss provisions.					

8.2. Implications and Recommendations

Overall, the main message of the findings is that loan loss provisions estimates intended to reflect expected loan loss on bank loan portfolio is used to manipulate reported earnings (in the form of earnings smoothing) to meet some financial reporting objectives. The implication of the findings for accounting quality in Africa is that local GAAPs in several African countries do not discourage bank earnings management that take the form of earnings smoothing via loan loss provisions among banks in the region, and imply that local GAAPs do not improve the reliability or informativeness of loan loss provisions estimates in the region.

The findings are also useful to local standard setters in several African countries who are in the process of deciding whether or not to adopt foreign standards (e.g. IFRS or ASC) in their search for better accounting disclosure regulation. There are on-going debates about whether Africa really needs IFRS because some IFRS success stories have emerged in some African countries while IFRS has failed in other African countries.

With regard to international standard setting, the findings in the thesis are useful to international accounting standard setters because it provides some feedback to help standard setters evaluate the effectiveness of IFRS standards to improve accounting disclosure quality in developing countries that are considered to have weaker enforcement of accounting standards (or rules) compared to developed countries.

Also, the findings point to the need to establish stronger (or to improve existing) investor protection and political economy institutions in Africa that should work together to discourage the opportunistic manipulation of reported accounting numbers in bank financial reporting. Also, the finding that ownership concentration significantly influence the extent of the use of loan loss provisions to smooth reported earnings can provide feedback to bank regulators across African countries who are already in the process of enforcing bank ownership structures that would increase shareholders' monitoring of bank

managers' financial reporting behaviour in order to discourage the opportunistic manipulation of reported accounting numbers in bank financial reporting.

The findings also have implications for micro-prudential bank supervision across African countries. The findings that the bank loan loss provisioning is significantly influenced by the level of earnings rather than by credit risk considerations only, underline the need for bank supervisors to increase their monitoring and scrutiny of the loan loss provisioning practices of banks across African countries. I recommend that bank supervisors across African countries should require banks to provide additional information on their loan loss provisioning practices in order to improve the transparency of bank loan loss provisioning practices and the reliability of loan loss provisions estimates reported in bank financial statement. Such additional information may include providing information about the assumptions used in the determination of the loan loss provisions estimates, information about the model used to estimate loan losses, etc.

Finally, the findings have implications for financial development and financial liberation in Africa. Financial development in the region should be accompanied with strong investor protection and political economy institutions in order to improve the overall quality of bank financial reporting in the region.

8.3. Contribution of the Study

The findings in the thesis contribute to the literature in the following ways. One, the analyses in the thesis contributes to prior studies that examine earnings management in the broader context as well as prior studies that examine bank earnings management (see Cohen et al, 2014; Barth et al, 2016; Norden and Stoian, 2014; Stubben, 2010; Shen and Huang, 2013). These studies show that managers have some incentive to manage reported earnings in other regions; however, these studies did not examine the case of African firms using a large sample. The findings in this thesis confirm that bank earnings smoothing via loan loss provision is prevalent around the world even in Africa.

By investigating the context of African banks, this study provides some insight to improve our understanding of bank earnings smoothing practices in developing countries - an emerging theme in the recent bank earnings smoothing literature (Ozili, 2015; Amidu and Kuipo, 2015), and to shed some light on the debate about whether earnings smoothing by banks in developing economies is used as a tool to make banks appear stable when they are in fragile, fragmented and unstable banking environments.

Two, the study contributes to the literature that examines the influence of investor protection on managerial discretion to manage reported earnings. Studies such as Klapper et al (2004), Chih et al (2008) and Leuz et al (2003) show that strong investor protection discourages earnings management among managers because of the presence of strong legal systems established to protect minority shareholders and investors. This thesis contributes to the above studies by taking into account the level of investor protection in Africa and how it affects earnings smoothing by African bank managers. By focussing on banks and controlling for investor protection levels across African countries, the analyses in this thesis aim to provide insights to understand the association between investor protection and earnings management that take the form of earnings smoothing among African banks.

Three, the thesis contributes to the firm ownership literature that examines the impact of ownership concentration on managerial discretion in financial reporting. Klein (2002), Park and Shin (2004), La Porta et al. (1998) Jensen and Meckling (1976), Shleifer and Vishny (1986), Grossman and Hart (1988), Shleifer and Wolfenzon (2002), Aghion and Bolton (1992) and Bouvatier et al. (2014) show some consensus that the ownership structure of firms may impose additional monitoring on firm managers to constrain them from engaging in opportunistic financial reporting behaviour; however, how this would work out in practice will differ across countries and regions. Therefore, the analyses in this thesis contribute to this strand of literature by taking into account the influence of ownership structure on bank earnings smoothing. By controlling for ownership concentration in this thesis, some insight can be gained to improve our understanding about whether the level of ownership discourages or encourages earnings management practices by African banks
Four, the analysis in the thesis also contribute to the literature that investigates the impact of accounting disclosure regulation on earnings quality (Teoh and Wong, 1993; Francis et al, 1999; Huang and Li, 2009; Beatty, 1989; and Blackwell et al, 1998). A major debate in the theoretical literature argues that the use of Big 4 auditors and the adoption of strong accounting disclosure rules can discourage the manipulation of reported earnings intended to achieve earnings management. However, the effect of accounting disclosure quality (via Big 4 auditors and IFRS adoption) on bank earnings income smoothing in Africa is not clear and has not been empirically tested using loan loss provisions. Therefore, the analyses in this thesis contribute to this debate to provide some insight on how accounting quality affects the use of loan loss provisions to smooth earnings in Africa. Moreover, by distinguishing between banks that use IFRS and banks that do not use IFRS, the analyses in this thesis provides some insight on whether IFRS adoption improves bank earnings quality in the form of reduced earnings smoothing.

Five, the analyses in the thesis also contribute to the policy debate in the literature which argues that the current incurred-loss model of loan loss provisioning contributes to bank instability (see Bikker and Hu, 2002; Laeven and Majnoni, 2003; Bikker and Metzemakers, 2005; Bouvatier and Lepetit, 2008). The incurred-loss provisioning model is often criticised for its backward-looking characteristic and its potential to reinforce the current state of the economy particularly a recession. Bank supervisors in developed and developing countries continue to raise concern that the current incurred-loss provisioning model allow banks to delay provisioning until it is too late which makes bank provisioning procyclical with fluctuations in the economy. The analyses in this thesis can help verify whether the provisioning behaviour of banks in Africa also exhibit such procyclical characteristic.

Finally, this study can provide some insight to help bank supervisors/regulators in several African countries in their evaluation of whether loan loss provisions reflects credit risk considerations only or other considerations unrelated to credit risk, while also taking into account political economy factors in the country.

8.4. Limitations

The study has some limitations. One, the study considers loan loss provisions to be the only tool that African bank managers use to smooth reported earnings. In practice, this is not the case because African bank managers can use a combination of accounting/financial numbers to smooth reported earnings. In the thesis, I focus on loan loss provision because the banking literature (see. Chapter 4), find substantial evidence that loan loss provisions is more likely to be used by banks to smooth or to manage reported earnings for several reasons (already pointed out in Chapter 1 and 3). Going forward, future research on African banks could examine other accounting numbers that African banks might use to smooth reported earnings. For instance, future studies could investigate whether African banks use a combination of loan loss provisions and gains from the sale of securities to smooth reported earnings.

Two, the study focuses on earnings smoothing as a type of earnings management practice. In reality, earnings management practices can take several forms including earnings smoothing depending on the financial reporting objectives of bank managers at a particular time. In the thesis, I focus on earnings smoothing because the theoretical literature (in Chapter 3) argue that some firms, particularly banks, may prefer to smooth reported earnings because smoothed earnings are less likely to attract scrutiny from industry regulators compared to other aggressive forms of earnings management. Because this thesis has focused earnings smoothing, future studies on African banks could investigate whether other forms of bank earnings management exist among African banks or among banks in other developing country contexts. Other forms of earnings management include: income-increasing earnings management, big-bath earnings management, etc.

Three, another limitation of the study is the type of banks used in the analyses. I did not make any distinction between merchant banks, investment banks and other type of banks in Africa because the intended purpose of loan loss provisions should be the same for all African banks which is to mitigate expected loss on banks' loan portfolio. Regardless of whether the African bank is a commercial bank, merchant bank, investment bank or cooperative bank, if the African bank has a loan portfolio, the African bank will set aside loan loss provisions estimates for any expected loss on the loan portfolio. More so, merchant and investment banks in Africa also have a loan portfolio which requires adequate loan loss

182

provisioning while commercial banks have a relatively larger loan portfolio compared to merchant and investment banks. Furthermore, (i) the underlying economic reality guiding the determination of loan loss provisions estimate does not change with the type of African bank and (ii) the reported loan loss provisions estimates in financial statements is a common thread that cuts across African banks that have a loan portfolio regardless of whether they are merchant, commercial or investment banks, therefore, there is no reason to expect any substantial difference in the loan loss provisioning practices of merchant, investment and commercial banks in Africa. For this reason, in the empirical analyses in the thesis, I use all African banks that report loan loss provisions data without making any distinction between commercial, merchant or investment banks. However, for the sake of scepticism or curiosity, the future researcher may proceed to investigate bank loan loss provisioning practices in the context of merchant banks, commercial banks, investment banks and saving banks in Africa. While undertaking such task, the future researcher should be aware that the distinction between the types of African banks is not clear in some cases and may be difficult to identify.

8.5. Future direction

One obvious direction for future research is the need to investigate the use of loan loss provisions to smooth bank earnings in the African context.

Two, it is unknown or unclear whether African banks that adopt IFRS, IAS or local GAAP exhibit greater or reduced earnings smoothing via loan loss provisions. Future studies can provide some insight on the impact of accounting disclosure quality on bank earnings smoothing behaviour in the African region. Listed banks in some African countries are required to adopt IFRS while unlisted banks do not have to mandatorily adopt IFRS. In other African countries, IFRS is not permitted as firms are required to use local GAAP. Given this understanding, the earnings smoothing literature do not provide insights on whether the propensity for African banks to use loan loss provisions to smooth bank earnings is stronger or weaker among banks that adopt IFRS compared to banks that adopt local GAAP. If we assume that IFRS has higher disclosure quality compared to local GAAP, then it is interesting to investigate whether African banks that adopt IFRS standards exhibit reduced earnings smoothing via loan loss provisions which in turn should improve earnings quality and the informativeness of the loan loss provisions estimates of banks in Africa.

Three, much is not known about the impact of investor protection on firm financial reporting in Africa. Strong investor protection is claimed to discourage opportunistic behaviour of firm managers (Leuz et al., 2003). Future research could investigate whether investor protection has an impact on the extent to which African banks use loan loss provisions to smooth earnings to see if Leuz et al. (2003)'s argument holds true for African banks as well.

Four, the impact of ownership structure on African banks' earnings smoothing behaviour has not been explored. The ownership structure of African banks exhibit characteristics that significantly differ from the ownership structure of US and European firms.

Five, another interesting analysis is to investigate how dispersed ownership control or concentrated ownership impacts the financial reporting of banks in Africa. The need to investigate whether certain ownership characteristics constrain or encourage African banks to distort financial reporting disclosures, is also imperative.

Six, future research could also investigate whether the level of financial development and political economy in the African region have some direct or indirect impact on African banks' incentive to smooth reported earnings.

Seven, it is also interesting to investigate the impact of religiosity on bank earnings smoothing practices. Some countries in Africa are highly religious, moderately religious and less religious, and very little knowledge is known about how religiosity affects the financial reporting characteristics of banks in Africa, hence, it is interesting to investigate whether African banks in strongly-religious, moderatelyreligious and less-religious environments exhibit more or less earnings smoothing behaviour, and future research can provide some insights on this. Future study can also investigate the impact of corruption on bank earnings smoothing practices which offers another direction for future research.

184

Eight, Basel capital regulation continues to provide opportunities for future LLP research. Basel (Basel II and III) has, in recent times, made several changes to bank capital regulation which also affects banks' provisioning behaviour and these changes will probably take years for its full effect to be felt. The impact of Basel I on bank provisioning decisions has been investigated for banks in developed countries (Ahmed et al, 1999; Anandarajan et al, 2007) while the impact of Basel II and III on bank provisioning behaviour has not been explored in the literature which offers another direction for future research. Future research can also extend such study to African countries that adopt Basel capital rules. This is another fruitful direction for future research.

Nine, with regard to the debate to adopt a dynamic loan loss provisioning system, future research is needed to demonstrate how existing or new supervisory models would guide bank regulators/supervisors in implementing a dynamic loan loss provisioning system. Future research could clarify how supervision will guide the dynamic loan loss provisioning process and not interfere with the accounting and audit role. However, it is worth noting that the willingness of bank regulators to supervise the details of bank loan loss provisioning decisions may also depend on (i) whether regulators/supervisors believe they should supervise accounting practices; (ii) the extent to which regulators/supervisors believe auditors should perform the supervisory role; and (iii) whether an independent supervisory body should be created to perform this role even if it further complicates the already complex accounting, fiscal and prudential regulatory network.

Reference

Abdelsalam, O., Dimitropoulos, P., Elnahass, M., & Leventis, S. (2016). Earnings Management Behaviours under Different Monitoring Mechanisms: The Case of Islamic and Conventional Banks. Journal of Economic Behaviour & Organization, 132, 155-173.

Abdul Adzis, A., Abdul Adzis, A., Tripe, D. W., Tripe, D. W., Dunmore, P., & Dunmore, P. (2016). IAS 39, Income Smoothing and Pro-Cyclicality: Evidence from Hong Kong Banks. Journal of Financial Economic Policy, 8(1), 80-94.

Acar, M., & Ipci, M. O. (2015). Loan Loss Provisions and Income-Smoothing Hypothesis: Experience from Turkish Banking Sector. Journal of Accounting, 5(1), 118-135.

Acemoglu, D., Johnson, S., Robinson, J., & Thaicharoen, Y. (2003). Institutional Causes, Macroeconomic Symptoms: Volatility, Crises and Growth. Journal of Monetary Economics, 50(1), 49-123.

Adibah Wan Ismail, W., Anuar Kamarudin, K., & Kamil Ibrahim, M. (2005). Income Smoothing and Market Perception of Accounting Numbers: An Empirical Investigation of Extraordinary Items. Journal of Financial Reporting and Accounting, 3(1), 49-70.

Agénor, P. R., & Zilberman, R. (2015). Loan Loss Provisioning Rules, Procyclicality and Financial Volatility. Journal of Banking & Finance, 61, 301-315.

Aghion, P., & Bolton, P. (1992). An Incomplete Contracts Approach to Financial Contracting. The Review of Economic Studies, 59(3), 473-494.

Aharony, J., Lin, C. J., & Loeb, M. P. (1993). Initial Public Offerings, Accounting Choices and Earnings Management. Contemporary Accounting Research, 10(1), 61-81. Ahmed, A. S., Takeda, C., & Thomas, S. (1999). Bank Loan Loss Provisions: A Re-examination of Capital Management, Earnings Management and Signalling Effects. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 28(1), 1-25.

Ahmed, A. S., Neel, M., & Wang, D. (2013). Does Mandatory Adoption of IFRS Improve Accounting Quality? Preliminary Evidence. Contemporary Accounting Research, 30(4), 1344-1372.

Ahmed, A., Mohammed, A. Y., & Adisa, A. O. (2014). Loan Loss Provision and Earnings Management in Nigerian Deposit Money Banks. Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences, 5(17), 49-58.

Alchian, A. A., & Kessel, R. A. (1962). Competition, Monopoly and the Pursuit of Money. Aspects of Labor Economics, 14, 157-83.

Ali, I.L. (2015). Do Banks In Nigeria Manage Earnings Through Loan Loss Provisions? Research Journal of Finance and Accounting, 6(9), 106-112.

Ames, D. (2013). IFRS Adoption and Accounting Quality: The Case of South Africa. Journal of Applied Economics and Business Research, 3(3), 154-165.

Amidu, M., & Kuipo, R. (2015). Earnings management, funding and diversification strategies of banks in Africa. Accounting Research Journal, 28(2), 172-194.

Anandarajan, A., Hasan, I., & Lozano-Vivas, A. (2003). The Role of Loan Loss Provisions in Earnings Management, Capital Management and Signalling: The Spanish Experience. Advances in International Accounting, 16, 45-65.

Anandarajan, A., Hasan, I., & Mccarthy, C. (2007). Use of Loan Loss Provisions for Capital, Earnings Management and Signalling By Australian Banks. Accounting & Finance, 47(3), 357-379.

Angelini, P., Clerc, L., Cúrdia, V., Gambacorta, L., Gerali, A., Locarno, A., ... & Vlček, J. (2015). Basel III: Long-Term Impact on Economic Performance and Fluctuations. The Manchester School, 83(2), 217-251. Arellano, M., & Bond, S. (1991). Some Tests of Specification for Panel Data: Monte Carlo Evidence and an Application to Employment Equations. The Review of Economic Studies, 58(2), 277-297.

Ashari, N., Koh, H. C., Tan, S. L., & Wong, W. H. (1994). Factors Affecting Income Smoothing among Listed Companies in Singapore. Accounting and Business Research, 24(96), 291-301.

Ashraf, A., & Hassan, M. K. (2014). Prudential Regulatory Regimes, Accounting Standards and Loan Loss Provision in Banking Industry. Cell, 301, 338-0934.

Ashton, P. J. (2002). Avoiding Conflicts over Africa's Water Resources. AMBIO: A Journal of the Human Environment, 31(3), 236-242.

Asiedu, E. (2006). Foreign Direct Investment in Africa: the Role of Natural Resources, Market Size, Government Policy, Institutions and Political Instability. The World Economy, 29(1), 63-77.

Atik, A. (2009). Detecting Income-Smoothing Behaviours of Turkish Listed Companies through
Empirical Tests using Discretionary Accounting Changes. Critical Perspectives on Accounting, 20(5),
591-613.

Autore, D.M., Billingsley, R.S. & Schneller, M.I. (2009). Information Uncertainty and Auditor Reputation. Journal of Banking & Finance, 33(2), 183-192.

Ayra, A., Glover, J. & Sunder, S. (1998). Earnings Management and the Revelation Principle. Review of Accounting Studies 3(1-2), 7-34.

Ayres, F. L. (1986). Characteristics of Firms Electing Early Adoption of SFAS 52. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 8(2), 143-158.

Baber, W. R., Fairfield, P. M., & Haggard, J. A. (1991). The Effect of Concern about Reported Income on Discretionary Spending Decisions: The Case of Research and Development. The Accounting Review, 66(4), 818-829.

Badertscher, B. A. (2011). Overvaluation and the Choice of Alternative Earnings Management Mechanisms. The Accounting Review, 86(5), 1491-1518.

Balboa, M., López-Espinosa, G., & Rubia, A. (2013). Nonlinear Dynamics in Discretionary Accruals: an Analysis of Bank Loan-Loss Provisions. Journal of Banking & Finance, 37(12), 5186-5207.

Ball, R., Kothari, S. P., & Robin, A. (2000). The Effect of International Institutional Factors on Properties of Accounting Earnings. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 29(1), 1-51.

Ball, R., Robin, A., & Wu, J. S. (2003). Incentives versus Standards: Properties of Accounting Income in Four East Asian Countries. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 36(1), 235-270.

Ball, R. (2001). Infrastructure Requirements for an Economically Efficient System of Public Financial Reporting and Disclosure. Brookings-Wharton Papers on Financial Services, 1, 127-169.

Balla, E., & Rose, M. J. (2015). Loan Loss Provisions, Accounting Constraints and Bank Ownership Structure. Journal of Economics and Business, 78, 92-117.

Banque De France (2001). The Financial Cycle, Factors of Amplification and Possible Policy Implications for Financial and Monetary Authorities, Bulletin No. 95.

Barnea, A., Ronen, J., & Sadan, S. (1976). Classificatory Smoothing of Income with Extraordinary Items. The Accounting Review, 51(1), 110-122.

Barth, M. E., Elliott, J. A., & Finn, M. W. (1999). Market Rewards Associated with Patterns of Increasing Earnings. Journal of Accounting Research, 37(2), 387-413.

Barth, J. R., Lin, C., Lin, P., & Song, F. M. (2009). Corruption in Bank Lending to Firms: Cross-Country Micro Evidence on the Beneficial Role of Competition and Information Sharing. Journal of Financial Economics, 91(3), 361-388.

Barth, M. E., Landsman, W. R., & Lang, M. H. (2008). International Accounting Standards and Accounting Quality. Journal of Accounting Research, 46(3), 467-498.

Barth, M. E., Gómez Biscarri, J., Kasznik, R., & López-Espinosa, G. (2016). Bank Earnings and Regulatory Capital Management Using Available For Sale Securities. Available At SSRN 2448482. Barton, J. (2001). Does the Use of Financial Derivatives affect Earnings Management Decisions? The Accounting Review, 76(1), 1-26.

Bartov, E. (1993). The Timing of Asset Sales and Earnings Manipulation. The Accounting Review, 68(4), 840-855.

BCBS. (2004). International Convergence of Capital Measurement and Capital Standards: A Revised Framework. Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (BCBS), June.

Http://Www.Bis.Org/Publ/Bcbs107.Htm.

Beatty, R. P. (1989). Auditor Reputation and the Pricing of Initial Public Offerings. The Accounting Review, 64(4), 693-709.

Beatty, A., Chamberlain, S. L., & Magliolo, J. (1995). Managing Financial Reports of Commercial Banks:The Influence of Taxes, Regulatory Capital, and Earnings. Journal of Accounting Research, 33(2), 231-261.

Beatty, A. L., Ke, B. & Petroni, K. R. (2002) Earnings Management to Avoid Earnings Declines Across Publicly and Privately Held Banks. The Accounting Review, 77(3), 547-570.

Beatty, A., & Liao, S. (2009). Regulatory Capital Ratios, Loan Loss Provisioning and Procyclicality.Columbus, United States: Ohio State University. Mimeographed Document.

Beaver, W., Eger, C., Ryan, S., & Wolfson, M. (1989). Financial Reporting, Supplemental Disclosures, and Bank Share Prices. Journal of Accounting Research, 27(2), 157-178.

Beaver, W. H., & Engel, E. E. (1996). Discretionary Behaviour With Respect To Allowances for Loan Losses and the Behavior of Security Prices. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 22(1), 177-206.

Beck, T., & Cull, R. (2013). Banking in Africa. World Bank Policy Research Working Paper, No. 6684.

Beck, T, Maimbo, S.M., Faye, I, & Triki, T. (2011). Financing Africa: through the Crisis and Beyond. Washington, DC: The World Bank. Beck, T., De Jonghe, O., & Schepens, G. (2013). Bank Competition and Stability: Cross-Country Heterogeneity. Journal of Financial Intermediation, 22(2), 218-244.

Beidleman, C. R. (1973). Income Smoothing: The Role of Management. The Accounting Review, 48(4), 653-667.

Bencivenga, V. R., & Smith, B. D. (1991). Financial Intermediation and Endogenous Growth. The Review of Economic Studies, 58(2), 195-209.

Ben Othman, H., & Mersni, H. (2014). The Use of Discretionary Loan Loss Provisions by Islamic Banks and Conventional Banks in the Middle East Region: A Comparative Study. Studies in Economics and Finance, 31(1), 106-128.

Bergstresser, D., & Philippon, T. (2006). CEO Incentives and Earnings Management. Journal of Financial Economics, 80(3), 511-529.

Bergstresser, D., Desai, M., & Rauh, J. (2006). Earnings Manipulation and Managerial Investment Decisions: Evidence from Sponsored Pension Plans. Quarterly Journal of Economics, 121, 157-196.

Bhat, V. N. (1996). Banks and Income Smoothing: An Empirical Analysis. Applied Financial Economics, 6(6), 505-510.

Bhattacharya, N., Black, E. L., Christensen, T. E., & Larson, C. R. (2003). Assessing the Relative Informativeness and Permanence of Pro Forma Earnings and GAAP Operating Earnings. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 36(1), 285-319.

Bhattacharya, U., Daouk, H., & Welker, M. (2003). The World Price of Earnings Opacity. The Accounting Review, 78(3), 641-678.

Bhattacharyya, S. & Hodler, R. (2010). Natural Resources, Democracy and Corruption. European Economic Review, 54(4), 608-621.

Bikker, J., & Hu, H. (2002). Cyclical Patterns in Profits, Provisioning and Lending of Banks and Procyclicality of the New Basel Capital Requirements. BNL Quarterly Review, 221, 143-175. Bikker, J. A., & Metzemakers, P. A. (2005). Bank Provisioning Behaviour and Procyclicality. Journal of International Financial Markets, Institutions and Money, 15(2), 141-157.

Bird, R. M., Martinez-Vazquez, J., & Torgler, B. (2008). Tax Effort in Developing Countries and High Income Countries: The Impact of Corruption, Voice and Accountability. Economic Analysis and Policy, 38(1), 55-71.

Blundell-Wignall, A., & Atkinson, P. (2010). Thinking Beyond Basel III. OECD Journal: Financial Market Trends, (1), 9-33.

Bonin, J., & Kosak, M. (2013). Loan Loss Provisioning in Emerging Europe: Precautionary or Pro-Cyclical? Wesleyan University Working Paper, No. 10.

Borio, C., Furfine, C., & Lowe, P. (2001). Procyclicality of the Financial System and Financial Stability: Issues and Policy Options. BIS Working Paper, 1, 1-57.

Botsari, A., & Meeks, G. (2008). Do Acquirers Manage Earnings Prior to a Share for Share Bid? Journal of Business Finance & Accounting, 35(5-6), 633-670.

Bouvatier, V., & Lepetit, L. (2008). Banks' Procyclical Behaviour: Does Provisioning Matter? Journal of International Financial Markets, Institutions and Money, 18(5), 513-526.

Bouvatier, V., Lepetit, L., & Strobel, F. (2014). Bank Income Smoothing, Ownership Concentration and the Regulatory Environment. Journal of Banking & Finance, 41, 253-270.

Bouwman, C. H. (2014). Managerial Optimism and Earnings Smoothing. Journal of Banking & Finance, 41, 283-303.

Bowen, R. M., Ducharme, L., & Shores, D. (1995). Stakeholders' Implicit Claims and Accounting Method Choice. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 20(3), 255-295.

Boyd, J. H., & Runkle, D. E. (1993). Size and Performance of Banking Firms: Testing the Predictions of Theory. Journal of Monetary Economics, 31(1), 47-67.

Brunnermeier, M. K., Crockett, A., Goodhart, C. A., Persaud, A., & Shin, H. S. (2009). The Fundamental Principals of Financial Regulation: 11th Geneva Report on the World Economy

Bryce, C., Dadoukis, A., Hall, M., Nguyen, L., & Simper, R. (2015). An Analysis of Loan Loss Provisioning Behaviour in Vietnamese Banking. Finance Research Letters, 14, 69-75.

Burgstahler, D., & Dichev, I. (1997). Earnings Management to Avoid Earnings Decreases and Losses. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 24(1), 99-126.

Bushee, B. J. (1998). Institutional Investors, Long-Term Investment, and Earnings Management. Long-Term Investment and Earnings Management. Available At:

Http://Ssrn.Com/Abstract=52686 or Http://Dx.Doi.Org/10.2139/Ssrn.52686.

Bushman, R. M., & Piotroski, J. D. (2006). Financial Reporting Incentives for Conservative Accounting: The Influence of Legal and Political Institutions. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 42(1), 107-148.

Bushman, R. M., & Williams, C. D. (2012). Accounting Discretion, Loan Loss Provisioning, and Discipline of Banks' Risk-Taking. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 54(1), 1-18.

Callen, J. L., Morel, M., & Richardson, G. (2011). Do Culture and Religion Mitigate Earnings Management? Evidence from a Cross-Country Analysis. International Journal of Disclosure and Governance, 8(2), 103-121.

Caporale, G. M., Alessi, M., Di Colli, S., & Lopez, J. S. (2015). Loan Loss Provision: Some Empirical Evidence for Italian Banks. DIW Berlin Discussion Paper No. 1459. Available At SSRN: Http://Ssrn.Com/Abstract=2576711 or Http://Dx.Doi.Org/10.2139/Ssrn.2576711.

Cavallo, M., & Majnoni, G. (2002). Do Banks Provision for Bad Loans in Good Times? Empirical Evidence and Policy Implications. In Ratings, Rating Agencies and the Global Financial System, 319-342. Springer, US.

Cerrato, M., Choudhry, M., Crosby, J., & Olukuru, J. L. (2012). Why Do UK Banks Securitize? Available At SSRN 2051379. Chen, H., Tang, Q., Jiang, Y., & Lin, Z. (2010). The Role of International Financial Reporting Standards in Accounting Quality: Evidence from the European Union. Journal of International Financial Management & Accounting, 21(3), 220-278.

Chih, H. L., Shen, C. H., & Kang, F. C. (2008). Corporate Social Responsibility, Investor Protection and Earnings Management: Some International Evidence. Journal of Business Ethics, 79(1-2), 179-198.

Cho, Y. J. (1990). Mckinnon-Shaw versus the Neostructuralists on Financial Liberalization: A Conceptual Note. World Development, 18(3), 477-480.

Claessens, S., & Laeven, L. (2004). What Drives Bank Competition? Some International Evidence. Journal of Money, Credit, and Banking, 36(3), 563-583.

Claessens, S., Demirgüç-Kunt, A., & Huizinga, H. (2001). How Does Foreign Entry affect Domestic Banking Markets? Journal of Banking & Finance, 25(5), 891-911.

Cohen, D. A., Dey, A., & Lys, T. Z. (2008). Real and Accrual-Based Earnings Management in the Pre-And Post-Sarbanes-Oxley Periods. The Accounting Review, 83(3), 757-787.

Cohen, D. A., & Zarowin, P. (2010). Accrual-Based and Real Earnings Management Activities around Seasoned Equity Offerings. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 50(1), 2-19.

Cohen, L. J., Cornett, M. M., Marcus, A. J., & Tehranian, H. (2014). Bank earnings management and tail risk during the financial crisis. Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, 46(1), 171-197.

Collins, J. H., Shackelford, D. A., & Wahlen, J. M. (1995). Bank Differences in the Coordination of Regulatory Capital, Earnings, and Taxes. Journal of Accounting Research, 33(2), 263-291.

Cornett, M. M., Mcnutt, J. J., & Tehranian, H. (2009). Corporate Governance and Earnings Management at Large US Bank Holding Companies. Journal of Corporate Finance, 15(4), 412-430.

Craswell, A., Francis, J. & Taylor, S. (1995). Auditor Brand Name Reputations and Industry Specializations. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 20(3), 297-322.

Curcio, D., Dyer, D., Gallo, A., & Gianfrancesco, I. (2014). Determinants of Banks' Provisioning Policies during the Crisis: Evidence from the Chinese Banking System. Managerial Finance, 40(10), 987-1006.

Curcio, D., & Hasan, I. (2015). Earnings and Capital Management and Signalling: The Use of Loan-Loss Provisions by European Banks. The European Journal of Finance, 21(1), 26-50.

Daley, L. A., & Vigeland, R. L. (1983). The Effects of Debt Covenants and Political Costs on the Choice of Accounting Methods: The Case of Accounting for R&D Costs. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 5, 195-211.

Danielsson, J., Embrechts, P., Goodhart, C., Keating, C., Muennich, F., Renault, O., & Shin, H. S. (2001). An Academic Response to Basel II. Special Paper-LSE Financial Markets Group.

Daske, H., Hail, L., Leuz, C., & Verdi, R. (2013). Adopting a Label: Heterogeneity in the Economic Consequences around IAS/IFRS Adoptions. Journal of Accounting Research, 51(3), 495-547.

Deangelo, H., Deangelo, L., & Skinner, D. J. (1994). Accounting Choice in Troubled Companies. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 17(1-2), 113-143.

Deangelo, L. E. (1981). Auditor Size and Audit Quality. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 3(3), 183-199.

Dechow, P. M., Sloan, R. G., & Sweeney, A. P. (1996). Causes and Consequences of Earnings Manipulation: An Analysis of Firms Subject to Enforcement Actions by the SEC. Contemporary Accounting Research, 13(1), 1-36.

Dechow, P. M., Sloan, R. G., & Sweeney, A. P. (1995). Detecting Earnings Management. The Accounting Review, 193-225.

Dechow, P. M., & Shakespear, C. (2009). Do Managers Time Securitization Transactions to Obtain Accounting Benefits? The Accounting Review, 84(1), 99-132.

Dechow, P. M., Myers, L. A., & Shakespeare, C. (2010). Fair Value Accounting and Gains from Asset Securitizations: A Convenient Earnings Management Tool with Compensation Side-Benefits. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 49(1), 2-25.

Defond, M., & Jiambalvo, J. (1993). Factors Related to Auditor-Client Disagreements Over Income-Increasing Accounting Methods. Contemporary Accounting Research, 9(2), 415-431.

Defond, M. L., & Jiambalvo, J. (1994). Debt Covenant Violation and Manipulation of Accruals. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 17(1-2), 145-176.

Defond, M., Hung, M., & Trezevant, R. (2007). Investor Protection and the Information Content of Annual Earnings Announcements: International Evidence. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 43(1), 37-67.

Defond, M. L., & Park, C. W. (1997). Smoothing Income in Anticipation of Future Earnings. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 23(2), 115-139.

Degeorge, F., Patel, J., & Zeckhauser, R. (1999). Earnings Management to Exceed Thresholds. The Journal of Business, 72(1), 1-33.

Del Guercio, D., & Hawkins. J. (1999). The Motivation and Impact of Pension Fund Activism. Journal of Financial Economics, 52(3), 293-340.

De Lis, S. F., Pagés, J. M., & Saurina, J. (2001). Credit Growth, Problem Loans and Credit Risk Provisioning in Spain. BIS Working Paper, 1, 331-353.

Demirgüç-Kunt, A., & Detragiache, E. (1998). Financial Liberalization and Financial Fragility, pp 303-331. In Pleskovic, B & Stiglitz, J.E (1997). Annual World Bank Conference on Development Economics, Washington, DC: World Bank.

Demski, J. S. (1998). Performance Measure Manipulation. Contemporary Accounting Research, 15(3), 261-285.

Diamond, D. W., & Dybvig, P. H. (1983). Bank Runs, Deposit Insurance, and Liquidity. The Journal of Political Economy, 91(3), 401-419.

Dreher, A., & Schneider, F. (2010). Corruption and the Shadow Economy: An Empirical Analysis. Public Choice, 144(1-2), 215-238.

Drehmann, M., Sorensen, S., & Stringa, M. (2010). The Integrated Impact of Credit and Interest Rate Risk on Banks: A Dynamic Framework and Stress Testing Application. Journal of Banking & Finance, 34(4), 713-729.

Dopuch, N., & Simunic, D. (1982). Competition in Auditing: An Assessment. In Fourth Symposium On Auditing Research, Vol. 401, P. 405. Urbana, IL: University Of Illinois.

Dou, Y., Ryan, S. G., & Zou, Y. (2015). The Effects of Credit Competition on Banks' Loan Loss Provisions. Available At SSRN 2192586.

Dye, R. A. (1988). Earnings Management in an Overlapping Generations Model. Journal of Accounting Research, 26(2), 195-235.

Dyreng, S. D., Mayew, W. J., & Williams, C. D. (2012). Religious Social Norms and Corporate Financial Reporting. Journal of Business Finance & Accounting, 39(7-8), 845-875.

El Sood, H. A. (2012). Loan Loss Provisions and Income Smoothing In US Banks Pre and Post the Financial Crisis. International Review of Financial Analysis, 25, 64-72.

Eng, L. L., & Nabar, S. (2007). Loan Loss Provisions by Banks in Hong Kong, Malaysia and Singapore. Journal of International Financial Management & Accounting, 18(1), 18-38.

Erickson, M., & Wang, S. W. (1999). Earnings Management by Acquiring Firms in Stock for Stock Mergers. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 27(2), 149-176.

Fama, E. F. (1980). Agency Problems and the Theory of the Firm. The Journal of Political Economy, 88(2), 288-307.

Fan, J. P., & Wong, T. J. (2002). Corporate Ownership Structure and the Informativeness of Accounting Earnings in East Asia. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 33(3), 401-425.

Figueira, C., Nellis, J., & Parker, D. (2006). Does Ownership affect the Efficiency of African Banks? The Journal of Developing Areas, 40(1), 38-63.

Fillat, J. L., & Montoriol-Garriga, J. (2010). Addressing the Pro-Cyclicality of Capital Requirements with a Dynamic Loan Loss Provision System. Federal Reserve Bank of Boston, Boston MA.

Floro, D. (2010). Loan Loss Provisioning and the Business Cycle: Does Capital Matter? Evidence from Philippine Banks. Bank for International Settlements.

Fonseca, A. R., & Gonzalez, F. (2008). Cross-Country Determinants of Bank Income Smoothing By Managing Loan-Loss Provisions. Journal of Banking & Finance, 32(2), 217-228.

Francis, J. R., & Wang, D. (2008). The Joint Effect of Investor Protection and Big 4 Audits on Earnings Quality around the World. Contemporary Accounting Research, 25(1), 157-191.

Francis, J., Lafond, R., Olsson, P. & Schipper, K. (2004). Cost Of Capital and Earnings Attributes. The Accounting Review, 79, 967-1010.

Francis, J. R., & Krishnan, J. (1999). Accounting Accruals and Auditor Reporting Conservatism. Contemporary Accounting Research, 16(1), 135-165.

Friedlan, J. M. (1994). Accounting Choices of Issuers of Initial Public Offerings. Contemporary Accounting Research, 11(1), 1-31.

Fudenberg, D., & Tirole, J. (1995). A Theory of Income and Dividend Smoothing Based on Incumbency Rents. Journal of Political Economy, 103(1), 75-93.

Gaston, E., & Song, M. I. (2014). Supervisory Roles in Loan Loss Provisioning in Countries Implementing IFRS. International Monetary Fund. No. 14-170 Gaver, J. J., & Paterson, J. S. (1999). Managing Insurance Company Financial Statements to Meet Regulatory and Tax Reporting Goals. Contemporary Accounting Research, 16(2), 207-241.

Gaver, J. J., Gaver, K. M., & Austin, J. R. (1995). Additional Evidence on Bonus Plans and Income Management. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 19(1), 3-28.

Gebhardt, G. U., & Novotny-Farkas, Z. (2011). Mandatory IFRS Adoption and Accounting Quality of European Banks. Journal of Business Finance & Accounting, 38(3-4), 289-333.

Gerschenkron, A. (1962). Economic Backwardness in Historical Perspective: A Book of Essays No. HC335 G386. Cambridge, MA: Belknap Press of Harvard University Press.

Gordon, M. J. (1964). Postulates, Principles and Research in Accounting. The Accounting Review, 39(2), 251-263.

Graham, J. R., Harvey, C. R., & Rajgopal, S. (2005). The Economic Implications of Corporate Financial Reporting. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 40(1), 3-73.

Grant, J., Markarian, G., & Parbonetti, A. (2009). CEO Risk-Related Incentives and Income Smoothing. Contemporary Accounting Research, 26(4), 1029-1065.

Greenawalt, M. B., & Sinkey Jr, J. F. (1988). Bank Loan-Loss Provisions and the Income-Smoothing Hypothesis: An Empirical Analysis, 1976–1984. Journal of Financial Services Research, 1(4), 301-318.

Griffin, P. A., & Wallach, S. J. (1991). Latin American Lending by Major US Banks: The Effects of Disclosures about Nonaccrual Loans and Loan Loss Provisions. The Accounting Review, 66(4), 830-846.

Grossman, S. J., & Hart, O. D. (1988). One Share-One Vote and the Market for Corporate Control. Journal of Financial Economics, 20, 175-202.

Guenther, D. A. (1994). Earnings Management in Response to Corporate Tax Rate Changes: Evidence from the 1986 Tax Reform Act. The Accounting Review, 69(1), 230-243.

Guidry, F., Leone, A. J., & Rock, S. (1999). Earnings-Based Bonus Plans and Earnings Management by Business-Unit Managers. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 26(1), 113-142.

Gunny, K. A. (2005). What Are The Consequences of Real Earnings Management? Working Paper, University of Colorado.

Gunny, K. A. (2010). The Relation between Earnings Management using Real Activities Manipulation and Future Performance: Evidence from Meeting Earnings Benchmarks. Contemporary Accounting Research, 27(3), 855-888.

Haber, S., & Perotti, E. (2007). The Political Economy of Finance. University Of Amsterdam Working Paper.

Hall, S. C., Agrawal, V., & Agrawal, P. (2013). Earnings Management and the Financial Statement Analyst. Accounting and Finance Research, 2(2), 105-111.

Han, J. C., & Wang, S. W. (1998). Political Costs and Earnings Management of Oil Companies during the 1990 Persian Gulf Crisis. The Accounting Review, 73(1), 103-117.

Harris, M., & Raviv, A. (1988). Corporate Governance: Voting Rights and Majority Rules. Journal of Financial Economics, 20, 203-235.

Hasan, I., & Hunter, W. C. (1994) The Income Smoothing Hypothesis: An Analysis of the Thrift Industry. Federal Reserve Bank of Atlanta Working Paper No. 3.

Hasan, I. and Marton, K. (2003). Development and Efficiency of the Banking Sector in a Transitional Economy. Journal of Banking and Finance 27, 2249–2271.

Hasan, I., & Wall, L. D. (2004). Determinants of the Loan Loss Allowance: Some Cross-Country Comparisons. Financial Review, 39(1), 129-152.

Hayn, C. (1995). The Information Content of Losses. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 20(2), 125-153. Healy, P. M. (1985). The Effect of Bonus Schemes on Accounting Decisions. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 7(1), 85-107.

Healy, P. M., & Palepu, K. G. (1993). The Effect of Firms' Financial Disclosure Strategies on Stock Prices. Accounting Horizons, 7(1), 1-11.

Healy, P. M., & Palepu, K. G. (2001). Information Asymmetry, Corporate Disclosure, and the Capital Markets: A Review of the Empirical Disclosure Literature. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 31(1), 405-440.

Healy, P. M., & Wahlen, J. M. (1999). A Review of the Earnings Management Literature and Its Implications for Standard Setting. Accounting Horizons, 13(4), 365-383.

Hellmann, T. F., Murdock, K. C., & Stiglitz, J. E. (2000). Liberalization, Moral Hazard In Banking, and Prudential Regulation: Are Capital Requirements Enough? American Economic Review, 90(1), 147-165.

Hellwig, M. (2000). On the Economics and Politics of Corporate Finance and Corporate Control. In X. Vives (Ed.), Corporate Governance: Theoretical and Empirical Perspectives, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, England (2000), 95-136.

Hermes, N., & Lensink, R. (2004). Foreign Bank Presence, Domestic Bank Performance and Financial Development. Journal of Emerging Market Finance, 3(2), 207-229.

Herrmann, T., Inoue, T. & Thomas, W. B. (2003). The Sale of Assets to Manage Earnings in Japan. Journal of Accounting Research, 41(1), 89-108.

Hessayri, M., & Saihi, M. (2015). Monitoring Earnings Management in Emerging Markets: IFRS Adoption and Ownership Structure. Journal of Economic and Administrative Sciences, 31(2), 86-108.

Honohan, P., & Beck, T. (2007). Making Finance Work for Africa. World Bank Publications.

Holthausen, R. W., Larcker, D. F., & Sloan, R. G. (1995). Annual Bonus Schemes and the Manipulation of Earnings. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 19(1), 29-74.

Hribar, P., Jenkins, N. T., & Johnson, W. B. (2006). Stock Repurchases as an Earnings Management Device. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 41(1), 3-27.

Huang, R. D., & Li, H. (2009). Does The Market Dole Out Collective Punishment? An Empirical Analysis of Industry, Geography, And Arthur Andersen's Reputation. Journal of Banking & Finance, 33(7), 1255-1265.

Hunt, A., Moyer, S. E., & Shevlin, T. (1996). Managing Interacting Accounting Measures to Meet Multiple Objectives: A Study of LIFO Firms. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 21(3), 339-374.

Hunton, J. E., Libby, R., & Mazza, C. L. (2006). Financial Reporting Transparency and Earnings Management (Retracted). The Accounting Review, 81(1), 135-157.

Hull, J. (2012). Risk Management and Financial Institutions. John Wiley & Sons.

Jaggi, B., & Lee, P. (2002). Earnings Management Response to Debt Covenant Violations and Debt Restructuring. Journal of Accounting, Auditing & Finance, 17(4), 295-324.

Jensen, M. C., & Meckling, W. H. (1976). Theory of the Firm: Managerial Behaviour, Agency Costs and Ownership Structure. Journal of Financial Economics, 3(4), 305-360.

Jiménez, G., & Ongena, S. (2012). Credit Supply and Monetary Policy: Identifying the Bank Balance-Sheet Channel with Loan Applications. The American Economic Review, 102(5), 2301-2326.

Jones, J. J. (1991). Earnings Management during Import Relief Investigations. Journal of Accounting Research, 29(2), 193-228.

Jones, J. J. (1991). Earnings Management during Import Relief Investigations. Journal of Accounting Research, 193-228.

Jong-Sung, Y., & Khagram, S. (2005). A Comparative Study of Inequality and Corruption. American Sociological Review, 70(1), 136-157.

Kanagaretnam, K., Lim, C. Y., & Lobo, G. J. (2010). Auditor Reputation and Earnings Management: International Evidence from the Banking Industry. Journal of Banking & Finance, 34(10), 2318-2327.

Kanagaretnam, K., Lobo, G. J., & Mathieu, R. (2003). Managerial Incentives for Income Smoothing through Bank Loan Loss Provisions. Review of Quantitative Finance and Accounting, 20(1), 63-80.

Kanagaretnam, K., Lobo, G. J., & Wang, C. (2015). Religiosity and Earnings Management: International Evidence from the Banking Industry. Journal of Business Ethics, 132(2), 277-296.

Kanagaretnam, K., Lobo, G. J., & Yang, D. H. (2005). Determinants of Signalling By Banks through Loan Loss Provisions. Journal of Business Research, 58(3), 312-320.

Kanagaretnam, K., Lobo, G. J., & Yang, D. H. (2004). Joint Tests of Signalling and Income Smoothing through Bank Loan Loss Provisions. Contemporary Accounting Research, 21(4), 843-884.

Kar, A. K. (2015). Income Smoothing, Capital Management and Provisioning Behaviour of Microfinance Institutions: A Study Using Global Panel Data. European Journal of Development Research. doi:10.1057/ejdr.2015.81

Karaoglu, E. (2005). Regulatory Capital and Earnings Management in Banks: The Case of Loan Sales and Securitizations. FDIC Center for Financial Research Working Paper, No. 05.

Kasznik, R. (1999). On The Association between Voluntary Disclosure and Earnings Management. Journal of Accounting Research, 37(1), 57-81.

Kaufmann, D., Kraay, A., & Mastruzzi, M. (2011). The Worldwide Governance Indicators: Methodology and Analytical Issues. Hague Journal on the Rule of Law, 3(2), 220-246.

Key, K. G. (1997). Political Cost Incentives for Earnings Management in the Cable Television Industry. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 23(3), 309-337.

Kilic, E., Lobo, G. J., Ranasinghe, T., & Sivaramakrishnan, K. (2012). The Impact of SFAS 133 on Income Smoothing by Banks through Loan Loss Provisions. The Accounting Review, 88(1), 233-260. Kim, M. S., & Kross, W. (1998). The Impact of the 1989 Change in Bank Capital Standards on Loan Loss Provisions and Loan Write-Offs. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 25(1), 69-99.

Kirschenheiter, M., & Melumad, N. D. (2002). Can "Big Bath" and Earnings Smoothing Co-Exist As Equilibrium Financial Reporting Strategies? Journal of Accounting Research, 40(3), 761-796.

Klapper, L. F., & Love, I. (2004). Corporate governance, investor protection, and performance in emerging markets. Journal of corporate Finance, 10(5), 703-728.

Klein, A. (2002). Audit Committee, Board of Director Characteristics, and Earnings Management. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 33(3), 375-400.

Koch, B. S. (1981). Income Smoothing: An Experiment. The Accounting Review, 56(3), 574-586.

Kolstad, I., & Soreide, T. (2009). Corruption in Natural Resource Management: Implications for Policy Makers. Resources Policy, 34(4), 214-226.

Lambert, R. A. (1984). Income Smoothing As Rational Equilibrium Behaviour. The Accounting Review, 59(4), 604-618.

Lapointe-Antunes, P., Cormier, D., Magnan, M., & Gay-Angers, S. (2006). On the Relationship between Voluntary Disclosure, Earnings Smoothing and the Value-Relevance of Earnings: The Case of Switzerland. European Accounting Review, 15(4), 465-505.

La Porta, R., & Lopez-De-Silanes, F. (1998). Capital Markets and Legal Institutions. Beyond The Washington Consensus: Institutions Matter, 73-92.

La Porta, R., Lopez-De-Silanes, F., & Shleifer, A. (2002). Government Ownership of Banks. The Journal of Finance, 57(1), 265-301.

La Porta, R., Lopez-De-Silanes, F., Shleifer, A., & Vishny, R. (2000). Investor Protection and Corporate Governance. Journal of Financial Economics, 58(1), 3-27.

Laeven, L., & Majnoni, G. (2003). Loan Loss Provisioning and Economic Slowdowns: Too Much, Too Late? Journal of Financial Intermediation, 12(2), 178-197.

Laeven, L., & Levine, R. (2009). Bank Governance, Regulation and Risk Taking. Journal of Financial Economics, 93(2), 259-275.

Lensink, R., & Hermes, N. (2004). The Short-Term Effects of Foreign Bank Entry On Domestic Bank Behaviour: Does Economic Development Matter? Journal of Banking & Finance, 28(3), 553-568.

Leventis, S., Dimitropoulos, P. E., & Anandarajan, A. (2011). Loan Loss Provisions, Earnings Management and Capital Management under IFRS: The Case of EU Commercial Banks. Journal of Financial Services Research, 40(1-2), 103-122.

Levine, R. (1997). Financial Development and Economic Growth: Views and Agenda. Journal of Economic Literature, 35(2), 688-726.

Leuz, C., Nanda, D., & Wysocki, P. D. (2003). Earnings Management and Investor Protection: An International Comparison. Journal of Financial Economics, 69(3), 505-527.

Liu, C. C., & Ryan, S. G. (1995). The Effect of Bank Loan Portfolio Composition on the Market Reaction to and Anticipation of Loan Loss Provisions. Journal of Accounting Research, 33(1), 77-94.

Liu, C. C., Ryan, S. G., & Wahlen, J. M. (1997). Differential Valuation Implications of Loan Loss Provisions across Banks and Fiscal Quarters. The Accounting Review, 72(1), 133-146.

Liu, C. C., & Ryan, S. G. (2006). Income Smoothing Over the Business Cycle: Changes in Banks' Coordinated Management of Provisions for Loan Losses and Loan Charge-Offs from the Pre-1990 Bust to the 1990s Boom. The Accounting Review, 81(2), 421-441.

Lobo, G. J., & Yang, D. H. (2001). Bank Managers' Heterogeneous Decisions on Discretionary Loan Loss Provisions. Review of Quantitative Finance and Accounting, 16(3), 223-250.

Ma, C. K. (1988). Loan Loss Reserves and Income Smoothing: The Experience in the US Banking Industry. Journal of Business Finance & Accounting, 15(4), 487-497. Marciukaityte, D., & Park, J. C. (2009). Market Competition and Earnings Management. Available At SSRN 1361905.

Markarian, G., Pozza, L., & Prencipe, A. (2008). Capitalization of R&D Costs and Earnings Management: Evidence from Italian Listed Companies. The International Journal of Accounting, 43(3), 246-267.

Marquardt, C. A., & Wiedman, C. I. (2004). The Effect of Earnings Management on the Value Relevance of Accounting Information. Journal of Business Finance & Accounting, 31(3-4), 297-332.

Marx, K., Mandel, E., & Fowkes, B. (1976). Capital: A Critique of Political Economy. Vol. J. London: Penguin.

Mathur, A., & Singh, K. (2013). Foreign Direct Investment, Corruption and Democracy. Applied Economics, 45(8), 991-1002.

Mcnichols, M. F. (2001). Research Design Issues in Earnings Management Studies. Journal of Accounting and Public Policy, 19(4), 313-345.

Mcnichols, M., & Wilson, G. P. (1988). Evidence of Earnings Management from the Provision for Bad Debts. Journal of Accounting Research, 26, 1-31.

Micco, A., Panizza, U., & Yanez, M. (2007). Bank Ownership and Performance. Does Politics Matter? Journal of Banking & Finance, 31(1), 219-241.

Moehrle, S. R. (2002). Do Firms Use Restructuring Charge Reversals to Meet Earnings Targets? The Accounting Review, 77(2), 397-413.

Moyer, S. E. (1990). Capital Adequacy Ratio Regulations and Accounting Choices in Commercial Banks. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 13(2), 123-154.

Mutiso, A., & Kamau, C. (2013). Factors Influencing Complexity in Financial Report Preparation-Evidence from the Banking Sector in Kenya. Journal of Economics and Business Research, 19(1), 219-229. Nabar, S., & Boonlert-U-Thai, K. K. (2007). Earnings Management, Investor Protection and National Culture. Journal of International Accounting Research, 6(2), 35-54.

Neill, J. D., Pourciau, S. G., & Schaefer, T. F. (1995). Accounting Method Choice and IPO Valuation. Accounting Horizons, 9(3), 68-80.

Nobes, C., & Parker, R. H. (2008). Comparative International Accounting. Pearson Education.

Norden, L., & Stoian, A. (2014). Bank Earnings Management through Loan Loss Provisions: A Double-Edged Sword? DNB Working Paper, No. 404.

North, D. C. (1990). A Transaction Cost Theory of Politics. Journal of Theoretical Politics, 2(4), 355-367.

Olson, D. M. (1993). Political Parties and Party Systems in Regime Transformation: Inner Transition in the New Democracies of Central Europe. American Review of Politics, 14(1), 619-658.

Outa, E. R. (2011). The Impact of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) Adoption on the Accounting Quality of Listed Companies in Kenya. Available At SSRN 1976146.

Outa, E. R. (2013). IFRS adoption around the world: has it worked?. Journal of Corporate Accounting & Finance, 24(6), 35-43.

Outa, E. R., Ozili, P. K., Eisenberg, P., (2017). IFRS convergence and revisions: value relevance of accounting information from East Africa, Journal of Accounting in Emerging Economies, 7 (3), 352-368.

Owolabi, A., & Iyoha, F. O. (2012). Adopting International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) In Africa: Benefits, Prospects and Challenges. African Journal of Accounting, Auditing and Finance, 1(1), 77-86.

Ozili, P. K. (2015). Loan Loss Provisioning, Income Smoothing, Signalling, Capital Management and Procyclicality: Does IFRS Matter? Empirical Evidence from Nigeria. Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences, 6(2), 224-232.

Packer, F., & Zhu, H (2012). Loan Loss Provisioning Practices of Asian Banks. BIS Working Paper No 375.

Pagano, M., & Volpin, P. (2001). The Political Economy of Finance. Oxford Review of Economic Policy, 17(4), 502-519.

Pagano, M., & Volpin, P. F. (2005). The Political Economy of Corporate Governance. The American Economic Review, 95(4), 1005-1030.

Pain, D. (2003). The Provisioning Experience of the Major UK Banks: A Small Panel Investigation. Bank of England Working Paper, No. 177.

Park, Y. W., & Shin, H. H. (2004). Board Composition and Earnings Management in Canada. Journal of Corporate Finance, 10(3), 431-457.

Peasnell, K. V., Pope, P. F., & Young, S. (2000). Detecting Earnings Management using Cross-Sectional Abnormal Accruals Models. Accounting and Business Research, 30(4), 313-326.

Perez, D., Salas-Fumas, V., & Saurina, J. (2008). Earnings and Capital Management in Alternative Loan Loss Provision Regulatory Regimes. European Accounting Review, 17(3), 423-445.

Perry, S. E., & Williams, T. H. (1994). Earnings Management Preceding Management Buyout Offers. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 18(2), 157-179.

Perry, S., & Grinaker, R. (1994). Earnings Expectations and Discretionary Research and Development Spending. Accounting Horizons, 8(4), 43-51.

Petersen, M. A. (2009). Estimating Standard Errors in Finance Panel Data Sets: Comparing Approaches. Review of Financial Studies, 22(1), 435-480.

Pincus, M., & Rajgopal, S. (2002). The Interaction between Accrual Management and Hedging: Evidence from Oil and Gas Firms. The Accounting Review, 77(1), 127-160.

Pope, P. F., & Mcleay, S. J. (2011). The European IFRS Experiment: Objectives, Research Challenges and Some Early Evidence. Accounting and Business Research, 41(3), 233-266.

Prencipe, A., Bar-Yosef, S., Mazzola, P., & Pozza, L. (2011). Income Smoothing in Family-Controlled Companies: Evidence from Italy. Corporate Governance: An International Review, 19(6), 529-546.

Rajan, R. G., & Zingales, L. (2003). The Great Reversals: The Politics of Financial Development in the Twentieth Century. Journal of Financial Economics, 69(1), 5-50.

Rangan, S. (1998). Earnings Management and the Performance of Seasoned Equity Offerings. Journal of Financial Economics, 50(1), 101-122.

Riahi-Belkaoui, A. (2003). Effects of Earnings Opacity Internationally. Available At SSRN 413381.

Ronen, J., & Sadan, S. (1981). Smoothing Income Numbers: Objectives, Means and Implications. Addison-Wesley Publishing Company.

Rossouw, G.J. (2005). Business Ethics and Corporate Governance in Africa. Business & Society, 44(1), 94-106.

Roychowdhury, S. (2006). Earnings Management through Real Activities Manipulation. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 42(3), 335-370.

Sankar, M. R., & Subramanyam, K. R. (2001). Reporting Discretion and Private Information Communication through Earnings. Journal of Accounting Research, 39(2), 365-386.

Sapienza, P. (2004). The Effects of Government Ownership on Bank Lending. Journal of Financial Economics, 72(2), 357-384.

Saurina, J. (2009). Dynamic Provisioning. The Experience of Spain, World Bank, Washington DC.

Schipper, K. (1989). Commentary on Earnings Management. Accounting Horizons, 3(4), 91-102.

Scholes, M. S., Wilson, G. P., & Wolfson, M. A. (1990). Tax Planning, Regulatory Capital Planning, and Financial Reporting Strategy for Commercial Banks. Review of Financial Studies, 3(4), 625-650.

Segaviano, M.A. & Lowe, P. (2002). Internal Ratings, the Business Cycle and Capital Requirements, Some Evidence from an Emerging Market Economy, BIS Working Paper, 117, 1-21

Shen, C. H., & Chih, H. L. (2005). Investor Protection, Prospect Theory and Earnings Management: An International Comparison of the Banking Industry. Journal of Banking & Finance, 29(10), 2675-2697.

Shen, C. H., & Huang, Y. L. (2013). Effects of earnings management on bank cost of debt. Accounting & Finance, 53(1), 265-300.

Shleifer, A., & Vishny, R. W. (1994). The Politics of Market Socialism. The Journal of Economic Perspectives, 8(2), 165-176.

Shleifer, A. (1998). State versus Private Ownership. Journal of Economic Perspectives, 12(4), 133-150.

Shleifer, A., & Vishny, R. W. (1997). A Survey of Corporate Governance. The Journal of Finance, 52(2), 737-783.

Shleifer, A., & Vishny, R. W. (1986). Large Shareholders and Corporate Control. The Journal of Political Economy, 94(3), 461-488.

Shleifer, A., & Wolfenzon, D. (2002). Investor Protection and Equity Markets. Journal of Financial Economics, 66(1), 3-27.

Shrieves, R. E., & Dahl, D. (2003). Discretionary Accounting and the Behaviour of Japanese Banks under Financial Duress. Journal of Banking & Finance, 27(7), 1219-1243.

Skała, D. (2015). Saving on a Rainy Day? Income Smoothing and Procyclicality of Loan-Loss Provisions in Central European Banks. International Finance, 18(1), 25-46.

Soderstrom, N. S., & Sun, K. J. (2007). IFRS Adoption and Accounting Quality: A Review. European Accounting Review, 16(4), 675-702.

Soedarmono, W., Pramono, S. E., & Tarazi, A. (2016). The Procyclicality of Loan Loss Provisions in Islamic Banks. Research in International Business and Finance, 39(B), 911-919.

Stolowy, H., & Breton, G. (2004). Accounts Manipulation: A Literature Review and Proposed Conceptual Framework. Review of Accounting and Finance, 3(1), 5-92.

Stubben, S. R. (2010). Discretionary revenues as a measure of earnings management. The Accounting Review, 85(2), 695-717.

Subramanyam, K. R. (1996). The Pricing of Discretionary Accruals. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 22(1), 249-281.

Sun, L., & Rath, S. (2010). Earnings Management Research: A Review of Contemporary Research Methods. Global Review of Accounting and Finance, 1(1), 121-135.

Sweeney, A. P. (1994). Debt-Covenant Violations and Managers' Accounting Responses. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 17(3), 281-308.

Sy, A., & Tinker, T. (2013). Africa does not need IFRS. African Journal of Accounting, Auditing and Finance, 2(1), 1-8.

Szeftel, M. (1998). Misunderstanding African Politics: Corruption & the Governance Agenda. Review of African Political Economy, 25(76), 221-240.

Taktak, B. N., Zouari, B. S. S., & Boudriga, A. (2010). Do Islamic Banks Use Loan Loss Provisions to Smooth their Results? Journal of Islamic Accounting and Business Research, 1(2), 114-127.

Teoh, S. H., & Wong, T. J. (1993). Perceived Auditor Quality and the Earnings Response Coefficient. The Accounting Review, 68(2), 346-366.

Teoh, S. H., Welch, I., & Wong, T. J. (1998). Earnings Management and the Underperformance of Seasoned Equity Offerings. Journal of Financial Economics, 50(1), 63-99.

Thomas, J. K., & Zhang, H. (2002). Inventory Changes and Future Returns. Review of Accounting Studies, 7(2-3), 163-187.

Thomas, J. K., & Tung, S. (1992). Cost Manipulation Incentives under Cost Reimbursement: Pension Costs for Defence Contracts. The Accounting Review, 67(4), 691-711.

Treisman, D. (2000). The Causes of Corruption: A Cross-National Study. Journal of Public Economics, 76(3), 399-457.

Trueman, B., & Titman, S. (1988). An Explanation for Accounting Income Smoothing. Journal of Accounting Research, 26, 127-139.

Tucker, J. W., & Zarowin, P. A. (2006). Does Income Smoothing Improve Earnings Informativeness? The Accounting Review, 81(1), 251-270.

Turner, P. (2000). Procyclicality of Regulatory Ratios. Global Finance at Risk: The Case for International Regulation. The New Press, New York.

Van Beest, F. (2009). Rules-Based and Principles-Based Accounting Standards and Earnings Management. NICE Working Paper, 09-114.

Vander Bauwhede, H. (1998). Earnings Management and Institutional Differences Literature Review and Discussion. Available At: <u>Https://Lirias.Kuleuven.Be/Bitstream/123456789/220853/1/OR_9833.Pdf</u> Accessed On 24th December, 2015.

Van Tendeloo, B., & Vanstraelen, A. (2008). Earnings Management and Audit Quality in Europe: Evidence from the Private Client Segment Market. European Accounting Review, 17(3), 447-469.

Vicente, P. C. (2010). Does Oil Corrupt? Evidence from a Natural Experiment in West Africa. Journal of Development Economics, 92(1), 28-38.

Wahlen, J. M. (1994). The Nature of Information in Commercial Bank Loan Loss Disclosures. The Accounting Review, 69(3), 455-478.

Wall, L. D., & Koch, T. W. (2000). Bank Loan-Loss Accounting: A Review of Theoretical and Empirical Evidence. Economic Review-Federal Reserve Bank of Atlanta, 85(2), 1.

Watts, R.L., & Zimmerman, J.L. (1978). Towards A Positive Theory of the Determination of Accounting Standards. The Accounting Review, 53(1), 112-134.

Watts, R.L., & Zimmerman, J.L. (1986). Positive Accounting Theory. Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ.

Watts, R. L., & Zimmerman, J. L. (1990). Positive Accounting Theory: A Ten Year Perspective. The Accounting Review, 65(1), 131-156.

Wetmore, J. L., & Brick, J. R. (1994). Loan-Loss Provisions of Commercial Banks and Adequate Disclosure: A Note. Journal of Economics and Business, 46(4), 299-305.

Wezel, T., Chan-Lau, J. A., & Columba, F. (2012). Dynamic Loan Loss Provisioning: Simulations on Effectiveness and Guide to Implementation. IMF Working Paper. No. 110

White, G. I., Sondhi, A. C., & Fried, D. (2003). The Analysis and Use of Financial Statements 3rd Ed. John Wiley & Sons.

World Bank (1994). Adjustment in Africa: Reforms, Results and the Road Ahead. Washington DC, the World Bank.

Wu, M. W., Shen, C. H., & Lu, C. H. (2015). Do More Foreign Strategic Investors and More DirectorsImprove the Earnings Smoothing? The Case of China. International Review of Economics & Finance, 36, 3-16.

Yahaya, O. A., Lamidi, Y. S., Kutigi, U. M., & Ahmed, M. (2015). The Correlation between Risk Management and Organizational Performance: An Empirical Investigation using Panel Data. Research Journal of Finance and Accounting, 6(16), 136-146.

Zang, A. Y. (2011). Evidence on the Trade-Off between Real Activities Manipulation and Accrual-Based Earnings Management. The Accounting Review, 87(2), 675-703.

Zimmerman, J. L. (1983). Taxes and Firm Size. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 5, 119-149.

Zmijewski, M. E., & Hagerman, R. L. (1981). An Income Strategy Approach to the Positive Theory of Accounting Standard Setting/Choice. Journal of Accounting and Economics, 3(2), 129-149.